# Novel Targets in Acute Myeloid Leukaemia

Ву

Edward Abadir

This thesis is submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

The University of Sydney, Faculty of Medicine and Health

2020





# **Statement of originality**

This is to certify that to the best of my knowledge the content of this thesis is my own work. This thesis has not been submitted for any degree or other purposes.

I certify that the intellectual content of this thesis is the product of my own work and that all the assistance received in preparing this thesis and sources have been acknowledged.

Signature:

Date: 11/06/2020

Name: Edward Abadir

# Supervision

The research work presented in this thesis was supervised by Associate Professors Georgina Clark and Stephen Larsen. The thesis is sufficiently well presented to be examined and does not exceed the prescribed word limit.

Primary Supervisor Associate Professor Georgina Clark Group Leader, Dendritic Cell Research Group ANZAC Research Institute Concord, Australia

Signed:

Date: 11/06/2020

Co-Supervisor Associate Professor Stephen Larsen Director of Haematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation Institute of Haematology Royal Prince Alfred Hospital

Camperdown, Australia

Signed:

Date: 11/06/2020

# Acknowledgements

This thesis would not be possible without the significant contribution of several individuals.

I would first like to thank the members of the Dendritic Cell Research Group and my co-authors within the papers included in this work. I would especially like to thank Dr Pablo Silveira who encouraged me to develop the required skills for the *in vivo* models within this work. My work in acute myeloid leukaemia expanded on the work done by Drs Kevin (Tsun-Ho) Lo and Robin Gasiorowski who provided continuous support and interest even after they departed the group. Dr Robin Gasiorowski developed the acute myeloid leukaemia repository and the CD300f antibody, without which this work would not have been possible. Drs Cindy (Zidou) Li and Xinsheng Ju were the leads on the CD83 section included in the appendix and found ever increasing ways to involve me as a pivotal member of that team. Ms Donna Bonnici provided invaluable assistance in submitting papers and other administrative help. Unfortunately, my original Co-Supervisor, Prof Derek Hart, was not able to see the end of this work but I thank him for providing me with an example of the energy and ambition required to be a successful physician-scientist. My personal thanks to A/Prof Stephen Larsen who became my Co-Supervisor and provided support during a difficult period in the lab and the project. I extended my deepest thanks to my supervisor A/Prof Georgina Clark for seeing this project through while providing guidance and allowing me the freedom to explore my own ideas. This is especially true considering the difficult events that befell and would end most other research groups.

I would like to thank the following institutions and their members who provided invaluable support.

- The Institute of Haematology at Royal Prince Alfred Hospital
- The Department of Haematology at Concord Repatriation and General Hospital
- The ANZAC Research Institute
- The Sydney Cord Blood Bank
- The University of Sydney

My final thanks are given to my wife Stacey. Without her support this work could not be completed. Without her sacrifice for myself and our family there would be no way to meet the often-demanding requirements needed to complete this project.

### **Table of Contents**

Chapter/Section	Title	Page Number
	Publications of Thesis	1
	Authorship Attribution Statement	2
	Presentations Related to Thesis	5
	Abstract	6
	List of Abbreviations	8
	Overview and Chapter Summaries	10
1	Introduction	14
2	Generation of mouse xenograft models of acute myeloid leukaemia and healthy human haematopoiesis	50
3	Examination of CD302 as a potential therapeutic target for acute myeloid leukemia	70
4	Is hematopoietic stem cell transplantation required to unleash the full potential of immunotherapy in acute myeloid leukemia?	90
5	CD300f epitopes are specific targets for acute myeloid leukemia with monocytic differentiation	106
6	Targeting CD300f to enhance hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in acute myeloid leukaemia	126
7	Targeting the niche: depleting haemopoietic stem cells with targeted therapy	145
8	Conclusions and future directions	154
Appendix A	CD83: activation marker for antigen presenting cells and its therapeutic potential	162
Appendix B	CD83 is a new potential biomarker and therapeutic target for Hodgkin lymphoma	172
Appendix C	Targeting CD83 in Mantle cell lymphoma with anti-human CD83 antibody	194

# **Publications of Thesis**

Section	Chapter	Publication	Status
	3	Lo TH*, <u>Abadir E</u> *, Gasiorowski RE, Kabani K, Ramesh M, Orellana D, Fromm PD, Kupresanin F, Newman E, Cunningham I, Hart DN, Silveira PA, Clark GJ. <i>Examination of CD302 as a potential therapeutic target for acute myeloid</i> <i>leukemia</i> . PLOS ONE. 2019 May 10;14(5):e0216368. *contributed equally	Published
	4	<u>Abadir E</u> , Gasiorowski RE, Silveira PA, Larsen S, Clark GJ. <i>Is Hematopoietic</i> <i>Stem Cell Transplantation Required to Unleash the Full Potential of</i> <i>Immunotherapy in Acute Myeloid Leukemia?</i> Journal of Clinical Medicine. 2020 Feb;9(2):554.	Published
Thesis Body	5	<u>Abadir E</u> *, Gasiorowski RE *, Lai K, Kupresanin F, Romano A, Silveira PA, Lo TH, Fromm PD, Kennerson ML, Iland HJ, Ho PJ Hogarth M, Bradstock K, Hart DN, Clark GJ. <i>CD300f epitopes are specific targets for acute myeloid leukemia</i> <i>with monocytic differentiation</i> . Molecular oncology. 2019 Oct;13(10):2107-20 *contributed equally	Published
	6	<u>Abadir E</u> , Silveira S, Gasiorowski RE, Ramesh M, Romano A, Mekkawy A, Lo T, Kabani K, Sutherland S, Pietersz G, Ho PJ, Bryant C, Larsen S, Clark GJ. <i>Targeting CD300f to enhance hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in</i> <i>acute myeloid leukaemia</i> . Blood Advances. 2020;4(7):1206–1216.	Published
	7	Abadir E, Bryant C, Larsen, S, Clark GJ. <b>Targeting the niche: depleting</b> haemopoietic stem cells with targeted therapy. Bone Marrow Transplantation. 2019 Jul;54(7):961-968	Published
	A	Li Z, Ju X, Silveira PA, <u>Abadir E</u> , Hsu WH, Hart DN, Clark GJ. <b>CD83: activation</b> marker for antigen presenting cells and its therapeutic potential. Frontiers in Immunology. 2019;10:1312.	Published
Appendix	В	Li Z, Ju X, Lee K, Clarke C, Hsu JL, <u>Abadir E</u> , Bryant CE, Pears S, Sunderland N, Heffernan S, Hennessy A. Lo T, Pietersz G, Kupresanin F, Fromm P, Silveira P, Tsonis C, Cooper W, Cunningham I, Brown C, Clark GJ and Hart DN. <i>CD83 is a</i> <i>new potential biomarker and therapeutic target for Hodgkin lymphoma.</i> Haematologica. 2018 Apr 1;103(4):655-65.	Published
	С	Li Z <u>, <b>Abadir E</b></u> , Lee K, Clarke C, Bryant C, Cooper W, Pietersz G, Silveira PS, Hart DN, Ju X, Clark GJ. <i>Targeting CD83 in Mantle cell lymphoma with anti-human CD83 antibody</i> .	Under Review (Clinical and Translational Immunology)

### Authorship Attribution Statement

#### Chapter 3

Lo TH\*, **Abadir E** \*, Gasiorowski RE, Kabani K, Ramesh M, Orellana D, Fromm PD, Kupresanin F, Newman E, Cunningham I, Hart DN, Silveira PA, Clark GJ. *Examination of CD302 as a potential therapeutic target for acute myeloid leukemia*. PLOS ONE. 2019 May 10;14(5):e0216368. \* contributed equally

**EA**, THL, GJC, PAS and REG designed the study and planned experiments. **EA**, THL, REG, MR, KK, FK and DO performed experiments. **EA** and THL analysed the data. **EA** and THL wrote the manuscript. REG, PAS, PDF, EN, IC, DNH and GJC revised the manuscript.

#### Chapter 4

**Abadir E**, Gasiorowski RE, Silveira PA, Larsen S, Clark GJ. *Is Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation Required to Unleash the Full Potential of Immunotherapy in Acute Myeloid Leukemia? Journal of Clinical Medicine*. 2020 Feb;9(2):554.

This was an invited review for the Journal of Clinical Medicine's special on Acute Myeloid Leukaemia. **EA** developed the original concept, performed the literature review and prepared the manuscript. PAS revised the manuscript and prepared the figures. REG, SL and GJC revised the manuscript.

#### Chapter 5

**Abadir E**\*, Gasiorowski RE\*, Lai K, Kupresanin F, Romano A, Silveira PA, Lo TH, Fromm PD, Kennerson ML, Iland HJ, Ho PJ, Hogarth M, Bradstock K, Hart DN, Clark GJ. *CD300f epitopes are specific targets for acute myeloid leukemia with monocytic differentiation*. Molecular oncology. 2019 Oct;13(10):2107-20 \* contributed equally

**EA**, REG, LK, FK, PAS, THL, PDF, and GJC performed experiments; **EA**, REG, HJI, PJH, and KB provided samples and intellectual input; **EA**, REG, PAS, and GJC analysed results and made figures; PJH and DNJH contributed intellectually to the project design; **EA**, REG, and GJC contributed to project design, analysis of results, and writing of manuscript. \* contributed equally

#### Chapter 6

**Abadir E**, Silveira S, Gasiorowski RE, Ramesh M, Romano A, Mekkawy A, Lo TH, Kabani K, Sutherland S, Pietersz G, Ho PJ, Bryant C, Larsen S, Clark GJ. *Targeting CD300f to enhance hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in acute myeloid leukaemia*. Blood Advances. 2020;4(7):1206–1216.

**EA** and GJC designed the study and planned the experiments. **EA**, PS, REG, MR, AR, AM, THL, THL KK, SS and GP performed experiments. **EA**, PS, REG and GJC analysed the data. **EA** and GJC wrote the manuscript. PS, REG, SS, CB, PJH and SL assisted with revision of the manuscript.

#### Chapter 7

**Abadir E**, Bryant C, Larsen, S, Clark GJ. *Targeting the niche: depleting haemopoietic stem cells with targeted therapy. Bone Marrow Transplantation*. 2019 Jul;54(7):961-968

**EA** developed the original concept, performed the literature review, prepared the manuscript and figures. CB, SL and GJC revised the manuscript and figures.

#### Appendix A

Li Z, Ju X, Silveira PA, **Abadir E**, Hsu WH, Hart DN, Clark GJ. *CD83: activation marker for antigen presenting cells and its therapeutic potential*. Frontiers in Immunology. 2019;10:1312.

Paper writing by ZL, WHH, and PAS. Editing by XJ, **EA**, and GJC. Figure drawing by PAS and WHH. DNH provided the concept and supervised our CD83 work.

#### Appendix B

Li Z, Ju X, Lee K, Clarke C, Hsu JL, **Abadir E**, Bryant CE, Pears S, Sunderland N, Heffernan S, Hennessy A, Lo TH, Pietersz G, Kupresanin F, Fromm P, Silveira P, Tsonis C, Cooper W, Cunningham I, Brown C, Clark GJ and Hart DN. *CD83 is a new potential biomarker and therapeutic target for Hodgkin lymphoma*. Haematologica. 2018 Apr 1;103(4):655-65.

ZL, XJ, KL, CL, JLH, SP, SH, AH, THL, GP, FK, PDF and PS performed experiments; ZL, XJ, **EA** and GJC analysed results and made the figures. **EA** and WC interpreted clinical results. XJ, CT and DNH. designed the experiments; XJ and DNH wrote the paper.

#### Appendix C

Li Z, **Abadir E**, Lee K, Clarke C, Bryant C, Cooper W, Pietersz G, Silveira PA Hart DN, Ju X, Clark GJ. *Targeting CD83 in Mantle cell lymphoma with anti-human CD83 antibody*. Under Review in Clinical & Translational Immunology

ZL, XJ designed, performed experiments, analysed data and wrote the manuscript. DNH and GJC designed experiments, analysed data and edited the manuscript. **EA**, CB and WC recruited patients. KL and CC performed the immunohistochemistry staining and interpretation. GP designed 3C12C-MMAE and Herceptin-MMAE. PAS guided mouse experiments and edited the manuscript.

In addition to the statements above, in cases where I am not the corresponding author of a published item, permission to include the published material has been granted by the corresponding author.

Edward Abadir,

Date 11/06/2020

As supervisor for the candidature upon which this thesis is based, I can confirm that the authorship attribution statements above are correct.

Associate Professor Georgina Clark,

Date 11/06/2020

### **Presentations Related to Thesis**

#### **Invited Presentations**

*Mouse Xenograft Models in Onocoimmunology.* Sydney Catalyst Immunology and Cancer Education Dinner, 2019

An Antibody Drug Conjugate Against Human CD300f Facilities Targeted Hemopoietic Stem Cell Conditioning in Acute Myeloid Leukaemia, DC Down Under Symposium, 2019

#### **Oral Presentations**

**Abadir E,** Silveira P, Gasiorowski R, Ramesh M, Romano A, Kabani K, Pietersz G, Larsen S, Clark G. *An Anti-CD300f Antibody Drug Conjugate Depletes Hematopoietic Stem Cells and Primary Acute Myeloid Leukemia (AML): Facilitating a Targeted Conditioning Regimen for Allogeneic Stem Cell Transplantation in AML*. The Combined Annual Meetings of the American Society for Transplantation and Cellular Therapy and the Center for International Blood & Marrow Transplant Research, 2020

**Abadir E,** Gasiorowski R, Silveira P, Ramesh M, Lo T, Romano A, Kupresanin F, Pietersz G, Sutherland S, Larsen S, Clark G. *An antibody drug conjugate against CD300f is promising for minimal toxicity conditioning in hemopoietic stem cell transplantation for acute myeloid leukaemia*. Blood Annual Scientific Meeting, 2019

**Abadir E**, Lee K, Li Z, Clarke C, Cooper W, Gasiororwski E, Ju X, Brown C, Bryant C, Hsu J, Fazekas de St Groth B, Hogarth M, Cunningham I, Clark G, Hart D. *CD83 is a promising biomarker and therapeutic target in Hodgkin Lymphoma*. University of Sydney Postgraduate and Early Career Researcher Cancer Research Symposium, 2017

#### **Poster Presentations**

**Abadir E**, Lee K, Li Z, Clarke C, Cooper W, Gasiororwski E, Ju X, Brown C, Bryant C, Hsu J, Fazekas de St Groth B, Hogarth M, Cunningham I, Clark G, Hart D. *CD83 is a leading therapeutic target in Hodgkin and mantle cell lymphoma*. Pathology Update, 2018

**Abadir E**, Lee K, Li Z, Clarke C, Cooper W, Gasiororwski E, Ju X, Brown C, Bryant C, Hsu J, Fazekas de St Groth B, Hogarth M, Cunningham I, Clark G, Hart D. *CD83 is a promising biomarker and therapeutic target in Hodgkin Lymphoma*. The Australasian Society of Immunology Annual Scientific Conference, 2017

### Abstract

**Background:** Antibody based immunotherapies have revolutionised the treatment of haematological malignancies. Despite recent advances in Acute Myeloid Leukaemia (AML) most patients still have poor outcomes. Current surface targets in AML are not ideal and ongoing work is required to examine new antigens for meaningful clinical outcomes.

**Hypothesis:** CD302 and CD300f have inherent properties that make them promising potential targets in AML. Preclinical work will establish these antigens as suitable targets in AML for further study.

**Methods:** We looked at the distribution of CD302 on AML and Haematopoietic Stem and Progenitor Cells (HSPC) using flow cytometry from local patient cohorts and compared this data with AML gene expression profiling from public databases. The expression of CD302 from healthy organs was examined using PCR. The rate of internalisation of anti-CD302 antibodies was assessed using flow cytometry and fluorescent microscopy. The ability of unmodified antibodies to perform Antibody Dependant Cellular Cytotoxicity (ADCC) was examined. The impact of CD302 on AML cell migration was assessed using a transwell system. The influence of an anti-CD302 antibody upon AML cell line engraftment was tested *in vivo*.

CD300f on AML and HSPC was analysed using flow cytometry from local patient cohorts and we compared the data to gene expression profiling from public databases. The distribution of CD300f isoforms across AML and HSPC was assessed by PCR and confirmed with TCGA RNA sequencing data. Alterations in antibody binding epitopes using multiple CD300f antibodies was assessed in AML cell lines as well as primary AML and HSPC.

The cytotoxicity of an anti-CD300f based ADC was examined *in vitro* using cell lines. An anti-CD300f ADC was examined *in vitro* and *in vivo* against cell lines as well as primary AML and healthy HSPC. The rate of cytotoxicity and synergy of the ADC with Fludarabine was assessed *in vitro* with cell lines.

**Results**: In a cohort of 33 AML patients, 88% were found to express CD302 on the surface of blasts and 80% on the surface of CD34+ CD38- population. Expression of CD302 was found on the surface of HSPC. A monoclonal antibody (mAb) targeting human CD302 was effective in mediating ADCC and was internalised, making it amenable to toxin conjugation. Targeting CD302 with this antibody limited *in vivo* engraftment of the leukaemic cell line HL-60 in NOD/SCID mice. While CD302 was expressed in a hepatic cell line, HepG2, this molecule was not detected on the surface of HepG2, nor could HepG2 be killed using a CD302 antibody-drug conjugate.

CD300f antibodies bind to AML from 85% of patient samples. Transcriptomic analysis found that CD300f transcripts are expressed by healthy HSPC. Several CD300f protein isoforms exist as a result of alternative splicing. The extracellular region of CD300f can be present with or without the exon 4encoded sequence. This results in CD300f isoforms that are differentially bound by CD300f-specific antibodies. Analysis of publicly available transcriptomic data indicated that CD34+ HSPC expressed fewer CD300f transcripts that expressed exon four compared to AML with monocytic differentiation. An anti-CD300f antibody, DCR-2, to CD300f exposes a structural epitope recognized by a second CD300f mAb, UP-D2. Analysis of a small cohort of AML cells revealed that this UP-D2 conformational binding site could be induced in cells from AML patients with monocytic differentiation but not those from other AML or HSPC. CD300f is expressed evenly across HSPC subtypes. CD300f has equivalent transcription and protein expression as CD33 on AML. We have developed an anti-CD300f antibody which efficiently internalises into target cells and conjugated it with a PBD warhead that selectively depletes AML cell lines and AML Colony Forming Units (CFU) *in vitro*. CFU derived from healthy HSPC are depleted by the ADC. The ADC synergises with Fludarabine, which is often used in allogeneic Haematopoietic Stem Cell Transplant (allo-HSCT) conditioning. The ADC prolongs the survival of mice engrafted with human cell lines and depletes primary human AML engrafted with a single injection. In a humanised mouse model, a single injection of the ADC depletes CD34+ HSPC and CD34+ CD38- CD90+ HSC.

**Conclusions:** CD302 is a potential target in AML. The hepatic expression may limit potential therapeutics but this could be mitigated as hepatocytes appear to express CD302 predominantly intracellularly, further work is required in this field. CD302 is expressed on HSPC and any future therapeutics would likely need to be part of a conditioning strategy. CD300f is a more promising target given the lack of non-haematopoietic expression. Certain isoforms or epitopes may be targeted to generate selective binding to AML with monocytic differentiation and avoid HSPC. An anti-CD300f ADC has promise as a targeted conditioning agent that may deplete residual AML and facilitate allo-HSCT.

# List of Abbreviations

ADC	Antibody drug conjugate
ADCC	Antibody dependent cell mediated cytotoxicity
ALL	Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia
allo-HSCT	Allogeneic haematopoietic stem cell transplant
AML	Acute myeloid leukaemia
BiTE	Bispecific T cell engager
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CLR	C type lectin receptor
CAR	Chimeric antigen receptor
CD	Cluster of differentiation
CFU	Colony forming unit
CR	Complete remission
CRS	Cytokine release syndrome
CRi	Complete remission with incomplete count recovery
CRp	Complete remission with incomplete platelet recovery
DART	Dual affinity re-targeting
DCR	Dendritic Cell Research Group
GO	Gemtuzumab Ozogamicin
FLT3-ITD	Fms-like tyrosine kinase 3 internal tandem duplication
HL	Hodgkin lymphoma
HSC	Haematopoietic stem cells
HSPC	Haematopoietic stem and progenitor cells
LeY	Lewis Y antigen
LSC	Leukaemic stem cells
mAb	Monoclonal antibody
MAC	Myeloablative conditioning
MDS	Myelodysplastic syndrome
MDR	Multidrug resistant
MMAE	Monomethyl auristatin E

MRD	Minimal residual disease
NHL	Non-Hodgkin lymphoma
NHP	Non-human primate
NMA	Non Myeloablative conditioning
NPM1	Nucleophosmin 1
NOD/SCID	Non obese diabetic/Severe combined immunodeficiency
NSG	NOD.Cg-Prkdc <scid> Il2rg<tm1wjl>/SzJ or NSG</tm1wjl></scid>
NKG2D	Natural killer group 2D
ORR	Overall response rate
OS	Overall survival
PBD	Pyrrolobenzodiazepine dimer
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PDX	Patient derived xenografts
RIC	Reduced intensity conditioning
scFv	Single-chain variable fragment
SOS	Sinusoidal obstructive syndrome
TIM-3	T-cell immunoglobulin- and mucin-domain-containing molecule
VT	Vadastuximab Talirine or SGN-CD33A

#### **Overview and Chapter Summaries**

I joined the Dendritic Cell Research Group (DCR) in 2017, at the time led by Prof Derek Hart, to continue the group's study of novel of antigens as potential targets in Acute Myeloid Leukaemia (AML). The DCR had been exploring the antigens CD302 and CD300f in AML. The basic biology of CD302 was being developed by Drs Lo and Silveira within the group. Dr Gasiorowski had developed the anti-CD300f mAb, DCR-2, and characterised CD300f and CD302 expression in a local cohort of AML prior to departing the lab. Much of the following work happened concurrently. Throughout the project I continually developed and refined our mouse models, improving the repertoire of cell line models and developing primary models (Chapter 2). The first published material in this thesis (Chapter 3) examined the potential of CD302 as a target in AML, building off the work that Dr Lo had started. The expression of CD302 on Haematopoietic Stem and Progenitor Cells (HSPC) became apparent and we had to develop strategies to deal with this going forward. Chapter 4 reviews methods to either avoid depleting HSPC or to incorporate targeting them as part of allogeneic Haematopoietic Stem Cell Transplant (allo-HSCT) conditioning. During our examination of CD302 we decided future work may be better placed in CD300f as it has similar AML and HSPC expression profiles without the presence on non-haematopoietic cells. We developed this further to see if the isoforms of this molecule could be used to selectively target AML over HSPC. Chapter 5 studies CD300f isoforms and examines the differential expression which may facilitate selective depletion of AML with monocytic differentiation. As an alternative strategy we wanted to see if depleting CD300f+ cells eliminates AML but also facilitates conditioning for allo-HSCT. We explored this with an anti-CD300f Antibody Drug Conjugate (ADC) as a method to treat AML and deplete HSPC (Chapter 6). I concurrently summarised the literature on the new methodologies being employed as a part of targeted conditioning (Chapter 7).



**Chapter 2** outlines the methods and outcomes of the generation of new mouse models required to further the work. At the time of my arrival in the lab there was a working HL-60 systemic Non Obese Diabetic/Severe combined immunodeficiency (NOD/SCID) mouse model but we felt that this would be inadequate for our future experimental plans. I successfully developed subcutaneous and systemic AML cell line models. I concurrently developed primary AML models which could be moved forward into therapeutic testing. A robust healthy humanised mouse model was developed that would allow for the effect of therapeutics on normal human haematopoiesis to be further investigated.

**Chapter 3** examines CD302 as a target in AML. CD302 is the simplest type I transmembrane C-type lectin receptor described. In human haematopoiesis CD302 is restricted to myeloid derived populations including monocytes, macrophages, dendritic cells, granulocytes and HSPC. Most cases of AML express CD302. Antibodies to CD302 were able to induce ADCC. AML cells coated with an antibody to CD302 displayed limited engraftment in mouse models. CD302 is expressed on the surface of haematopoietic cells and gets rapidly internalised upon antibody binding where it can deliver a toxin to AML cells. CD302 has high expression in hepatocytes, but appears to have a preferentially intracellular distribution, therefore limiting the toxicity of an ADC *in vitro*.

**Chapter 4** reviews approaches for AML immunotherapy, either sparing HSPC or being used with allo-HSCT. The choice of AML target has proven to be complicated. No clear target has separated itself as ideal. As AML and HSPC share many surface antigens this would allow for potent anti-AML therapies as conditioning agents in addition to AML depletion. This strategy would require an allo-HSCT which would limit the ability of many patients to undergo this approach. Current preclinical and clinical studies are discussed in this chapter.

**Chapter 5** explores a method of targeting AML with monocytic differentiation and sparing HSPC by targeting specific isoforms and conformations of CD300f. CD300f is a member of the CD300 immunoregulatory family and a transmembrane glycoprotein with both inhibitory motifs and PI3K phosphorylation sites in its cytoplasmic. Proteomic and transcriptomic analyses have shown that it is upregulated in AML samples. Its expression on HSPC had limited investigations prior to this work. One antibody suggested that it was not expressed on CD34+ CD38- primitive HSPC. Our work demonstrates CD300f expression across all major myeloid HSPC as well as most AML samples. CD300f has seven isoforms with two major extracellular configurations. There is differential binding of different antibodies to the isoforms. AML with monocytic differentiation has increased expression of the exon 4 extracellular region of CD300f compared to HSPC. The anti-CD300f mAb DCR-2 can alter the CD300f molecule for the preferential binding of another anti-CD300f mAb, UP-D2. UP-D2 binds to AML with monocytic differentiation significantly more than to HSPC in the presence of DCR-2. The difference in binding may allow for an immunological therapeutic window to target AML without depleting HSPC.

**Chapter 6** takes a different approach to targeting CD300f. An antibody drug conjugate which binds to all extracellular CD300f isoforms was examined as a conditioning agent as well as anti-AML therapy. This work has shown that an anti-CD300f ADC can kill AML cells *in vitro* and *in vivo*. In addition, the ADC depletes HSPC both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. This ADC has a rapid onset of action and a synergistic effect with the commonly used conditioning agent Fludarabine. This approach has the potential to reduce the toxicity of conditioning by removing alkylating agents or radiation as well as the potential of increasing the efficacy with minimal toxicity.

**Chapter 7** reviews work on immunologically targeted conditioning agents. This work is a natural extension from the concept of using anti AML therapies as part of HSCT conditioning. Embracing the

killing of HSPC may lead to improved developments in the field of transplantation outside of AML. HSCT is an inherently risky procedure, in part induced by the tissue damage of nonspecific conditioning agents. Replacing the agents with target therapies would allow for transplants in patients who would not normally be able to undergo the procedure as well as reducing morbidity in those that would normally proceed. This approach may make gene editing therapies in those with inherited disorders of haematopoiesis more appealing, especially in younger patients who would benefit most.

**Appendices:** I was originally invited to work with the DCR Laboratory by Prof Derek Hart while completing my training in haematology. This initial contribution was to be the clinical and pathology liaison in the CD83 project in Hodgkin lymphoma (HL). When I later joined the group, I switched my focus to AML. However I kept working on the CD83 projects in lymphoma while concurrently performing research in AML. The works in the appendix are my contribution to the understanding of CD83 in lymphoma. As I was not the primary author and they diverge from the main theme of the thesis I have placed them in the appendices.

**Appendix A** reviews the therapeutic potential of CD83 in human disease. CD83 plays a role in autoimmunity, HSCT and malignancy. These fields are being explored with either soluble CD83 or anti-CD83 antibodies. The review summarises the current understanding of CD83 and the potential clinical implications.

**Appendix B** examines the possibility of targeting CD83 in HL as a novel therapeutic. CD83 was expressed on most HL cells, in addition an excess of the soluble CD83 was found in nearly all HL cases and correlated with remission. A human anti-CD83 antibody was able to kill HL cell lines by ADCC or when bound to the toxin Monomethyl Auristatin E (MMAE) as an ADC. T cell division is impaired by sCD83 and the anti-CD83 antibody is able to overcome this effect. This work validates CD83 as a novel potential target in HL.

**Appendix C** examines CD83 as a target in MCL. MCL produces CD83 which is detectable in 50% of clinical cases. CD83 is expressed on the surface of MCL cell lines with upregulated canonical NF-κB pathways. An anti-CD83 ADC using MMAE was able to kill MCL cells *in vitro* and *in vivo*. The treatment of MCL with traditional chemotherapies including Cyclophosphamide and Doxorubicin was able to induce the NF-κB dependant expression of CD83 and synergise with the ADC. CD83 has been shown to be a promising target in MCL.

**Chapter 1: Introduction** 

Immunotherapies have become the fourth pillar of oncology, joining chemotherapy, radiotherapy and surgery. Immune based strategies are now routinely incorporated into standard of care treatment of solid organ tumours and lymphoid malignancies.<sup>1-3</sup> The concept on immunotherapy for oncology began at the end of the 19<sup>th</sup> century where it was observed that infections could lead to the remission of malignancies.<sup>4</sup> Vaccination proved to be revolutionary in the early 1900s and the idea of a vaccine for cancer was developed by 1959.<sup>5</sup> Interferon use in chronic myeloid leukaemia was characterised by the 1980s.<sup>6</sup> These advances provided evidence that immunotherapy may have a role in malignancy, but targeted immunotherapy was brought upon by the understanding and use of antibodies.

Standard therapy for Acute Myeloid Leukaemia (AML) based on Cytarabine and anthracycline combinations have changed little over the previous three decades and only leads to a 20-30% long term disease free survival.<sup>7</sup> The use of allo-HSCT to improve disease free survival demonstrates the potential of immunotherapy in this disease.<sup>8</sup> Recent novel therapeutics including Chimeric Antigen Receptor (CAR) T cells and Bispecific T cell Engagers (BiTE) targeting CD19 have produced impressive results in ALL.<sup>9, 10</sup> As opposed to CD19 and CD20 for B cell malignancies no clear antigen presents itself as an ideal target in AML. This chapter will look at the development of AML immunotherapy to date, with a focus on agents that have made it to clinical trials or have provided scientific advancements in the field.

#### **Antibody Based Therapy Target Selection**

The ideal antigen on malignancies should have the following properties.<sup>11, 12</sup>

- Involved in the oncogenic process
- Expressed only on malignant cells
- Highly expressed on all malignant cells
- Expressed on cancer stem cells
- Expressed in high levels on all cases of the cancer
- Expressed on the cell surface with little circulating soluble antigen
- Evidence of therapeutic function in clinical trials

Meeting the requirements for all of these ideal characteristics is highly unlikely. Most successful cancer antigens in B cell malignancies are not specific for malignant cells, but are expressed across all B cells. As B cell aplasia is usually tolerable this does not significantly limit development of immunotherapy. Despite few targets meeting all ideal requirements these criteria are a useful list to guide cancer antigen discovery. The choice of immunotherapy construct impacts upon the choice of antigen as well. ADC require internalisation upon antigen binding, therefore certain antigens that would otherwise be ideal may not be suitable for ADC if they do not internalise.<sup>13</sup> Targets in AML are particularly difficult given their presence on HSPC, the inherent surface molecule heterogeneity of AML within and between cases as well as an unclear definition of leukaemic stem cells.<sup>12</sup>

#### Evolution of Treatment and Immunotherapy in Acute Myeloid Leukaemia

The first case of leukaemia was described by Velapeau in 1827, but the condition was only later characterised and named by Virchow and Bennett in 1845.<sup>14</sup> Virchow's initial postulation that leukaemia derived from blood cells was correct. Treatment regimens developed for leukaemia by the 1930s and some included arsenic and radiation among other therapies.<sup>15</sup> The French-American-British system of classification developed in 1976 played a key role in systematically identifying different types of leukaemia based on morphology. The use of antibodies to characterise the phenotype of leukaemia was developed in the following decade.<sup>16</sup> Allogeneic transplantation began in the 1970s and provided the first example of the potential of immunotherapy in acute leukaemia.<sup>17</sup>

Immunotherapy in AML has been limited to date. The initial studies using unconjugated antibodies against AML lacked efficacy.<sup>18</sup> Gemtuzumab Ozogamicin (GO) an ADC was given accelerated approved by the FDA in the year 2000 for the treatment of AML in patients over sixty with relapsed AML who were not candidates for chemotherapy.<sup>19</sup> GO was subsequently withdrawn from the market due to increased mortality and limited efficacy only to be approved again in 2017 by the FDA using a different dosing schedule.<sup>19</sup>

A major factor limiting antibody-based therapy in AML is the lack of a clear target which separates a malignant cell from a healthy haematopoietic stem and progenitor cells.<sup>20</sup> A number of strategies have been devised to validate truly leukaemic specific targets which are expressed frequently in AML or have looked to incorporate transplantation to alleviate haematological toxicity.<sup>21</sup> Further limitations in the development of AML immunotherapy relate to limits of preclinical models to represent a heterogeneous disease.<sup>22</sup> These factors have seen AML therapy significantly lag in the development of effective immunotherapies compared to other disorders such as B cell lymphoma.

#### Role of Leukaemic Stem Cells in AML

Any effective immunotherapy for AML would have to target Leukaemic Stem Cells (LSC). LSC are a small proportion of AML blasts but are critical for the continued propagation of AML even after effective therapy. Therapeutics derived from Monoclonal antibodies (mAb) have a high target specificity and it is critical that LSC are targeted for long term efficacy. The phenotypes of LSC are continuing to be understood and targeting a significant proportion of this heterogeneous population remains a major challenge for mAb based therapy. Leukaemic stem cells have traditionally been defined as leading to leukaemic engraftment in serial xenotransplantation experiments and giving rise to non LSC progeny.<sup>23</sup> Phenotypic and gene expression studies suggest a myeloid progenitor cell of origin for LSC rather than Haematopoietic Stem Cells (HSC).<sup>24, 25</sup> LSC have been shown to be resistant to traditional chemotherapy and primarily reside in the G0 phase.<sup>25, 26</sup> An intrinsic difficulty in targeting LSC with immunotherapy is their heterogeneity both between and within patients.<sup>25</sup> It has become clear that the bone marrow niche plays a key role in the support of LSC, limiting the effect of conventional cytotoxics but the impact of this environment in antibody based therapy is unclear.<sup>27</sup>

The first population of LSC described reside in the CD34+ CD38- AML population which can repopulate SCID mice.<sup>28</sup> It is now clear that LSC are found in other phenotypic fractions. Newer mouse models have been developed. The most extensively used strain in AML therapy development is the *NOD.Cg-Prkdc<scid> Il2rg<tm1Wjl>/SzJ* (NSG) in which the *IL2RA* gene has been knocked out of the NOD/SCID base to reduce the efficacy NK cell function.<sup>29</sup> NSG mice engraft human AML at a higher rate and populations of LSC that reside in the CD34+ CD38+ compartment are more readily

identified.<sup>30</sup> AML with nucleophosmin 1 (NPM1) mutations, which is often CD34-, has led to discovery of CD34- LSC.<sup>31</sup> The diversity of LSC phenotypes may further be underestimated due to the current models in use. It is likely that AML *in situ* has further populations of LSC that are not currently described as they cannot engraft current mouse models.

#### **Antigen Targets in AML**

A number of antigens have been studied as targets in AML (Table 1.1). The ever-expanding list of antigens being investigated demonstrates that no one ideal target has been found. CD33 is the best studied antigen in AML and the only one with an approved therapeutic directed against it, GO. The following is an examination of the preclinical and clinical data to date for each antigen to evaluate their potential as a target in AML. The latest stage of development for different immunotherapy modalities for each target is shown in Table 1.2

Target	Expression on AML	Advantages	Disadvantages
CD22	88.00%	not expressed on non haematopoietic cells	HSPC expression
CD33	88-99%		low surface density
CD122	AE 700/	IL-3 involved in AML proliferation	HPSC expression
CD125	43-78%	present on LSC	possible expression on endothelial cells
	0.2%	expression in most cases	present on myeloid progenitors
CLL-1 (CD3/1)	92%	present on LSC	
CD47	<u>\05%</u>	expression on most cases	most cases low expression
0047	~33%	increased potential for phagocytosis of AML blasts	present on erythrocytes
CD38	<u>\05%</u>	expression on most cases	CD38- AML subset which is enriched for LSC
CD38	~33%	approved anti-CD38 antibodies	expressed on myeloid progenitors
CD70	>95%	expression on most cases	regulates lymphocyte and HSPC activity
6070		upregulated with hypomethylating agents	
CD133	69%		present on HSPC
CXCR4 (CD184)	67%	role in AML migration	present on HSPC
CD44	>95% (all variants included)	expression on most cases	multiple isoforms
СБ44		CD44 facilities proliferation and limits AML reduced	
FLT3 (CD135)	>95%	expression in most cases	present on HSPC
IL1-RAP	79%		soluble form may occupy binding sites
LeY	46%	minimal expression in healthy tissue	carbohydrate antigen
NKG2D	75%	not expressed on HSPC	expressed on NK and CD8 T cell
TIM-3 (CD366)	>95%	may act as a checkpoint inhibitor	not expressed on HSPC
WT1	73%	limited expression on healthy tissue	intracellular target
CD300f	72-85%	not expressed on non haematopoietic cells	present on HSPC
CD202	970/		present on HSPC
CD302	02/0		hepatic expression

#### CD33

CD33(siglec-3) was first discovered in 1983 on myeloid progenitors with monoclonal antibodies and eventually cloned in 1988.<sup>32</sup> It is a member of the sialic acid-binding immunoglobulin like lectin family. CD33 is a 67 KD protein with a structure that contains two Ig-like extracellular domains and two ITIM-like sequences in the cytoplasmic domain.<sup>33</sup> Alternate splicing produces a shorter isoform on the cell surface that lacks the V-set Ig like domain.<sup>33</sup> CD33 is an established myeloid marker and is expressed on myeloid committed cells but not found on HSC initially.<sup>34</sup> There has been reported expression of CD33 on some lymphocyte subsets but the lymphoid expression pattern is not completely understood.<sup>33</sup> CD33 is able to recruit the inhibitory tyrosine kinases SHP-1 and SHP-2 which have roles in development and differentiation.<sup>35</sup> Monoclonal antibodies to CD33 have been shown to trigger apoptosis in normal haematopoietic cells and leukaemic cells, as well as inhibit the differentiation of DCs from myeloid progenitors.<sup>32</sup>

CD33 is expressed on 88-99% of AML.<sup>36, 37</sup> A property of CD33 that has potential therapeutic implications is internalisation when bound by bivalent antibodies.<sup>38</sup> Internalisation allows for ADC to deliver their toxic payload. The AML samples of most patients contain at least a subset of cells that are CD33 positive.<sup>37</sup> Current evidence suggests that AML subtypes derived from more primitive progenitors such as the core binding factor leukaemias may be less likely to express CD33 on their LSC while some more mature LSC do express CD33, but the efficacy of GO in clinical trials of favourable AML calls this into question.<sup>39</sup> CD33 does not appear to be expressed outside of the haematological system.<sup>40</sup> It has been shown that CD33+ cord blood cells are able to engraft and generate multilineage haematopoiesis which does challenge the thought that HSC are primarily CD33-.<sup>41</sup> The lack of expression on HSC and non-haematopoietic organs suggested a reduced toxicity profile with limited off target effects.

Initial therapies targeting CD33 with unconjugated antibodies had limited clinical success. One concern is that the low surface density of CD33 may limit Antibody dependent cell mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC).<sup>42</sup> The murine anti-CD33 antibody M195 demonstrated effective ADCC with guinea pig and rabbit complement but limited activity with human complement or effector cells.<sup>43</sup> Clinical response was limited to a transient reduction in blast counts in a few patients despite adequate antibody saturation.<sup>18</sup> A humanised version of M195, Lintuzumab, was developed with a greater than eight fold increase in affinity for CD33 and demonstrated ADCC with human effector cells.<sup>38</sup> Lintuzumab delivered only very modest responses in AML during the initial trials despite antigen saturation throughout the four week trial period.<sup>38</sup> The limited clinical utility was later confirmed in two randomised trials, the first in salvage therapy and the second in older patients with newly diagnosed disease in combination with low dose Cytarabine.<sup>44, 45</sup> The limited efficacy of unconjugated antibodies has led to the development of other antibody based immunotherapies targeting CD33.

GO is a humanised IgG4 kappa antibody linked to an N-acetyl gamma calicheamicin dimethyl hydrazide toxin. Upon binding GO is internalised to mediate toxin delivery.<sup>46</sup> It is linked via a hydrolysable linker which allows for toxin release in acidic conditions, as found in lysosomes.<sup>47</sup> The antibody component of GO does not demonstrate ADCC.<sup>48</sup> The toxin binds to the minor DNA groove leading to strand breaks which causes cell cycle arrest and in some cases apoptosis via cytochrome c, BCL-2 family proteins and caspases.<sup>42</sup> The efficacy of GO has been variable in both AML cell lines and primary AML samples with some undergoing cell cycle arrest and or apoptosis but others have been unaffected.<sup>49, 50</sup> Initial pharmacokinetic studies demonstrated a maximum tolerated dose of 9mg/m2 with complete receptor saturation; this dose given every two weeks was carried forward with most of the subsequent studies.<sup>51</sup> Haematologic toxicity was a concern from the phase I trial with two

patients having >5 weeks of neutropenia. An open label multicentre single agent study of patients in first relapse demonstrated a Complete Remission (CR) of 16% and a Complete Remission with incomplete platelet recovery (CRp) of 13% for an Overall Response Rate (ORR) of 30%.<sup>52</sup> There was significant haematological toxicity with 97% and 99% of patients suffering from grade 3-4 neutropenia and thrombocytopenia respectively. In addition to the haematological toxicity, 23% of patients had grade 3-4 hyperbilirubinemia with a median duration of 20 days.<sup>53</sup> Phase III studies began on the efficacy Subsequent phase II trials demonstrated an ORR of 20-30% with some lower exceptions.<sup>42</sup> Four subsequent randomised studies showed little benefit with the addition of GO in newly diagnosed AML.<sup>42</sup> GO has demonstrated a significant effect against Acute Promyelocytic Leukaemia (APL) in several settings, presumably due to the increased density of CD33 in that disease.<sup>54</sup> Due to limited activity overall in AML and the toxicity demonstrated by increased deaths before day 30 in the SWOG 106 study GO was withdrawn from the market in June 2010.<sup>54</sup> A major toxicity concern was the development of hepatic Sinusoidal Obstructive Syndrome (SOS). The rate of SOS was low in the absence of all-HSCT but significantly increased the risk (64%) in those exposed to GO in the previous 3.5 months prior to transplantation.<sup>55, 56</sup> Despite its withdrawal from the market there remained ongoing interest in utilising GO in specific roles and questioning over whether its withdrawal was justified. A meta-analysis of four randomised trials totalling 3325 patients demonstrated both a progression free survival and overall survival advantage when GO was added to induction regimens for adults with favourable and intermediate cytogenetic risk AML.<sup>57,58</sup> The ALFA-0701 trial employed a fractionated lower dose regimen during induction (3mg/m<sup>2</sup> on days 1,4 and 7) and demonstrated a progression free survival advantage for GO addition to 7:3 induction but not an overall survival advantage.<sup>59</sup> The event free survival advantage was seen on favourable and intermediate but not adverse risk groups in subgroup analysis. Importantly there was no significant difference in the rates in SOS, possibly due to the lower dose and fractionated method of delivery. These updated findings led to the relisting of GO by the FDA in 2017 in addition to induction therapy for patients with AML and favourable or intermediate cytogenetic risk.

Other ADCs targeting CD33 have also been studied. AVE9633 is an anti CD33-maytansinoid conjugate developed by ImmunoGen Inc. The maytansine toxin is a potent tubular inhibitor that did not progress as a systemic agent due to significant toxicity as sub-therapeutic doses.<sup>60</sup> The maytansine derivative used in AVE9633 is DM4 and the conjugate demonstrated significant preclinical *in vitro* and *in vivo* activity.<sup>61</sup> The phase I trial demonstrated very limited clinical activity and the development of AVE9633 was terminated.<sup>60</sup>

Vadastuximab Talirine (VT) (SGN-33a) is a humanised murine anti-CD33 antibody that is linked to a Pyrrolobenzodiazepine Dimer (PBD) structurally related to anthramycin.<sup>62</sup> Each individual ADC contains 2 molecules of the PBD dimer that is released after internalisation and proteolytic cleavage of the linker.<sup>63</sup> PBD molecules cross link DNA and interrupt cell division leading to cell death.<sup>64</sup> The main advantages of VT over GO are the addition of cysteine residues that allow for uniform PBD loading and a highly stable dipeptide linker that ensure intracellular delivery of PBD molecules.<sup>65</sup> Preclinical studies demonstrated *in vitro* and *in vivo* activity in AML cell lines, including Multidrug Resistant (MDR) protein positive lines.<sup>66</sup> A phase I study of VT monotherapy demonstrated no significant non-haematologic toxicity with haematologic toxicity as the dose limiting factor.<sup>67</sup> Of patients evaluated for response 28% achieved a CR or Complete Remission with incomplete count recovery (Cri) with 50% of those demonstrating Minimal Residual Disease (MRD) negativity on flow cytometry. Another phase I trial exploring the toxicity of VT has been conducted with induction therapy consisting of 7 + 3 (Daunorubicin 60mg/m2 and Cytarabine 100mg/m2) in patients less than 65 years old. A maximum tolerated dose of 20mcg/kg on days 1 and 4 demonstrated grade four haematological toxicity in all patients and a median time of neutrophil recovery at day 33 and platelet recovery at day 35.68 The CR + CRi rate was 78% with more than half of those patients being MRD negative. VT has also been trialled in the consolidation and maintenance setting with those on consolidation having 5mcg/kg, 10mcg/kg or 20mcg/kg on day 1 in combination with high dose Cytarabine.<sup>69</sup> The maintenance cohort received single agent VT on day 1 at 5mcg/kg for up to 8 cycles (if no HCT) or four cycles post HSCT starting on day 60-100 in the absence of graft versus host disease. The consolidation cohort demonstrated 100% grade four haematologic toxicity and there were significant delays to subsequent cycles in 4/10 patients due to thrombocytopenia. The maintenance cohort had less haematologic toxicity with 41% and 36% having grade thee or four neutropenia and thrombocytopenia. The remission rate was 79% for the consolidation group and 75% in the maintenance group. Activity was demonstrated in high risk patients, those with adverse cytogenetics and precedent Myelodysplastic Syndrome (MDS), with an overall median relapse free survival of 9.1 months. This early phase data was promising and a global phase III study CASCADE (NCT02785900) utilising hypomethylating agents with or without VT was inititated.<sup>70</sup> This trial was stopped early by the data safety monitoring board due to an excess of deaths, including deaths from fatal infections, in the experimental arm. Given the distribution of CD33 on HSPC it is not surprising that myelosuppression and infections remained a significant limiting toxicity for VT.

AMG 330 is a CD33/CD3 BiTE currently under investigation. Preclinical *ex vivo* experiments with primary AML samples and healthy donor HSCs showed that AMG 330 inhibited AML growth and was not toxic to HSCs.<sup>37</sup> It has been demonstrated that upregulation of T cell inhibitory molecules can reduce the effectiveness of AMG 330 but also that cell lysis can be improved through the blockade of the PD-1/ PD-1L axis, suggesting a possible synergistic effect with check point inhibitors.<sup>37, 71</sup> There is a current phase I clinical trial (NCT02520427) for single agent AMG 330 in relapsed refractory AML. The initial presentation of the outcomes from this trial demonstrate serious adverse events in 66% of patients, including Cytokine Release Syndrome (CRS), cytopenias and infectious complications.<sup>72</sup> 2 of 35 patients achieved a CR. Another bispecific construct targeting CD33 is the bispecific (CD33/CD3) tandem antibody AMV-564. It has demonstrated preclinical activity against primary AML samples and has been chosen for a clinical trial (NCT03144245).<sup>73</sup> Preliminary data from this trial indicates that AMV-564 may be well tolerated with no grade 3-4 adverse events related to the study drug.<sup>74</sup> A reduction in bone marrow blasts was seen in 12 of 18 patients, with one achieving a partial response.

CD33 directed CAR T cells demonstrated cytotoxicity the AML cell line HL-60 and primary AML blasts.<sup>75</sup> A major concern is the possibility of prolonged haematological toxicity due to the long duration of CAR T cells. It has been shown that CD33 directed CAR T cells reduce myeloid progenitors and generate myeloid lineage cytopenia in murine models.<sup>76</sup> The generation of transient CAR T cells and CAR T cells that incorporate a suicide switch may circumvent long term haematological toxicity but none have been tried to date clinically.<sup>77</sup> An alternative method that has been proposed is to incorporate CD33 directed CAR T cells into an HSCT using HSC which have CD33 edited out of the genome.<sup>78</sup> This work demonstrated that CD33 is not required for the development or function of myeloid cells and can be removed from human HSC. While this strategy may be theoretically possible it would be complex and resource intensive. Despite the risk of haematologic toxicity there are currently several CD33 directed CAR T cell clinical trials that are planned or are recruiting (NCT02958397, NCT01864902). Anti-CD33 CAR T cells have been reinfused into a patient without preconditioning chemotherapy, the patient had fevers the day of the infusion and intermittently thereafter as well as a reduction in the neutrophil count.<sup>79</sup> There was a transient reduction in the blast count from 20% to <6% but the blast count later rose at three weeks.

CAR NK cells represent a new line of possible cellular therapy against malignancy. CD33 directed CAR NK cells with a CD28 and 41BB domain have been trailed in a phase I study.<sup>80</sup> Preliminary results in three patients with R/R AML underwent infusion of CAR NK cells after salvage chemotherapy. The infusions were tolerated in all patients, but subsequent relapse was seen in each case.

#### CD123

After CD33 the most studied target for antibody-based therapy in AML is CD123. CD123 is the Interleukin 3 alpha chain receptor and encoded by the gene *IL3RA*. IL-3 plays a key role in stimulating cell cycle progression and differentiation.<sup>81</sup> IL-3 induces tyrosine phosphorylation which activates the JAK/STAT pathway leading to target gene transcription.<sup>82</sup> Prevention of apoptosis is activated by the action of IL-3 by phosphorylation on pro apoptotic pathways.<sup>83</sup> CD123 is expressed on 45-78% of AML.<sup>36</sup> AML cells have increase DNA synthesis *in vitro* when exposed to IL-3, suggesting an important role in AML proliferation.<sup>84, 85</sup> CD123 is also of significant interest as it has been demonstrated to be to be present on a very high proportion of the CD34+ CD38- LSC with reduced expression on HSCs.<sup>86-<sup>89</sup> Despite this finding, when more potent immunotherapies are used such as CAR T cells, HSC and early progenitor toxicity is a major concern. It has been shown that CD123 directed CAR T cells are able to ablate normal human haematopoiesis in a Patient Derived Xenograft (PDX) NSG mouse model.<sup>90</sup></sup>

The murine anti-human CD123 mAb 7G3 demonstrated the ability to reduce engraftment of primary AML in NOD/SCID mice with ex vivo treatment prior to engraftment, suggesting targeting of LSC.<sup>91</sup> While there were consistent reductions in the rate of primary and secondary engraftment after treatment by 7G3, a reduction in AML in xenotransplanted mice with established disease occurred in a minority of the cases (2/6).<sup>91</sup> CSL 360, a 7G3 derived recombinant IgG1 mAb, has been trailed in a phase I study that showed limited efficacy; one of 40 patients achieved a CR despite adequate antibody saturation.<sup>92</sup> Given the limited efficacy of CSL 360 an Fc receptor modified humanised anti CD123 antibody, CSL 362 (Talacotuzumab), has been developed. The Fc receptor has been modified to have high affinity to CD16, allowing for increased NK cell mediated ADCC.<sup>93</sup> Preclinical data demonstrated that CSL 362 was able to kill primary AML samples in vitro with autologous NK cells and *in vivo* in NOD/SCID mice with established disease.<sup>94</sup> A phase I single agent study in patients who are in CR with a high risk of relapse showed minimal toxicities with 50% of the patients remaining in CR.<sup>95</sup> Of the six patients who were MRD positive on enrolment three converted to MRD negative. Single agent CSL 362 demonstrated limited efficacy but significant toxicity, including infections and cytopenias, in an elderly cohort of patients who have failed hypomethylating agents.<sup>96</sup> A randomised controlled study of decitabine with or without CSL 362 for patients not fit for intensive chemotherapy was stopped early due to a lack of efficacy in the treatment arm.<sup>97</sup>

ADCs are currently being developed targeting CD123. SGN-CD123a is humanised anti-CD123 antibody that utilises a protease cleavable dipeptide linker to conjugate PBD dimers.<sup>98</sup> *In vitro* testing has demonstrated efficacy in 11/12 AML cell lines, including MDR positive ones, as well as 20/23 primary AML samples that ranged from favourable to adverse cytogenetics.<sup>98</sup> *In vivo* mice experiments showed that SGN-123a was able to reduce the burden of established AML in cell lines and primary AML.<sup>99</sup> A phase I study of SGN-123a has been terminated (NCT02848248) for yet unpublished reasons. SL-101 is a novel antibody-toxin conjugate that was in development. SL-101 consists of a scFv that is conjugated to a 38kd region of the Pseudomonas exotoxin A.<sup>100</sup> SL-101 was active against 10/12 cell lines, only HL-60 and U397, which are negative for the CD123 antigen showed resistance.<sup>101</sup> SL-101 also demonstrates an increased cytotoxicity in LSC compared to leukaemic blasts, as well as increased inhibition of leukaemic colony formation compared to healthy bone marrow (70% vs 6%).<sup>101</sup> Exposing two primary AML samples to SL-101 *ex vivo* prior to transplantation in NSG mice did show an overall reduction in engraftment in the BM.<sup>101</sup>

Flotetuzumab (MDG006) is a Dual Affinity Re-Targeting (DART) scaffold comprised of mAbs to CD123 and CD3. It combines the VL of CD123 and VH of CD3 on one chain with the VL of CD3 and VH of CD123 on the other chain, these chains associate via charged residues that promote "diabody" type associations and are stabilised with a disulphide bond.<sup>102</sup> Flotetuzumab demonstrated efficacy in AML cell lines *in vitro* and *in vivo*. There was a transient decrease in red cell mass of Non-Human Primates (NHP) but no neutropenia or thrombocytopenia, a current phase I trial is recruiting (NCT02152956). The initial results of this trial demonstrate near universal CRS with grade three or higher adverse events in 13% of patients. The overall response rate was 22%.<sup>103</sup>

Anti-CD123 CAR T cells have proven to be effective at killing primary AML samples *in vitro* and *in vivo*.<sup>90, 104</sup> Despite CAR T cell therapy failing to impair colony formation in an *in vitro assay* it ablated normal haematopoiesis in a humanised mouse model.<sup>89, 102</sup> A different group developing CAR T cells targeting CD123 and CD33 have demonstrated reduced toxicity to human HSPCs with the anti-CD123 CAR T cells compared to the anti-CD33 CAR T cell in an NSG mice xenotransplantation model.<sup>104</sup> The conflicting results of toxicity to HSPCs by anti-CD123 CAR T cells suggest individual construct designs may play an important role in discerning AML from HSPC. There is concern for CD123 expression on endothelium and a patient infused with anti-CD123 CAR T cells died of CRS and capillary leak syndrome, though this was not reproduced in a small trial replication deficit anti-CD123 CAR T.<sup>105</sup> There are several current phase I clinical trials in anti-CD123 CAR T cells recruiting (NCT02159495, NCT03796390, NCT04010877). One trial requires a suitable allogeneic donor identified at screening to facilitate allo-HSCT if refractory cytopenias develop (NCT03766126).

#### CLL-1 (CD371)

C-type lectin like molecule-1 (CCL1/Clec12a/CD371) is a transmembrane protein that is expressed on CD34+ CD38+ and CD34+ CD33+ progenitors but not CD34+ CD38- stem cells.<sup>106</sup> CLL-1 is expressed on 75-92% of primary AML.<sup>107, 108</sup> CD34+CLL-1+ primary AML cells are able to engraft NOD/SCID mice, suggesting presence on LSC.<sup>109</sup> A bispecific antibody for CLL-1 and CD3 with a fully intact Fc region has been developed that is highly efficacious in killing CLL-1+ AML cell lines in vivo.<sup>107</sup> A major concern in this construct is the toxicity of targeting myeloid progenitors and CRS; the entire initial cohort of NHP administered a high affinity bispecific antibody were euthanised within 30 hours after developing vascular shock and fever, only lower affinity antibodies could subsequently be tolerated and these exhibited myeloid lineage reductions.<sup>107</sup> Another anti-CLL-01 BITE (MCLA-117) demonstrated effectiveness against AML cell lines and primary AML.<sup>110</sup> It did not reduce mature myeloid cells but did deplete myeloid progenitors. There is a current clinical trial recruiting using MCLA-117 monotherapy for patients with relapsed refractory AML (NCT03038230). An anti-CLL-1 ADC with a PBD toxin , CLT030, demonstrated effectiveness against AML cell lines and primary AML in vitro and in vivo.<sup>111</sup> CLT030 did not demonstrate toxicity against erythroid precursors but did demonstrate marked toxicity against granulocytic and monocytic precursors. Another anti-CLL-1 PBD based ADC, anti–CLL-1-ds-PBD, again demonstrated effectiveness against AML cell lines and primary AML in vitro and in vivo.<sup>112</sup> When trialled in NHP there was a transient reduction in granulocytes and monocytes but preservation of haemoglobin and platelets. Anti-CLL-1 CAR T cells have shown activity against AML and heterogeneous results against HSPC. The second generation anti-CLL-1 CAR T cell with the 41BB costimulatory endodomain, CLL-1.BBζ, depleted AML cell lines and primary AML

but was toxic to normal mature myeloid cells while sparing myeloid progenitors.<sup>113</sup> A third generation CAR T cell with both 41BB and CD28 regions was effective against AML cell lines and primary AML but eliminated myeloid progenitors, sparing HSCs.<sup>114</sup> Compound CD33/CLL-1 targeting CAR T cells are been trailed in a phase I study (NCT03795779). Case reports from this study demonstrate that the CAR T cells are effective in depleting AML leading to with bone marrow aplasia, necessitating the need for an allo-HSCT.<sup>115</sup>

#### CD47

CD47 is an immunoglobulin like molecule that is involved in neutrophil tracking, neuronal regeneration and T cell co-stimulation.<sup>116</sup> Another function is providing a "don't eat me" signal by acting a ligand for the signal regulatory protein  $\alpha$  which inhibits phagocytosis by macrophages and some DC.<sup>117</sup> Expression of CD47 is found in almost all AML with 75% of cases having low scores and 25% having high scores by immunohistochemistry.<sup>118</sup> CD47 has been shown to upregulated on both LSC and HSC with overexpression in AML.<sup>119</sup> The distribution of CD47, including on erythrocytes, is concerning for potential haematologic toxicity. Anti-CD47 antibodies have been engineered with a competent Fc backbone and a silent Fc backbone to assess the importance of an active Fc mechanism in potential therapeutic activity.<sup>120</sup> Those antibodies with a competent Fc backbone had significant activity against both AML cell lines and primary AML in vitro and in vivo. Significant toxicity was seen in NHP studies where the Fc competent antibodies led to a 40% decrease in red cell mass while the Fc silent antibodies had a minimal effect. These findings suggest that while and anti-CD47 antibody may have activity against AML, the activity may not be able to be decoupled from erythroid toxicity. Hu5F9-G4 is a humanised anti CD47 antibody that has demonstrated efficacy in preclinical experiments in NHL and paediatric brain tumours.<sup>121, 122</sup> Initial reports from a phase lb trial of single agent Hu5F9-G4 in newly diagnosed patients with AML or MDS (NCT02678338) described anaemia and thrombocytopenia being the most frequent toxicities and a CR/CRi rate of 53% <sup>123</sup>

#### CD38

CD38 is a single chain type two transmembrane ectoenzyme that functions as a dimer.<sup>124</sup> CD38 is a multifunctional protein that contributes to cell proliferation, differentiation, chemotaxis and T cell activation.<sup>125</sup> CD38 was originally defined as a T cell activation molecule but has since been shown to be independent of cell lineage.<sup>126</sup> It is expressed on >95% of AML.<sup>127</sup> Daratumumab is a human antibody against CD38 that can induce cell destruction by ADCC, CDC, antibody dependant phagocytosis and apoptosis. After phase III trials demonstrated efficacy in relapsed multiple myeloma it now has an established role in the treatment of that disease.<sup>128, 129</sup> Daratumumab was effective in depleting primary AML implanted into calcium phosphate scaffolds coated with human BM mesenchymal stromal cells that were imbedded in immunodeficient mice.<sup>127</sup> In addition to efficacy as a single agent Daratumumab has been proposed to be used in combination with all-trans retinoic acid as it has been shown to increase CD38 expression in AML, which may overcome the lack of expression the CD34+ CD38- populations enriched with LSC.<sup>130</sup> The lack of CD38 expression on the initially described and best studied LSC population appears to limit its role as a target for antigen specific therapy in AML. A phase II open label clinical trial of Daratumumab in patients with relapsed or refractory AML is currently recruiting (NCT03067571).

#### CD70

CD70 is the ligand of CD27 and this interaction helps regulate lymphocyte and HSPC activity.<sup>131</sup> CD70 has minimal expression on healthy HSPC and is expressed on 97% of in AML as well as being upregulated in other malignancies <sup>132, 133</sup>. The blockade of CD70 with a monoclonal antibody inhibits self-renewal of AML and LSC while extending survival in a xenograft model of primary AML.<sup>134</sup> Hypomethylating agents have been shown to induce CD70 expression further on AML, thus suggesting synergistic potential with CD70 antibodies, and a phase II trial using this combination in previously untreated AML is underway (NCT04023526) <sup>135</sup>. What remains unclear is if blocking the CD70/CD27 axis will affect haematopoiesis even if the HSPC themselves do not express CD70.

#### CD133

CD133 is a 5-transmembrane molecule that is present on 30-70% of human CD34+ BM cells.<sup>136</sup> CD34+ CD133+ cells are capable of sustaining haematopoiesis while CD34+ CD133- are not.<sup>136</sup> CD133+ correlates with the presence of CD34+, with 69% of CD34+ AMLs expressing CD133. The presence of CD133 made no significant difference in the ability for primary AML cells to engraft NOD/SCID mice.<sup>136</sup> 293C3-SDIE is a chimeric antibody to CD133 that has been optimised to bind with high affinity to CD16. A single preclinical trial has shown an increase in NK activation (increased CD69 and CD107a expression) with 293C3-SDIE in the presence of primary AML *in vitro*, but *in vivo* cytotoxicity was not significantly increased.<sup>137</sup> While 293C3-SDIE does bind CD34+ HSC there was no increase in NK cell activation markers. PDX experiments from a single donor with AML plus healthy donor NK cells demonstrated that 293C3-SDIE could prevent AML from reaching a detectable level despite a 6-month incubation. The requirement of healthy effector cells would likely make 293C3-SDIE most promising as a consolidative therapy, perhaps in the setting of MRD positivity.

#### CXCR4 (CD184)

Chemokine C-X-C motif receptor 4 (CXCR4) is a chemokine G protein coupled receptor, that with its ligand chemokine C-X-C motif ligand 12 (CXCL12), mediates migration to bone marrow, cell adhesion, migration and invasion in haematopoietic cells.<sup>138</sup> CXCR4 is expressed on haematopoietic progenitor cells and variably on 67% of AML blasts and facilitates migration.<sup>139</sup> PF-06747143 is a humanised anti CXCR4 antibody that was able to induce rapid mobilisation of PDX AML cells as well as prolong survival mice engrafted by AML cell lines.<sup>140</sup> Ulocuplumab (BMS-936564/MDX-1338) is a human anti CXCR4 antibody that blocks the binding of CXCL12, preclinical data shows activity via apoptosis in AML both *in vitro* and *in vivo*.<sup>141</sup> Ulocuplumab has completed a phase I trial in relapsed/refractory AML in combination with Mitoxantrone, Etoposide and Cytarabine chemotherapy or as a single agent. There was no dose limiting toxicities and only mild/moderate thrombocytopenia occurred in monotherapy, the overall CR/CRi rate in the combination group was 51% which is similar to historical comparisons.<sup>142</sup> In the Ulocuplumab monotherapy efficacy was limited with 4/30 patients achieved a CR/CRi.

#### CD44

CD44 is a transmembrane glycoprotein expressed on AML and healthy cells, it is extensively alternatively spliced leading to multiple variants. Almost all AML significantly express some of the

CD44 variants, ranging from a maximum of 67% of exon v4 to a minimum of 0% of exon v10 in a series of 27 cases.<sup>143, 144</sup> CD44 is involved in cell proliferation, maturation and bone marrow homing.<sup>143</sup> Pan CD44 has increased expression on AML compared to CD34+ CD38- cord blood cells, and blocking CD44 with a mAb reduces bone marrow engraftment of AML in a mouse *in vivo* model with no significant change on cord blood cells.<sup>145</sup> A functionally active mAb to CD44 has been shown to promote AML differentiation and inhibit the PI3K and AKT pathways that lead to proliferation.<sup>146</sup> The increased expression on AML and key biological functions make CD44 a promising molecule for further investigation, though the large number of isoforms make epitope selection of potential mAb therapies critical.

#### FLT3 (CD135)

The Fms-Like Tyrosine kinase 3 (FLT3) receptor is a tyrosine kinase receptor. It and its ligand play an important part in the malignant transformation of primitive haematopoietic cells. FLT3 is present in nearly all AML and FLT3-internal tandem duplication (ITD) as well as tyrosine kinase domain mutations have recently been targetable with small molecule inhibitors.<sup>147</sup> A randomised study showed a PFS and OS advantage with Midostaurin for patients with FLT-ITD positive AML.<sup>148</sup> IMC-EB10 is a neutralising antibody that is binds to FLT3 and initiates ADCC on FLT3 expressing cells.<sup>149</sup> It was able to reduce engraftment and prolong survival of NOD/SCID mice inoculated with the AML cell line MOLM14 while sparing healthy human haematopoiesis in CD34+ xenografted mice. A phase I trial of IMC-EB10 (NCT00887926) in relapsed or refractory AML was terminated for lack of efficacy. 4G8SDIEM is an Fc optimised antibody against FLT3 and has demonstrated ADCC against AML cell lines and primary AML samples, no cytotoxicity was demonstrated against haematopoietic cell precursors.<sup>150</sup>

#### IL-1RAP

Interleukin 1 receptor accessory protein (IL1RAP/IL1R13) is a co receptor for IL-1 and required for its function.<sup>151</sup> IL1RAP has high or intermediate expression on 79% of AML and an anti-IL1RAP chimeric antibody, 81.2, demonstrated ADCC against CD34+ CD38- AML cells. 81.2 prevented engraftment of AML in immunodeficient mice.<sup>152</sup> 81.2 increased the overall survival of PDX NOD/SCID mice as well as reducing leukaemic burden.<sup>153</sup> A concern with utilising IL1RAP is that there is significant secretion of a soluble form which may occupy mAb binding sites.<sup>154</sup>

#### LeY

The Lewis Y antigen (LeY) is a difucosylated carbohydrate antigen that under physiologic conditions is primarily expressed during embryogenesis and has limited expression on normal tissue.<sup>155, 156</sup> LeY is expressed on many tumour associated antigens and was present on 46% of primary AML.<sup>157, 158</sup> Second generation CAR T cells have been developed from a Single-Chain Variable Fragment (scFv) of a humanised anti-LeY antibody. These CAR T cells could induce cell lysis in cell lines expressing LeY and not significantly affect normal cells with low LeY expression. OS was prolonged in mice engrafted with human ovarian cancer exposed to the anti-LeY CAR T cells.<sup>159</sup> A Phase I study of five patients was conducted, four of the patients received CAR T cells, three with cytogenetic MRD and one in relapse. The relapsed patient had a transient reduction in blasts but then progressed, all three of the patients in CR progressed with the final patient relapsing at 23 months post infusion.<sup>160</sup> LeY

expression was maintained on patients at the time of progression suggesting loss of antigen was not the cause of treatment failure. There is currently a recruiting clinical trial for anti LeY CAR T cells in myeloid malignancies (NCT02958384). A potential limiting factor in the development of anti-LeY immunotherapy is that high affinity antibodies against carbohydrate antigens can be especially difficult to develop.<sup>161</sup>

#### NKG2D

Natural Killer Group 2D (NKG2D) is a surface receptor that is expressed normally on NK and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, but is also expressed on stressed and malignant cells, including the majority of AML.<sup>162, 163</sup> Its limited expression on resting healthy tissues makes it an attractive target. There is currently a phase I/II trial (NCT03018405) with anti- NKG2D CAR T cells recruiting. A case report from this trial of a patient with who had relapsed FLT3<sup>+</sup> AML demonstrates initial but transient activity.<sup>164</sup> The patient achieved a complete morphological response but had evidence of clonal evolution with a new *IDH2* mutation. Despite this finding, he had normal trilineage haematopoiesis, providing some evidence to the limited NKG2D expression on HSPC. He subsequently underwent allo-HSCT leading to CR with normal molecular studies. It is unclear if AML subclones may have variable NKG2D expression.

#### TIM-3 (CD366)

T-cell Immunoglobulin- and Mucin-domain-containing molecule (TIM-3) is a type 1 membrane protein with an immunoglobulin variable like region that is expressed on differentiated TH1 cells and inhibits inflammation.<sup>165</sup> TIM-3 is normally expressed on Th1 and Th17 T cells and acts as an immunoregulatory checkpoint.<sup>166, 167</sup> It is also expressed on the majority of AML blasts but not on HSC or the majority of progenitors.<sup>168</sup> An anti-TIM-3 mAb was able to prevent primary and secondary engraftment of mice in a PDX model.<sup>168</sup> The combination of targeting AML cell lines directly via ADCC and possibly acting as an immune checkpoint receptor makes TIM-3 an attractive target in AML. There is a current clinical trial for an anti-TIM-3 mAb in combination with a PD-1 inhibitor for patients with AML or high risk MDS (NCT03066648).<sup>169</sup> A dual target CAR T cell has been developed that selectively kills targets expressing both CD13 and TIM-3.<sup>170</sup> This strategy was effective *in vitro* and *in vivo* against AML while only marginally depleting HSPC.

#### WT1

The Wilms Tumour 1 gene is critical for renal tract development but is also overexpressed in many malignancies including AML.<sup>171</sup> Specific *WT-1* RNA transcripts can be found in up to 73% of AML patients.<sup>172</sup> Numerous vaccination studies using *WT-1* peptides have been carried out in AML, together these studies suggest a modest effect.<sup>173</sup> The WT-1 protein is intracellular and therefore not conventionally targetable by antibody derived immunotherapies. One way to target this antigen targeting a peptide component bound to a HLA class one molecule, and one group has developed T cells with an engineered T cell receptor that target the WT1/HLA-A\*02:01complex.<sup>174</sup> While the preclinical results are promising this therapy is restricted only to individuals with HLA-A\*02:01 expression. A recent clinical trial of engineered T cells against the WT1/HLA-A\*02:01 complex has been completed (NCT02550535) with results pending.

#### **Novel Antigens Examined in This Thesis**

#### CD300F

CD300F (IREM-1) is a type 1 transmembrane protein with an extracellular region containing an Ig domain and an intracellular domain containing three tyrosine signalling motifs.<sup>175</sup> Its expressed in myeloid cells with high expression monocytes and dendritic cells with lower expression on granulocytes.<sup>176</sup> CD300f has a number of isoforms which bind with varying specificities to different antibodies.<sup>177, 178</sup> The understanding of CD300f's role is expanding. In murine mast cells (where it is also known as LMIR3) it is a receptor for ceramide, a key regulator of inflammation, and acts in an inhibitory manner to suppress cytokine production and degranulation.<sup>179, 180</sup> CD300f presence on mast cells reduces neutrophil migration to the peritoneal cavity in mice post caecal puncture, thus providing further evidence of an inhibitory role in the innate immune system.<sup>181</sup> The role of CD300f on neutrophils has been further characterised, showing it to be a negative regulator of response to sepsis, by reducing their response to pseudomonas aeruginosa.<sup>182</sup> Alternatively CD300f also recognises phosphatidylserine on apoptotic cells and mediates their clearance by phagocytosis.<sup>183</sup> CD300f as more recently been associated in function of the nervous system through its presence on macrophages and microglial cells. Schwann cell CD300f is associated with the number of macrophage present post peripheral neve injury as well as the rate of nerve recovery.<sup>184</sup> A single nucleotide polymorphism found in CD300f is associated with major depressive disorder in women, in addition CD300f deficient female mice demonstrated depressive behaviours, suggesting that CD300f is critical to microglial fitness.<sup>185</sup>

CD300f is expressed in AML but its biological role in that context has yet to be determined. CD300f was detected on 72% of primary AML (38/52) and 54% (7/13) of blasts in myelodysplastic syndrome.<sup>176</sup> CD300f was also present on 54% (13/24) of CD34+ CD38- AML fraction. There was no reported expression on CD34+ CD38- HSC from healthy BM.<sup>176</sup> mAb targeting CD300F are internalised within two hours of binding allowing for potential development of ADC therapeutics.<sup>176</sup> Unconjugated mAb demonstrated ADCC and complement dependant cytotoxicity (CDC) in vitro as well reducing the amount of established disease in both a cell line xenotransplantation and PDX model.<sup>176</sup> CD300f has a number of isoforms and specific isoforms have been explored as specific targets in AML. The exon four encoded region is expressed extracellularly at significantly higher levels on AML with monocytic differentiation compared to HSPC.<sup>186</sup> A specific conformational change could also be induced with an anti-CD300f antibody, DCR-2, which allows for increased binding of another anti-CD300f antibody in AML with monocytic differentiation compared to HSPC. These findings may allow for the development of potential therapeutics which are effective against AML with monocytic differentiation but lack the haematopoietic toxicity seen in many AML antibodybased therapies. An alternative approach was to use an anti-CD300f ADC a conditioning agent.<sup>187</sup> The ADC can kill AML and HSPC in vitro and in vivo, demonstrating potential as a future conditioning agent.

#### CD302

CD302 (also known as DEC 205 associated c-type lectin 1 (DCL1) or Clec13A is a c type lectin receptor (CLR) originally identified from the Hodgkin lymphoma cell line L428.<sup>188</sup> CD302 is the simplest type-1 CLR and the highest expression of transcripts are found in the liver, followed by the lungs, PBMC and the spleen.<sup>188</sup> The ligand and a definitive function are yet to be discovered but the co-localisation of

CD302 on migratory structures (f-actin rich filopodia, lamellopodia and podosomes) in Mφ and transfected cell lines suggests a role in migration.<sup>189, 190</sup> Within the haematopoietic system CD302 is expressed on myeloid cells, primarily Mφ, mDC and granulocytes. CD302 is present on 88% of AML blasts and 80% of the CD34+ CD38- fraction.<sup>191</sup> We demonstrated that an anti-human CD302 antibody has significant ADCC in the AML cell line HL-60. Hepatic transcript expression is a concern but functional and staining studies suggested significantly extracellular expression on hepatic compared to AML cell lines. CD302 is expressed on BM and cord blood HSPC with a similar distribution of CD33.

Table 1.2 AMI	. Targets and Current	t Stage of Developme	ent		
Target	Naked Antibodies	Antibody Drug Conjugates	BiTEs/DARTs	CAR T Cells	Engineered T Cells
CD33	<b>Clinical Trials Completed</b>	Approved (GO)	<b>Clinical Trials Recruiting</b>	Clinical Trials Recruiting	
CD123	<b>Clinical Trials Completed</b>	Clinical Trials Recruiting	Preclinical Data	Clinical Trials Recruiting	
CLL-1 (CD371)		Preclinical Data	Preclinical Data	<b>Clinical Trials Recruiting</b>	
CD47	<b>Clinical Trials Completed</b>				
CD38	<b>Clinical Trials Recruiting</b>				
CD70	<b>Clinical Trials Recruiting</b>				
CD133	Preclinical Data				
CXCR4 (CD184)	<b>Clinical Trials Completed</b>				
CD44	<b>Clinical Trials Completed</b>				
FLT3 (CD135)	<b>Clinical Trials Completed</b>				
IL1-RAP	Preclinical Data				
LeY				<b>Clinical Trials Completed</b>	
NKG2D	<b>Clinical Trials Recruiting</b>				
TIM-3 (CD366)	<b>Clinical Trials Recruiting</b>				
WT1					<b>Clinical Trials Completed</b>
CD300f	Preclinical Data	Preclinical Data			
CD302	Preclinical Data				

#### Conclusions

Immunotherapy has significantly advanced in the treatment of B cell malignancies but less so in AML. The target selection in AML may have to be less stringent given limited leukaemia specific markers. The prevalence of so many AML targets with none coming to the fore suggests that no antigen studied has all the ideal characteristics in a tumour target. The development of AML immunotherapy may not only depend on searching for new targets but using the current ones in different ways compared to those in B cell malignancies.

AML has several unique challenges compared to B cell malignancies when developing surface molecule-based therapeutics. The population of patients and the severity of the disease is a principle challenge in the development of any AML treatment. Most patients are older and may have a compromised immune system at the time of diagnosis. The speed of onset from the disease often does not allow for screening periods employed by many clinical trials.

A principle difficulty in selecting an AML antigen is the presence or absence on normal HSPC. The implications of this are discussed extensively in Chapter 4. Another concern is if the paradigm of single antigen targeting is feasible in AML given the inherent plasticity and sub-clonal escape causing relapse.<sup>192, 193</sup> Requiring multiple targets for cytotoxicity may reduce off target effects, as with anti-TIM-3 and CD13 CAR T cells, but this will likely exacerbate the problem of antigen escape.<sup>170</sup>

Even if an ideal antigen target was found, the ideal effector remains unclear. GO has demonstrated the potential of ADC but has limited overall effect size and small therapeutic window. VT confirmed that judging the therapeutic window with ADC will be difficult in AML given the excess mortality in the treatment arm of the CASCADE study. Multiple clinical trials of unconjugated antibodies and BiTEs have now failed to show a strong efficacy signal. CAR T cells and other cellular therapies may hold promise but to date there has not been a strong clinical signal of efficacy. The improved outcomes of patients with intermediate to high risk AML with allo-HSCT reminds us that immunotherapy can be effective in AML and refining a treatment beyond transplant is worthy of ongoing study.

### References

- 1. Rosenberg SA. Decade in review [mdash] cancer immunotherapy: Entering the mainstream of cancer treatment. *Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology* 2014; 11(11): 630-632.
- 2. Zappasodi R, de Braud F, Di Nicola M. Lymphoma Immunotherapy: Current Status. *Front Immunol* 2015; 6: 448. e-pub ahead of print 2015/09/22; doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00448
- 3. Freeman CL, Gribben JG. Immunotherapy in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukaemia (CLL). *Curr Hematol Malig Rep* 2016; 11(1): 29-36. e-pub ahead of print 2016/02/10; doi:10.1007/s11899-015-0295-9
- 4. Decker WK, da Silva RF, Sanabria MH, Angelo LS, Guimaraes F, Burt BM *et al.* Cancer Immunotherapy: Historical Perspective of a Clinical Revolution and Emerging Preclinical Animal Models. *Front Immunol* 2017; 8: 829. e-pub ahead of print 2017/08/22; doi:10.3389/fimmu.2017.00829
- 5. Graham JB, Graham RM. The effect of vaccine on cancer patients. *Surg Gynecol Obstet* 1959; 109(2): 131-138. e-pub ahead of print 1959/08/01;
- 6. Talpaz M, McCredie KB, Mavligit GM, Gutterman JU. Leukocyte interferon-induced myeloid cytoreduction in chronic myelogenous leukemia. *Blood* 1983; 62(3): 689-692. e-pub ahead of print 1983/09/01;
- 7. Tallman MS, Gilliland DG, Rowe JM. Drug therapy for acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood* 2005; 106(4): 1154-1163. e-pub ahead of print 2005/05/05; doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-01-0178
- Appelbaum FR. Haematopoietic cell transplantation as immunotherapy. *Nature* 2001; 411(6835): 385-389. doi: Doi 10.1038/35077251
- 9. Grupp SA, Kalos M, Barrett D, Aplenc R, Porter DL, Rheingold SR *et al.* Chimeric antigen receptor–modified T cells for acute lymphoid leukemia. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2013; 368(16): 1509-1518.
- Topp MS, Gokbuget N, Stein AS, Zugmaier G, O'Brien S, Bargou RC *et al.* Safety and activity of blinatumomab for adult patients with relapsed or refractory B-precursor acute lymphoblastic leukaemia: a multicentre, single-arm, phase 2 study. *Lancet Oncol* 2015; 16(1): 57-66. e-pub ahead of print 2014/12/20; doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(14)71170-2
- 11. Cheever MA, Allison JP, Ferris AS, Finn OJ, Hastings BM, Hecht TT *et al.* The prioritization of cancer antigens: a national cancer institute pilot project for the acceleration of translational research. *Clin Cancer Res* 2009; 15(17): 5323-5337. e-pub ahead of print 2009/09/03; doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-0737
- 12. Gasiorowski RE, Clark GJ, Bradstock K, Hart DN. Antibody therapy for acute myeloid leukaemia. *Br J Haematol* 2014; 164(4): 481-495. e-pub ahead of print 2013/12/11; doi:10.1111/bjh.12691
- 13. Mathur R, Weiner GJ. Picking the optimal target for antibody-drug conjugates. *Am Soc Clin Oncol Educ Book* 2013; 33(1): e103-e107. e-pub ahead of print 2013/05/30; doi:10.1200/EdBook\_AM.2013.33.e103
- 14. Dameshek W, Gunz FW, Baikie AG. *William Dameshek and Frederick Gunz's Leukemia*, 3rd edn Grune & Stratton: New York, 1974.
- Antman KH. Introduction: the history of arsenic trioxide in cancer therapy. *Oncologist* 2001;
  6 Suppl 2: 1-2. e-pub ahead of print 2001/05/02; doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.6-suppl\_2-1
- 16. Foon KA, Todd RF, 3rd. Immunologic classification of leukemia and lymphoma. *Blood* 1986; 68(1): 1-31. e-pub ahead of print 1986/07/01;
- 17. Beutler E. The treatment of acute leukemia: past, present, and future. *Leukemia* 2001; 15(4): 658-661. e-pub ahead of print 2001/05/23; doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2402065
- 18. Scheinberg DA, Lovett D, Divgi CR, Graham MC, Berman E, Pentlow K *et al.* A phase I trial of monoclonal antibody M195 in acute myelogenous leukemia: specific bone marrow targeting and internalization of radionuclide. *J Clin Oncol* 1991; 9(3): 478-490. e-pub ahead of print 1991/03/01; doi: 10.1200/JCO.1991.9.3.478
- 19. Appelbaum FR, Bernstein ID. Gemtuzumab ozogamicin for acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood* 2017; 130(22): 2373-2376. e-pub ahead of print 2017/10/13; doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-09-797712
- 20. Perna F, Berman SH, Soni RK, Mansilla-Soto J, Eyquem J, Hamieh M *et al.* Integrating Proteomics and Transcriptomics for Systematic Combinatorial Chimeric Antigen Receptor Therapy of AML. *Cancer Cell* 2017; 32(4): 506-519 e505. e-pub ahead of print 2017/10/11; doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2017.09.004
- 21. Abadir E, Gasiorowski RE, Silveira PA, Larsen S, Clark GJJJoCM. Is Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation Required to Unleash the Full Potential of Immunotherapy in Acute Myeloid Leukemia? 2020; 9(2): 554.
- 22. Estey E, Levine RL, Löwenberg BJB, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology. Current challenges in clinical development of "targeted therapies": the case of acute myeloid leukemia. 2015; 125(16): 2461-2466.
- 23. Thomas D, Majeti R. Biology and relevance of human acute myeloid leukemia stem cells. Blood 2017; 129(12): 1577-1585. e-pub ahead of print 2017/02/06; doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-10-696054

- 24. Blair A, Hogge DE, Ailles LE, Lansdorp PM, Sutherland HJ. Lack of expression of Thy-1 (CD90) on acute myeloid leukemia cells with long-term proliferative ability in vitro and in vivo. *Blood* 1997; 89(9): 3104-3112. e-pub ahead of print 1997/05/01;
- 25. Goardon N, Marchi E, Atzberger A, Quek L, Schuh A, Soneji S *et al.* Coexistence of LMPP-like and GMP-like leukemia stem cells in acute myeloid leukemia. *Cancer Cell* 2011; 19(1): 138-152. e-pub ahead of print 2011/01/22; doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2010.12.012
- 26. Ishikawa F, Yoshida S, Saito Y, Hijikata A, Kitamura H, Tanaka S *et al.* Chemotherapy-resistant human AML stem cells home to and engraft within the bone-marrow endosteal region. *Nature Biotechnology* 2007; 25(11): 1315-1321. doi: 10.1038/nbt1350
- 27. Zhou HS, Carter BZ, Andreeff M. Bone marrow niche-mediated survival of leukemia stem cells in acute myeloid leukemia: Yin and Yang. *Cancer Biol Med* 2016; 13(2): 248-259. e-pub ahead of print 2016/07/28; doi: 10.20892/j.issn.2095-3941.2016.0023
- Lapidot T, Sirard C, Vormoor J, Murdoch B, Hoang T, Cacerescortes J *et al.* A Cell Initiating Human Acute Myeloid-Leukemia after Transplantation into Scid Mice. *Nature* 1994; 367(6464): 645-648. doi: DOI 10.1038/367645a0
- 29. Wunderlich M, Chou FS, Link KA, Mizukawa B, Perry RL, Carroll M *et al*. AML xenograft efficiency is significantly improved in NOD/SCID-IL2RG mice constitutively expressing human SCF, GM-CSF and IL-3. *Leukemia* 2010; 24(10): 1785-1788. doi: 10.1038/leu.2010.158
- 30. Taussig DC, Miraki-Moud F, Anjos-Afonso F, Pearce DJ, Allen K, Ridler C *et al.* Anti-CD38 antibody–mediated clearance of human repopulating cells masks the heterogeneity of leukemia-initiating cells. *Blood* 2008; 112(3): 568-575.
- 31. Taussig DC, Vargaftig J, Miraki-Moud F, Griessinger E, Sharrock K, Luke T *et al.* Leukemiainitiating cells from some acute myeloid leukemia patients with mutated nucleophosmin reside in the CD34(-) fraction. *Blood* 2010; 115(10): 1976-1984. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-02-206565
- 32. Varki A, Crocker PR. I-type Lectins. In: nd, Varki A, Cummings RD, Esko JD, Freeze HH, Stanley P *et al.* (eds). *Essentials of Glycobiology*. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press: Cold Spring Harbor (NY), 2009.
- 33. Hernandez-Caselles T, Martinez-Esparza M, Perez-Oliva AB, Quintanilla-Cecconi AM, Garcia-Alonso A, Alvarez-Lopez DMR *et al.* A study of CD33 (SIGLEC-3) antigen expression and function on activated human T and NK cells: two isoforms of CD33 are generated by alternative splicing. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology* 2006; 79(1): 46-58. doi:10.1189/jlb.0205096
- 34. Crocker PR, Varki A. Siglecs, sialic acids and innate immunity. *Trends Immunol* 2001; 22(6): 337-342. e-pub ahead of print 2001/05/30; doi: 10.1016/s1471-4906(01)01930-5

- 35. Taylor VC, Buckley CD, Douglas M, Cody AJ, Simmons DL, Freeman SD. The myeloid-specific sialic acid-binding receptor, CD33, associates with the protein-tyrosine phosphatases, SHP-1 and SHP-2. *J Biol Chem* 1999; 274(17): 11505-11512. e-pub ahead of print 1999/04/17; doi:10.1074/jbc.274.17.11505
- 36. Ehninger A, Kramer M, Rollig C, Thiede C, Bornhauser M, von Bonin M *et al.* Distribution and levels of cell surface expression of CD33 and CD123 in acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood Cancer* J 2014; 4(6): e218. e-pub ahead of print 2014/06/14; doi: 10.1038/bcj.2014.39
- 37. Krupka C, Kufer P, Kischel R, Zugmaier G, Bögeholz J, Köhnke T *et al.* CD33 target validation and sustained depletion of AML blasts in long-term cultures by the bispecific T-cell–engaging antibody AMG 330. *Blood* 2014; 123(3): 356-365.
- Caron PC, Co MS, Bull MK, Avdalovic NM, Queen C, Scheinberg DA. Biological and immunological features of humanized M195 (anti-CD33) monoclonal antibodies. *Cancer Res* 1992; 52(24): 6761-6767. e-pub ahead of print 1992/12/15;
- 39. Walter RB. The role of CD33 as therapeutic target in acute myeloid leukemia. In: Taylor & Francis, 2014.
- 40. Andrews RG, Singer JW, Bernstein ID. Precursors of colony-forming cells in humans can be distinguished from colony-forming cells by expression of the CD33 and CD34 antigens and light scatter properties. *J Exp Med* 1989; 169(5): 1721-1731. e-pub ahead of print 1989/05/01; doi: 10.1084/jem.169.5.1721
- 41. Taussig DC, Pearce DJ, Simpson C, Rohatiner AZ, Lister TA, Kelly G *et al.* Hematopoietic stem cells express multiple myeloid markers: implications for the origin and targeted therapy of acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood* 2005; 106(13): 4086-4092. e-pub ahead of print 2005/09/01; doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-03-1072
- 42. Laszlo GS, Estey EH, Walter RB. The past and future of CD33 as therapeutic target in acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood Rev* 2014; 28(4): 143-153. e-pub ahead of print 2014/05/09; doi: 10.1016/j.blre.2014.04.001
- 43. Caron PC, Scheinberg DA. Anti-CD33 monoclonal antibody M195 for the therapy of myeloid leukemia. *Leuk Lymphoma* 1993; 11 Suppl 2(sup2): 1-6. e-pub ahead of print 1993/01/01; doi: 10.3109/10428199309064254
- 44. Feldman EJ, Brandwein J, Stone R, Kalaycio M, Moore J, O'Connor J *et al.* Phase III randomized multicenter study of a humanized anti-CD33 monoclonal antibody, lintuzumab, in combination with chemotherapy, versus chemotherapy alone in patients with refractory or first-relapsed acute myeloid leukemia. *J Clin Oncol* 2005; 23(18): 4110-4116. e-pub ahead of print 2005/06/18; doi: 10.1200/JCO.2005.09.133

- 45. Lancet JE, Sekeres MA, Wood BL, Grove LE, Sandalic L, Sievers EL *et al.* Lintuzumab and Low-Dose Cytarabine Compared to Placebo and Low-Dose Cytarabine in Patients with Untreated Acute Myeloid Leukemia (AML) 60 Years and Older: Results of a Randomized, Double-Blinded Phase 2b Study. *Blood* 2011; 118(21): 1543-1544.
- 46. van der Jagt RH, Badger CC, Appelbaum FR, Press OW, Matthews DC, Eary JF *et al.* Localization of radiolabeled antimyeloid antibodies in a human acute leukemia xenograft tumor model. *Cancer Res* 1992; 52(1): 89-94. e-pub ahead of print 1992/01/01;
- 47. Dowell JA, Korth-Bradley J, Liu H, King SP, Berger MS. Pharmacokinetics of gemtuzumab ozogamicin, an antibody-targeted chemotherapy agent for the treatment of patients with acute myeloid leukemia in first relapse. *J Clin Pharmacol* 2001; 41(11): 1206-1214. e-pub ahead of print 2001/11/08; doi: 10.1177/00912700122012751
- Hamann PR, Hinman LM, Beyer CF, Lindh D, Upeslacis J, Flowers DA *et al.* An anti-CD33 antibody-calicheamicin conjugate for treatment of acute myeloid leukemia. Choice of linker. *Bioconjug Chem* 2002; 13(1): 40-46. e-pub ahead of print 2002/01/17; doi:10.1021/bc0100206
- 49. Calicheamicin-conjugated humanized anti-CD33 monoclonal antibody (CMA-676) shows non-apoptotic cytocidal effect on CD33-positive leukemia cell lines, but is inactive on P-glycoprotein-expressing sublines. *Blood*. AMER SOC HEMATOLOGY 1900 M STREET. NW SUITE 200, WASHINGTON, DC 20036 USA, 1999.
- 50. Sievers EL, Appelbaum FR, Spielberger RT, Forman SJ, Flowers D, Smith FO *et al.* Selective ablation of acute myeloid leukemia using antibody-targeted chemotherapy: A phase I study of an anti-CD33 calicheamicin immunoconjugate. *Blood* 1999; 93(11): 3678-3684. doi: DOI 10.1182/blood.V93.11.3678
- 51. Linenberger ML. CD33-directed therapy with gemtuzumab ozogamicin in acute myeloid leukemia: progress in understanding cytotoxicity and potential mechanisms of drug resistance. *Leukemia* 2005; 19(2): 176-182. e-pub ahead of print 2004/12/14; doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2403598
- 52. Sievers EL, Larson RA, Stadtmauer EA, Estey E, Lowenberg B, Dombret H *et al.* Efficacy and safety of gemtuzumab ozogamicin in patients with CD33-positive acute myeloid leukemia in first relapse. *J Clin Oncol* 2001; 19(13): 3244-3254. e-pub ahead of print 2001/07/04; doi: 10.1200/JCO.2001.19.13.3244
- 53. Bross PF, Beitz J, Chen G, Duffy E, Kieffer L, Roy S *et al.* Approval summary: Gemtuzumab ozogamicin in relapsed acute myeloid leukemia (vol 7, pg 1490, 2001). *Clinical Cancer Research* 2002; 8(1): 300-300.
- 54. Ravandi F, Estey EH, Appelbaum FR, Lo-Coco F, Schiffer CA, Larson RA *et al.* Gemtuzumab ozogamicin: time to resurrect? *J Clin Oncol* 2012; 30(32): 3921-3923. e-pub ahead of print 2012/09/19; doi: 10.1200/JCO.2012.43.0132

- 55. Rajvanshi P, Shulman HM, Sievers EL, McDonald GB. Hepatic sinusoidal obstruction after gemtuzumab ozogamicin (Mylotarg) therapy. *Blood* 2002; 99(7): 2310-2314. e-pub ahead of print 2002/03/16; doi: 10.1182/blood.v99.7.2310
- 56. Wadleigh M, Richardson PG, Zahrieh D, Lee SJ, Cutler C, Ho V *et al.* Prior gemtuzumab ozogamicin exposure significantly increases the risk of veno-occlusive disease in patients who undergo myeloablative allogeneic stem cell transplantation. *Blood* 2003; 102(5): 1578-1582. doi: 10.1182/blood-2003-01-0255
- 57. Burnett AK, Hills RK, Milligan D, Kjeldsen L, Kell J, Russell NH *et al.* Identification of patients with acute myeloblastic leukemia who benefit from the addition of gemtuzumab ozogamicin: results of the MRC AML15 trial. *J Clin Oncol* 2011; 29(4): 369-377. e-pub ahead of print 2010/12/22; doi: 10.1200/JCO.2010.31.4310
- 58. Hills RK, Castaigne S, Appelbaum FR, Delaunay J, Petersdorf S, Othus M *et al.* Addition of gemtuzumab ozogamicin to induction chemotherapy in adult patients with acute myeloid leukaemia: a meta-analysis of individual patient data from randomised controlled trials. *Lancet Oncol* 2014; 15(9): 986-996. e-pub ahead of print 2014/07/11; doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(14)70281-5
- 59. Lambert J, Pautas C, Terre C, Raffoux E, Turlure P, Caillot D *et al.* Gemtuzumab ozogamicin for de novo acute myeloid leukemia: final efficacy and safety updates from the open-label, phase III ALFA-0701 trial. *Haematologica* 2019; 104(1): 113-119. e-pub ahead of print 2018/08/05; doi: 10.3324/haematol.2018.188888
- 60. Issell BF, Crooke ST. Maytansine. *Cancer Treat Rev* 1978; 5(4): 199-207. e-pub ahead of print 1978/12/01; doi: 10.1016/s0305-7372(78)80014-0
- 61. Lapusan S, Vidriales MB, Thomas X, de Botton S, Vekhoff A, Tang R *et al.* Phase I studies of AVE9633, an anti-CD33 antibody-maytansinoid conjugate, in adult patients with relapsed/refractory acute myeloid leukemia. *Invest New Drugs* 2012; 30(3): 1121-1131. e-pub ahead of print 2011/04/27; doi: 10.1007/s10637-011-9670-0
- 62. Kung Sutherland MS, Walter RB, Jeffrey SC, Burke PJ, Yu C, Kostner H *et al.* SGN-CD33A: a novel CD33-targeting antibody–drug conjugate using a pyrrolobenzodiazepine dimer is active in models of drug-resistant AML. 2013; 122(8): 1455-1463.
- 63. Bixby DL, Stein AS, Fathi AT, Kovacsovics TJ, Levy MY, Erba HP *et al.* Vadastuximab Talirine Monotherapy in Older Patients with Treatment Naive CD33-Positive Acute Myeloid Leukemia (AML). In: Am Soc Hematology, 2016.
- 64. Smellie M, Bose DS, Thompson AS, Jenkins TC, Hartley JA, Thurston DE. Sequence-selective recognition of duplex DNA through covalent interstrand cross-linking: Kinetic and molecular modeling studies with pyrrolobenzodiazepine dimers. *Biochemistry* 2003; 42(27): 8232-8239. doi: 10.1021/bi034313t

- 65. Garfin PM, Feldman EJ. Antibody-Based Treatment of Acute Myeloid Leukemia. *Curr Hematol Malig Rep* 2016; 11(6): 545-552. e-pub ahead of print 2016/10/14; doi: 10.1007/s11899-016-0349-7
- 66. Sutherland MSK, Walter RB, Jeffrey SC, Burke PJ, Yu C, Kostner H *et al.* SGN-CD33A: a novel CD33-targeting antibody–drug conjugate using a pyrrolobenzodiazepine dimer is active in models of drug-resistant AML. *Blood* 2013; 122(8): 1455-1463.
- 67. Stein EM, Walter RB, Erba HP, Fathi AT, Advani AS, Lancet JE *et al.* A phase 1 trial of vadastuximab talirine as monotherapy in patients with CD33-positive acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood* 2018; 131(4): 387-396. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-06-789800
- 68. Erba HP, Levy MY, Vasu S, Stein AS, Fathi AT, Maris MB *et al.* A Phase 1b Study of Vadastuximab Talirine in Combination with 7+3 Induction Therapy for Patients with Newly Diagnosed Acute Myeloid Leukemia (AML). *Blood* 2016; 128(22): 211-211. doi:10.1182/blood.V128.22.211.211
- 69. Yang J, Ravandi F, Advani A, Vasu S, Walter RB, Faderl S *et al.* A Phase 1b Study of Vadastuximab Talirine As Maintenance and in Combination with Standard Consolidation for Patients with Acute Myeloid Leukemia (AML). *Blood* 2016; 128(22): 340-340. doi:10.1182/blood.V128.22.340.340
- 70. Wang ES, Ades L, Fathi AT, Kreuzer KA, O'Meara MM, Liang S-Y *et al.* CASCADE: A phase 3, randomized, double-blind study of vadastuximab talirine (33A) versus placebo in combination with azacitidine or decitabine in the treatment of older patients with newly diagnosed acute myeloid leukemia (AML). In: American Society of Clinical Oncology, 2017.
- 71. Krupka C, Kufer P, Kischel R, Zugmaier G, Lichtenegger FS, Kohnke T *et al.* Blockade of the PD-1/PD-L1 axis augments lysis of AML cells by the CD33/CD3 BiTE antibody construct AMG 330: reversing a T-cell-induced immune escape mechanism. *Leukemia* 2016; 30(2): 484-491. e-pub ahead of print 2015/08/05; doi: 10.1038/leu.2015.214
- 72. Ravandi F, Stein AS, Kantarjian HM, Walter RB, Paschka P, Jongen-Lavrencic M *et al.* A phase 1 first-in-human study of AMG 330, an anti-CD33 bispecific T-cell engager (BiTE<sup>®</sup>) antibody construct, in relapsed/refractory acute myeloid leukemia (R/R AML). In: Am Soc Hematology, 2018.
- 73. Hoseini S, Cheung N. Acute myeloid leukemia targets for bispecific antibodies. *Blood Cancer Journal* 2017; 7(2): e522.
- 74. Westervelt P, Roboz GJ, Cortes JE, Kantarjian HM, Lee S, Rettig MP *et al*. Phase 1 first-inhuman trial of AMV564, a bivalent bispecific (2x2) CD33/CD3 T-cell engager, in patients with relapsed/refractory acute myeloid leukemia (AML). In: Am Soc Hematology, 2018.

- 75. O'Hear C, Heiber JF, Schubert I, Fey G, Geiger TL. Anti-CD33 chimeric antigen receptor targeting of acute myeloid leukemia. *Haematologica* 2015; 100(3): 336-344. doi:10.3324/haematol.2014.112748
- 76. Kenderian SS, Ruella M, Shestova O, Klichinsky M, Aikawa V, Morrissette JJ *et al.* CD33specific chimeric antigen receptor T cells exhibit potent preclinical activity against human acute myeloid leukemia. *Leukemia* 2015; 29(8): 1637-1647. e-pub ahead of print 2015/02/28; doi: 10.1038/leu.2015.52
- 77. Minagawa K, Jamil MO, Al-Obaidi M, Pereboeva L, Salzman D, Erba HP *et al.* In Vitro Pre-Clinical Validation of Suicide Gene Modified Anti-CD33 Redirected Chimeric Antigen Receptor T-Cells for Acute Myeloid Leukemia. *PLoS One* 2016; 11(12): e0166891. e-pub ahead of print 2016/12/03; doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0166891
- 78. Kim MY, Yu KR, Kenderian SS, Ruella M, Chen S, Shin TH *et al.* Genetic Inactivation of CD33 in Hematopoietic Stem Cells to Enable CAR T Cell Immunotherapy for Acute Myeloid Leukemia. *Cell* 2018; 173(6): 1439-1453 e1419. e-pub ahead of print 2018/06/02; doi:10.1016/j.cell.2018.05.013
- 79. Wang QS, Wang Y, Lv HY, Han QW, Fan H, Guo B *et al.* Treatment of CD33-directed chimeric antigen receptor-modified T cells in one patient with relapsed and refractory acute myeloid leukemia. *Mol Ther* 2015; 23(1): 184-191. e-pub ahead of print 2014/09/02; doi:10.1038/mt.2014.164
- 80. Tang X, Yang L, Li Z, Nalin AP, Dai H, Xu T *et al.* First-in-man clinical trial of CAR NK-92 cells: safety test of CD33-CAR NK-92 cells in patients with relapsed and refractory acute myeloid leukemia. *American journal of cancer research* 2018; 8(6): 1083.
- 81. Munoz L, Nomdedeu JF, Lopez O, Carnicer MJ, Bellido M, Aventin A *et al.* Interleukin-3 receptor alpha chain (CD123) is widely expressed in hematologic malignancies. *Haematologica* 2001; 86(12): 1261-1269.
- 82. Ransohoff RM. Cellular responses to interferons and other cytokines: the Jak–STAT paradigm. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1998; 338(9): 616-618.
- Blalock WL, Weinstein-Oppenheimer C, Chang F, Hoyle PE, Wang XY, Algate PA *et al.* Signal transduction, cell cycle regulatory, and anti-apoptotic pathways regulated by IL-3 in hematopoietic cells: possible sites for intervention with anti-neoplastic drugs. *Leukemia* 1999; 13(8): 1109-1166. e-pub ahead of print 1999/08/18; doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2401493
- 84. Budel LM, Touw IP, Delwel R, Clark SC, Lowenberg B. Interleukin-3 and granulocytemonocyte colony-stimulating factor receptors on human acute myelocytic leukemia cells and relationship to the proliferative response. *Blood* 1989; 74(2): 565-571. e-pub ahead of print 1989/08/01;

- Testa U, Riccioni R, Militi S, Coccia E, Stellacci E, Samoggia P *et al.* Elevated expression of IL-3Rα in acute myelogenous leukemia is associated with enhanced blast proliferation, increased cellularity, and poor prognosis. 2002; 100(8): 2980-2988.
- 86. Jordan CT, Upchurch D, Szilvassy SJ, Guzman ML, Howard DS, Pettigrew AL *et al.* The interleukin-3 receptor alpha chain is a unique marker for human acute myelogenous leukemia stem cells. *Leukemia* 2000; 14(10): 1777-1784. doi: DOI 10.1038/sj.leu.2401903
- 87. Graf M, Hecht K, Reif S, Pelka-Fleischer R, Pfister K, Schmetzer H. Expression and prognostic value of hemopoietic cytokine receptors in acute myeloid leukemia (AML): implications for future therapeutical strategies. *Eur J Haematol* 2004; 72(2): 89-106. e-pub ahead of print 2004/02/14; doi: 10.1046/j.0902-4441.2003.00184.x
- Hauswirth AW, Florian S, Printz D, Sotlar K, Krauth MT, Fritsch G *et al.* Expression of the target receptor CD33 in CD34+/CD38-/CD123+ AML stem cells. *Eur J Clin Invest* 2007; 37(1): 73-82. e-pub ahead of print 2006/12/22; doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2362.2007.01746.x
- 89. Riccioni R, Rossini A, Calabro L, Diverio D, Pasquini L, Lococo F *et al.* Immunophenotypic features of acute myeloid leukemias overexpressing the interleukin 3 receptor alpha chain. *Leuk Lymphoma* 2004; 45(8): 1511-1517. e-pub ahead of print 2004/09/17; doi:10.1080/104281090310001646031
- 90. Gill S, Tasian SK, Ruella M, Shestova O, Li Y, Porter DL *et al.* Preclinical targeting of human acute myeloid leukemia and myeloablation using chimeric antigen receptor–modified T cells. *Blood* 2014; 123(15): 2343-2354.
- 91. Jin L, Lee EM, Ramshaw HS, Busfield SJ, Peoppl AG, Wilkinson L *et al.* Monoclonal antibodymediated targeting of CD123, IL-3 receptor alpha chain, eliminates human acute myeloid leukemic stem cells. *Cell Stem Cell* 2009; 5(1): 31-42. e-pub ahead of print 2009/07/03; doi:10.1016/j.stem.2009.04.018
- 92. He SZ, Busfield S, Ritchie DS, Hertzberg MS, Durrant S, Lewis ID *et al.* A Phase 1 study of the safety, pharmacokinetics and anti-leukemic activity of the anti-CD123 monoclonal antibody CSL360 in relapsed, refractory or high-risk acute myeloid leukemia. *Leuk Lymphoma* 2015; 56(5): 1406-1415. e-pub ahead of print 2014/09/25; doi: 10.3109/10428194.2014.956316
- 93. Lazar GA, Dang W, Karki S, Vafa O, Peng JS, Hyun L *et al.* Engineered antibody Fc variants with enhanced effector function. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2006; 103(11): 4005-4010. e-pub ahead of print 2006/03/16; doi: 10.1073/pnas.0508123103
- 94. Busfield SJ, Biondo M, Wong M, Ramshaw HS, Lee EM, Ghosh S *et al.* Targeting of acute myeloid leukemia in vitro and in vivo with an anti-CD123 mAb engineered for optimal ADCC. *Leukemia* 2014; 28(11): 2213-2221. e-pub ahead of print 2014/04/08; doi:10.1038/leu.2014.128

- 95. Smith BD, Roboz GJ, Walter RB, Altman JK, Ferguson A, Curcio TJ *et al.* First-in Man, Phase 1 Study of CSL362 (Anti-IL3Rα / Anti-CD123 Monoclonal Antibody) in Patients with CD123+ Acute Myeloid Leukemia (AML) in CR at High Risk for Early Relapse. *Blood* 2014; 124(21): 120-120.
- 96. Kubasch AS, Schulze F, Giagounidis A, Gotze KS, Kronke J, Sockel K *et al.* Single agent talacotuzumab demonstrates limited efficacy but considerable toxicity in elderly high-risk MDS or AML patients failing hypomethylating agents. *Leukemia* 2020; 34(4): 1182-1186. e-pub ahead of print 2019/12/05; doi: 10.1038/s41375-019-0645-z
- 97. Montesinos P, Roboz GJ, Bulabois CE, Subklewe M, Platzbecker U, Ofran Y *et al.* Safety and efficacy of talacotuzumab plus decitabine or decitabine alone in patients with acute myeloid leukemia not eligible for chemotherapy: results from a multicenter, randomized, phase 2/3 study. *Leukemia* 2020: 1-13. doi: 10.1038/s41375-020-0773-5
- 98. Sutherland MSK, Yu CP, Walter RB, Westendorf L, Valliere-Douglass J, Pan L et al. SGN-CD123A, a Pyrrolobenzodiazepine Dimer Linked Anti-CD123 Antibody Drug Conjugate, Demonstrates Effective Anti-Leukemic Activity in Multiple Preclinical Models of AML. Blood 2015; 126(23): 330-330.
- 99. Li F, Sutherland MK, Yu C, Walter RB, Westendorf L, Valliere-Douglass J *et al.* Characterization of SGN-CD123A, a potent CD123-directed antibody–drug conjugate for acute myeloid leukemia. *Molecular cancer therapeutics* 2018; 17(2): 554-564.
- 100. Du X, Ho M, Pastan I. New immunotoxins targeting CD123, a stem cell antigen on acute myeloid leukemia cells. *J Immunother* 2007; 30(6): 607-613. e-pub ahead of print 2007/08/02; doi: 10.1097/CJI.0b013e318053ed8e
- 101. Han L, Jorgensen JL, Brooks C, Shi C, Zhang Q, González GMN *et al.* Anti-leukemia efficacy and mechanisms of action of SL-101, a novel anti-CD123 antibody-conjugate, in acute myeloid leukemia. *Clinical Cancer Research* 2017: clincanres. 1904.2016.
- 102. Chichili GR, Huang L, Li H, Burke S, He L, Tang Q *et al.* A CD3xCD123 bispecific DART for redirecting host T cells to myelogenous leukemia: preclinical activity and safety in nonhuman primates. *Sci Transl Med* 2015; 7(289): 289ra282. e-pub ahead of print 2015/05/29; doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aaa5693
- 103. Uy GL, Rettig MP, Vey N, Godwin J, Foster MC, Rizzieri DA *et al.* Phase 1 cohort expansion of Flotetuzumab, a CD123× CD3 bispecific DART<sup>®</sup> protein in patients with relapsed/refractory acute myeloid leukemia (AML). In: Am Soc Hematology, 2018.
- 104. Mardiros A, Dos Santos C, McDonald T, Brown CE, Wang X, Budde LE *et al.* T cells expressing CD123-specific chimeric antigen receptors exhibit specific cytolytic effector functions and antitumor effects against human acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood* 2013; 122(18): 3138-3148. e-pub ahead of print 2013/09/14; doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-12-474056

- 105. Cummins KD, Gill S. Chimeric antigen receptor T-cell therapy for acute myeloid leukemia: how close to reality? 2019; 104(7): 1302.
- 106. Bakker AB, van den Oudenrijn S, Bakker AQ, Feller N, van Meijer M, Bia JA *et al.* C-type lectin-like molecule-1: a novel myeloid cell surface marker associated with acute myeloid leukemia. *Cancer Res* 2004; 64(22): 8443-8450. e-pub ahead of print 2004/11/19; doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-1659
- 107. Leong SR, Sukumaran S, Hristopoulos M, Totpal K, Stainton S, Lu E *et al.* An anti-CD3/anti-CLL-1 bispecific antibody for the treatment of acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood* 2017; 129(5): 609-618. e-pub ahead of print 2016/12/03; doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-08-735365
- 108. Ma H, Padmanabhan IS, Parmar S, Gong Y. Targeting CLL-1 for acute myeloid leukemia therapy. *J Hematol Oncol* 2019; 12(1): 41. e-pub ahead of print 2019/04/25; doi:10.1186/s13045-019-0726-5
- 109. van Rhenen A, van Dongen GA, Kelder A, Rombouts EJ, Feller N, Moshaver B *et al.* The novel AML stem cell–associated antigen CLL-1 aids in discrimination between normal and leukemic stem cells. *Blood* 2007; 110(7): 2659-2666.
- 110. van Loo PF, Hangalapura BN, Thordardottir S, Gibbins JD, Veninga H, Hendriks LJA *et al.* MCLA-117, a CLEC12AxCD3 bispecific antibody targeting a leukaemic stem cell antigen, induces T cell-mediated AML blast lysis. *Expert Opin Biol Ther* 2019; 19(7): 721-733. e-pub ahead of print 2019/07/10; doi: 10.1080/14712598.2019.1623200
- 111. Jiang Y-P, Liu BY, Zheng Q, Panuganti S, Chen R, Zhu J *et al.* CLT030, a leukemic stem cell– targeting CLL1 antibody-drug conjugate for treatment of acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood advances* 2018; 2(14): 1738-1749.
- Zheng B, Yu S-F, Del Rosario G, Leong SR, Lee GY, Vij R *et al.* An Anti–CLL-1 Antibody–Drug Conjugate for the Treatment of Acute Myeloid Leukemia. *Clinical Cancer Research* 2019; 25(4): 1358-1368.
- 113. Tashiro H, Sauer T, Shum T, Parikh K, Mamonkin M, Omer B *et al.* Treatment of Acute Myeloid Leukemia with T Cells Expressing Chimeric Antigen Receptors Directed to C-type Lectin-like Molecule 1. *Mol Ther* 2017; 25(9): 2202-2213. e-pub ahead of print 2017/07/06; doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2017.05.024
- 114. Wang J, Chen S, Xiao W, Li W, Wang L, Yang S *et al.* CAR-T cells targeting CLL-1 as an approach to treat acute myeloid leukemia. *J Hematol Oncol* 2018; 11(1): 7. e-pub ahead of print 2018/01/11; doi: 10.1186/s13045-017-0553-5
- 115. Liu F, Cao Y, Pinz K, Ma Y, Wada M, Chen K *et al.* First-in-human CLL1-CD33 compound CAR T cell therapy induces complete remission in patients with refractory acute myeloid leukemia: update on phase 1 clinical trial. In: Am Soc Hematology, 2018.

- 116. Ritchie DS, Smyth MJ. A new therapeutic target for leukemia comes to the surface. *Cell* 2009; 138(2): 226-228. e-pub ahead of print 2009/07/28; doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.07.005
- 117. Blazar BR, Lindberg FP, Ingulli E, Panoskaltsis-Mortari A, Oldenborg PA, Iizuka K *et al.* CD47 (integrin-associated protein) engagement of dendritic cell and macrophage counterreceptors is required to prevent the clearance of donor lymphohematopoietic cells. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 2001; 194(4): 541-549. doi: DOI 10.1084/jem.194.4.541
- 118. Galli S, Zlobec I, Schurch C, Perren A, Ochsenbein AF, Banz Y. CD47 protein expression in acute myeloid leukemia: A tissue microarray-based analysis. *Leuk Res* 2015; 39(7): 749-756. e-pub ahead of print 2015/05/07; doi: 10.1016/j.leukres.2015.04.007
- 119. Jaiswal S, Jamieson CHM, Pang WW, Park CY, Chao MP, Majeti R *et al.* CD47 Is Upregulated on Circulating Hematopoietic Stem Cells and Leukemia Cells to Avoid Phagocytosis. *Cell* 2009; 138(2): 271-285. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.05.046
- 120. Pietsch EC, Dong J, Cardoso R, Zhang X, Chin D, Hawkins R *et al.* Anti-leukemic activity and tolerability of anti-human CD47 monoclonal antibodies. *Blood Cancer J* 2017; 7(2): e536. e-pub ahead of print 2017/02/25; doi: 10.1038/bcj.2017.7
- 121. Liu J, Wang L, Zhao F, Tseng S, Narayanan C, Shura L *et al.* Pre-Clinical Development of a Humanized Anti-CD47 Antibody with Anti-Cancer Therapeutic Potential. *PLoS One* 2015; 10(9): e0137345. e-pub ahead of print 2015/09/22; doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0137345
- 122. Gholamin S, Mitra SS, Feroze AH, Liu J, Kahn SA, Zhang M *et al.* Disrupting the CD47-SIRPα anti-phagocytic axis by a humanized anti-CD47 antibody is an efficacious treatment for malignant pediatric brain tumors. *Science translational medicine* 2017; 9(381): eaaf2968.
- 123. Sallman DA, Donnellan WB, Asch AS, Lee DJ, Al Malki M, Marcucci G *et al.* The first-in-class anti-CD47 antibody Hu5F9-G4 is active and well tolerated alone or with azacitidine in AML and MDS patients: Initial phase 1b results. In: American Society of Clinical Oncology, 2019.
- 124. Liu Q, Kriksunov IA, Graeff R, Munshi C, Lee HC, Hao Q. Crystal structure of human CD38 extracellular domain. *Structure* 2005; 13(9): 1331-1339. e-pub ahead of print 2005/09/13; doi: 10.1016/j.str.2005.05.012
- 125. Lee HC. Structure and enzymatic functions of human CD38. *Mol Med* 2006; 12(11-12): 317-323. e-pub ahead of print 2007/03/24; doi: 10.2119/2006-00086.Lee
- 126. Malavasi F, Deaglio S, Damle R, Cutrona G, Ferrarini M, Chiorazzi N. CD38 and chronic lymphocytic leukemia: a decade later. *Blood* 2011; 118(13): 3470-3478. e-pub ahead of print 2011/07/19; doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-06-275610

- 127. Naik J, Themeli M, de Jong-Korlaar R, Ruiter RWJ, Poddighe PJ, Yuan HP *et al.* CD38 as a therapeutic target for adult acute myeloid leukemia and T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Haematologica* 2019; 104(3): E100-E103. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2018.192757
- 128. Dimopoulos MA, Oriol A, Nahi H, San-Miguel J, Bahlis NJ, Usmani SZ *et al.* Daratumumab, Lenalidomide, and Dexamethasone for Multiple Myeloma. *N Engl J Med* 2016; 375(14): 1319-1331. e-pub ahead of print 2016/10/06; doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1607751
- 129. McKeage K. Daratumumab: First Global Approval. *Drugs* 2016; 76(2): 275-281. e-pub ahead of print 2016/01/06; doi: 10.1007/s40265-015-0536-1
- 130. Mihara K, Yoshida T, Ishida S, Takei Y, Kitanaka A, Shimoda K *et al.* All-trans retinoic acid and interferon-α increase CD38 expression on adult T-cell leukemia cells and sensitize them to T cells bearing anti-CD38 chimeric antigen receptors. *Blood cancer journal* 2016; 6(5): e421.
- 131. Nolte MA, Van Olffen RW, Van Gisbergen KP, Van Lier RAJIr. Timing and tuning of CD27– CD70 interactions: the impact of signal strength in setting the balance between adaptive responses and immunopathology. 2009; 229(1): 216-231.
- 132. Riether C, Schürch CM, Bührer ED, Hinterbrandner M, Huguenin A-L, Hoepner S *et al*. CD70/CD27 signaling promotes blast stemness and is a viable therapeutic target in acute myeloid leukemia. 2016; 214(2): 359-380.
- 133. Grewal IS. CD70 as a therapeutic target in human malignancies. *Expert Opinion on Therapeutic Targets* 2008; 12(3): 341-351. doi: 10.1517/14728222.12.3.341
- 134. Riether C, Schurch CM, Buhrer ED, Hinterbrandner M, Huguenin AL, Hoepner S *et al.* CD70/CD27 signaling promotes blast stemness and is a viable therapeutic target in acute myeloid leukemia. *J Exp Med* 2017; 214(2): 359-380. e-pub ahead of print 2016/12/30; doi:10.1084/jem.20152008
- 135. Ochsenbein AF, Pabst T, Höpner S, Bacher VU, Hinterbrandner M, Banz Y *et al.* Targeting CD70 with Cusatuzumab Eliminates Acute Myeloid Leukemia Stem Cells in Humans. In: American Society of Hematology Washington, DC, 2019.
- 136. Vercauteren SM, Sutherland HJ. CD133 (AC133) expression on AML cells and progenitors. *Cytotherapy* 2001; 3(6): 449-459. e-pub ahead of print 2002/04/16; doi:10.1080/146532401317248054
- 137. Koerner SP, Andre MC, Leibold JS, Kousis PC, Kubler A, Pal M *et al.* An Fc-optimized CD133 antibody for induction of NK cell reactivity against myeloid leukemia. *Leukemia* 2017; 31(2): 459-469. e-pub ahead of print 2016/07/21; doi: 10.1038/leu.2016.194
- 138. Moll NM, Ransohoff RM. CXCL12 and CXCR4 in bone marrow physiology. *Expert Rev Hematol* 2010; 3(3): 315-322. e-pub ahead of print 2010/11/19; doi: 10.1586/ehm.10.16

- 139. Mohle R, Bautz F, Rafii S, Moore MAS, Brugger W, Kanz L. The chemokine receptor CXCR-4 is expressed on CD34(+) hematopoietic progenitors and leukemic cells and mediates transendothelial migration induced by stromal cell-derived factor-1. *Blood* 1998; 91(12): 4523-4530. doi: DOI 10.1182/blood.V91.12.4523.412k04\_4523\_4530
- 140. Zhang YY, Saavedra E, Tang RP, Liu SH, Smeal T, Fantin V *et al.* Targeting Acute Myeloid Leukemia with a New CXCR4 Antagonist IgG1 Antibody (PF-06747143) in NOD/SCID Mice. *Blood* 2015; 126(23): 1362-1362.
- 141. Kuhne MR, Mulvey T, Chen S, Pan C, Chong C, Niekro W *et al.* BMS-936564/MDX-1338: A Fully Human Anti-CXCR4 Antibody Induces Apoptosis <em>In Vitro</em> and Shows Anti Tumor Activity <em>In Vivo</em>. *Blood* 2011; 118(21): 1543-1543.
- 142. Becker PS, Foran JM, Altman JK, Yacoub A, Castro JE, Sabbatini P *et al.* Targeting the CXCR4 Pathway: Safety, Tolerability and Clinical Activity of Ulocuplumab (BMS-936564), an Anti-CXCR4 Antibody, in Relapsed/Refractory Acute Myeloid Leukemia. *Blood* 2014; 124(21): 386-386.
- 143. Ponta H, Sherman L, Herrlich PA. CD44: from adhesion molecules to signalling regulators. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 2003; 4(1): 33-45. e-pub ahead of print 2003/01/04; doi:10.1038/nrm1004
- 144. Bendall LJ, Bradstock KF, Gottlieb DJ. Expression of CD44 variant exons in acute myeloid leukemia is more common and more complex than that observed in normal blood, bone marrow or CD34(+) cells. *Leukemia* 2000; 14(7): 1239-1246. doi: DOI 10.1038/sj.leu.2401830
- 145. Jin L, Hope KJ, Zhai Q, Smadja-Joffe F, Dick JE. Targeting of CD44 eradicates human acute myeloid leukemic stem cells. *Nat Med* 2006; 12(10): 1167-1174. e-pub ahead of print 2006/09/26; doi: 10.1038/nm1483
- 146. Gadhoum SZ, Madhoun NY, Abuelela AF, Merzaban JS. Anti-CD44 antibodies inhibit both mTORC1 and mTORC2: a new rationale supporting CD44-induced AML differentiation therapy. *Leukemia* 2016; 30(12): 2397-2401. doi: 10.1038/leu.2016.221
- 147. Daver N, Schlenk RF, Russell NH, Levis MJ. Targeting FLT3 mutations in AML: review of current knowledge and evidence. *Leukemia* 2019; 33(2): 299-312. e-pub ahead of print 2019/01/18; doi: 10.1038/s41375-018-0357-9
- 148. Stone RM, Mandrekar S, Sanford BL, Geyer S, Bloomfield CD, Dohner K *et al.* The Multi-Kinase Inhibitor Midostaurin (M) Prolongs Survival Compared with Placebo (P) in Combination with Daunorubicin (D)/Cytarabine (C) Induction (ind), High-Dose C Consolidation (consol), and As Maintenance (maint) Therapy in Newly Diagnosed Acute Myeloid Leukemia (AML) Patients (pts) Age 18-60 with FLT3 Mutations (muts): An International Prospective Randomized (rand) P-Controlled Double-Blind Trial (CALGB 10603/RATIFY [Alliance]). *Blood* 2015; 126(23): 6-6.

- 149. Piloto O, Nguyen B, Huso D, Kim KT, Li YW, Witte L *et al.* IMC-EB10, an anti-FLT3 monoclonal antibody, prolongs survival and reduces nonobese diabetic/severe combined immunodeficient engraftment of some acute lymphoblastic leukemia cell lines and primary leukemic samples. *Cancer Research* 2006; 66(9): 4843-4851. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-06-0018
- 150. Hofmann M, Grosse-Hovest L, Nubling T, Pyz E, Bamberg ML, Aulwurm S *et al.* Generation, selection and preclinical characterization of an Fc-optimized FLT3 antibody for the treatment of myeloid leukemia. *Leukemia* 2012; 26(6): 1228-1237. e-pub ahead of print 2012/02/01; doi: 10.1038/leu.2011.372
- 151. Subramaniam S, Stansberg C, Cunningham C. The interleukin 1 receptor family. *Dev Comp Immunol* 2004; 28(5): 415-428. e-pub ahead of print 2004/04/06; doi:10.1016/j.dci.2003.09.016
- Askmyr M, Agerstam H, Hansen N, Gordon S, Arvanitakis A, Rissler M *et al.* Selective killing of candidate AML stem cells by antibody targeting of IL1RAP. *Blood* 2013; 121(18): 3709-3713.
  e-pub ahead of print 2013/03/13; doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-09-458935
- 153. Agerstam H, Karlsson C, Hansena N, Sanden C, Askmyra M, von Palffy S *et al.* Antibodies targeting human IL1RAP (IL1R3) show therapeutic effects in xenograft models of acute myeloid leukemia. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2015; 112(34): 10786-10791. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1422749112
- 154. Smith DE, Hanna R, Della F, Moore H, Chen H, Farese AM *et al.* The soluble form of IL-1 receptor accessory protein enhances the ability of soluble type II IL-1 receptor to inhibit IL-1 action. *Immunity* 2003; 18(1): 87-96. e-pub ahead of print 2003/01/18; doi: 10.1016/s1074-7613(02)00514-9
- 155. Liu JJ, Lin B, Hao YY, Qi Y, Zhu LC, Li FF *et al.* Lewis y antigen promotes the proliferation of ovarian carcinoma-derived RMG-I cells through the PI3K/Akt signaling pathway. *Journal of Experimental & Clinical Cancer Research* 2009; 28(1): 154. doi: Artn 15410.1186/1756-9966-28-154
- 156. Kobayashi K, Sakamoto J, Kito T, Yamamura Y, Koshikawa T, Fujita M *et al.* Lewis blood group-related antigen expression in normal gastric epithelium, intestinal metaplasia, gastric adenoma, and gastric carcinoma. *Am J Gastroenterol* 1993; 88(6): 919-924. e-pub ahead of print 1993/06/01;
- 157. Sakamoto J, Furukawa K, Cordon-Cardo C, Yin BW, Rettig WJ, Oettgen HF *et al.* Expression of Lewisa, Lewisb, X, and Y blood group antigens in human colonic tumors and normal tissue and in human tumor-derived cell lines. *Cancer Res* 1986; 46(3): 1553-1561. e-pub ahead of print 1986/03/01;

- 158. Peinert S, Prince HM, Guru PM, Kershaw MH, Smyth MJ, Trapani JA *et al.* Gene-modified T cells as immunotherapy for multiple myeloma and acute myeloid leukemia expressing the Lewis Y antigen. *Gene Ther* 2010; 17(5): 678-686. doi: 10.1038/gt.2010.21
- 159. Westwood JA, Smyth MJ, Teng MW, Moeller M, Trapani JA, Scott AM *et al.* Adoptive transfer of T cells modified with a humanized chimeric receptor gene inhibits growth of Lewis-Y-expressing tumors in mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2005; 102(52): 19051-19056. e-pub ahead of print 2005/12/21; doi: 10.1073/pnas.0504312102
- 160. Ritchie DS, Neeson PJ, Khot A, Peinert S, Tai T, Tainton K *et al.* Persistence and efficacy of second generation CAR T cell against the LeY antigen in acute myeloid leukemia. *Mol Ther* 2013; 21(11): 2122-2129. e-pub ahead of print 2013/07/09; doi: 10.1038/mt.2013.154
- 161. Heimburg-Molinaro J, Rittenhouse-Olson K. Development and characterization of antibodies to carbohydrate antigens. In: *Glycomics*. Springer, 2009, pp 341-357.
- 162. Raulet DH, Gasser S, Gowen BG, Deng W, Jung H. Regulation of ligands for the NKG2D activating receptor. *Annu Rev Immunol* 2013; 31: 413-441. e-pub ahead of print 2013/01/10; doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-032712-095951
- 163. Hilpert J, Grosse-Hovest L, Grunebach F, Buechele C, Nuebling T, Raum T *et al.* Comprehensive analysis of NKG2D ligand expression and release in leukemia: implications for NKG2D-mediated NK cell responses. *J Immunol* 2012; 189(3): 1360-1371. e-pub ahead of print 2012/06/26; doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1200796
- 164. Sallman DA, Brayer J, Sagatys EM, Lonez C, Breman E, Agaugue S *et al.* NKG2D-based chimeric antigen receptor therapy induced remission in a relapsed/refractory acute myeloid leukemia patient. *Haematologica* 2018; 103(9): e424-e426. e-pub ahead of print 2018/04/29; doi: 10.3324/haematol.2017.186742
- 165. Monney L, Sabatos CA, Gaglia JL, Ryu A, Waldner H, Chernova T *et al.* Th1-specific cell surface protein Tim-3 regulates macrophage activation and severity of an autoimmune disease. *Nature* 2002; 415(6871): 536-541. e-pub ahead of print 2002/02/02; doi:10.1038/415536a
- 166. Hastings WD, Anderson DE, Kassam N, Koguchi K, Greenfield EA, Kent SC *et al.* TIM-3 is expressed on activated human CD4+ T cells and regulates Th1 and Th17 cytokines. *European journal of immunology* 2009; 39(9): 2492-2501.
- 167. He Y, Cao J, Zhao C, Li X, Zhou C, Hirsch FR. TIM-3, a promising target for cancer immunotherapy. *Onco Targets Ther* 2018; 11: 7005-7009. e-pub ahead of print 2018/11/10; doi: 10.2147/OTT.S170385
- 168. Kikushige Y, Shima T, Takayanagi S, Urata S, Miyamoto T, Iwasaki H *et al.* TIM-3 Is a Promising Target to Selectively Kill Acute Myeloid Leukemia Stem Cells. *Cell Stem Cell* 2010; 7(6): 708-717. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2010.11.014

- 169. Borate U, Esteve J, Porkka K, Knapper S, Vey N, Scholl S *et al.* Phase Ib Study of the Anti-TIM-3 Antibody MBG453 in Combination with Decitabine in Patients with High-Risk Myelodysplastic Syndrome (MDS) and Acute Myeloid Leukemia (AML). In: American Society of Hematology Washington, DC, 2019.
- 170. He X, Feng Z, Ma J, Ling S, Cao Y, Gurung B *et al.* Bispecific and split CAR T cells targeting CD13 and TIM3 eradicate acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood* 2020; 135(10): 713-723. e-pub ahead of print 2020/01/18; doi: 10.1182/blood.2019002779
- Hohenstein P, Hastie ND. The many facets of the Wilms' tumour gene, WT1. *Hum Mol Genet* 2006; 15 Spec No 2(suppl 2): R196-201. e-pub ahead of print 2006/09/22; doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddl196
- 172. Schmid D, Heinze G, Linnerth B, Tisljar K, Kusec R, Geissler K *et al.* Prognostic significance of WT1 gene expression at diagnosis in adult de novo acute myeloid leukemia. *Leukemia* 1997; 11(5): 639-643. doi: DOI 10.1038/sj.leu.2400620
- 173. Di Stasi A, Jimenez AM, Minagawa K, Al-Obaidi M, Rezvani K. Review of the Results of WT1 Peptide Vaccination Strategies for Myelodysplastic Syndromes and Acute Myeloid Leukemia from Nine Different Studies. *Front Immunol* 2015; 6: 36. e-pub ahead of print 2015/02/24; doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00036
- 174. Rafiq S, Purdon TJ, Daniyan AF, Koneru M, Dao T, Liu C *et al.* Optimized T-cell receptor-mimic chimeric antigen receptor T cells directed toward the intracellular Wilms Tumor 1 antigen. *Leukemia* 2017; 31(8): 1788-1797. e-pub ahead of print 2016/12/08; doi:10.1038/leu.2016.373
- 175. Sui LL, Li NY, Liu QP, Zhang WP, Wan T, Wang BM *et al.* IgSF13, a novel human inhibitory receptor of the immunoglobulin superfamily, is preferentially expressed in dendritic cells and monocytes. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 2004; 319(3): 920-928. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2004.05.065
- 176. Korver W, Zhao X, Singh S, Pardoux C, Zhao J, Guzman ML *et al.* Monoclonal antibodies against IREM-1: potential for targeted therapy of AML. *Leukemia* 2009; 23(9): 1587-1597. e-pub ahead of print 2009/05/15; doi: 10.1038/leu.2009.99
- 177. Alvarez-Errico D, Aguilar H, Kitzig F, Brckalo T, Sayós J, López-Botet MJEjoi. IREM-1 is a novel inhibitory receptor expressed by myeloid cells. 2004; 34(12): 3690-3701.
- 178. Can I, Tahara-Hanaoka S, Shibuya A. Expression of a splicing isoform of MAIR-V (CD300LF), an inhibitory immunoglobulin-like receptor on myeloid cells. *Hybridoma (Larchmt)* 2008; 27(1): 59-61. e-pub ahead of print 2008/02/26; doi: 10.1089/hyb.2007.0534
- 179. Izawa K, Yamanishi Y, Maehara A, Takahashi M, Isobe M, Ito S *et al.* The receptor LMIR3 negatively regulates mast cell activation and allergic responses by binding to extracellular

ceramide. *Immunity* 2012; 37(5): 827-839. e-pub ahead of print 2012/11/06; doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2012.08.018

- 180. Gomez-Munoz A, Presa N, Gomez-Larrauri A, Rivera IG, Trueba M, Ordonez M. Control of inflammatory responses by ceramide, sphingosine 1-phosphate and ceramide 1-phosphate. *Prog Lipid Res* 2016; 61: 51-62. e-pub ahead of print 2015/12/26; doi:10.1016/j.plipres.2015.09.002
- 181. Izawa K, Maehara A, Isobe M, Yasuda Y, Urai M, Hoshino Y *et al.* Disrupting ceramide-CD300f interaction prevents septic peritonitis by stimulating neutrophil recruitment. *Sci Rep* 2017; 7(1): 4298. e-pub ahead of print 2017/06/29; doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-04647-z
- 182. Ueno K, Urai M, Izawa K, Otani Y, Yanagihara N, Kataoka M *et al.* Mouse LIMR3/CD300f is a negative regulator of the antimicrobial activity of neutrophils. *Scientific Reports* 2018; 8(1): 1-13. doi: ARTN 1740610.1038/s41598-018-35699-4
- 183. Tian LJ, Choi SC, Murakami Y, Allen J, Morse H, Qi CF *et al.* p85a recruitment by the CD300f phosphatidylserine receptor mediates apoptotic cell clearance required for autoimmunity suppression. *Journal of Immunology* 2014; 192(1): 1-15.
- 184. Peluffo H, Solari-Saquieres P, Negro-Demontel ML, Francos-Quijorna I, Navarro X, Lopez-Vales R *et al.* CD300f immunoreceptor contributes to peripheral nerve regeneration by the modulation of macrophage inflammatory phenotype. *J Neuroinflammation* 2015; 12(1): 145. e-pub ahead of print 2015/08/12; doi: 10.1186/s12974-015-0364-y
- 185. Lago N, Kaufmann FN, Negro-Demontel ML, Ali-Ruiz D, Ghisleni G, Rego N *et al.* CD300f immunoreceptor is associated with major depressive disorder and decreased microglial metabolic fitness. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2020; 117(12): 6651-6662. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1911816117
- 186. Abadir E, Gasiorowski RE, Lai K, Kupresanin F, Romano A, Silveira PA *et al.* CD 300f epitopes are specific targets for acute myeloid leukemia with monocytic differentiation. *Molecular Oncology* 2019.
- 187. Abadir E, Silveira PA, Gasiorowski RE, Ramesh M, Romano A, Mekkawy AH *et al.* Targeting CD300f to enhance hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood Adv* 2020; 4(7): 1206-1216. e-pub ahead of print 2020/03/28; doi:10.1182/bloodadvances.2019001289
- 188. Kato M, Khan S, Gonzalez N, O'Neill BP, McDonald KJ, Cooper BJ *et al.* Hodgkin's lymphoma cell lines express a fusion protein encoded by intergenically spliced mRNA for the multilectin receptor DEC-205 (CD205) and a novel C-type lectin receptor DCL-1. *J Biol Chem* 2003; 278(36): 34035-34041. e-pub ahead of print 2003/06/26; doi: 10.1074/jbc.M303112200
- 189. Calle Y, Burns S, Thrasher AJ, Jones GE. The leukocyte podosome. *Eur J Cell Biol* 2006; 85(3-4): 151-157. e-pub ahead of print 2006/03/21; doi: 10.1016/j.ejcb.2005.09.003

- 190. Lo TH, Silveira PA, Fromm PD, Verma ND, Vu PA, Kupresanin F *et al.* Characterization of the Expression and Function of the C-Type Lectin Receptor CD302 in Mice and Humans Reveals a Role in Dendritic Cell Migration. *J Immunol* 2016; 197(3): 885-898. e-pub ahead of print 2016/06/19; doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1600259
- 191. Lo TH, Abadir E, Gasiorowski RE, Kabani K, Ramesh M, Orellana D *et al.* Examination of CD302 as a potential therapeutic target for acute myeloid leukemia. *Plos One* 2019; 14(5): e0216368. doi: ARTN e021636810.1371/journal.pone.0216368
- 192. Ferrell Jr PB, Diggins KE, Polikowsky HG, Mohan SR, Seegmiller AC, Irish JMJPo. Highdimensional analysis of acute myeloid leukemia reveals phenotypic changes in persistent cells during induction therapy. 2016; 11(4).
- 193. Ding L, Ley TJ, Larson DE, Miller CA, Koboldt DC, Welch JS *et al.* Clonal evolution in relapsed acute myeloid leukaemia revealed by whole-genome sequencing. *Nature* 2012; 481(7382): 506-510. e-pub ahead of print 2012/01/13; doi: 10.1038/nature10738

# Chapter 2: Generation of mouse xenograft models of acute myeloid leukaemia and healthy human haematopoiesis

### Introduction

Mouse models using human xenografts are critical for the evaluation of anti-AML therapeutics *in vivo*. The advent of immune deficient mice led to the first reports of serial engraftment of human AML xenografts into NOD/SCID mice.<sup>1</sup> AML with myelomonocytic differentiation best engrafted mice and cells from the CD34+ CD38- fraction, termed leukaemia initiating cells or leukaemia stem cells (LSC), led to the highest percentage of engraftment.<sup>1</sup> A greater degree of immunosuppression was achieved from the NOD/SCID parent with the deletion of the interleukin-2 receptor gamma chain, termed *NOD.Cg-Prkdc<scid>ll2rg<tm1Wjl>/SzJ or NOD/SCID* (NSG) mice, which lack NK cells and allow for increased engraftment of leukaemic cells.<sup>2</sup> CD34+ CD38- LSC were especially of interest as they are noted to be quiescent and chemotherapy resistant in NSG mouse models.<sup>3</sup> It is now apparent that LSC originate outside of the CD34+ fraction, especially in AML where the majority of cells are CD34-.<sup>4</sup> The limited ability of cells outside of the CD34+ CD38- fraction to engraft mice may be an inherent deficiency in xenograft models as opposed to a true representation of AML biology. While transgenic mouse models of AML are useful in the understanding of AML biology, they are less useful tools in the testing and development of AML therapeutics, necessitating the need for xenografts.

Humanised mouse models have developed in parallel to AML xenograft models. The first experiments to successfully engraft human HSPC used SCID mice.<sup>5</sup> As with AML xenografts, the field of humanised mouse models benefited greatly from the generation of the NSG strain which allows for increased engraftment and lineage development.<sup>6</sup> Further enhancement of human innate immune cells can be accomplished by incorporating human cytokine genes into the NSG parent.<sup>7</sup> Another method to humanise mice is to inject humanised ossicles into the subcutaneous space of NSG mice which can act as the human bone marrow niche.<sup>8</sup> Each model has strengths and weaknesses and should be chosen based on the experimental question.

AML xenografts are required to assess potential efficacy of therapeutics while humanised mouse models can predict toxicity. More recently humanised mouse models have been used to assess the potential for antibody based allo-HSCT conditioning approaches in diseases such as MDS.<sup>9</sup> We therefore developed the following models to assess the potential of CD300f based ADC. This chapter reviews the development of the mouse models required for this work. A schema of the models used is presented in Figure 2.1.

## Figure 2.1



**Figure 2.1 Mouse xenograft model overview.** Mouse xenograft models developed include (A) subcutaneous cell line, (B) systemic HL-60 cell line, (C) systemic patient derived AML and (D) healthy humanised mouse model.

### Methods

**Human Samples:** The AML cell lines HL-60 and THP-1 were obtained by Derek Hart at the Christchurch School of Medicine, University of Otago. The U973 cell line was obtained from the American Type Culture Collection. All cell lines were maintained in complete RPMI 1640 (complete RPMI) containing 10% fetal calf serum, 2 mM Gluta-MAX, 100 U/mL penicillin, and 100 μg/mL streptomycin (ThermoFisher). Blood from patients with AML were collected at Concord Repatriation General Hospital (CRGH) or Royal Prince Alfred Hospital both in Sydney, Australia. Clinical and pathological characteristics, including karyotype, NPM1 and FLT3 internal tandem duplication (FLT3-ITD) mutations were recorded. Cord blood (CB) samples were collected by the Sydney Cord Blood Bank. Mononuclear cells were isolated from samples using density gradient centrifugation through Ficoll-Paque Plus (GE Healthcare) according to the manufacturer's protocols from all primary samples. Donors provided informed consent under ethics protocols approved by the Sydney Local Health District Human Research Ethics Committee (HREC/12/CRGH/59, HREC/11/CRGH/61 and 118).

**Mice:** NSG mice (Australian BioResources) were housed in micro-isolator cages under specificpathogen-free conditions. All xenograft experiments used NSG or NOD/SCID mice (Animal Resource Centre). Animal experiments were performed under the ethics protocol number, 2018/025, approved by the Sydney Local Health District Animal Welfare Committee. All animals were allowed a minimum of 1 week without intervention following importation to the experimental facility. Mice were monitored weekly unless post intervention (irradiation, inoculation with human derived cells or administration of treatment) after which they would be monitored daily for a minimum of 14 days. Monitoring was carried out by assessing the animal weight, and clinical score (fur texture, posture and activity). If a total score of >4 was met at any point during the experiments the animals were euthanised.

**Subcutaneous Cell Line Models:** NSG mice had their flank shaved on Day -1. On Day 0 they were injected subcutaneously with AML cell lines, either U937 or THP-1. Cell dose was  $1 \times 10^6$ ,  $2.5 \times 10^6$  or  $5 \times 10^6$ . Subcutaneous tumours were measured with electronic callipers. Weights, clinical scores and tumour volume were measured daily from Day -1 onwards. Mice were euthanised when the tumours reached a size of >1000mm<sup>3</sup> or the clinical score was >4. Tumours were analysed by flow cytometry to confirm establishment of AML cell lines.

**Intravenous HL-60 Model:** NSG mice were irradiated (200cGy) on Day -1. They were injected with 5x10<sup>6</sup> HL-60 cells via the tail vein on Day 0. Clinical scores were monitored from Day 0 onwards and mice were euthanised if the score was >4. Bone marrow, peripheral blood and spleen were collected for engraftment analysis. A concurrent cohort of NOD/SCID mice were treated identically to compare engraftment with NSG mice.

**Primary AML Model:** All samples chosen were from peripheral blood with greater than 90% AML blasts. Mice were irradiated (150cGy) on Day -1. They were injected with a set amount of primary AML cells per donor via the tail vein on Day 0. Clinical scores were monitored from Day 0 onwards and mice were euthanised if the score was >4. Peripheral blood collected from the tail vein on Day +40, +56, and +70. All remaining mice were euthanised on Day +90 where bone marrow, peripheral blood and spleen were collected for engraftment analysis.

**Healthy Humanised Mouse Model:** CD34+ cells were isolated from CB by positive selection (Miltenyi 130-046-702) using an AutoMACS Pro (Miltenyi Biotec) according to the manufacturer's instructions under sterile conditions. Purity of CD34+ cells was >90% in all experiments. Mice were irradiated (150cGy) on Day 0 and injected with either 50,000 or 100,000 cells four hours after

irradiation. Clinical scores were monitored from Day 0 onwards and mice were euthanised if the score was >4. Analysis of engraftment by peripheral blood from the tail vein was performed on weeks 8 and 12. Mice were euthanised on Week 12 where bone marrow, peripheral blood and spleen were collected for engraftment analysis.

**Flow Cytometry:** Blood samples from mice were resuspended in Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS) containing 1% Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA), prior to red cell lysis. Cells from AML xenografts were mechanically dissociated from tumour, bone marrow or spleen prior to suspension in PBS containing 1% BSA, prior to red cell lysis. Antibody staining for flow cytometry and subsequent analysis was performed in PBS containing 1% BSA. Flow cytometry was performed on an Accuri flow cytometer (BD Biosciences) for AML xenografts. Analysis of healthy humanised mice was performed on a Fortessa LSR flow cytometer (BD Biosciences).

Antibodies: The following panel was used for the AML cell line and primary xenografts; anti-human CD45-AF488 (HI30), CD33- PE (WM53), and anti-mouse CD45-PerCP Cy5.5 (30-F11) (all form BD Biosciences). Isotype-PE (CMRF-81) and CD300f-PE (DCR-2) were both made in house. The following antibodies were used for the healthy humanised mice; CD3-AF700 (UCHT1), CD19-V450 (HIB19), CD56-PeCy7 (NCAM16.2), CD45-AF488, CD34-PE-CF594 (581), CD33-PE, CD38-APC (HIT2), CD90-AF700 (5E10) and anti-mouse CD45-PerCP Cy5.5 (all from BD Biosciences). CD34+ CB purity was confirmed with CD45-AF488 and CD34-PE-CF594.

**Statistical Analysis:** Between group analysis was compared using T tests using Graphpad Prism (GraphPad Software, Inc). Error bars represent standard error of the mean.

### Results

**Subcutaneous Cell Line Models:** Both THP-1 (Figure 2.2A) and U937 (Figure 2.2B) successfully engrafted NSG Mice. There was a lower standard deviation between dose levels in U937 mice (74mm<sup>3</sup>) compared to THP-1 (138mm<sup>3</sup>) when all time points are compared. Combining all dose groups U937 achieved a more rapid engraftment with tumours reaching 500mm<sup>3</sup> by Day 11 on average compared to Day 17 for THP-1.

### Figure 2.2



**Figure 2.2 Subcutaneous Cell Line Model Growth Kinetics**. Growth kinetics of flank tumours of THP-1 (A) or U937 (B) injected subcutaneously into the flanks of NSG mice. Results from individual mice, n = 1-2 mice per cell dose level.

Our previous work with mantle cell lymphoma tumours demonstrated that antigen expression may change in intensity for subcutaneous models. We therefore assessed CD300f expression in U937 and THP-1 when grown subcutaneously. Tumours harvested form THP-1 (Figure 2.3) and U937 (Figure 2.4) displayed the expected phenotype of mouse CD45-, human CD45+ and CD33+. The Median Fluorescent Index (MFI) ratio (MFI of test antibody/ MFI of isotype antibody) of CD300f was preserved in both cell lines. The MFI for CD300f was higher on U937 (5.6) tumours compared to THP-1 (2.5) tumours. No mice in either cohort demonstrated an increase in clinical score.



Comp-FL2-A

**Figure 2.3 THP-1 tumour analysis and gating strategy by flow cytometry.** The intact cellular population (A) was examined with single cell exclusion (B,C). The human CD45 positive fraction (D) was examined for CD33 and CD300f expression (E) compared to an isotype control.



Comp-FL2-A

**Figure 2.4 U937 tumour analysis and gating strategy by flow cytometry.** The intact cellular population (A) was examined with single cell exclusion (B,C). The human CD45 positive fraction (D) was examined for CD33 and CD300f expression (E) compared to an isotype control. **Intravenous HL-60 Model:** The Dendritic Cell Research Group had an existing protocol of established AML xenografts via tail vein injection of NOD/SCID mice with HL-60. To help enhance the limited bone marrow engraftment a comparative NSG model was established. Using NSG mice significantly enhanced engraftment of the bone marrow (Figure 2.5). The median bone marrow percentage of hCD45 cells was 80.62% in NSG compared 0.34% in NOD/SCID. Median survival post inoculation of NSG mice was reduced (22 days) compared to NOD/SCID mice (34 days).

Figure 2.5



**Figure 2.5 HL-60 engraftment by mouse strain.** Human CD45+ cells per target organ at time of euthanasia when clinical score reached >4. Error bars correspond to SEM. \*\*\* p <0.001

**Primary AML Model:** The patient derived AML local repository was examined for suitable samples to establish primary AML xenografts. The following characteristics were required; > 75x10<sup>6</sup> total cells available per donor, samples containing >90% blasts and collections form a single time point per donor. Four suitable samples were identified (Table 2.1).

Table 2.1 Characteristics of Primary AML samples used for xenografts.								
Sample	Age	Sex	WHO Diagnosis	FAB	WCC	Karyotype	NPM1	FLT3-ITD
CRGH11	59	Μ	AML with MDS related changes	M4	54	Normal	Negative	Detected
CRGH14	95	F	AML with MDS related changes	M5	63	NA	NA	NA
CRGH18	60	М	AMLNOS	M4	10	Normal	Negative	Negative
CRGH22	77	Μ	AML with MDS related changes	M5	150	t(8:19) +20	NA	NA
NOS, not otherwise specified. NA, not available								

Engraftment trials were limited by donor material available. The number of cells injected was varied due to post thaw cell numbers from different donors and varied from  $8x10^5$  to  $5x10^6$ . The engraftment kinetics varied between donors (Figure 2.6), with the most rapid establishment seen in samples CRGH11 and CRGH22. There was no increase in clinical score among the mice, one mouse inoculated with CRGH22 was euthanised early to ensure that engraftment data could be collected. Bone marrow engraftment was highest with CRGH11 and CRGH18 (Figure 2.7). Representative bone marrow plots are shown in Figure 2.8.





**Figure 2.6 Primary AML engraftment kinetics.** Human CD45+ cells in peripheral blood post injection. Results of individual mice by AML sample. n = 1-2 per primary AML sample.



**Figure 2.7 Primary AML organ engraftment.** Human CD45+ cells post primary AML injection. Results of individual mice by AML sample. n = 1-2 per sample.

## Figure 2.8



**Figure 2.8 Primay AML bone marrow engraftment.** Representative plots from samples CRGH11 (A), CRGH18 (B), CRGH22 (C) and CRGH14 (D).

**Healthy Humanised Mouse Model:** CD34+ cells were isolated at > 90% purity. Representative plots of CB (Figure 2.9) pre (A) and post (B) CD34+ selection are shown. HSPC were confirmed by the expected phenotype of being CD34+ and CD45 dim. Engraftment kinetics were examined in mice according to CD34+ cell dose from individual cords (Figure 2.10). The  $1 \times 10^5$  produced superior engraftment compared with  $0.5 \times 10^5$  cell dose.

## Figure 2.9



**Figure 2.9 Isolation of CD34+ cells from cord blood.** Representative plots of CB pre-selection (A) and post positive selection (B).

## Figure 2.10





Humanised mice generated CD19+, CD3+, CD33+ and CD34+ populations by 12 weeks with representative plots from blood, bone marrow and spleen are shown in Figure 2.11. Human HSC (CD34+, CD38, CD90+, CD45RA-) and multipotent progenitor (MPP) (CD34+, CD38, CD90-, CD45RA-) cells could be found in bone marrow at week 12 (Figure 2.12).





**Figure 2.11 Human cell populations in humanised mouse xenografts at week 12.** Representative plots. All cells in blood (A). Human CD45+ cells in blood (B), bone marrow (C) and spleen (D).

Figure 2.12



**Figure 2.12 Human HSPC cell populations in humanised mouse xenograft bone marrow at week 12.** Total human CD45+ cells (A) and primitive human HSPC (B) from the CD34+, CD38- fraction.

### Conclusion

This work generated mouse xenografts to test the potential efficacy of an anti-CD300f antibodybased therapies. Our THP-1 and U937 growth kinetics from our subcutaneous models was similar to the results from other groups using the same cell lines.<sup>10, 11</sup> The U937 subcutaneous model was chosen to take forward for future therapeutic experiments as it had a rapid consistent growth rate as well as higher expression of CD300f. It has been established that NSG mice have a superior engraftment of HL-60 compared to NOD/SCID.<sup>12</sup> Our systemic HL-60 experiments confirmed these findings and the NSG model was preferred over the NOD/SCID due to the significantly increased engraftment of the bone marrow, more closely resembling the true microenvironment of AML. The shorter duration of the NSG experiment was also preferential over the NOD/SCID.

Developing models from primary samples was far more difficult. A sustained generation of primary AML xenografts requires thought to be placed into sample collection, documentation and storage. We had some limitations in sample numbers as well as collection and storage practices that had to be overcome. It was expected that some primary AML samples would not engraft well. CRGH11 provided adequate engraftment of the BM to test future therapies. It was the only known sample with a FLT3-ITD mutation, which are associated with superior NSG engraftment.<sup>13</sup>

The humanised mouse model was also somewhat restricted by cell numbers but not as severely as the primary AMLs. Achieving high levels of CD34+ cell purity was accomplished relatively quickly and the models showed robust engraftment with the dose of  $1 \times 10^5$  cells. At this dose most major lineages could be identified and there was significant CD34+ cell engraftment in the bone marrow, which included primitive subsets. T cell development is known to limited in the model that we used and this can be overcome with newer techniques.<sup>14</sup> Given the primary focus of our work was on early haematopoiesis the limited T cell development was acceptable. These models allowed the publication of Chapter 6 "Targeting CD300f to enhance hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in acute myeloid leukaemia".
# References

- 1. Bonnet D, Dick JE. Human acute myeloid leukemia is organized as a hierarchy that originates from a primitive hematopoietic cell. *Nature Medicine* 1997; 3(7): 730-737. doi: DOI 10.1038/nm0797-730
- 2. Cook GJ, Pardee TSJC, Reviews M. Animal models of leukemia: any closer to the real thing? 2013; 32(1-2): 63-76.
- 3. Ishikawa F, Yoshida S, Saito Y, Hijikata A, Kitamura H, Tanaka S *et al.* Chemotherapy-resistant human AML stem cells home to and engraft within the bone-marrow endosteal region. *Nature Biotechnology* 2007; 25(11): 1315-1321. doi: 10.1038/nbt1350
- 4. Fisher JN, Kalleda N, Stavropoulou V, Schwaller J. The Impact of the Cellular Origin in Acute Myeloid Leukemia: Learning From Mouse Models. *Hemasphere* 2019; 3(1): e152. e-pub ahead of print 2019/11/15; doi: 10.1097/HS9.000000000000152
- Kamel-Reid S, Dick JE. Engraftment of immune-deficient mice with human hematopoietic stem cells. *Science* 1988; 242(4886): 1706-1709. e-pub ahead of print 1988/12/23; doi: 10.1126/science.2904703
- 6. Abarrategi A, Mian SA, Passaro D, Rouault-Pierre K, Grey W, Bonnet D. Modeling the human bone marrow niche in mice: From host bone marrow engraftment to bioengineering approaches. *J Exp Med* 2018; 215(3): 729-743. e-pub ahead of print 2018/02/18; doi: 10.1084/jem.20172139
- Rongvaux A, Willinger T, Martinek J, Strowig T, Gearty SV, Teichmann LL *et al.* Development and function of human innate immune cells in a humanized mouse model. *Nat Biotechnol* 2014; 32(4): 364-372. e-pub ahead of print 2014/03/19; doi: 10.1038/nbt.2858
- Lee J, Li M, Milwid J, Dunham J, Vinegoni C, Gorbatov R *et al.* Implantable microenvironments to attract hematopoietic stem/cancer cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2012; 109(48): 19638-19643. e-pub ahead of print 2012/11/15; doi: 10.1073/pnas.1208384109
- Pang WW, Czechowicz A, Logan AC, Bhardwaj R, Poyser J, Park CY *et al.* Anti-CD117 antibody depletes normal and myelodysplastic syndrome human hematopoietic stem cells in xenografted mice. *Blood* 2019; 133(19): 2069-2078. e-pub ahead of print 2019/02/13; doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-06-858159
- 10. He X, Feng Z, Ma J, Ling S, Cao Y, Gurung B *et al.* Bispecific and split CAR T cells targeting CD13 and TIM3 eradicate acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood* 2020; 135(10): 713-723. e-pub ahead of print 2020/01/18; doi: 10.1182/blood.2019002779

- 11. Nielsen CF, van Putten SM, Lund IK, Melander MC, Norregaard KS, Jurgensen HJ *et al.* The collagen receptor uPARAP/Endo180 as a novel target for antibody-drug conjugate mediated treatment of mesenchymal and leukemic cancers. *Oncotarget* 2017; 8(27): 44605-44624. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.17883
- 12. Agliano A, Martin-Padura I, Mancuso P, Marighetti P, Rabascio C, Pruneri G *et al.* Human acute leukemia cells injected in NOD/LtSz-scid/IL-2Rγ null mice generate a faster and more efficient disease compared to other NOD/scid-related strains. 2008; 123(9): 2222-2227.
- Sanchez PV, Perry RL, Sarry JE, Perl AE, Murphy K, Swider CR *et al.* A robust xenotransplantation model for acute myeloid leukemia. *Leukemia* 2009; 23(11): 2109-2117. e-pub ahead of print 2009/07/25; doi: 10.1038/leu.2009.143
- 14. Walsh NC, Kenney LL, Jangalwe S, Aryee KE, Greiner DL, Brehm MA *et al.* Humanized Mouse Models of Clinical Disease. *Annu Rev Pathol* 2017; 12: 187-215. e-pub ahead of print 2016/12/14; doi: 10.1146/annurev-pathol-052016-100332

# Chapter 3: Examination of CD302 as a potential therapeutic target for acute myeloid leukemia

Lo TH\*, Abadir E \*, Gasiorowski RE, Kabani K, Ramesh M, Orellana D, Fromm PD, Kupresanin F, Newman E, Cunningham I, Hart DN, Silveira PA, Clark GJ . Examination of CD302 as a potential therapeutic target for acute myeloid leukemia. PLOS ONE. 2019 May 10;14(5):e0216368. \* contributed equally



# 

**Citation:** Lo T-H, Abadir E, Gasiorowski RE, Kabani K, Ramesh M, Orellana D, et al. (2019) Examination of CD302 as a potential therapeutic target for acute myeloid leukemia. PLoS ONE 14(5): e0216368. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0216368

**Editor:** Kevin D. Bunting, Emory University, UNITED STATES

Received: February 7, 2019

Accepted: April 18, 2019

Published: May 10, 2019

**Copyright:** © 2019 Lo et al. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the <u>Creative</u> Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement: All relevant data are within the manuscript and its Supporting Information files.

**Funding:** This work was supported by Australian Government National Health Medical Research Council (https://nhmrc.gov.au/) Program Grant (543727) and Cancer Institute New South Wales (https://www.cancer.nsw.gov.au/) Translational Program Grant (11/TPG/3-02) awarded to GJC. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript. RESEARCH ARTICLE

# Examination of CD302 as a potential therapeutic target for acute myeloid leukemia

Tsun-Ho Lo<sup>1®</sup>, Edward Abadir<sup>1,2®</sup>, Robin E. Gasiorowski<sup>2,3</sup>, Karieshma Kabani<sup>4</sup>, Murari Ramesh<sup>2</sup>, Daniel Orellana<sup>4</sup>, Phillip D. Fromm<sup>1,2</sup>, Fiona Kupresanin<sup>1</sup>, Elizabeth Newman<sup>3</sup>, Ilona Cunningham<sup>3</sup>, Derek N. J. Hart<sup>1,2,3,4†</sup>, Pablo A. Silveira<sup>1,2‡</sup>, Georgina J. Clark<sup>1,2‡</sup>\*

1 Dendritic Cell Research, ANZAC Research Institute, Sydney, NSW, Australia, 2 Sydney Medical School, University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia, 3 Department of Haematology, Concord Repatriation General Hospital, Sydney, NSW, Australia, 4 Institute of Haematology, Royal Prince Alfred Hospital, Sydney, NSW, Australia

So These authors contributed equally to this work.

† Deceased.

‡ These authors also contributed equally to this work.

\* georgina.clark@sydney.edu.au

# Abstract

Acute myeloid leukemia (AML) is the most common form of adult acute leukemia with ~20,000 new cases yearly. The disease develops in people of all ages, but is more prominent in the elderly, who due to limited treatment options, have poor overall survival rates. Monoclonal antibodies (mAb) targeting specific cell surface molecules have proven to be safe and effective in different haematological malignancies. However, AML target molecules are currently limited so discovery of new targets would be highly beneficial to patients. We examined the C-type lectin receptor CD302 as a potential therapeutic target for AML due to its selective expression in myeloid immune populations. In a cohort of 33 AML patients with varied morphological and karyotypic classifications, 88% were found to express CD302 on the surface of blasts and 80% on the surface of CD34<sup>+</sup> CD38<sup>-</sup> population enriched with leukemic stem cells. A mAb targeting human CD302 was effective in mediating antibody dependent cell cytotoxicity and was internalised, making it amenable to toxin conjugation. Targeting CD302 with antibody limited in vivo engraftment of the leukemic cell line HL-60 in NOD/SCID mice. While CD302 was expressed in a hepatic cell line, HepG2, this molecule was not detected on the surface of HepG2, nor could HepG2 be killed using a CD302 antibody-drug conjugate. Expression was however found on the surface of haematopoietic stem cells suggesting that targeting CD302 would be most effective prior to haematopoietic transplantation. These studies provide the foundation for examining CD302 as a potential therapeutic target for AML.

# Introduction

Monoclonal antibodies (mAb) and their derivatives such as antibody drug conjugates (ADC), bispecific T Cell engagers and chimeric antigen receptor T cells, are rapidly being developed as

**Competing interests:** GJC is a Director of DendroCyte which has intellectual property associated with CD302 targeting of AML. We have provided the full name (DendroCyte Biotech Pty Ltd) and number (2019900018) of the provisional patent awarded for CD302 targeting of AML (lines 21-3). This does not alter our adherence to PLOS ONE policies on sharing data or materials with the exception of the MMRI-20 (anti-CD302) monoclonal antibody which was obtained under a Material Transfer Agreement with Mater Medical Research Institute (Raymond Terrace, QLD Australia). the next generation of anti-cancer treatments [1]. These therapeutic agents offer the advantage of high specificity and potency with the potential of limited toxicity due to their ability to recognise molecular targets on tumours [2]. Whilst advances have been made in the development of mAb based therapy in other haematological diseases such as B cell lymphoma [3] and multiple myeloma [4], progress in acute myeloid leukemia (AML) has remained unsatisfactory. An ideal AML target should be highly expressed on the surface of leukemic blasts with limited expression on healthy cells [5]. AML arises from haemopoietic stem cell (HSC) and multipotent progenitor populations (MPP) resulting in substantial overlap in surface molecule expression [6]. Additional properties including internalisation, induction of antibody dependent cell mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) or functional repression are favourable for designing mAb therapeutic strategies. Despite ongoing work, no ideal AML target has been identified [5, 6]. Approximately 70% of patients under the age of 60 achieve complete remission following conventional treatment, but many relapse causing a 40% overall survival rate [7]. This is believed to be due to the persistence of leukemic stem cells (LSC), which are not eliminated efficiently with current treatments and re-populate over time [8-10]. Therefore, it is critical that an AML target molecule be expressed by LSC and blasts. Given the heterogeneous nature of AML, different targets could be required for the treatment of malignant cells represented by this disease.

We propose CD302 as a potential therapeutic target for AML. CD302 is the simplest type I transmembrane C-type lectin receptor (CLR) described [11]. The protein consists of 232 amino acids containing a single C-type lectin like domain. Amongst human leukocytes, CD302 is restricted to myeloid derived populations including monocytes, macrophages, dendritic cells and granulocytes. This expression profile led us to explore CD302 as a potential target for myeloid malignancies. CD302 colocalizes with f-actin rich filopodia, lamellopodia and podosomes in macrophage and transfected cell lines, indicative of a role in attachment or migration [11], a function subsequently confirmed by CD302 knockout mouse studies [12].

In the current study, we examined CD302 expression on leukemic cell lines and primary AML in comparison to HSC and monocytes from healthy donors. We explored the ability of anti-CD302 mAb to mediate ADCC and affect leukemic cell migration using *in vitro* and *in vivo* models. We have further characterised differences in CD302 distribution between AML and hepatocyte cell lines and demonstrated a proof of principal *in vitro* ADC model.

# Material and methods

### Preparation of tissue samples

Patient blood or bone marrow (BM) samples from patients with AML were collected at the Concord Repatriation General Hospital (CRGH) or Royal Prince Alfred Hospital (Sydney, Australia). Patients ranged from 16–95 years of age, and had blast percentages in sample that ranged from 10–95% at the time of collection (S1 Table). Healthy donor blood samples were collected, with informed consent, from a donor panel maintained by the Department of Haematology, CRGH. Blood was obtained by venesection and PMBC isolated by density gradient centrifugation using Ficoll-Paque Plus (GE Healthcare) with the manufacturer's protocols. Cord blood (CB) samples were obtained from the Sydney CB Bank with mononuclear cells collected as above. BM aspirates were collected from the posterior iliac crest of patients and healthy volunteers. Samples were then passed through a 22G needle to disrupt BM fragments before proceeding to isolation of mononuclear cells (PBMC) were labelled with CD14 Microbeads (Miltenyi Biotec) and positively selected using an AutoMACS Pro (Miltenyi Biotec). Ethical approval for human studies was obtained from the Sydney Local District Human Research Ethics Committee (HREC/12/CRGH/59, HREC/11/CRGH/61 & 118).

### **Cell lines**

HL-60 and HEL cell lines were previously obtained by Professor Derek Hart at the Haematology & Immunology Research Group, Christchurch School of Medicine, University of Otago, New Zealand. The U937 and HS-5 cell lines was sourced from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC). These lines were maintained in complete RPMI 1640 (supplemented with 10% FCS, 2mM Gluta-MAX, 100U/ml penicillin and 100µg/ml streptomycin; ThermoFisher). The HepG2 cell line was purchased from ATCC and grown in DMEM with 1g/l D-glucose, 10% FCS, 2mM Gluta-MAX, 100U/ml penicillin and 100µg/ml streptomycin (ThermoFisher).

### Gene expression

AML gene expression data was retrieved from the Gene Expression Omnibus microarray dataset GSE14468 [13]. The series matrix files were parsed in R and the probe ID and signal value corresponding to *CD302* (203799\_*AT*) and *CD33* (206120\_*AT*) extracted. Only samples containing French American British (FAB) AML subtype classification were analysed. For quantitative PCR (qPCR), total RNA from tissues or cells was extracted using TRIzol reagent and synthesized into cDNA using the SuperScript III kit (ThermoFisher) as per manufacturer's instructions. Method and primers for human CD302 and HPRT qPCR are described in [12].

### Flow cytometry

AML and healthy PBMC samples were phenotyped with CD45-V500 (HI30), CD34-PE-CY7 (581), CD38-V450 (HB7) and CD33-PE (WM53), CD90-AF700 (5E10), CD45RA-APC-H7 (SH9), CD11c-APC-AF700 (B-Ly6) and HLA-DR-APC-H7 (L243) mAbs from BD Biosciences or BioLegend. The lineage (Lin) cocktail consisted of CD235a (GA-R2), CD14 (M $\varphi$ P9), CD20 (2H7), CD19 (HIB19), CD56 (NCAM16.2) and CD3 (SK7; BD Biosciences). The mouse antihuman CD302 IgG1mAb antibody (MMRI-20) was used unlabelled or as a PE conjugate [11]. The mAb CMRF-81, specific for tetanus toxoid, was used as the mouse IgG1 isotype control [14]. DAPI (3 $\mu$ M; ThermoFisher) staining was used to exclude dead cells. Data were collected on Accuri C6, Canto, Fortessa LSR or Influx flow cytometers (BD Biosciences) and analysed with FlowJo 10 software (Treestar). The gating strategy for identifying BM/CB HSC and MPP are shown in panel A of S1 Fig. Binding was displayed as a geometric mean fluorescence intensity (geoMFI) ratio which was calculated by the formula: geoMFI test antibody/geoMFI isotype control. A ratio of  $\geq$ 3 was considered positive. T-distributed stochastic neighbour embedding (t-SNE) visualisation was performed on FlowJo 10.

### Western blot

Cell suspensions  $(2.5 \times 10^7 \text{ cells/ml})$  were solubilised in modified RIPA buffer (1% Triton X-100, 0.25% sodium deoxycholate, 0.15M NaCl, 50mM Tris-HCl, 5mM EDTA containing Protease Inhibitor (Roche, Basel, Switzerland)). Protein content was determined by bicinchoninic acid assay (ThermoFisher). Lysates (5µg) were fractionated on a 4–12% Bis-Tris gel (Bolt, ThermoFisher) under reducing conditions. Proteins were transferred to nitrocellulose (Novex Miniblot; ThermoFisher) using an iBlot. Membranes were stained with Ponceau before overnight incubation in 5%BSA in TBST. Membranes were incubated with 1µg/ml rabbit antihuman CD302 polyclonal antibody (LS-C119435; LS Bio) followed by 1:1000 HRP conjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG Fc antibody (A6154 Sigma-Aldrich). Protein bands were detected by chemiluminescence using Clarity Western ECL substrate (BioRad) and visualised on a BioRad GelDoc. Molecular weights (MW) of proteins were determined by comparison with Precision Plus standards (BioRad).

### Immunohistology

HepG2 or HL-60 cells ( $4x10^4$  cells/well) were adhered to Lab-Tek II Chamber Slide (Thermo-Fisher) for 30 min or overnight in 5% CO<sub>2</sub> at 37°C, respectively. Cells were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde and rehydrated using 1% BSA/PBS. Cells were blocked with 10% goat serum (Invitrogen) and stained with either MMRI-20 or isotype control ( $10\mu$ g/ml) for 30 min at 37°C. Goat anti-mouse (GAM) IgG-AF488 antibody (ThermoFisher) was used to detect primary antibodies. Phalloidin-AF594 and  $18\mu$ M DAPI (ThermoFisher) were used to identify factin at the cell surface and the nucleus, respectively. Slides were imaged using a 3i VIVO Spinning Disc Microscope (Intelligent Imaging Innovations, Inc.) and analysed with Image J (NIH) software.

### Antibody internalisation assay

HL-60 cells were incubated with MMRI-20-PE or isotype control-PE ( $10\mu$ g/ml) on ice for 20 min. Antibody coated cells were then incubated at 37°C/5% CO<sub>2</sub> for the indicated times to allow internalisation. After incubation, a secondary GAM IgG-AF488 antibody was applied to the samples for 20 min on ice to detect remaining surface antibody and compared to the total (surface and internalised) PE staining. Cells were fixed in 1% paraformaldehyde/PBS followed by flow cytometry analysis. Relative MFI was calculated as a percentage of staining at 0 min.

# **Colony forming units (CFU)**

Frozen CB cells were incubated with MMRI-20 mAb followed by GAM IgG-AF488 (Invitrogen). Subsequent staining with a Lin stain was performed. DAPI<sup>-</sup> Lin<sup>-</sup> CD302<sup>+</sup> or CD302<sup>-</sup> fractions were FACS isolated and resuspended in IMDM media (Stemcell Technologies). Equal numbers of each sorted fraction were plated at  $1.5-2.5 \times 10^4$  cells/plate in semi-solid methylcellulose medium (MethoCult Classic, Stemcell Technologies). Plates were cultured at  $37^{\circ}$ C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for 12–14 days prior to counting of multi-lineage, myeloid and erythroid colonies in wells with a light microscope.

# ADCC

HL-60 or U937 target (T) cells labelled with  $2.5\mu$ M Calcein-AM (ThermoFisher) as per manufacturer's protocol and resuspended in complete RPMI 1640. Target cells ( $5x10^3$ ) were mixed with  $5x10^4$  C57BL/6J female mouse (Animal Resources Centre, Perth, Australia) spleen effectors (E), 1000U of human IL-2 (Invitrogen) and the indicated concentrations of MMRI-20 or isotype control in triplicate. Plates were incubated for 18h at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Cells were subsequently labelled with  $3\mu$ M DAPI for 20 min to detect death of Calcein-AM<sup>+</sup> target cells via flow cytometry. Spontaneous and maximal death was determined by culturing target cells alone or with 2% Triton-X, respectively. Cytotoxicity was calculated with the formula: E+T (antibody)–E+T(no antibody)/ T(max)–T(spontaneous).

### **Migration assays**

HL-60 and U937 were incubated with MMRI-20 or isotype control mAb (10  $\mu$ g/ml) in 1% BSA/RPMI at 37°C for 1 hr and washed twice before layering 1 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells onto 5 $\mu$ m transwell filters coated with 0.1 mg/ml fibronectin or a confluent layer of HS-5 cells. CXCL12 (160 ng/ml) or 1% BSA/RPMI media alone was added to the lower chamber. After 4 h incubation at 37°C and 5% CO2, cells migrating into lower chamber were enumerated using flow cytometry. Results were reported as the chemotaxis index: migration with chemokine divided by migration with media only.

### Xenogeneic NOD/SCID AML mouse model

NOD.CB17-Prkdc<sup>scid</sup>/J (NOD/SCID) female mice were purchased from the ARC. All mice were housed at the ANZAC Research Institute under specific pathogen free conditions. NOD/ SCID mice were irradiated with 250cGy from an X-ray source (XRAD 320, Precision X-Ray; Connecticut, USA) one day before cell transfer. HL-60 cells were resuspended in X-VIVO at 2x10° cells/ml and incubated with 10µg/ml MMRI-20 or isotype control mAb for 1 h. Antibody coated cells were washed three times with PBS and 5x10<sup>6</sup> cells transferred intravenously (iv) into irradiated NOD/SCID mice. Mice were euthanised at pre-defined time point (d21) or at humane endpoint determined by disease score (maximum d28). To minimise suffering, disease scores were assessed daily for 14d post-transfer and then weekly if disease score  $\leq 1$ , which derived from combined scores of 0-2 for weight loss, posture, activity and fur texture. A disease score of  $\geq$ 4 led to euthanasia within an hour. No animal died prior to meeting defined endpoint. BM, spleen and blood were collected for flow cytometry analysis after euthanasia as described [12]. HL-60 cells were identified by flow cytometry using mouse CD45-PerCP/ Cy5.5 (30-F11), human CD45-FITC (HI-30) and CD33-PE (WM53) mAbs with the gating strategy in panel B of S1 Fig. Engraftment was assessed as: number of human CD45 cells/ number of human plus mouse CD45 cells. All animal procedures and staff were approved by the Sydney Local Health District Animal Ethics Committee (#2015/026).

### Pyrrolobenzodiazepine (PBD) cytotoxicity assay

HL-60 and HepG2 cells  $(1x10^4)$  or human PBMC  $(1x10^5)$  were plated in quadruplicate with serial dilutions of MMRI-20 or isotype control and equimolar concentrations of GAM IgG secondary antibody attached via cleavable linker to PBD (Moradec). Cells were incubated at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for 96h. Viability was then measured with CellTiter-Glo luminescent assay (Promega) for cell lines or flow cytometry for dendritic cells (DAPI<sup>-</sup>Lin<sup>-</sup>HLA-DR<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>+</sup>) and monocytes (DAPI<sup>-</sup>SSC<sup>hi</sup>Lineage<sup>+</sup>HLA-DR<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>+</sup>) in PBMC and compared to untreated samples.

### **Statistics**

Statistical analyses were performed with Prism 7 (GraphPad Software). Mean values with SEM are shown in graphs. Pearson's coefficient (r) was used to determine correlation. Non-parametric paired or unpaired t-tests or ANOVA (with multiple test correction) were used to determine statistical differences between groups with p<0.05 deemed significant.

# Results

### CD302 is expressed on blasts and LSCs of most AML patients

CD302 has a restricted expression profile on myeloid cells within haematopoietic populations [11] leading us to hypothesise that this CLR could be expressed by AML that arise from the myeloid lineage. A comparison of *CD302* to *CD33* gene expression in a published cohort of 460 AML patients [13] demonstrated high expression of the former across FAB disease sub-types (highest on M4-M5) and a moderate positive correlation of expression between the markers (r = 0.4749, p < 0.0001; panels A-B of S2 Fig).

We examined a panel of primary AML blood samples of 33 patients with varied morphological and karyotypic classifications (S1 Table) for cell surface protein expression of CD302 by flow cytometry (Fig 1A) using MMRI-20. The geoMFI ratio of CD302 staining relative to a mouse IgG1 isotype control demonstrated that CD302 was expressed 3-fold higher than background on the surface of AML blasts in 88% of patients (29/33) and in LSC enriched CD34<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>-</sup> cells in 80% of patients (16/20; Fig 1B). This was similar to the proportion of



**Fig 1. Expression of CD302 on leukemic blasts, CD34**<sup>+</sup>**CD38- LSC and HSC.** (A) Gating strategy used to identify  $CD45^{lo}SSC^{lo}$  AML blasts and CD34<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>-</sup> LSC. (B) Scatter dot plots showing the CD33 and CD302 expression on AML blasts (n = 33) and LSC fraction (n = 20). Samples were stained with MMRI-20 and CD33 mAb. Populations with a geoMFI ratio  $\geq$ 3, shown above the dotted line, were considered to be positive. (C) Relationship between mean CD33 and CD302 expression on AML blasts and on AML LSC from patients. The solid lines were generated by linear regression. (D) Six parameter data (including CD117, CD34, CD33, CD38, CD45 and CD302) from five concatenated AML patient samples was converted into two t-SNE dimensions and overlayed with heatmaps of the indicated marker's MFI. (E) Summary of CD302 expression by AML blasts across FAB subtypes based on their morphology and immunophenotypic characteristics, as outlined in the 2008 WHO classification. (F) CD302 and CD33 expression on AML samples with monocytic differentiation, FAB subtype M4 and M5, were compared to other subtypes of AML.

AML cases showing surface staining of CD33 with the WM53 mAb clone (91% of blast and 85% of CD34<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>-</sup> cells). No significant difference was observed between the geometric MFI ratios of CD302 and CD33 in blasts or CD34<sup>+</sup> CD38- AML in the patient cohort. Consistent with the gene expression analysis, correlation analysis revealed that mean CD302 expression correlated positively with mean CD33 expression on AML blasts in patient samples (r = 0.66, p < 0.0001; Fig 1C). However, no significant correlation between CD302 and CD33 was observed in the CD34<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>-</sup> populations. T-SNE is an algorithm that reduces multi-parameter flow cytometry data into two t-SNE parameters, allowing visualization of cellular organisation in two dimensions. Transforming the six parameter data (including CD33, CD34, CD38, CD45, CD117 and CD302 expression) from five concatenated AML samples into a two dimensional t-SNE plot and highlighting areas of high CD302 and CD33 expression illustrated the correlation between these markers at the cellular level (Fig 1D). As CD302 is highly expressed by human blood monocytes [12], we examined if AML with monocytic differentiation would express a higher amount of CD302. Indeed, CD302 was expressed significantly higher in AML from these patients than those with non-monocytic subtype cases (Fig 1E and 1F).

### MMRI-20 is internalised and mediates ADCC against leukemic cell lines

We next investigated whether targeting CD302 with a mAb could be therapeutic against AML. Three potential target leukemic cells lines, HL-60, HEL and U937 were examined for their surface CD302 expression by flow cytometry. MMRI-20 staining was highest on HL-60, followed by HEL and lowest on U937 (geoMFI ratios of 5.4, 3.3 and 1.6, Fig 2A), consistent with previously described transcript levels [15].

To determine whether targeting surface CD302 with mAb could mediate ADCC towards leukemic cells by immune effector cells, HL-60 were co-cultured with mouse splenocytes as effector cells in the presence of different concentrations of MMRI-20 or an isotype control mAb. After 20 h of culture, addition of MMRI-20 increased the killing of target cells in a dose dependent manner, while culturing with the isotype control resulted in minimal killing (Fig 2B). We compared ADCC mediated against surface CD302<sup>hi</sup> HL-60 to that of CD302<sup>lo</sup> U937 with optimal levels of antibody. As anticipated, target killing was greater for HL-60 than U937 (Fig 2C). However, despite low surface CD302 levels, ADCC against U937 induced by MMRI-20 was still significantly higher than that achieved by the isotype control.

The internalising capacity of MMRI-20 was tested on the CD302<sup>hi</sup> HL-60 cell line using a flow cytometry based assay (Fig 2D). The assay showed that MMRI-20 bound to the surface of cells was reduced to ~75% of its starting level after 30 min of culture at 37°C (Fig 2D). In contrast, the total level of MMRI-20 (surface and intracellular) remained constant through the course of the experiment, indicating that the antibody had not dissociated from the surface but was internalised into cells with CD302 (Fig 2D).

Given that we have previously shown CD302 to contribute to migration [12], we explored whether MMRI-20 could alter this function when bound to AML cells. We performed an *in vitro* assay where the chemotactic ability of HL-60 to the BM homing chemokine CXCL12 was compared between cells pre-incubated with MMRI-20 or an isotype control antibody (Fig 2D). Transwells were coated with either fibronectin or HS-5 stromal cells, forcing cells to utilise cellular protrusion (e.g. podosomes) to transmigrate through the barrier. Regardless, HL-60 migrated in a similar fashion towards CXCL12 in all conditions tested, suggesting MMRI-20 did not alter the chemotactic ability of the leukemic cells, at least in this *in vitro* assay.

# Anti-CD302 mAb reduces engraftment of AML in NOD/SCID mice but does not alter survival

We established a xenogeneic model of AML for testing antibody targeting. HL-60 cells were injected iv into irradiated NOD/SCID mice, allowing leukemic cells to engraft and disseminate causing illness requiring euthanasia between d21 to 28 post cell transfer. To investigate whether anti-CD302 antibodies affected AML engraftment, we pre-coated HL-60 cells with MMRI-20 or an isotype control *ex vivo* prior to transferring them into NOD/SCID mice. Both cohorts were euthanised on d21 and the presence of AML in their BM, spleen and blood was examined by flow cytometry. Coating with MMRI-20 significantly reduced HL-60 burden in BM and spleens and a trend towards reduction in the blood (Fig 3A). However, this difference did not lead to a lower disease score nor an extended survival time for mice receiving MMRI-20 versus isotype control coated AML (Fig 3B and 3C).

### CD302 is expressed by healthy HSC in BM and CB

We obtained three BM and five cord blood samples from healthy donors and examined CD302 expression on HSC and progenitors via flow cytometry (Fig 4A). MMRI-20 was found to bind to the vast majority of HSC, MPP and CD34<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>+</sup> from both BM and cord blood in



Fig 2. Antibodies targeting CD302 are able to be internalised and mediate ADCC of target cells. (A) Flow cytometry histograms showing the surface expression of CD302 on leukemic target cell lines as determined by staining with the MMRI-20 compared to a mouse IgG1 isotype control. (B) CD302 internalisation by HL-60 cells determined by flow cytometry. Total staining determined by MMRI-20-FITC 37°C incubation for the indicated times after which residual surface CD302 was measured with anti-mouse IgG-PE at 4°C. MFI of antibody staining is reported relative to pre-incubation levels. (C) MMRI-20 induced ADCC against HL-60 target cells. Calcein-AM labelled HL-60 were incubated for 18h with mouse spleen effectors at a 1:10 ratio, together with1000U IL-2 and the indicated concentrations of MMRI-20 or isotype control mAb. Target cell killing was measured as 7-AAD<sup>+</sup> Calcein-AM<sup>+</sup> cells by flow cytometry and presented relative to death in target alone (0%) or with 2% Triton X solution (100%). \*\*\*\* p<0.0001, two-way ANOVA. (D) ADCC elicited against HL-60 (CD302<sup>hi</sup>) and U937 (CD302<sup>lo</sup>) leukemic targets using 20µg/ml MMRI-20 or isotype mAb control. Experiments representative of three experiments. Differences tested by two-way ANOVA. (E-F) HL-60 cells were incubated with either MMRI-20 or isotype control mAb for 30 mins at 37°C and tested for their ability to migrate across 5 µm transwells coated with (E) fibronectin or (F) HS-5 cells towards 160 ng/ml CXCL12 or media alone. Cells in bottom chamber were enumerated after 4h by using flow cytometry and migration presented as the chemotaxis index. Circles connected by lines represent individual paired experiments. No significant difference (NS) between MMRI-20 and isotype group (paired t-test).

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0216368.g002



**Fig 3.** *Ex vivo* **MMRI-20 binding reduces engraftment of leukemic cell lines HL-60 in NOD/SCID mice.** (A) Bar graphs showing absolute frequency of HL-60 cells coated with MMRI-20 or isotype control mAb in BM, spleen and blood of NOD/SCID mice 21 days after iv injection (n = 6/group). HL-60 cells were identified as human CD33<sup>+</sup>, human CD45<sup>+</sup>, mouse CD45<sup>-</sup> cells in tissue cell suspensions by flow cytometry (see panel B of S1 Fig). (B) Disease scores and (C) survival curves of five NOD/SCID mice injected with MMRI-20 or isotype control mAb coated HL-60 cells.

all samples (Fig 4A and 4B). To determine whether CD302<sup>-</sup> progenitor populations could maintain normal haematopoiesis, we compared the CFU potential of CD302<sup>+</sup> or CD302<sup>-</sup> populations. The two progenitor fractions were isolated by FACS based on MMRI-20 staining and CFU of various blood developmental lineages deriving from each set were compared. Generation of CFU of all lineages were completely abrogated in the CD302<sup>-</sup> fraction (Fig 4C and 4D), suggesting that the majority of HSC progenitors were contained in the CD302<sup>+</sup> fraction.

### Characterisation of CD302 expression by liver cells

Expression of CD302 in liver was previously reported [11, 12]. We compared the transcriptional expression of *CD302* in human liver, CD14<sup>+</sup> monocytes, HepG2, HL-60, and U937 using quantitative PCR (panel A of S3 Fig). Consistent with our previously studies [11, 12], liver showed the highest expression of *CD302* amongst the tested samples. We then investigated if the MW of human CD302 protein in liver was different to that of leukemic cells by Western blot (panel B of S3 Fig). In contrast to the mouse studies, CD302 in the human liver cell line HepG2 showed a similar MW to that in the HL-60 leukemic cell line. When HepG2 was labelled with MMRI-20 and examined by flow cytometry or immunohistology, we observed that that CD302 protein was primarily intracellular with minimal expression on the cell surface (panel C-D of S3 Fig). This was in contrast to the MMRI-20 staining pattern of the leukemic HL-60 cell line, where surface CD302 staining was detected by both techniques.



**Fig 4. CD302 is expressed on healthy BM and cord blood.** (A) Representative flow cytometry histograms showing the expression of CD302 on healthy BM (n = 3) and CB (n = 5) HSC, MPP and CD34<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>-</sup> populations. Gating strategy shown in panel A of S1 Fig. (B) geoMFI ratios of CD302 expression on HSC in all BM and CB samples. Dotted line indicates a geoMFI of 3 above which was considered positive. (C) Graphs showing CFU of multi-lineage, myeloid and erythroid lineages counted 12–14 days after seeding wells with equal numbers of Lin<sup>-</sup>CD302<sup>+</sup> and CD302<sup>-</sup> sorted CB populations (n = 6). ND, no detection of CFU colonies.

# PBD toxin delivery through CD302 mAb mediates killing of leukemic but not hepatic cell lines

To examine the potential of CD302 as an ADC target, HL-60 or HepG2 cells were co-cultured with either MMRI-20 or isotype control antibody in the presence of GAM IgG mAb bound to PBD (GAM-PBD). PBD delivered high toxicity towards HL-60 via MMRI-20 in a dose dependent manner when compared to the isotype control (Fig 5A). In contrast, HepG2 co-cultured with either MMRI-20 or isotype antibody plus GAM-PBD both showed equivalent, minimal toxicity, suggesting that the killing of HepG2, was not CD302 specific (Fig 5A). Similarly, we



Fig 5. PBD delivery through CD302 mAb mediates killing of leukemic but not hepatic cell lines. (A) Comparison of HepG2 or HL-60 killing after 96 h culture with the indicated concentrations of MMRI-20 or isotype control mAb together with equimolar concentrations of a GAM IgG secondary antibody conjugated with PBD toxin. Cell viability measured with the CellTiter-Glo luminescent assay and compared as a % to untreated controls. One of three representative experiments shown. \*\*\*p<0.001, 2-way ANOVA. (B) PBMC were cultured in quadruplicate for 96h with 1nM MMRI-20 or isotype control mAb together with equimolar concentrations of a GAM IgG secondary antibody conjugated with PBD toxin. Flow cytometry was used to count viable (DAPI<sup>-</sup>) dendritic cells (Lin<sup>-</sup> HLA-DR<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>+</sup>) and monocyte (SSC<sup>hi</sup>Lineage<sup>+</sup>HLA-DR<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>+</sup>) in wells after culture and compared as a % to untreated controls. One of two representative experiments shown.

found no toxicity towards dendritic cells or monocytes when PBMC were cultured with MMRI-20 or isotype antibody plus GAM-PBD for 96h (Fig 5B).

### Discussion

Immunotherapies involving mAbs and their derivatives have proven to be encouraging strategies for treating haematological malignancies. There is a pressing need for alternative targets for AML treatment, especially those expressed by LSC that cause disease relapse. We have identified the CLR CD302 as a possible AML target. Using the mouse anti-human CD302 mAb MMRI-20, we showed expression of CD302 on primary AML blast and various leukemic cell lines. The vast majority of primary AML samples expressed CD302 (88%) with significant correlation to CD33 (a clinically established target for AML) at the transcript, cellular and patient level. Importantly, MMRI-20 bound to CD34<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>-</sup> blasts, a population enriched in LSC, in 80% of patient samples.

There are various therapeutic mechanisms of an anti-AML mAb including ADCC through recruitment of immune effector cells or through inhibition of critical functions of AML [5]. MMRI-20 could mediate the ADCC of leukemic cell lines expressing high or low levels of CD302. In spite of the role for CD302 in migration [11, 12], binding of MMRI-20 to HL-60 leukemic cells did not alter their mobilisation towards the BM-homing chemokine CXCL12 in fibronectin or stromal cell transmigration assays. However, we cannot rule out that the anti-body could inhibit migration in other experimental settings. Future identification of the ligand for CD302 will provide insight into whether antibodies can block ligand interaction and how this alters AML migration.

Further investigation into the therapeutic capability of the MMRI-20 mAb for AML was performed in an *in vivo* xenogeneic NOD/SCID model. Binding of CD302 with MMRI-20 reduced engraftment of the HL-60 leukemic cell line in BM, spleen and blood. However, the ADCC function of the naked mouse antibody in this model was likely hampered by the low

natural killer and macrophage activity in NOD/SCID mice [16], which may explain why HL-60 was not completely eliminated from hosts and why this did not lead to a survival advantage.

A common strategy for improving the therapeutic activity of anti-cancer antibodies is to attach a toxin or radioisotope for delivery to target cells (i.e. ADC). Like other CLR, CD302 is endocytic and was previously shown to take up MMRI-20 antibodies in CD302 transfected Chinese hamster ovary cells and healthy blood myeloid cells [11]. The rapid internalisation of MMRI-20 by the HL-60 leukemic cell line denoted CD302's potential as a target for ADC. Evidence for the likely efficacy of a CD302 ADC was provided with the efficient killing (sub-nano-molar IC50) of HL-60 cells using a secondary mAb to deliver PBD via MMRI-20 internalisation.

Target molecules for AML to date have unavoidably shown wider expression on healthy myeloid populations [5]. This is also the case with CD302, which can be found on monocytes, macrophages, granulocytes and dendritic cells [11, 12]. MMRI-20 was also shown to bind HSC in healthy BM and cord blood samples. Although the presence of CD302 on healthy haematopoietic cells might cause potential toxicity against these populations, studies have shown that ADC targeting markers (e.g. gemtuzumab ozogamicin with CD33) expressed by HSC progenitors and myeloid populations [17] can still provide clinical benefits for patients [18]. The presence of CD302 on HSC would therefore not necessarily exclude it as a potential therapeutic target. Haematological toxicity could be managed by adding CD302 mAb or ADC treatment to conditioning therapies given prior to HSCT.

Another consideration for utilising CD302 as an AML target is its expression in liver, raising concerns of hepatotoxicity [11]. Mouse studies have shown that CD302 transcript is expressed by hepatocytes and liver sinusoidal endothelial cells [12], although the liver protein appeared to exhibit a different MW to that in myeloid cells. Western blot analysis of the human liver cell line HepG2 and leukemic cell line HL-60 showed a similar MW for CD302. However, in contrast to the abundant surface CD302 found on HL-60, we predominantly detected intracellular distribution on the HepG2 cell line with undetectable surface expression by flow cytometry or immunohistology. Consistent with this difference, delivery of PBD via CD302 could kill HL-60 but not HepG2, raising the possibility that a CD302 ADC could deliver a therapeutic effect against AML cells with minimal liver toxicity. It is noted that this observation needs confirmation in primary liver cells and further study into CD302 function in this organ is required.

### Conclusion

The heterogeneous nature of AML and the urgent need for new therapeutics makes characterising all potential target markers a necessity. CD302 is expressed highly on blasts and LSC enriched CD34<sup>+</sup> CD38<sup>-</sup> populations in the majority of AML patients thereby showing potential as a therapeutic AML target. Further studies are required to investigate the potential toxicity of a CD302 mAb and derivatives in healthy human tissue and establish the ideal therapeutic window for their use.

# **Supporting information**

S1 Table. Clinical and pathological characteristics of AML patient samples tested in the current study. (DOCX)

**S1 Fig. Gating strategies.** (A) Gating used to identify progenitor cells in human BM and CB samples (CB shown). Gating strategies to identify HL-60 leukemic cells in NOD/SCID BM,

spleen and blood (BM shown). (TIF)

**S2 Fig. Microarray analysis of transcript levels of CD302 and CD33 in AML patients.** (A) Probes specific for *CD302* and *CD33* transcripts were compared in a cohort of 460 AML patients over various FAB subtypes. Statistics shown in table below. (B) Correlation of CD302 and CD33 gene expression in all patients. (TIF)

**S3 Fig. CD302 is expressed minimally on the surface of human liver cells.** (A) Transcript expression of CD302 relative to the HPRT housekeeping gene was determined by qPCR in three cDNA samples derived from human liver, monocytes or the indicated cell lines. Expression shown as fold changes relative to the U937. (B) Western blot comparing the size of CD302 protein band in HepG2 and HL-60 cells. (C) Comparison of flow cytometry CD302 surface staining of HepG2 and HL-60 cell lines with MMRI-20 compared to an isotype control. (D) Immunohistology staining of CD302 (green) with MMRI-20 in HepG2 or HL-60 cells. Phalloidin staining (red) was used to highlight the cellular surface while DAPI (blue) staining reveals the nucleus. A composite of phalloidin and DAPI with MMRI-20 or isotype control antibody staining is shown for comparison. Scale bar marks 20μm. (TIF)

# Acknowledgments

We would like to acknowledge the ANZAC Research Institute Animal Facility staff for their help with mouse husbandry and Donna Bonnici for administrative assistance. This work was supported by Australian Government National Health Medical Research Council Program Grant (543727) and Cancer Institute New South Wales Translational Program Grant (11/ TPG/3-02).

# **Author Contributions**

- **Conceptualization:** Tsun-Ho Lo, Edward Abadir, Robin E. Gasiorowski, Derek N. J. Hart, Pablo A. Silveira, Georgina J. Clark.
- **Data curation:** Tsun-Ho Lo, Edward Abadir, Robin E. Gasiorowski, Phillip D. Fromm, Fiona Kupresanin, Pablo A. Silveira.
- Formal analysis: Tsun-Ho Lo, Edward Abadir, Robin E. Gasiorowski, Karieshma Kabani, Murari Ramesh, Phillip D. Fromm, Pablo A. Silveira, Georgina J. Clark.
- Funding acquisition: Derek N. J. Hart, Georgina J. Clark.
- **Investigation:** Tsun-Ho Lo, Edward Abadir, Robin E. Gasiorowski, Derek N. J. Hart, Pablo A. Silveira, Georgina J. Clark.
- Methodology: Tsun-Ho Lo, Edward Abadir, Robin E. Gasiorowski, Karieshma Kabani, Murari Ramesh, Daniel Orellana, Phillip D. Fromm, Pablo A. Silveira, Georgina J. Clark.

Resources: Robin E. Gasiorowski, Daniel Orellana, Elizabeth Newman, Ilona Cunningham.

Supervision: Derek N. J. Hart, Pablo A. Silveira, Georgina J. Clark.

Validation: Pablo A. Silveira, Georgina J. Clark.

Visualization: Pablo A. Silveira.

Writing – original draft: Tsun-Ho Lo, Edward Abadir, Robin E. Gasiorowski, Pablo A. Silveira.

Writing - review & editing: Pablo A. Silveira, Georgina J. Clark.

### References

- Lichtenegger FS, Krupka C, Haubner S, Kohnke T, Subklewe M. Recent developments in immunotherapy of acute myeloid leukemia. J Hematol Oncol. 2017; 10(1):142. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-017-0505-0 PMID: 28743264; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5526264.
- Topp MS, Gokbuget N, Zugmaier G, Klappers P, Stelljes M, Neumann S, et al. Phase II trial of the anti-CD19 bispecific T cell-engager blinatumomab shows hematologic and molecular remissions in patients with relapsed or refractory B-precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2014; 32(36):4134– 40. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2014.56.3247 PMID: 25385737.
- Maloney DG. Anti-CD20 antibody therapy for B-cell lymphomas. N Engl J Med. 2012; 366(21):2008– 16. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMct1114348 PMID: 22621628.
- Palumbo A, Chanan-Khan A, Weisel K, Nooka AK, Masszi T, Beksac M, et al. Daratumumab, Bortezomib, and Dexamethasone for Multiple Myeloma. N Engl J Med. 2016; 375(8):754–66. <u>https://doi.org/10. 1056/NEJMoa1606038</u> PMID: 27557302.
- Gasiorowski RE, Clark GJ, Bradstock K, Hart DN. Antibody therapy for acute myeloid leukaemia. Br J Haematol. 2014; 164(4):481–95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bjh.12691</u> PMID: <u>24321020</u>.
- Perna F, Berman SH, Soni RK, Mansilla-Soto J, Eyquem J, Hamieh M, et al. Integrating proteomics and transcriptomics for systematic combinatorial chimeric antigen receptor therapy of AML. Cancer Cell. 2017; 32(4):506–19. e5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccell.2017.09.004 PMID: 29017060
- Burnett A, Wetzler M, Lowenberg B. Therapeutic advances in acute myeloid leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2011; 29(5):487–94. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2010.30.1820 PMID: 21220605.
- Felipe Rico J, Hassane DC, Guzman ML. Acute myelogenous leukemia stem cells: from Bench to Bedside. Cancer Lett. 2013; 338(1):4–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2012.05.034 PMID: 22713929; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4374350.
- Crews LA, Jamieson CH. Selective elimination of leukemia stem cells: hitting a moving target. Cancer Lett. 2013; 338(1):15–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2012.08.006 PMID: 22906415.
- 10. Lutz C, Hoang VT, Buss E, Ho AD. Identifying leukemia stem cells—is it feasible and does it matter? Cancer Lett. 2013; 338(1):10–4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2012.07.014 PMID: 22820159.
- Kato M, Khan S, d'Aniello E, McDonald KJ, Hart DN. The novel endocytic and phagocytic C-Type lectin receptor DCL-1/CD302 on macrophages is colocalized with F-actin, suggesting a role in cell adhesion and migration. J Immunol. 2007; 179(9):6052–63. Epub 2007/10/20. PMID: 17947679.
- Lo TH, Silveira PA, Fromm PD, Verma ND, Vu PA, Kupresanin F, et al. Characterization of the Expression and Function of the C-Type Lectin Receptor CD302 in Mice and Humans Reveals a Role in Dendritic Cell Migration. J Immunol. 2016; 197(3):885–98. Epub 2016/06/19. <u>https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1600259 PMID: 27316686</u>.
- Wouters BJ, Lowenberg B, Erpelinck-Verschueren CA, van Putten WL, Valk PJ, Delwel R. Double CEBPA mutations, but not single CEBPA mutations, define a subgroup of acute myeloid leukemia with a distinctive gene expression profile that is uniquely associated with a favorable outcome. Blood. 2009; 113(13):3088–91. Epub 2009/01/28. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2008-09-179895 PMID: 19171880; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2662648.
- Clark GJ, Kupresanin F, Fromm PD, Ju X, Muusers L, Silveira PA, et al. New insights into the phenotype of human dendritic cell populations. Clin Transl Immunology. 2016; 5(1):e61. Epub 2016/02/24. https:// doi.org/10.1038/cti.2015.40 PMID: 26900474; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4735062.
- Kato M, Khan S, Gonzalez N, O'Neill BP, McDonald KJ, Cooper BJ, et al. Hodgkin's lymphoma cell lines express a fusion protein encoded by intergenically spliced mRNA for the multilectin receptor DEC-205 (CD205) and a novel C-type lectin receptor DCL-1. J Biol Chem. 2003; 278(36):34035–41. Epub 2003/06/26. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M303112200 PMID: 12824192.
- Shultz LD, Schweitzer PA, Christianson SW, Gott B, Schweitzer IB, Tennent B, et al. Multiple defects in innate and adaptive immunologic function in NOD/LtSz-scid mice. J Immunol. 1995; 154(1):180–91. PMID: 7995938.
- Taussig DC, Pearce DJ, Simpson C, Rohatiner AZ, Lister TA, Kelly G, et al. Hematopoietic stem cells express multiple myeloid markers: implications for the origin and targeted therapy of acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2005; 106(13):4086–92. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2005-03-1072 PMID: 16131573; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC1895250.

 Hills RK, Castaigne S, Appelbaum FR, Delaunay J, Petersdorf S, Othus M, et al. Addition of gemtuzumab ozogamicin to induction chemotherapy in adult patients with acute myeloid leukaemia: a metaanalysis of individual patient data from randomised controlled trials. Lancet Oncol. 2014; 15(9):986–96. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(14)70281-5</u> PMID: <u>25008258</u>; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4137593.

# Supplementary Table 1

Age	Sex	Sample	WHO Diagnosis	FAB	WCC	BM blasts %	Karyotype	NPM1	FLT3-ITD
23	М	BM	AML with inversion 16	M4Eo	160	60	46,XY,inv(16)(p13;q22)	Negative	Negative
44	F	PB	AML with inversion 16	M4Eo	35	50	Inversion 16	Negative	Negative
51	UD	BM	AML with inversion 16	M4Eo	UD	UD	Inversion 16	NT	NT
16	M	BM	AML with inversion 16	M4Eo	111	45	Inversion 16	NT	NT
76	F	BM	AML not otherwise specified	M4	14	70	Normal	NT	NT
74	M	PB	AML not otherwise specified	M2	16	43	+8	NT	NT
59	М	PB	AML not otherwise specified	M5	146	95	Normal	NT	NT
51	M	PB	AML not otherwise specified	M0	2.5	73	No metaphases	Negative	Negative
86	F	PB	AML not otherwise specified	M1	23	NT	unknown	NT	NT
61	F	BM	AML not otherwise specified	M6	0.7	26	complex	NT	NT
41	F	BM	AML not otherwise specified	M5	5.2	78	complex	NT	Negative
59	M	BM	AML not otherwise specified	M0	14	60	Normal	Negative	Negative
24	М	PB	AML not otherwise specified	M5	64	90	t(11;17), +8	Negative	Negative
73	F	PB	AML not otherwise specified	M0	8	85	Normal	Detected	Negative
79	М	BM	AML not otherwise specified	M2	55	60	+6	Negative	Negative
61	M	BM	AML not otherwise specified	M2	7	25	No metaphases	NT	NT
44	UD	BM	AML not otherwise specified	M1	UD	UD	t(9:11)	NT	NT
86	UD	BM	AML not otherwise specified	M4	UD	UD	+8	NT	NT
19	UD	BM	AML not otherwise specified	M2	UD	UD	monosomy 7	NT	NT
61	UD	BM	AML not otherwise specified	M4	UD	UD	Normal	NT	NT
77	F	PB	AML with myelodysplasia- related changes	M2	128	55	Normal	NT	NT
89	М	PB	AML with myelodysplasia- related changes	M2	30	16	Normal	NT	NT
59	М	PB	AML with myelodysplasia- related changes	M4	54	56	Normal	Negative	Detected
95	F	PB	AML with myelodysplasia- related changes	M5	63	NT	unknown	NT	NT
82	М	РВ	AML with myelodysplasia- related changes	M5	3.8	53	+19	NT	NT
75	M	PB	AML with myelodysplasia- related changes	M2	6.5	60	Normal	NT	NT
72	F	РВ	AML with myelodysplasia- related changes	M5	30	80	Complex;del(12)(p12),del(13)(q21), add(17)(p11.2)[1]46,XX[1]	NT	NT
70	М	BM	Therapy related myeloid neoplasm	M4	16	82	Normal	Detected	Detected
79	М	РВ	Therapy related myeloid neoplasm	M4	150	67	46, XY, add(12)(q24.3)	NT	NT
87	М	РВ	Therapy related myeloid neoplasm	M2	2.2	62	47,XY,t(8;16)(p11;p13), +8	NT	NT
75	М	РВ	Myelodysplastic syndrome with excess blasts	N/A	3.5	15	+8	NT	NT
81	М	РВ	Chronic myelomonocytic leukemia	N/A	5.7	10	Normal	NT	NT
55	М	BM+PB	Blastic plasmacytoid dendritic cell neoplasm	N/A	4.3	85	Normal	Negative	Negative

Clinical and Pathological Characteristics of AML Patient Samples Tested in the Current Study.

# Supplementary Figure 1



(A) Gating used to identify progenitor cells in human BM and CB samples (CB shown). Gating strategies to identify HL-60 leukemic cells in NOD/SCID BM, spleen and blood (BM shown).

# **Supplementary Figure 2**



(A) Probes specific for *CD302* and *CD33* transcripts were compared in a cohort of 460 AML patients over various FAB subtypes. Statistics shown in table below. (B) Correlation of CD302 and CD33 gene expression in all patients.

# **Supplementary Figure 3**



(A) Transcript expression of CD302 relative to the HPRT housekeeping gene was determined by qPCR in three cDNA samples derived from human liver, monocytes or the indicated cell lines. Expression shown as fold changes relative to the U937. (B) Western blot comparing the size of CD302 protein band in HepG2 and HL-60 cells. (C) Comparison of flow cytometry CD302 surface staining of HepG2 and HL-60 cell lines with MMRI-20 compared to an isotype control. (D) Immunohistology staining of CD302 (green) with MMRI-20 in HepG2 or HL-60 cells. Phalloidin staining (red) was used to highlight the cellular surface while DAPI (blue) staining reveals the nucleus. A composite of phalloidin and DAPI with MMRI-20 or isotype control antibody staining is shown for comparison. Scale bar marks 20µm.

# Chapter 4: Is hematopoietic stem cell transplantation required to unleash the full potential of immunotherapy in acute myeloid leukemia?

Abadir E, Gasiorowski RE, Silveira PA, Larsen S, Clark GJ. Is Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation Required to Unleash the Full Potential of Immunotherapy in Acute Myeloid Leukemia? Journal of Clinical Medicine. 2020 Feb;9(2):554.



Review

# Is Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation Required to Unleash the Full Potential of Immunotherapy in Acute Myeloid Leukemia?

Edward Abadir <sup>1,2,3,\*</sup>, Robin E. Gasiorowski <sup>3,4</sup>, Pablo A. Silveira <sup>1,3</sup>, Stephen Larsen <sup>2,3</sup> and Georgina J. Clark <sup>1,3,\*</sup>

- <sup>1</sup> Dendritic Cell Research, ANZAC Research Institute, Concord 2139, NSW, Australia; pablo.silveira@sydney.edu.au
- <sup>2</sup> Institute of Haematology, Royal Prince Alfred Hospital, Camperdown 2050, NSW, Australia; stephen.larsen@health.nsw.gov.au
- <sup>3</sup> The University of Sydney, Camperdown 2039, NSW, Australia; robin.gasiorowski@health.nsw.gov.au
- <sup>4</sup> Department of Haematology, Concord Repatriation and General Hospital, Concord 2039, NSW, Australia
- \* Correspondence: edward.abadir@sydney.edu.au (E.A.); georgina.clark@sydney.edu.au (G.J.C.)

Received: 31 January 2020; Accepted: 13 February 2020; Published: 18 February 2020



MDF

Abstract: From monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) to Chimeric Antigen Receptor (CAR) T cells, immunotherapies have enhanced the efficacy of treatments against B cell malignancies. The same has not been true for Acute Myeloid Leukemia (AML). Hematologic toxicity has limited the potential of modern immunotherapies for AML at preclinical and clinical levels. Gemtuzumab Ozogamicin has demonstrated hematologic toxicity, but the challenge of preserving normal hematopoiesis has become more apparent with the development of increasingly potent immunotherapies. To date, no single surface molecule has been identified that is able to differentiate AML from Hematopoietic Stem and Progenitor Cells (HSPC). Attempts have been made to spare hematopoiesis by targeting molecules expressed only on later myeloid progenitors as well as AML or using toxins that selectively kill AML over HSPC. Other strategies include targeting aberrantly expressed lymphoid molecules or only targeting monocyte-associated proteins in AML with monocytic differentiation. Recently, some groups have accepted that stem cell transplantation is required to access potent AML immunotherapy and envision it as a rescue to avoid severe hematologic toxicity. Whether it will ever be possible to differentiate AML from HSPC using surface molecules is unclear. Unless true specific AML surface targets are discovered, stem cell transplantation could be required to harness the true potential of immunotherapy in AML.

**Keywords:** AML immunotherapy; hematopoietic stem cell toxicity; Chimeric Antigen Receptor (CAR) T cells; antibody drug conjugates

### 1. Introduction

Until recently, therapeutic options for Acute Myeloid Leukemia (AML) had changed very little. In the last decade, there has been a substantial increase in knowledge of the molecular landscape of AML, which has led to several new targeted therapies [1]. However, many of these molecular therapies have limited duration of action when not combined with conventional chemotherapy [2]. Since the FDA approval of Rituximab in 1997, immunotherapy has become an increasingly important part of the management of hematologic malignancies [3]. Unconjugated antibodies, Antibody Drug Conjugates (ADC), Bispecific T Cell Engagers (BiTEs), and Chimeric Antigen Receptor (CAR) T cells are all now part of accepted therapy.

More potent forms of immunotherapy, such as Chimeric Antigen Receptor (CAR) T cells, lead to target cell aplasia, which is tolerable in B cell malignancies [4–6]. Indeed, nearly all the benefits of targeted immunotherapy are in the setting of B cell malignancies. Aside from Gemtuzumab Ozogamicin (GO), no immunotherapies have been accepted for hematologic malignancies of myeloid origin [7]. The limited efficacy in AML to date highlights the challenges presented.

Most surface molecules expressed on AML are also expressed on Hematopoietic Stem and Progenitor Cells (HSPC), and potent immunotherapies against traditional AML molecules (CD33 and CD123) have led to hematologic toxicity, both in preclinical models and in clinical trials [8–10]. An additional issue is that the complex subclonal architecture and plasticity of surface molecules makes tumor escape a significant concern [11–14]. Despite these challenges, new immunotherapies against AML continue to be tested. Allogeneic Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation (allo-HSCT) is an established cellular therapy in AML, but the toxicity and limited efficacy, especially in high risk patients, allows for potential improvement. In this procedure, patients undergo conditioning chemotherapy with or without radiotherapy followed by transfusion of donor hematopoietic cells. Immunosuppression is required after the transplant to reduce the chance of Graft Versus Host Disease (GVHD). Allo-HSCT has been shown to reduce the relapse rate of AML and is the only potentially curative therapy in those with refractory disease [15,16]. The decision on whether to offer an allo-HSCT is complex and considers patient fitness, risk of AML relapse, and availability of donors. Generally, if a suitable well-matched donor is available allo-HSCT is recommended for those with intermediate or adverse risk disease [15]. The major limitation is that most patients are not fit for the procedure due to their age at diagnosis and other comorbidities. Autologous HSCT is an alternative to allo-HSCT that is associated with reduced toxicity, but is only effective in patients without high risk disease and is not widely utilized in all jurisdictions [17].

While the majority of the emerging anti-AML immunotherapies seek to control disease without allo-HSCT by sparing HSPC (Figure 1), others look to targeted immunotherapy to act as a component of allo-HSCT and accept that depleting HSPC is required to control AML (Figure 2).

Graft Versus Leukemia (GVL) in allo-HSCT provides evidence that immune mechanisms can reduce relapse risk in AML. The evidence of GVL was seen in preclinical models and confirmed clinically with the observations of reduced relapse rates in patients who develop GVHD, and an increased relapse rate in patients who receive T cell depleted grafts [18,19]. The immune mechanism of GVL is complex; incompletely understood; and involves T, NK, and antigen-presenting cells with likely multiple leukemia antigens [20]. This contrasts to current immunotherapies, which primarily target a single molecule. Immunotherapy can often play a complementary role with allo-HSCT, acting as bridge to transplant. This is seen in B-cell Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia (B-ALL), where the ADC, Inotuzumab Ozogamicin, and Bispecific T Cell Engagers (BiTE), Blinatumomab, have been shown to eliminate leukemic cells capable of achieving Minimal Residual Disease (MRD) negativity prior to allo-HSCT [21,22]. The emergence of immunotherapies altering the treatment landscape in regard to allo-HSCT can be seen in the field of B-ALL. CD19 CAR T cells are capable of inducing sustained Complete Remission (CR), thus potentially minimizing the role of allo-HSCT in children and young adults with relapsed ALL [23]. Despite the emergence of CAR T cells in B-ALL, it is unclear if the need for allo-HSCT will be reduced over time or if these therapies will play complementary roles. Given that relapse occurs post CD19 CAR T cell therapy, the role of consolidation with an allo-HSCT is not currently established [24,25].



**Figure 1.** Immunotherapies that avoid the need for hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. (1) Antibody Drug Conjugates (ADC) that recognize Hematopoietic Stem Cells (HSC) and Acute Myeloid Leukemia (AML) but whose toxin selectively kills AML cells. (2) ADC that recognize AML-specific surface targets. (3) Chimeric Antigen Receptor (CAR) T cells that recognize AML-specific surface targets. (4) Dendritic cell (DC) vaccination leading to a T cell response against AML-specific intracellular targets. (5) T cells expressing T-cell receptors (TCRs) engineered to recognize AML-specific intracellular antigens displayed by a Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC) molecule.



**Figure 2.** Immunotherapies that require allo-HSCT. (1) ADC that recognize HSC and AML shared antigens as conditioning for a transplant. (2) CAR T cells that recognize HSC and AML shared antigens and are depleted with conditioning for a transplant. (3) CAR T cells that recognize HSC and AML shared antigens as conditioning for a transplant, but whose donor cells have the target removed, allowing for CAR T cell persistence.

Optimal disease control prior to allo-HSCT in AML is an important part of reducing relapse risk. Patients with refractory disease going into to transplant have a much higher risk of relapse compared to those in CR [26,27]. Those who are MRD-positive at the time of transplant have worse outcomes [28–30]. Even though MRD positivity is associated with a high relapse rate post allo-HSCT, these patients may still benefit from transplant [31]. Immunotherapy in AML may contribute as a bridge to transplant, as has been established in B-ALL [21,22]. There are already emerging strategies reported of adding targeted AML agents to conventional conditioning regimens, which can reduce the relapse risk post-transplant in high-risk patients with AML [32]. As AML and HSPC share antigens, it is possible that the step of disease depletion with immunotherapy prior to allo-HSCT can also act as a form of conditioning. This application would have the advantage of depleting residual disease and reducing nonhematologic toxicity by potentially replacing nonspecific conditioning agents that eliminate host HSPC. The disadvantage of this strategy is the requirement of an allo-HSCT.

Allo-HSCT carries significant limitations. The median age of diagnosis of AML is 72, which prevents a majority of patients from accessing allo-HSCT due to treatment related toxicity [33]. Allo-HSCT requires chemotherapeutic agents as conditioning to suppress the host's immune system while removing residual AML and HSPC. These factors are critical to allow for the safe engraftment of donor cells. The development of nonmyeloablative and Reduced Intensity Conditioning (RIC) regimens has allowed more patients to benefit from allo-HSCT by reducing the treatment-related mortality [34]. These developments have made transplantation in selected patients over the age of 65 and increasingly over the age of 70 possible, but not without significant morbidity and mortality [35,36]. In attempts to broaden the benefits of allo-HSCT, there is an emerging effort to reduce treatment related mortality from allo-HSCT by replacing traditional conditioning immunotherapy [37]. Clinical trials (NCT02963064) have been established in children with severe combined immunodeficiency receiving chemotherapy and radiation free conditioning with a CD117 antibody, with early reports demonstrating partial engraftment [38]. An antibody-based conditioning strategy against CD117 has been shown to be effective in eliminating myelodysplastic syndrome HSPC and allowing for engraftment of healthy HSPC preclinically [39]. This emerging field will likely converge with AML immunotherapy due to shared targets.

### Is Disease Control Linked to Hematologic Toxicity? Implications from Targeting CD33

CD33/Siglec-3 is a protein from the immunoglobulin superfamily, with expression that ranges from myeloid progenitors to mature myeloid cells [40]. CD33 is expressed in 90–95% of AML [41,42]. Positivity is often defined by a specific median fluorescent intensity ratio by flow cytometry, using either an external control or an internal negative control such as lymphocytes [42–44]. Despite the vast majority of cases meeting positive median fluorescent intensity ratio criteria, a substantial proportion of cases have less than 70% AML cells expressing CD33 when examined on an individual cell level and this impacts the efficacy of immunotherapy [44]. It is accepted that CD33 is expressed on myeloid progenitors but there have been conflicting reports on the expression on Hematopoietic Stem Cells (HSC) [45,46]. Functional studies demonstrating CD33+ cells are capable of serial engraftment in immunodeficient mice suggests its expression on HSC [45].

Gemtuzumab Ozogamicin (GO) is an ADC using a calicheamicin warhead and the only currently listed form of immunotherapy for AML. Its history with regulatory authorities is long and complex. GO was given accelerated approval in 2000 by the FDA only for it to be withdrawn in 2010 [47,48]. The results of the ALFA-0701 study and a meta-analysis demonstrating improved survival in low to intermediate risk patients led to a subsequent GO approval by the FDA in 2017 for the treatment of AML in the upfront setting with a fractionated dosing schedule [48–51]. While the increased rates of sinusoidal obstruction syndrome (SOS), especially with higher doses, are the best known adverse effect of GO, hematological toxicity has been a feature of GO across several studies [48]. The results from the ALFA-0701 study using the recommended fractionated dosing schedule during induction showed prolonged neutropenia after consolidation phases as well as prolonged and persistent thrombocytopenia

after induction [50]. When used outside of intensive chemotherapy, GO was associated with universal pancytopenia but did increase survival compared to best supportive care [52]. While GO has tolerable hematologic toxicity and is capable of benefiting some patients with AML, there is still a very large proportion of patients who do not benefit from it. More potent forms of immunotherapy have been targeted against CD33, and while these may have theoretical advantages in efficacy, they come at the price of increased hematologic toxicity.

Vadastuximab talirine (VT), SGN33a, is an anti-CD33 ADC utilizing a PyrroloBenzodiazepine Dimer (PBD) toxin. VT has a number of theoretical advantages over GO, including uniform drug loading, effectiveness in multidrug resistance positive cell lines, and activity against AML with adverse cytogenetics [53]. VT has displayed impressive CR rates, including MRD negativity when used in the upfront setting as well as a higher rate of response when combined with hypomethylating agents compared to historical controls [54,55]. The potential for significant myelosuppression by targeting CD33 was supported by a dose limiting toxicity (60 ug/kg) of hypocellular marrow in a phase I trial for VT [10]. The outcomes of older patients with newly diagnosed AML treated with VT monotherapy revealed that prolonged neutropenia (median 6.1 weeks) and thrombocytopenia (median 5.1 weeks) were common in those who achieved CR or CR with incomplete recovery [56]. A phase 3 trial of hypomethylating agents +/- VT was suspended after excess deaths due to infection were observed in the VT arm [57]. With increasingly potent therapeutics available, avoiding hematologic toxicity while remaining effective against AML may require an allo-HSCT as a rescue.

### 2. Strategies Trying to Mitigate Hematologic Toxicity

#### 2.1. Alternate Surface Targets

While there remains several ongoing strategies to target CD33 in AML, the challenges in the development of VT highlight some of the difficulties with this target [58]. Alternate targets with reduced expression across HSPC have become appealing given the potential for reduced hematologic toxicity.

C-Type Lectin-Like Molecule 1 (CLL-1, CD371) is a surface molecule found on AML and committed myeloid progenitors [59]. A CLL-1xCD3 BiTE was broadly effective against a range of AML cell lines [60]. It induced neutropenia that recovered by day 22 in cynomolgus monkeys. This finding confirms the potential for neutropenia, but the recovery suggests a potential to spare HSC. An ADC targeting CLL-1 was effective against in AML cell lines in vitro and in vivo [61]. The ADC significantly reduces granulocytic Colony Forming Units (CFU) while sparing erythroid CFUs. This ADC does not reduce the number of human CD45<sup>+</sup> cells in a humanized mouse model. A different ADC against CLL-1 with a PBD toxin depleted AML cell lines and primary AML in vitro and prolonged survival of mice xenografted with an AML cell line [62]. Limited preclinical hematologic toxicity was demonstrated, as the ADC caused reversible neutropenia in cynomolgus monkeys without a reduction in platelets or lymphocytes. These results suggest that an anti-CLL-1 immunotherapy may lead to transient neutropenia with a predictable recovery. While neutropenia is a significant toxicity, it is common amongst AML therapeutics and the consistent recovery across different therapeutics suggests that HSC and early progenitors are unlikely to be targeted by an anti-CLL-1 therapeutic.

T cell immunoglobulin mucin-3 (TIM-3, CD366) has emerged as a potential selective target against AML while sparing normal hematopoiesis. TIM-3 is expressed on AML blasts and is upregulated on T cells of AML patients [63,64]. TIM-3 appears to play a role in Leukemic Stem Cell (LSC) establishment, as TIM-3 antibodies can block engraftment of AML in immunocompromised mice [65]. Within HSPC, only a subset of Granulocyte/Macrophage Progenitors express TIM-3 when assessed by flow cytometry [65]. A TIM-3 antibody was able to deplete TIM-3<sup>+</sup> monocytes in a humanized mouse model but did not impair the development of B or myeloid cells [65]. An early report of a TIM-3 antibody in combination with decitabine in hypomethylating agent naive patients has demonstrated limited toxicity but also limited efficacy to date with a CR rate of 14% (2/14) [66]. A CAR T cell has been developed that selectively kills targets expressing CD13 and TIM-3 [67]. This strategy still

depleted HSPC but not as much as targeting CAR T cells directed against only CD13. Weather a limited long-term depletion of HSPC has clinically significant impacts is unknown.

Natural Killer Group 2D (NKG2D) is a surface receptor that is expressed normally on NK and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, but is also expressed on stressed and malignant cells, including the majority of AML [68,69]. Its absence on resting healthy tissues makes it an attractive target. A case report from a Phase I/II trial (NCT03018405) with a patient who had relapsed FLT3<sup>+</sup> AML who underwent NKG2D CAR T cell therapy demonstrates initial promise [70]. The patient achieved a complete morphological response but had evidence of clonal evolution with a new *IDH2* mutation. Despite this finding, he had normal trilineage hematopoiesis, providing evidence of the lack of HSPC expression of NKG2D. He subsequently underwent allo-HSCT, leading to CR with normal molecular studies. It is unclear if AML subclones may have variable NKG2D expression; this case highlights the challenges in targeting a heterogeneous disease like AML with a single surface molecule. More data are required to determine if NKG2D targeted therapy can be a standalone therapy or a bridge to transplant.

CD70 is the ligand of CD27, and this interaction helps to regulate lymphocyte and HSPC activity [71]. CD70 has minimal expression on healthy HSPC and is substantially upregulated in AML as well as other malignancies [72,73]. The blockade of CD70 with a monoclonal antibody inhibits self-renewal of AML and LSC while extending survival in a xenograft model of primary AML [72]. Hypomethylating agents have been shown to induce CD70 expression further on AML, thus suggesting synergistic potential with CD70 antibodies, and a phase II trial using this combination in previously untreated AML is underway (NCT04023526) [74]. What remains unclear is if blocking the CD70/CD27 axis will affect hematopoiesis even if the HSPC themselves do not express CD70.

While many of the targets to date have been expressed on a majority of AML, there have also been efforts to target surface proteins that are aberrantly expressed on AML even if they constitute a minority of cases. CD7 is a cell surface glycoprotein that is normally expressed on T and NK cells as well as their progenitors [75]. CD7 is expressed in 30% of AML cases [76]. The lack of CD7 expression on HSPC reduces the chance for severe hematologic toxicity resulting from targeting CD7. A CAR T cell directed against CD7 depleted AML cell lines in vitro and in vivo but did not reduce CFU formation from normal cord blood [77]. The possibility of CAR T cell fratricide is reduced by editing the CD7 gene on the CAR T cells so they do not display their target [78]. This strategy would only be suitable for a minority of patients with AML, and the impact of immunosuppression from potentially long-term healthy T cell depletion is unclear.

Another method of target selection that may reduce hematologic toxicity is to selectively target markers specific for monocytic differentiation. Leukocyte immunoglobulin-like receptor-B 4 (LILRB4, CD85k, ILT3) is expressed from promonocytes to mature monocytes [79]. LILRB4 is also expressed on AML with monocytic differentiation i.e., M4 and M5 by FAB classification [80]. A CAR T cell directed against LILRB4 demonstrated efficacy against M5 AML cell lines and primary M5 AML in vitro as well as a M5 AML cell line in vivo [81]. It did not reduce CFU numbers and in a humanized mouse model did not deplete CD34<sup>+</sup>, CD33<sup>+</sup>, or CD19<sup>+</sup> cells. M5 AML was chosen as the target, as M4 AML did not uniformly express LILRB4. The targeting of M5 AML limits the number of potential patients who may benefit as AML with monocytic differentiation accounts for only 5-10% overall, though the proportion is up to 40% in children [82,83].

CD300f is another surface target expressed across AML, mature myeloid cells, and HSPC [84,85]. There are seven isoforms of CD300f described, and it has been shown that exon 4 expression of the protein is selectively upregulated in AML with monocytic differentiation compared to healthy HSPC [85]. In addition, a monoclonal antibody can enact a conformational change of CD300f allowing a second antibody to bind to AML with monocytic differentiation at high affinity, but not to HSPC. CD300f is a promising target in AML with monocytic differentiation, but more work remains to develop a comprehensive strategy to utilize the selective expression and spare HSPC from future therapeutics.

#### 2.2. Intracellular Targets

While AML-specific surface targets have been difficult to validate, intracellular targets have been described that are substantially upregulated in AML compared to normal populations. The best known upregulated AML antigens are WT1 and PRAME, which are found in the majority of AML samples [86]. Despite their suitability for targeting, the difficulty accessing intracellular antigens has limited their development in immunotherapy.

Dendritic cell (DC) vaccines have been the most common strategy to target AML intracellular antigens, with a wide range of manufacturing strategies and targets explored [87]. DCs loaded with AML antigens are able to stimulate T and NK cells to induce an antileukemia effect [88]. The main advantage of DC vaccination is the demonstrated favorable safety profile, which is especially important given the advanced average age at presentation [88]. The main barriers to entering routine clinical practice are the variability across different strategies and limited efficacy [87]. The type of DC used may be one of the limiting factors in vaccination efficacy. Most studies have used monocyte-derived DCs, which are less efficient at antigen presentation and the generation of T cell responses [89,90]. Using blood DC has the potential to overcome some of the limitations in DC vaccine efficacy [91].

An alternate way to target intracellular antigens and possibly increase the efficacy of treatment over DC vaccination is to use T-cell receptor (TCR)-engineered T cells. Engineered T cells can be designed to recognize intracellular antigens expressed by MHC on AML [92]. CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells reactive against WT1 on HLA-A\*02:01 are functional in vitro, are home to the bone marrow of patients, and persist after reinfusion [93]. Persistence of engineered T cells against WT1 expressed on HLA-A\*24:02 has been demonstrated in an MDS setting [94]. The limited patient numbers published make the assessment of clinical efficacy difficult. A central limitation with this approach is that engineered T cells must be made to recognize a specific HLA allele, thereby restricting utility to only those patients who express the targeted HLA.

### 2.3. Alternate Effector

A separate strategy to reduce hematologic toxicity is to use a toxin as part of an ADC that demonstrates increased efficacy against AML compared to HSPC. It may be possible to find an effective therapeutic window where an ADC can deplete AML while sparing HSPC. IMGN632 is an ADC that targets CD123 and uses an indolinobenzodiazepine pseudodimer alkylator payload that demonstrates activity against AML cell lines and primary AML in vitro as well as AML cell lines in vivo [95]. IMGN632 had an increased therapeutic window when compared to GO with myeloid progenitor and AML CFU assays. The antibody clone of IMGN632, G4723A, was also conjugated to an alternate more potent toxin that had similar IC90 values between AML and myeloid progenitors. The alternate ADC was >40x more toxic to myeloid progenitors than IMGN632, which demonstrates the importance of the toxin over the target in providing an extended therapeutic window.

#### 3. Strategies Incorporating Allogeneic Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation

Due to the difficulties in avoiding HSPC depletion with anti-AML immunotherapies, an alternative strategy would be to incorporate these therapies into allo-HSCT, which is an established therapy for AML. Attempts to target CD123 with CAR T cells demonstrate how immunotherapies against AML may be incorporated into a transplant model. CAR T cells have shown preclinical in vitro and in vivo efficacy against AML, but there are conflicting reports on the potential for toxicity against HSPC. Some studies demonstrated no effect on myeloid progenitors, while others displayed complete myeloablation in humanized mouse models [8,96]. Depleting CAR T cells after a fixed period is a potential strategy to circumvent destruction of donor HSPC during allo-HSCT. CAR T cells can be depleted by targeting their natural or engineered surface molecules. CAR T elimination has been demonstrated with alemtuzumab, or rituximab when CD20 is introduced during CAR T cell manufacturing [97]. A functional proof of CAR T potential in allo-HSCT was demonstrated by using CD123 CAR T cells to deplete human

cells in a mouse sequentially engrafted with human T cell deplete bone marrow and a human AML cell line [97]. This was followed by rituximab administration to remove the CAR T cells before a subsequent sex mismatched human donor graft [97]. "Bio-degradable" CD123 CAR T cells, which lack the ability for indefinite self-perpetuation, were administered to patients as part of a Phase I trial to exclude toxicity [92]. These CAR T cells were well tolerated but did not display efficacy against AML [92]. The correlation between persistence of CD19 CAR T cells and continued response in B-ALL suggests that a prolonged presence of CAR T cells may be required for efficacy; this may limit the effectiveness of short-term CAR T cells. There are currently clinical trials using CD123 CAR T cells in AML that do (NCT03766126) and do not (NCT04109482) require a nominated transplant donor prior to enrolling, as a precaution in the event of bone marrow aplasia.

An innovative way to allow anti-AML CAR T cells to persist is to remove a common target from HSPC. This strategy has been explored by developing CAR T cells against CD33 and then removing the CD33 from an allo-HSCT donor graft [98]. CD33-depleted myeloid cells did not display any significant developmental or functional differences, and they were able to be manufactured from both human and nonhuman primates HSPC [98]. The CD33 CAR T cells were able to deplete an AML cell line in CD33 KO humanized mice without reducing normal myelopoiesis. While this strategy may circumvent many theoretical problems with immunotherapy in AML, practical issues including cost may become limiting. CAR T persistence would likely increase efficacy but the possibility of antigen escape remains, as seen with CD19<sup>-</sup> relapses in ALL [99]. To combat this issue, immunotherapies targeting multiple antigens have been developed.

A compound CAR T cell targeting CD33 and CD123 has been developed that demonstrates independent activity against cells expressing either molecule [100]. These CAR T cells were effective in vitro against AML cells lines and were able to prolong survival of xenografted mice with AML cell lines displaying CD33, CD123, or both CD33 and CD123. To enhance safety and reduce the chance of prolonged bone marrow aplasia, the compound CAR T cells were able to be depleted in vivo using alemtuzumab. Results from Phase 1 trial (NCT03795779) of a compound CLL-1 CD33 CAR T cell have been presented. The first patient reported conversion from active disease to MRD negative with pancytopenia; this was followed by a successful matched sibling transplant [101]. A second case presentation with this construct demonstrated ablation of AML and pancytopenia as a result of CAR T cell administration followed by a allo-HSCT [101]. Given the limited efficacy detailed in anti-AML CAR T cell case reports and early phase trial results, compound targeting may represent a significant improvement on sustained efficacy against AML [92]. By incorporating an increasing number of shared targets, this strategy makes it even more likely to have significant hematological toxicity without allo-HSCT rescue.

In addition to CAR T cells, there have been reports of ADCs against CD45 and CD117 to reduce AML and conditions for an allo-HSCT [102]. These antibodies use the ribosomal inhibiting toxin amanitin and are effective at prolonging survival in mice bearing AML xenografts. Both the CD45 and CD117 amanitin ADC depleted human and nonhuman primate HSPC to confirm the potential utility in conditioning [103,104]. These results are still preliminary but offer a possible pathway to AML immunotherapy incorporating allo-HSCT that avoids the complexities of CAR T cell generation.

### 4. Conclusions

Effective immunotherapy for most patients with AML remains elusive. The experience with GO suggests that immunotherapy may be able to play a role in AML treatment, but the clinical trials with VT illustrate the difficulty in managing more potent therapeutics against AML with the associated increase in hematologic toxicity. Unless a true leukemia specific epitope is found that is consistently expressed across at an individual cell level, then targeting single molecules may continue to show limited efficacy. Multiantigen targeting increases the risks of hematologic toxicity but would likely reduce the chance of tumor escape.

Requiring an allo-HSCT is a major disadvantage of any potential future therapy, as most patients with AML are ineligible for allo-HSCT. The concept of bridging to allo-HSCT may change with AML immunotherapy. In other hematologic malignancies, bridging therapy occurs before conditioning; therefore, the treatment is naturally longer. In AML therapy, it may be possible to combine bridging with conditioning, which may reduce the toxicity of the individual elements combined. Another potential benefit of incorporating immunotherapy in allo-HSCT conditioning for AML is that these therapies may replace traditional conditioning agents. The consistent presentation of AML targets on HSPC may allow for an extension immunotherapy to conditioning in other diseases, including myelodysplastic syndromes as well as inherited disorders of hematopoiesis and immunity that respond poorly to traditional conditioning agents.

The design and trials of emerging AML immunotherapy must be carefully considered to have a chance of success, given the high morbidity and mortality associated with the disease itself. Tolerable and effective immunotherapy that can reduce the need for allo-HSCT would constitute a major change in the treatment of AML, but to date this has been elusive. Finally, the alternative of enhancing the efficacy while reducing the toxicity of allo-HSCT with immunotherapy would constitute substantial progress in finding better outcomes for patients with AML.

**Author Contributions:** This review article was conceptualized by E.A. and G.J.C.; the original draft was written by E.A.; preparation of original figures by P.A.S.; writing-review and editing by R.E.G., P.A.S., S.L. and G.J.C.; funding acquisition and supervision by S.L. and G.J.C. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research was funded by Cancer Institute NSW Translational Program Grant number 2017/TPG002.

**Conflicts of Interest:** G.J.C. is a director of Dendrocyte Biotech Pty Ltd. and Kira Biotech Pty Ltd. There are no other conflicts of interest to declare.

### References

- Coombs, C.C.; Tallman, M.S.; Levine, R.L. Molecular therapy for acute myeloid leukaemia. *Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol.* 2016, 13, 305–318. [CrossRef]
- 2. Kayser, S.; Levis, M.J. Advances in targeted therapy for acute myeloid leukaemia. *Br. J. Haematol.* **2018**, *180*, 484–500. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 3. Leget, G.A.; Czuczman, M.S. Use of rituximab, the new FDA-approved antibody. *Curr. Opin. Oncol.* **1998**, 10, 548–551. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Davila, M.L.; Kloss, C.C.; Gunset, G.; Sadelain, M. CD19 CAR-targeted T cells induce long-term remission and B Cell Aplasia in an immunocompetent mouse model of B cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *PLoS ONE* 2013, *8*, e61338. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Turtle, C.J.; Hanafi, L.-A.; Berger, C.; Gooley, T.A.; Cherian, S.; Hudecek, M.; Sommermeyer, D.; Melville, K.; Pender, B.; Budiarto, T.M. CD19 CAR–T cells of defined CD4+: CD8+ composition in adult B cell ALL patients. *J. Clin. Investig.* 2016, *126*, 2123–2138. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Locke, F.L.; Neelapu, S.S.; Bartlett, N.L.; Siddiqi, T.; Chavez, J.C.; Hosing, C.M.; Ghobadi, A.; Budde, L.E.; Bot, A.; Rossi, J.M. Phase 1 results of ZUMA-1: A multicenter study of KTE-C19 anti-CD19 CAR T cell therapy in refractory aggressive lymphoma. *Mol. Ther.* 2017, 25, 285–295. [CrossRef]
- Im, A.; Pavletic, S.Z. Immunotherapy in hematologic malignancies: Past, present, and future. *J. Hematol. Oncol.* 2017, 10, 94. [CrossRef]
- 8. Gill, S.; Tasian, S.K.; Ruella, M.; Shestova, O.; Li, Y.; Porter, D.L.; Carroll, M.; Danet-Desnoyers, G.; Scholler, J.; Grupp, S.A. Preclinical targeting of human acute myeloid leukemia and myeloablation using chimeric antigen receptor–modified T cells. *Blood* **2014**, *123*, 2343–2354. [CrossRef]
- 9. Kenderian, S.S.; Ruella, M.; Shestova, O.; Klichinsky, M.; Aikawa, V.; Morrissette, J.J.; Scholler, J.; Song, D.; Porter, D.L.; Carroll, M. CD33-specific chimeric antigen receptor T cells exhibit potent preclinical activity against human acute myeloid leukemia. *Leukemia* **2015**, *29*, 1637–1647. [CrossRef]
- Stein, E.M.; Walter, R.B.; Erba, H.P.; Fathi, A.T.; Advani, A.S.; Lancet, J.E.; Ravandi, F.; Kovacsovics, T.; DeAngelo, D.J.; Bixby, D. A phase 1 trial of vadastuximab talirine as monotherapy in patients with CD33-positive acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood* 2018, *131*, 387–396. [CrossRef]

- Paguirigan, A.L.; Smith, J.; Meshinchi, S.; Carroll, M.; Maley, C.; Radich, J.P. Single-cell genotyping demonstrates complex clonal diversity in acute myeloid leukemia. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 2015, 7, 281re2. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 12. Potter, N.; Miraki-Moud, F.; Ermini, L.; Titley, I.; Vijayaraghavan, G.; Papaemmanuil, E.; Campbell, P.; Gribben, J.; Taussig, D.; Greaves, M. Single cell analysis of clonal architecture in acute myeloid leukaemia. *Leukemia* **2019**, *33*, 1113–1123. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 13. Ferrell, P.B., Jr.; Diggins, K.E.; Polikowsky, H.G.; Mohan, S.R.; Seegmiller, A.C.; Irish, J.M. High-dimensional analysis of acute myeloid leukemia reveals phenotypic changes in persistent cells during induction therapy. *PLoS ONE* **2016**, *11*, e0153207. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 14. Majzner, R.G.; Mackall, C.L. Tumor antigen escape from CAR T-cell therapy. *Cancer Discov.* **2018**, *8*, 1219–1226. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 15. Dohner, H.; Estey, E.; Grimwade, D.; Amadori, S.; Appelbaum, F.R.; Buchner, T.; Dombret, H.; Ebert, B.L.; Fenaux, P.; Larson, R.A.; et al. Diagnosis and management of AML in adults: 2017 ELN recommendations from an international expert panel. *Blood* **2017**, *129*, 424–447. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Gyurkocza, B.; Lazarus, H.; Giralt, S.J.B.M.T. Allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation in patients with AML not achieving remission: Potentially curative therapy. *Bone Marrow Transplant*. 2017, 52, 1083–1090. [CrossRef]
- 17. Cornelissen, J.J.; Blaise, D. Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for patients with AML in first complete remission. *Blood* **2016**, 127, 62–70. [CrossRef]
- Kolb, H.-J. Graft-versus-leukemia effects of transplantation and donor lymphocytes. *Blood* 2008, 112, 4371–4383. [CrossRef]
- 19. Negrin, R.S. Graft-versus-host disease versus graft-versus-leukemia. *Ash Educ. Program Book* **2015**, 2015, 225–230. [CrossRef]
- Dickinson, A.M.; Norden, J.; Li, S.; Hromadnikova, I.; Schmid, C.; Schmetzer, H.; Jochem-Kolb, H. Graft-versus-leukemia effect following hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for leukemia. *Front. Immunol.* 2017, *8*, 496. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Marks, D.I.; Kebriaei, P.; Stelljes, M.; Gökbuget, N.; Kantarjian, H.; Advani, A.S.; Merchant, A.; Stock, W.; Cassaday, R.D.; Wang, T. Outcomes of Allogeneic Stem Cell Transplantation after Inotuzumab Ozogamicin Treatment for Relapsed or Refractory Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *Biol. Blood Marrow Transplant.* 2019, 9, 1720–1729. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 22. Keating, A.K.; Gossai, N.; Phillips, C.L.; Maloney, K.; Campbell, K.; Doan, A.; Bhojwani, D.; Burke, M.J.; Verneris, M.R. Reducing minimal residual disease with blinatumomab prior to HCT for pediatric patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Blood Adv.* **2019**, *3*, 1926–1929. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 23. Pehlivan, K.C.; Duncan, B.B.; Lee, D.W. CAR-T Cell Therapy for Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia: Transforming the Treatment of Relapsed and Refractory Disease. *Curr. Hematol. Malig. Rep.* 2018, 13, 396–406. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Park, J.H.; Rivière, I.; Gonen, M.; Wang, X.; Sénéchal, B.; Curran, K.J.; Sauter, C.; Wang, Y.; Santomasso, B.; Mead, E. Long-term follow-up of CD19 CAR therapy in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 2018, 378, 449–459. [CrossRef]
- 25. Kansagra, A.J.; Frey, N.V.; Bar, M.; Laetsch, T.W.; Carpenter, P.A.; Savani, B.N.; Heslop, H.E.; Bollard, C.M.; Komanduri, K.V.; Gastineau, D.A. Clinical utilization of Chimeric Antigen Receptors T-cells (CAR-T) in B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL)–an expert opinion from the European Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation (EBMT) and the American Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation (ASBMT). *Elsevier* 2018, 25, e76–e85.
- 26. Duval, M.; Klein, J.P.; He, W.; Cahn, J.-Y.; Cairo, M.; Camitta, B.M.; Kamble, R.; Copelan, E.; De Lima, M.; Gupta, V. Hematopoietic stem-cell transplantation for acute leukemia in relapse or primary induction failure. *J. Clin. Oncol.* **2010**, *28*, 3730–3738. [CrossRef]
- 27. Craddock, C.; Labopin, M.; Pillai, S.; Finke, J.; Bunjes, D.; Greinix, H.; Ehninger, G.; Steckel, N.; Zander, A.; Schwerdtfeger, R. Factors predicting outcome after unrelated donor stem cell transplantation in primary refractory acute myeloid leukaemia. *Leukemia* **2011**, *25*, 808–813. [CrossRef]

- Walter, R.B.; Gooley, T.A.; Wood, B.L.; Milano, F.; Fang, M.; Sorror, M.L.; Estey, E.H.; Salter, A.I.; Lansverk, E.; Chien, J.W. Impact of pretransplantation minimal residual disease, as detected by multiparametric flow cytometry, on outcome of myeloablative hematopoietic cell transplantation for acute myeloid leukemia. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 2011, *29*, 1190–1197. [CrossRef]
- 29. Delsing Malmberg, E.; Johansson Alm, S.; Nicklasson, M.; Lazarevic, V.; Ståhlman, S.; Samuelsson, T.; Lenhoff, S.; Asp, J.; Ehinger, M.; Palmqvist, L. Minimal residual disease assessed with deep sequencing of NPM1 mutations predicts relapse after allogeneic stem cell transplant in AML. *Leuk. Lymphoma* **2019**, *60*, 409–417. [CrossRef]
- Press, R.; Eickelberg, G.; Froman, A.; Yang, F.; Stentz, A.; Flatley, E.M.; Fan, G.; Lim, J.Y.; Meyers, G.; Maziarz, R. Next-generation sequencing-defined minimal residual disease before stem cell transplantation predicts acute myeloid leukemia relapse. *Am. J. Hematol.* 2019, *94*, 902–912. [CrossRef]
- 31. Versluis, J.; Kalin, B.; Zeijlemaker, W.; Passweg, J.; Graux, C.; Manz, M.G.; Vekemans, M.-C.; Biemond, B.J.; Legdeur, M.-C.J.; Kooy, M.v.M. Graft-versus-leukemia effect of allogeneic stem-cell transplantation and minimal residual disease in patients with acute myeloid leukemia in first complete remission. *JCO Precis. Oncol.* 2017, *1*, 1–13. [CrossRef]
- 32. Shelikhova, L.; Khismatullina, R.; Maschan, M.; Maschan, A.A.; Kalinina, I.; Kurnikova, E.; Muzalevsky, Y.; Kazachenok, A.; Pershin, D.; Popov, A. Targeting Bcl-2 and CD38 As Part of Personalized HSCT Conditioning Regimen in Chemorefractory Acute Leukemia in Children. *Blood* **2019**, *132*, 2084. [CrossRef]
- 33. Juliusson, G.; Lazarevic, V.; Hörstedt, A.-S.; Hagberg, O.; Höglund, M. Acute myeloid leukemia in the real world: Why population-based registries are needed. *Blood* **2012**, *119*, 3890–3899. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Scott, B.L.; Pasquini, M.C.; Logan, B.R.; Wu, J.; Devine, S.M.; Porter, D.L.; Maziarz, R.T.; Warlick, E.D.; Fernandez, H.F.; Alyea, E.P. Myeloablative versus reduced-intensity hematopoietic cell transplantation for acute myeloid leukemia and myelodysplastic syndromes. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 2017, 35, 1154–1161. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Rashidi, A.; Ebadi, M.; Colditz, G.A.; DiPersio, J.F. Outcomes of allogeneic stem cell transplantation in elderly patients with acute myeloid leukemia: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Biol. Blood Marrow Transplant.* 2016, 22, 651–657. [CrossRef]
- Brunner, A.M.; Kim, H.T.; Coughlin, E.; Alyea III, E.P.; Armand, P.; Ballen, K.K.; Cutler, C.; Dey, B.R.; Glotzbecker, B.; Koreth, J. Outcomes in patients age 70 or older undergoing allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for hematologic malignancies. *Biol. Blood Marrow Transplant.* 2013, 19, 1374–1380. [CrossRef]
- 37. Abadir, E.; Bryant, C.; Larsen, S.; Clark, G.J. Targeting the niche: Depleting haemopoietic stem cells with targeted therapy. *Bone Marrow Transplant.* **2019**, *54*, 961–968. [CrossRef]
- Agarwal, R.; Dvorak, C.C.; Prohaska, S.; Long-Boyle, J.; Kwon, H.-S.; Weinberg, K.I.; Le, A.; Guttman-Klein, A.; Logan, A.C.; Weissman, I.L. Toxicity-free hematopoietic stem cell engraftment achieved with anti-CD117 monoclonal antibody conditioning. *Biol. Blood Marrow Transplant.* 2019, 25, S92. [CrossRef]
- Pang, W.W.; Czechowicz, A.; Logan, A.C.; Bhardwaj, R.; Poyser, J.; Park, C.Y.; Weissman, I.L.; Shizuru, J.A. Anti-CD117 antibody depletes normal and myelodysplastic syndrome human hematopoietic stem cells in xenografted mice. *Blood* 2019, 133, 2069–2078. [CrossRef]
- 40. Freeman, S.D.; Kelm, S.; Barber, E.K.; Crocker, P.R. Characterization of CD33 as a new member of the sialoadhesin family of cellular interaction molecules. *Blood* **1995**, *85*, 2005–2012. [CrossRef]
- 41. Dinndorf, P.A.; Andrews, R.G.; Benjamin, D.; Ridgway, D.; Wolff, L.; Bernstein, I.D. Expression of normal myeloid-associated antigens by acute leukemia cells. *Blood* **1986**, *67*, 1048–1053. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 42. Schwonzen, M.; Diehl, V.; Dellanna, M.; Staib, P. Immunophenotyping of surface antigens in acute myeloid leukemia by flow cytometry after red blood cell lysis. *Leuk. Res.* **2007**, *31*, 113–116. [CrossRef]
- 43. Ehninger, A.; Kramer, M.; Röllig, C.; Thiede, C.; Bornhäuser, M.; Von Bonin, M.; Wermke, M.; Feldmann, A.; Bachmann, M.; Ehninger, G. Distribution and levels of cell surface expression of CD33 and CD123 in acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood Cancer J.* **2014**, *4*, e218. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 44. Olombel, G.; Guerin, E.; Guy, J.; Perrot, J.-Y.; Dumezy, F.; de Labarthe, A.; Bastie, J.-N.; Legrand, O.; Raffoux, E.; Plesa, A. The level of blast CD33 expression positively impacts the effect of gemtuzumab ozogamicin in patients with acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood* **2016**, *127*, 2157–2160. [CrossRef]
- 45. Taussig, D.C.; Pearce, D.J.; Simpson, C.; Rohatiner, A.Z.; Lister, T.A.; Kelly, G.; Luongo, J.L.; Gwenn-aël, H.; Bonnet, D. Hematopoietic stem cells express multiple myeloid markers: Implications for the origin and targeted therapy of acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood* **2005**, *106*, 4086–4092. [CrossRef]

- 46. Laszlo, G.S.; Estey, E.H.; Walter, R.B. The past and future of CD33 as therapeutic target in acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood Rev.* **2014**, *28*, 143–153. [CrossRef]
- Egan, P.C.; Reagan, J.L. The return of gemtuzumab ozogamicin: A humanized anti-CD33 monoclonal antibody–drug conjugate for the treatment of newly diagnosed acute myeloid leukemia. *Oncotargets Ther.* 2018, 11, 8265. [CrossRef]
- 48. Godwin, C.; Gale, R.; Walter, R. Gemtuzumab ozogamicin in acute myeloid leukemia. *Leukemia* **2017**, *31*, 1855–1868. [CrossRef]
- Jen, E.Y.; Ko, C.-W.; Lee, J.E.; Del Valle, P.L.; Aydanian, A.; Jewell, C.; Norsworthy, K.J.; Przepiorka, D.; Nie, L.; Liu, J. FDA Approval: Gemtuzumab ozogamicin for the treatment of adults with newly diagnosed CD33-positive acute myeloid leukemia. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 2018, 24, 3242–3246. [CrossRef]
- Castaigne, S.; Pautas, C.; Terré, C.; Raffoux, E.; Bordessoule, D.; Bastie, J.-N.; Legrand, O.; Thomas, X.; Turlure, P.; Reman, O. Effect of gemtuzumab ozogamicin on survival of adult patients with de-novo acute myeloid leukaemia (ALFA-0701): A randomised, open-label, phase 3 study. *Lancet* 2012, 379, 1508–1516. [CrossRef]
- 51. Hills, R.K.; Castaigne, S.; Appelbaum, F.R.; Delaunay, J.; Petersdorf, S.; Othus, M.; Estey, E.H.; Dombret, H.; Chevret, S.; Ifrah, N. Addition of gemtuzumab ozogamicin to induction chemotherapy in adult patients with acute myeloid leukaemia: A meta-analysis of individual patient data from randomised controlled trials. *Lancet Oncol.* **2014**, *15*, 986–996. [CrossRef]
- 52. Amadori, S.; Suciu, S.; Selleslag, D.; Aversa, F.; Gaidano, G.; Musso, M.; Annino, L.; Venditti, A.; Voso, M.T.; Mazzone, C. Gemtuzumab ozogamicin versus best supportive care in older patients with newly diagnosed acute myeloid leukemia unsuitable for intensive chemotherapy: Results of the randomized phase III EORTC-GIMEMA AML-19 trial. J. Clin. Oncol. 2016, 34, 972–979. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 53. Sutherland, M.S.K.; Walter, R.B.; Jeffrey, S.C.; Burke, P.J.; Yu, C.; Kostner, H.; Stone, I.; Ryan, M.C.; Sussman, D.; Lyon, R.P. SGN-CD33A: A novel CD33-targeting antibody–drug conjugate using a pyrrolobenzodiazepine dimer is active in models of drug-resistant AML. *Blood* **2013**, *122*, 1455–1463. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 54. Erba, H.P.; Levy, M.Y.; Vasu, S.; Stein, A.S.; Fathi, A.T.; Maris, M.B.; Advani, A.; Faderl, S.; Smith, S.E.; Wood, B.L. A phase 1b study of vadastuximab talirine in combination with 7 + 3 induction therapy for patients with newly diagnosed acute myeloid leukemia (AML). *Am. Soc. Hematol.* **2016**, *128*, 211. [CrossRef]
- 55. Fathi, A.T.; Erba, H.P.; Lancet, J.E.; Stein, E.M.; Ravandi, F.; Faderl, S.; Walter, R.B.; Advani, A.; DeAngelo, D.J.; Kovacsovics, T.J. Vadastuximab talirine plus hypomethylating agents: A well-tolerated regimen with high remission rate in frontline older patients with acute myeloid leukemia (AML). *Am. Soc. Hematol.* 2016, 128, 591. [CrossRef]
- Bixby, D.L.; Stein, A.S.; Fathi, A.T.; Kovacsovics, T.J.; Levy, M.Y.; Erba, H.P.; Lancet, J.E.; Jillella, A.P.; Ravandi, F.; Walter, R.B. Vadastuximab talirine monotherapy in older patients with treatment naive CD33-positive acute myeloid leukemia (AML). *Am. Soc. Hematol.* 2016, *128*, 590. [CrossRef]
- 57. Assi, R.; Kantarjian, H.; Ravandi, F.; Daver, N. Immune therapies in acute myeloid leukemia: A focus on monoclonal antibodies and immune checkpoint inhibitors. *Curr. Opin. Hematol.* **2018**, 25, 136–145. [CrossRef]
- 58. Walter, R.B. Investigational CD33-targeted therapeutics for acute myeloid leukemia. *Expert Opin. Investig. Drugs* **2018**, 27, 339–348. [CrossRef]
- 59. Bakker, A.B.; van den Oudenrijn, S.; Bakker, A.Q.; Feller, N.; van Meijer, M.; Bia, J.A.; Jongeneelen, M.A.; Visser, T.J.; Bijl, N.; Geuijen, C.A. C-type lectin-like molecule-1: A novel myeloid cell surface marker associated with acute myeloid leukemia. *Cancer Res.* **2004**, *64*, 8443–8450. [CrossRef]
- 60. Leong, S.R.; Sukumaran, S.; Hristopoulos, M.; Totpal, K.; Stainton, S.; Lu, E.; Wong, A.; Tam, L.; Newman, R.; Vuillemenot, B.R. An anti-CD3/anti–CLL-1 bispecific antibody for the treatment of acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood* **2017**, *129*, 609–618. [CrossRef]
- Jiang, Y.-P.; Liu, B.Y.; Zheng, Q.; Panuganti, S.; Chen, R.; Zhu, J.; Mishra, M.; Huang, J.; Dao-Pick, T.; Roy, S. CLT030, a leukemic stem cell-targeting CLL1 antibody-drug conjugate for treatment of acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood Adv.* 2018, 2, 1738–1749. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Zheng, B.; Yu, S.-F.; Del Rosario, G.; Leong, S.R.; Lee, G.Y.; Vij, R.; Chiu, C.; Liang, W.-C.; Wu, Y.; Chalouni, C. An Anti–CLL-1 Antibody–Drug Conjugate for the Treatment of Acute Myeloid Leukemia. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 2019, 25, 1358–1368. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- 63. Haubner, S.; Perna, F.; Köhnke, T.; Schmidt, C.; Berman, S.; Augsberger, C.; Schnorfeil, F.; Krupka, C.; Lichtenegger, F.; Liu, X. Coexpression profile of leukemic stem cell markers for combinatorial targeted therapy in AML. *Leukemia* **2019**, *33*, 64–74. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 64. Li, C.; Chen, X.; Yu, X.; Zhu, Y.; Ma, C.; Xia, R.; Ma, J.; Gu, C.; Ye, L.; Wu, D. Tim-3 is highly expressed in T cells in acute myeloid leukemia and associated with clinicopathological prognostic stratification. *Int. J. Clin. Exp. Pathol.* **2014**, *7*, 6880–6888.
- 65. Kikushige, Y.; Shima, T.; Takayanagi, S.-I.; Urata, S.; Miyamoto, T.; Iwasaki, H.; Takenaka, K.; Teshima, T.; Tanaka, T.; Inagaki, Y. TIM-3 is a promising target to selectively kill acute myeloid leukemia stem cells. *Cell Stem Cell* **2010**, *7*, 708–717. [CrossRef]
- 66. Borate, U.; Esteve, J.; Porkka, K.; Knapper, S.; Vey, N.; Scholl, S.; Garcia-Manero, G.; Wermke, M.; Janssen, J.; Traer, E. Phase Ib Study of the Anti-TIM-3 Antibody MBG453 in Combination with Decitabine in Patients with High-Risk Myelodysplastic Syndrome (MDS) and Acute Myeloid Leukemia (AML); American Society of Hematology: Washington, DC, USA, 2019; Volume 134, 590p.
- He, X.; Feng, Z.; Ma, J.; Ling, S.; Cao, Y.; Gurung, B.; Wu, Y.; Katona, B.W.; O'Dwyer, K.P.; Siegel, D.L.J.B.J. Bi-specific and Split CAR T Cells Targeting CD13 and TIM3 Eradicate Acute Myeloid Leukemia. *Blood J.* 2020, 2019002779. [CrossRef]
- 68. Raulet, D.H.; Gasser, S.; Gowen, B.G.; Deng, W.; Jung, H. Regulation of ligands for the NKG2D activating receptor. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* **2013**, *31*, 413–441. [CrossRef]
- Hilpert, J.; Grosse-Hovest, L.; Grünebach, F.; Buechele, C.; Nuebling, T.; Raum, T.; Steinle, A.; Salih, H.R. Comprehensive analysis of NKG2D ligand expression and release in leukemia: Implications for NKG2D-mediated NK cell responses. *J. Immunol.* 2012, 189, 1360–1371. [CrossRef]
- 70. Sallman, D.A.; Brayer, J.; Sagatys, E.M.; Lonez, C.; Breman, E.; Agaugué, S.; Verma, B.; Gilham, D.E.; Lehmann, F.F.; Davila, M.L. NKG2D-based chimeric antigen receptor therapy induced remission in a relapsed/refractory acute myeloid leukemia patient. *Haematologica* 2018, 103, e424–e426. [CrossRef]
- 71. Nolte, M.A.; Van Olffen, R.W.; Van Gisbergen, K.P.; Van Lier, R.A. Timing and tuning of CD27–CD70 interactions: The impact of signal strength in setting the balance between adaptive responses and immunopathology. *Immunol. Rev.* **2009**, *229*, 216–231. [CrossRef]
- 72. Riether, C.; Schürch, C.M.; Bührer, E.D.; Hinterbrandner, M.; Huguenin, A.-L.; Hoepner, S.; Zlobec, I.; Pabst, T.; Radpour, R.; Ochsenbein, A.F.J.J.o.E.M. CD70/CD27 signaling promotes blast stemness and is a viable therapeutic target in acute myeloid leukemia. *J. Exp. Med.* **2016**, *214*, 359–380. [CrossRef]
- 73. Grewal, I.S. CD70 as a therapeutic target in human malignancies. *Expert Opin. Ther. Targets* **2008**, *12*, 341–351. [CrossRef]
- 74. Ochsenbein, A.F.; Pabst, T.; Höpner, S.; Bacher, V.U.; Hinterbrandner, M.; Banz, Y.; Müller, R.; Manz, M.G.; Gharib, W.; Francisco, D. *Targeting CD70 with Cusatuzumab Eliminates Acute Myeloid Leukemia Stem Cells in Humans*; American Society of Hematology: Washington, DC, USA, 2019.
- 75. Hoebeke, I.; De Smedt, M.; Stolz, F.; Pike-Overzet, K.; Staal, F.; Plum, J.; Leclercq, G. T-, B-and NK-lymphoid, but not myeloid cells arise from human CD34+ CD38– CD7+ common lymphoid progenitors expressing lymphoid-specific genes. *Leukemia* 2007, *21*, 311–319. [CrossRef]
- 76. Ogata, K.; Yokose, N.; Shioi, Y.; Ishida, Y.; Tomiyama, J.; Hamaguchi, H.; Yagasaki, F.; Bessyo, M.; Sakamaki, H.; Dan, K. Reappraisal of the clinical significance of CD7 expression in association with cytogenetics in de novo acute myeloid leukaemia. *Br. J. Haematol.* 2001, 115, 612–615. [CrossRef]
- 77. Gomes-Silva, D.; Atilla, E.; Atilla, P.A.; Mo, F.; Tashiro, H.; Srinivasan, M.; Lulla, P.; Rouce, R.H.; Cabral, J.M.; Ramos, C.A. CD7 CAR T cells for the therapy of acute myeloid leukemia. *Mol. Ther.* **2019**, *27*, 272–280. [CrossRef]
- 78. Gomes-Silva, D.; Srinivasan, M.; Sharma, S.; Lee, C.M.; Wagner, D.L.; Davis, T.H.; Rouce, R.H.; Bao, G.; Brenner, M.K.; Mamonkin, M. CD7-edited T cells expressing a CD7-specific CAR for the therapy of T-cell malignancies. *Blood* 2017, 130, 285–296. [CrossRef]
- Kang, X.; Kim, J.; Deng, M.; John, S.; Chen, H.; Wu, G.; Phan, H.; Zhang, C.C. Inhibitory leukocyte immunoglobulin-like receptors: Immune checkpoint proteins and tumor sustaining factors. *Cell Cycle* 2016, 15, 25–40. [CrossRef]
- Dobrowolska, H.; Gill, K.Z.; Serban, G.; Ivan, E.; Li, Q.; Qiao, P.; Suciu-Foca, N.; Savage, D.; Alobeid, B.; Bhagat, G. Expression of immune inhibitory receptor ILT3 in acute myeloid leukemia with monocytic differentiation. *Cytom. Part B Clin. Cytom.* 2013, *84*, 21–29. [CrossRef]
- 81. John, S.; Chen, H.; Deng, M.; Gui, X.; Wu, G.; Chen, W.; Li, Z.; Zhang, N.; An, Z.; Zhang, C.C. A novel anti-LILRB4 CAR-T cell for the treatment of monocytic AML. *Mol. Ther.* **2018**, *26*, 2487–2495. [CrossRef]
- 82. Swerdlow, S.H. WHO Classification of Tumours of Haematopoietic and Lymphoid Tissues; International Agency for Research on Cancer: Lyon, France, 2017.
- 83. Szalontay, L.; Shad, A.T. Pediatric Acute Myeloid Leukemia: How to Improve Outcome? *Curr. Pediatrics Rep.* **2014**, *2*, 26–37. [CrossRef]
- Korver, W.; Zhao, X.; Singh, S.; Pardoux, C.; Zhao, J.; Guzman, M.; Sen, S.; Yonkovich, S.; Liu, S.; Zhan, X. Monoclonal antibodies against IREM-1: Potential for targeted therapy of AML. *Leukemia* 2009, 23, 1587–1597. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Abadir, E.; Gasiorowski, R.E.; Lai, K.; Kupresanin, F.; Romano, A.; Silveira, P.A.; Lo, T.H.; Fromm, P.D.; Kennerson, M.L.; Iland, H.J. CD300f epitopes are specific targets for acute myeloid leukemia with monocytic differentiation. *Mol. Oncol.* 2019, *13*, 2107–2120. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Qin, Y.; Zhu, H.; Jiang, B.; Li, J.; Lu, X.; Li, L.; Ruan, G.; Liu, Y.; Chen, S.; Huang, X. Expression patterns of WT1 and PRAME in acute myeloid leukemia patients and their usefulness for monitoring minimal residual disease. *Leuk. Res.* 2009, *33*, 384–390. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Van Acker, H.H.; Versteven, M.; Lichtenegger, F.S.; Roex, G.; Campillo-Davo, D.; Lion, E.; Subklewe, M.; Van Tendeloo, V.F.; Berneman, Z.N.; Anguille, S. Dendritic cell-based immunotherapy of acute myeloid leukemia. *J. Clin. Med.* 2019, *8*, 579. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 88. Anguille, S.; Willemen, Y.; Lion, E.; Smits, E.L.; Berneman, Z.N. Dendritic cell vaccination in acute myeloid leukemia. *Cytotherapy* **2012**, *14*, 647–656. [CrossRef]
- Fromm, P.D.; Papadimitrious, M.S.; Hsu, J.L.; Van Kooten Losio, N.; Verma, N.D.; Lo, T.H.; Silveira, P.A.; Bryant, C.E.; Turtle, C.J.; Prue, R.L. CMRF-56+ blood dendritic cells loaded with mRNA induce effective antigen-specific cytotoxic T-lymphocyte responses. *Oncoimmunology* 2016, 5, e1168555. [CrossRef]
- 90. Osugi, Y.; Vuckovic, S.; Hart, D.N. Myeloid blood CD11c+ dendritic cells and monocyte-derived dendritic cells differ in their ability to stimulate T lymphocytes. *Blood* **2002**, *100*, 2858–2866. [CrossRef]
- Hsu, J.L.; Bryant, C.E.; Papadimitrious, M.S.; Kong, B.; Gasiorowski, R.E.; Orellana, D.; McGuire, H.M.; Groth, B.F.d.S.; Joshua, D.E.; Ho, P.J. A blood dendritic cell vaccine for acute myeloid leukemia expands anti-tumor T cell responses at remission. *Oncoimmunology* 2018, 7, e1419114. [CrossRef]
- 92. Cummins, K.D.; Gill, S. Chimeric antigen receptor T-cell therapy for acute myeloid leukemia: How close to reality? *Haematologica* 2019, 104, 1302–1308. [CrossRef]
- Chapuis, A.G.; Ragnarsson, G.B.; Nguyen, H.N.; Chaney, C.N.; Pufnock, J.S.; Schmitt, T.M.; Duerkopp, N.; Roberts, I.M.; Pogosov, G.L.; Ho, W.Y. Transferred WT1-reactive CD8+ T cells can mediate antileukemic activity and persist in post-transplant patients. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 2013, *5*, ra127–ra174. [CrossRef]
- 94. Tawara, I.; Kageyama, S.; Miyahara, Y.; Fujiwara, H.; Nishida, T.; Akatsuka, Y.; Ikeda, H.; Tanimoto, K.; Terakura, S.; Murata, M. Safety and persistence of WT1-specific T-cell receptor gene– transduced lymphocytes in patients with AML and MDS. *Blood* **2017**, *130*, 1985–1994. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 95. Kovtun, Y.; Jones, G.E.; Adams, S.; Harvey, L.; Audette, C.A.; Wilhelm, A.; Bai, C.; Rui, L.; Laleau, R.; Liu, F. A CD123-targeting antibody-drug conjugate, IMGN632, designed to eradicate AML while sparing normal bone marrow cells. *Blood Adv.* 2018, *2*, 848–858. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Mardiros, A.; Dos Santos, C.; McDonald, T.; Brown, C.E.; Wang, X.; Budde, L.E.; Hoffman, L.; Aguilar, B.; Chang, W.-C.; Bretzlaff, W. T cells expressing CD123-specific chimeric antigen receptors exhibit specific cytolytic effector functions and antitumor effects against human acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood* 2013, 122, 3138–3148. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Tasian, S.K.; Kenderian, S.S.; Shen, F.; Ruella, M.; Shestova, O.; Kozlowski, M.; Li, Y.; Schrank-Hacker, A.; Morrissette, J.J.; Carroll, M. Optimized depletion of chimeric antigen receptor T cells in murine xenograft models of human acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood* 2017, 129, 2395–2407. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Kim, M.Y.; Yu, K.-R.; Kenderian, S.S.; Ruella, M.; Chen, S.; Shin, T.-H.; Aljanahi, A.A.; Schreeder, D.; Klichinsky, M.; Shestova, O. Genetic inactivation of CD33 in hematopoietic stem cells to enable CAR T cell immunotherapy for acute myeloid leukemia. *Cell* 2018, *173*, 1439–1453. [CrossRef]
- 99. Ruella, M.; Maus, M.V. Catch me if you can: Leukemia escape after CD19-directed T cell immunotherapies. *Comput. Struct. Biotechnol. J.* **2016**, *14*, 357–362. [CrossRef]

- Petrov, J.C.; Wada, M.; Pinz, K.G.; Yan, L.E.; Chen, K.H.; Shuai, X.; Liu, H.; Chen, X.; Leung, L.-H.; Salman, H. Compound CAR T-cells as a double-pronged approach for treating acute myeloid leukemia. *Leukemia* 2018, 32, 1317–1326. [CrossRef]
- 101. Liu, F.; Cao, Y.; Pinz, K.; Ma, Y.; Wada, M.; Chen, K.; Ma, G.; Shen, J.; Tse, C.O.; Su, Y. First-in-human CLL1-CD33 compound CAR T cell therapy induces complete remission in patients with refractory acute myeloid leukemia: Update on phase 1 clinical trial. *Am. Soc. Hematol.* **2018**, *132*, 901. [CrossRef]
- 102. Proctor, J.L.; Hyzy, S.L.; Adams, H.L.; Brooks, M.; Gabros, A.D.; McDonough, S.M.; Kien, L.; Aslanian, S.; Pearse, B.R.; Palchaudhuri, R. Single Doses of Antibody Drug Conjugates (ADCs) Targeted to CD117 or CD45 Have Potent In Vivo Anti-Leukemia Activity and Survival Benefit in Patient Derived AML Models. *Biol. Blood Marrow Transplant.* 2019, 25, S100–S101. [CrossRef]
- 103. Palchaudhuri, R.; Pearse, B.R.; Proctor, J.L.; Hyzy, S.L.; Aslanian, S.; Bhat, A.; Gillard, G.O.; McDonough, S.M.; Sarma, G.N.; Ladwig, D. Non-Genotoxic Conditioning Using Amanitin Antibody-Drug Conjugates Targeting CD45 Effectively Deplete Human and Non-Human Primate Hematopoietic Stem Cells and Immune Cells. *Biol. Blood Marrow Transplant.* 2019, 25, S32. [CrossRef]
- 104. Pearse, B.R.; McDonough, S.M.; Proctor, J.L.; Panwar, R.; Sarma, G.N.; Kien, L.; Dushime, J.; Adams, H.L.; Hyzy, S.L.; Brooks, M. A CD117-Amanitin Antibody Drug Conjugate (ADC) Effectively Depletes Human and Non-Human Primate Hematopoietic Stem and Progenitor Cells (HSPCs): Targeted Non-Genotoxic Conditioning for Bone Marrow Transplant. *Biol. Blood Marrow Transplant.* 2019, 25, S29–S30. [CrossRef]



© 2020 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

# Chapter 5: CD300f epitopes are specific targets for acute myeloid leukemia with monocytic differentiation

Abadir E \*, Gasiorowski RE \*, Lai K, Kupresanin F, Romano A, Silveira PA, Lo TH, Fromm PD, Kennerson ML, Iland HJ, Ho PJ Hogarth M, Bradstock K, Hart DN, Clark G. CD300f epitopes are specific targets for acute myeloid leukemia with monocytic differentiation. Molecular oncology. 2019 Oct;13(10):2107-20\* contributed equally





# CD300f epitopes are specific targets for acute myeloid leukemia with monocytic differentiation

Edward Abadir<sup>1,2</sup>, Robin E. Gasiorowski<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Kaitao Lai<sup>2,4,5</sup>, Fiona Kupresanin<sup>1</sup>, Adelina Romano<sup>1</sup>, Pablo A. Silveira<sup>1,2</sup>, Tsun-Ho Lo<sup>1,2</sup>, Phillip D. Fromm<sup>1,2</sup>, Marina L. Kennerson<sup>2,5,6</sup>, Harry J. Iland<sup>2,7</sup>, P. Joy Ho<sup>2,7</sup>, P. Mark Hogarth<sup>8</sup>, Kenneth Bradstock<sup>9</sup>, Derek N.J. Hart<sup>1,2,7</sup> and Georgina J. Clark<sup>1,2</sup> in

- 1 Dendritic Cell Research, ANZAC Research Institute, Sydney, Australia
- 2 Sydney Medical School, University of Sydney, Australia
- 3 Department of Haematology, Concord Repatriation General Hospital, Sydney, Australia
- 4 ANZAC Research Institute, Sydney, Australia
- 5 Northcott Neuroscience Laboratory, ANZAC Research Institute, Sydney, Australia
- 6 Molecular Medicine Laboratory, Concord Repatriation General Hospital, Sydney, Australia
- 7 Institute of Haematology, Royal Prince Alfred Hospital, Sydney, Australia
- 8 Immune Therapies, Burnet Institute, Melbourne, Australia
- 9 Department of Haematology, Westmead Hospital, Sydney, Australia

#### Keywords

acute myeloid leukemia; antibody epitopes; CD300f; cell surface targeting; isoform expression; monoclonal antibodies

#### Correspondence

G. J. Clark, Dendritic Cell Research, ANZAC Research Institute, Gate 3, Hospital Road, Concord Repatriation General Hospital, Hospital Road, Concord, NSW 2139, Australia Fax: +61 2 97679101 Tel: +61 2 97679822 E-mail: georgina.clark@sydney.edu.au

Edward Abadir and Robin E Gasiorowski contributed equally to this work

Derek N.J. Hart is Deceased

(Received 5 June 2019, revised 9 July 2019, accepted 23 July 2019, available online 20 August 2019)

doi:10.1002/1878-0261.12549

Antibody-based therapy in acute myeloid leukemia (AML) has been marred by significant hematologic toxicity due to targeting of both hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells (HSPCs). Achieving greater success with therapeutic antibodies requires careful characterization of the potential target molecules on AML. One potential target is CD300f, which is an immunoregulatory molecule expressed predominantly on myeloid lineage cells. To confirm the value of CD300f as a leukemic target, we showed that CD300f antibodies bind to AML from 85% of patient samples. While one CD300f monoclonal antibody (mAb) reportedly did not bind healthy hematopoietic stem cells, transcriptomic analysis found that CD300f transcripts are expressed by healthy HSPC. Several CD300f protein isoforms exist as a result of alternative splicing. Importantly for antibody targeting, the extracellular region of CD300f can be present with or without the exon 4-encoded sequence. This results in CD300f isoforms that are differentially bound by CD300f-specific antibodies. Furthermore, binding of one mAb, DCR-2, to CD300f exposes a structural epitope recognized by a second CD300f mAb, UP-D2. Detailed analysis of publicly available transcriptomic data indicated that CD34<sup>+</sup> HSPC expressed fewer CD300f transcripts that lacked exon 4 compared to AML with monocytic differentiation. Analysis of a small cohort of AML cells revealed that the UP-D2 conformational binding site could be induced in cells from AML patients with monocytic differentiation but not those from other AML or HSPC. This provides the opportunity to develop an antibody-based strategy to target AMLs with monocytic differentiation but not healthy CD34<sup>+</sup> HSPCs. This would be a major step forward in developing effective anti-AML therapeutic antibodies with reduced hematologic toxicity.

#### Abbreviations

ADC, antibody–drug conjugate; AML, acute myeloid leukemia; BM, bone marrow; CHO, Chinese hamster ovary; ECL, enhanced chemiluminescence; HSC, hematopoietic stem cell; HSPCs, hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells; mAb, monoclonal antibody; MFI, median fluorescence intensity; PBMCs, peripheral blood mononuclear cells; TCGA, The Cancer Genome Atlas.

Molecular Oncology **13** (2019) 2107–2120 © 2019 The Authors. Published by FEBS Press and John Wiley & Sons Ltd. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

#### 1. Introduction

Intensive chemotherapy with or without allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplant cures a proportion of vounger patients diagnosed with AML; however, these therapies are too toxic for the majority of patients (Juliusson et al., 2009). Antibody-based therapies have significantly improved outcomes in other hematologic malignancies, but their development in AML has been limited in comparison (Cuesta-Mateos et al., 2018). Current classification systems of AML depend on recurrent genetic abnormalities to predict prognosis and inform treatment, but the older French-American-British (FAB) classification system is still important in predicting surface molecule expression on AML subpopulations (Vardiman et al., 2009). The AMLs with monocytic phenotypes are acute myelomonocytic leukemia and acute monocytic/monoblastic leukemia. Acute myelomonocytic leukemia AMLs account for 5-10% of cases across all age groups with a median age of 50 years, while acute monocytic/monoblastic leukemia AMLs occur in any age range but are most common in children (Swerdlow et al., 2008). Together, these AML subtypes account for 50% of all AMLs in infants (Masetti et al., 2015). A new targeted therapy with reduced hematologic toxicity in AML with monocytic differentiation, including acute myelomonocytic leukemia as well as acute monoblastic and monocytic leukemia, would be a significant development.

The CD33 antibody-drug conjugate (ADC), gemtuzumab ozogamicin, is the only current antibodybased therapy for AML, after it was reapproved by the FDA in 2017 (Jen et al., 2018). More recent ADCs or chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cells targeting CD33 have not been successful, primarily due to significant hematologic toxicity in preclinical models and clinical trials (Pizzitola et al., 2014; Stein et al., 2018). Hematologic toxicity is a difficult challenge to overcome, as many surface molecules found on AML are present on hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells (HSPCs) (Taussig et al., 2005). Other well-described AML targets such as CD123 and CLL-1 have also been associated with significant hematologic toxicity in preclinical development (Gill et al., 2014; Leong et al., 2017). Despite extensive genomic and proteomic analyses of AML and HSPC, no ideal surface target for AML has been found (Perna et al., 2017).

CD300f is a potential therapeutic target in AML. CD300f is a member of the CD300 immunoregulatory family encoded by a gene complex on human chromosome 17q25 (Clark *et al.*, 2009). It is a transmembrane glycoprotein with both inhibitory motifs and PI3K phosphorylation sites in its cytoplasmic region (Alvarez-Errico *et al.*, 2007). Healthy myeloid cells including CD34<sup>+</sup> HSPC express CD300f, while proteomic and transcriptomic analyses have shown that it is upregulated in AML samples (Korver *et al.*, 2009; Strassberger *et al.*, 2014). One CD300f monoclonal antibody (mAb) that bound leukemic blasts but not CD34<sup>+</sup> HSPCs in the majority of AMLs in a small cohort of human samples had some efficacy in a xenogeneic model of AML using the HL-60 cell line (Korver *et al.*, 2009).

Effective therapeutic antibodies targeting well-defined epitopes mitigate off-target toxicity. CD300f isoforms are expressed in leukemic cell lines; immunoprecipitation of CD300f from the histiocytic lymphoma cell line U937 identified 53 and 59 kDa proteins (Alvarez-Errico et al., 2004). Four RNA transcripts were initially described (Alvarez-Errico et al., 2004), more are listed in databases, and the current NCBI database lists seven protein isoforms resulting from alternative splicing: NP 620587 (IREM-1, Isoform 1), NP 001276011 (Isoform 2), NP 001276012 (Isoform 3), NP 001276013 (Isoform 4), NP 001276014 (Isoform 5), NP 001276015 (Isoform 6), and NP 001276016 (Isoform 7). Studies have examined the binding of CD300f mAbs to the canonical CD300f (Isoform 1) expressed by transfected cells, but their binding to other isoforms is undefined. We have confirmed the validity of CD300f as a target on AML in a cohort of 35 AML patients and demonstrated that different CD300f-specific mAbs recognize independent extracellular epitopes. Further, we showed expression of CD300f isoforms by cell lines and primary AMLs is complex and the different isoform expressed affects mAb binding. This work has defined key differences in the extracellular region of CD300f that will help design novel AML therapeutic antibodies to specific isoforms and minimize hematologic toxicity.

## 2. Materials and methods

#### 2.1. Antibodies

CD300f mAbs used were UP-D1 (mouse IgG1, $\kappa$ , eFluor 660 conjugate, Jomar), UP-D2 (mouse IgG1,  $\kappa$ , PE conjugate and purified, BioLegend, San Diego, CA, USA), and 234903 (rat IgG2b, R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA). An in-house mAb, DCR-2 (IgG1, $\kappa$ ), was generated from a mouse immunized with CD300f Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) transfectants and boosted with recombinant human CD300f-Fc protein (Sino Biologicals, Beijing, China). The polyclonal antibodies used were rabbit antibody to the peptide representing

residues 63–92 of the canonical CD300f sequence (CLM-1, Abcam) and goat anti-human LMIR3 (leukocyte myeloid inhibitory receptor; gLMIR3, R&D Systems). All antibodies detected epitopes on the CD300f Ig-like domain. CMRF-81 (anti-tetanus toxoid mouse IgG<sub>1</sub> (Ju *et al.*, 2008)) was used as an isotype control.

#### 2.2. Cell lines

The myeloid-derived cell lines HL-60, U937, HEL, and THP-1 (all from ATCC) were grown in complete RPMI containing 200 mM glutaMAX,  $100U \cdot mL^{-1}$  penicillin, 100 µg·mL<sup>-1</sup> streptomycin, and 10% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum [all from Thermo Fisher Scientific (Thermo, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia)].

#### 2.3. Human samples

Venous blood and bone marrow (BM) samples were obtained, with informed consent, from healthy volunteers collected through the Department of Hematology, Concord Repatriation General Hospital. Cord blood was obtained through the Sydney Cord Blood Bank with ethical approval to use samples that failed banking volume criteria. Mononuclear cells were prepared using density gradient centrifugation over Ficoll-Paque following the manufacturer's recommendations (GE Healthcare Life Sciences, Uppsala, Sweden). Mononuclear blasts were prepared from excess AML diagnostic samples following patient consent. All consent forms were written and accompanied by participant information sheets. All patient sample protocols conformed to the guidelines set by the Declaration of Helsinki. Table S1 summarizes the characteristics of AML samples. The Concord Repatriation General Hospital Human Ethics Committee approved all protocols. Samples of AML were categorized as having a monocytic differentiation if they met the 2016 WHO criteria of acute myelomonocytic leukemia as well as acute monoblastic and monocytic leukemia by morphology and immunophenotyping, irrespective of genetic abnormalities.

CD14<sup>+</sup> monocytes were purified from peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) labeled with CD14-FITC (clone M5E2) by cytometric sorting on a BD Influx or with a CD14-positive selection kit from Miltenyi Biotec. AML samples were phenotyped with the following mAbs from BD Biosciences (Sydney, New South Wales, Australia): CD45-V500 (clone HI30), CD34-PE-CY7 (clone 581), CD38-V450 (clone HB7), and CD33-PE (clone WM53). Results were analyzed with FLOWJO software (Treestar, Ashland, OR, USA). The gating strategy for identifying the blast and leukemic stem cell populations is shown in Fig. S1. SSC<sup>lo</sup>CD45<sup>dim</sup> blast populations were purified from AML samples labeled with CD45-V500.

#### 2.4. Flow cytometry

Standard protocols were used to stain cells with directly conjugated specific, or isotype control, antibodies as described previously (Clark *et al.*, 2016). Unlabeled mouse mAbs were detected with species-specific Alexa Fluor (AF) 488 or 647F(ab')<sub>2</sub> secondary reagents (all from Thermo). Live cells were identified as propidium iodide<sup>-</sup> events. Data were collected on either an Accuri C6, Fortessa LSR, or Influx (BD Biosciences).

To determine whether different antibodies bound similar epitopes, we preincubated target cells with saturating amounts of primary antibody in 0.5% BSA/PBS for 30 min on ice. Cells were washed with 0.5%BSA/PBS before incubation with a subsaturating concentration of the test antibody. Experiments were repeated three times. Percent binding of the test antibody was determined from median fluorescence intensity (MFI) by [MFI Test Antibody-MFI Primary isotype]/[MFI Primary Antibody-MFI isotype control] x 100. In crossblocking experiments using primary samples, CD34<sup>+</sup> HSPC, lymphocytes, and monocytes all originated from cord blood (CB) PBMC. AML samples were gated with CD45 and CD34 to exclude nonblasts.

#### 2.5. Immunoprecipitation and western blots

For immunoprecipitation,  $2.5 \times 10^7$  cells were biotinylated with Sulfo-NHS-Biotin (Thermo) before lysis in M-PER mammalian protein extraction reagent (Thermo) containing protease inhibitors (Roche, Castle Hill, New South Wales, Australia). Proteins were immunoprecipitated with antibodies bound to Protein G Dynabeads according to the manufacturer's recommendations (Thermo). Samples were resolved through a 4-12% Bis-Tris Plus gel (Thermo), with or without antioxidant, and transferred to nitrocellulose using an iBlot system (Thermo). Membranes, blocked with 5% BSA/TTBS, were incubated with primary antibody, followed by HRP-conjugated species-specific antibody, detected with enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) reagent (Clarity ECL Kit, Bio-Rad), and analyzed using a Bio-Rad ChemiDoc imaging system (Bio-Rad, Galdesville, New South Wales, Australia). Biotinylated protein was detected with streptavidin-HRP and ECL.

#### 2.6. Gene expression analysis

Total RNA was prepared from freshly purified cell populations or cells growing in exponential growth phase using TRIzol reagent as per the manufacturer's instructions (Thermo). Integrity and quantity of extracted RNA were assessed using an RNA 6000 Nano Bioanalyzer (Agilent Technologies, Mulgrave, Victoria, Australia). All RNA used had a RNA integrity number > 8.8. For cDNA, 100 ng of DNase I (Thermo)-treated RNA was reverse-transcribed into cDNA using SuperScript III (Thermo). Oligonucleotide primers designed to detect splice variants were checked for specificity by BLAST alignment and are listed in the supplementary material. Gene expression was performed by qPCR on the cDNA using optimized primers and Fast SYBR® Green Master Mix (Thermo). Duplicate samples of cDNA were amplified using a 7500 Fast Real-time PCR System (ABI). C<sub>T</sub> values for splice variant amplification were normalized to the HPRT endogenous gene and presented as fold changes to a CD14<sup>+</sup> or U937 cDNA reference sample using the formula: fold change =  $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$  (Pfaffl, 2001). Primer efficiencies were all greater than 98%.

#### 2.7. Transcriptomic analysis

Healthy bone marrow HSPC (GSE63569 and GSE69239) from seven individuals and The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) acute myeloid leukemia (LAML) data sets from 151 patients were downloaded. Due to differences in treatment, acute promyelocytic leukemia (M3) was removed from the TCGA analysis. Data sets were aligned with STAR RNA-seq aligner version 2.4 to GRCh38.d1.vd1 genome (Dobin *et al.*, 2013). Read quantification was performed with inhouse shell scripts. The exon 3 read positions were chr17: 74704478-74704517, and the exon 4 read positions were chr17:74703100-74703141. RKPM was calculated as [(number of target reads)/(total reads/ 1 000 000)]/(target length in Kb).

#### 2.8. Generation of CD300f transfectants

Full-length CD300f cDNA (Isoform 1) containing an amino-terminal c-myc epitope was expressed under the CMV promoter of the pBud vector in CHO cells. Cells expressing high amounts of surface c-myc were sorted on a BD Influx. Sequences were validated at the Australian Research Genome Facility.

#### 2.9. ELISA

The specificity of antibodies for the CD300f Ig-like domain, and cross-reactivity with CD300b, was tested by ELISA using recombinant proteins obtained from Sino Biological. Antibodies and appropriate species and isotype controls were incubated with the immobilized recombinant protein, and binding was detected with the relevant HRP-labeled secondary antibody and OPD.

#### 2.10. Primer sequences

The primer and probe sequences were Fw\_hHPRT1: 5'AATTATGGACAGGACTGAACGTCTTGCT; Rv\_ hHPRT1: 5'TCCAGCAGGGTCAGCAAAGAATTTAT AGC; CD300f<sup>S14</sup>\_F (amplifies exon 4 in Isoform 4 or 6): 5'CACGCCTACCTCCACTACGTTT; CD300f<sup>C</sup> \_F (amplifies exon 4 in Isoforms 1, 2, 3, 5, 7): 5'ATTGACCCAGCACCAGTCACC; CD300f-Ex4\_R (reverse primer to amplify exon 4 in all Isoforms): 5'GGTGGCCGGTCAGAGTTG.

#### 2.11. Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using PRISM (Graph-Pad Software, Inc, San Diego, CA, USA). Comparisons between single groups were analyzed with t-tests. Exon 3 and exon 4 expressions of RNA-seq data and UP-D2 binding of AML cell lines and primary samples were analyzed with one-way ANOVA with multiple comparisons between groups.

# 3. Results

#### 3.1. CD300f antibodies bind to primary AML

We assessed the binding of the CD300f-specific mAb, UP-D1, to 34 newly diagnosed AML samples and healthy bone marrow by flow cytometry using the gating strategy outlined in Fig. S1. UP-D1 bound to SSC<sup>lo</sup>CD45<sup>dim</sup> AML blasts in 85% (Fig. 1A) and the SSC<sup>lo</sup>CD45<sup>dim</sup>CD34<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>-</sup> in 76% of these patient samples (Fig. 1B). There was no significant difference between the ability of UP-D1 and anti-CD33 to bind total AML blasts or the CD34<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>-</sup> subset, which is enriched with leukemic stem cells (Fig. 1A,B). UP-D1 also bound to the Lin<sup>-</sup>CD34<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>-</sup>C-D45RA<sup>-</sup>CD90<sup>+</sup> hematopoietic stem cell (HSC) precursor population within healthy BM (Fig. 1C) similar to CD33. There were no significant differences in the UP-D1 binding to total CD34<sup>+</sup> cells, myeloid progenitors, multipotent progenitors (MPPs), or HSC between bone marrow and cord blood (Fig. S1).

# 3.2. Confirmation that CD300f antibodies bind to the CD300f Ig-like domain

All CD300f protein isoforms listed in NCBI protein database share the CD300f Ig-like domain but differ



Fig. 1. CD300f is expressed on leukemic cells from AML patients. CD300f (UP-D1) compared to CD33 expression on (A) AML blasts, (B) CD34<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>-</sup> subset, and (C) Lin<sup>-</sup>CD34<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>-</sup>CD45RA<sup>-</sup>CD90<sup>+</sup> bone marrow HSCs was assessed using multiparameter flow cytometry. The MFI of the population of interest was divided by the MFI of the isotype control to give a MFI ratio. Populations with a MFI ratio  $\geq$  3, shown above the dotted line, were considered to be positive.

in their leader sequence, exon 4-coded sequence, and their cytoplasmic domain (Fig. S2). We confirmed binding of the CD300f antibodies to CD300f Isoform 1 (Fig. S3A) or Isoform 6 expressed on transfected CHO cells. Because all CD300 molecules share significant amino acid sequence similarity in the Ig domain, we confirmed the specificity of each CD300f mAb to CD300f and not the other family members by either flow cytometry on transfectants or ELISA. Of the CD300 molecules, CD300f shares the highest amino acid sequence identity with CD300b. The CLM-1 peptide antibody and the gLMIR3 polyclonal antibody bound the Ig domain of CD300b (Fig. S3C).

Each antibody bound to the four CD300f<sup>+</sup>CD300b<sup>-</sup> myeloid-derived cell lines tested, with the exception of the CLM-1 peptide antibody, which only bound to THP-1 (Fig. S3D). Each mAb showed a different MFI ratio pattern. UP-D1 had a low MFI ratio binding to HEL but a high ratio to HL-60, U937, and THP-1. The 234903 clone and DCR-2 mAbs were similar with a high MFI ratio to U937, lower ratio binding to HL-60 and THP-1, and an even lower ratio binding to HEL. The mouse UP-D2 clone and gLMIR3 polyclonal antibody showed similar MFI patterns (Fig. S5). Testing the binding of each antibody to CD300f Isoform 1 expressed on transfectants in the presence of other CD300f demonstrated that no mAb completely cross-blocked binding of another (Fig. S5). These data indicated the presence of at least four distinct CD300f epitopes recognized by the antibody panel. They are the UP-D1 epitope, a DCR-2/243903 epitope, the UP-D2 epitope, and a CLM-1 epitope.

In healthy PBMC, the four mAbs and gLMIR3 antibody bound to both CD14<sup>+</sup>CD16<sup>-</sup> (conventional) CD14<sup>dim</sup>CD16<sup>++</sup> and (inflammatory) monocytes (Fig. 2A). Interestingly, the UP-D2 and DCR-2 clones bound to CD14<sup>+</sup>CD16<sup>-</sup> monocytes with significantly greater intensity than to the CD14<sup>lo</sup>CD16<sup>+</sup> monocyte population and this pattern was reversed with the 234903 mAb. Having shown that UP-D1 bound to AML blasts and that it recognized a distinct epitope to other CD300f antibodies, we tested the other antibodies on five representative AML samples (Fig. 2B). All antibodies bound AML blasts, including the CD34<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>-</sup> subset (Fig. 2B) except for the CLM-1 antibody, which bound the blasts from only one sample. The UP-D1, DCR-2, and 234903 mAb bound to HSC in healthy CB. There was a weak binding of UP-D2 (Fig. 2C) and no binding with the CLM-1 antibody to healthy HSC.

Antigen density of CD300f on the surface of myeloid-derived cell lines and a number of primary AML samples with a high percentage of blasts was tested using a quantitative bead-based kit (data not shown). The myeloid-derived cell lines were expressed in the order of  $10^4$  CD300f molecules per cell. Primary AML blasts expressed CD300f at levels ranging from  $10^1$  to  $10^4$  molecules/cell agreeing with a previous report (Korver *et al.*, 2009).



**Fig. 2.** Binding of CD300f antibodies to healthy and leukemic cells. Comparison of CD300f antibodies binding to (A) healthy PBMC populations assessed by multiparameter flow cytometry, (B) AML blasts and CD34<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>-</sup> subset (n = 5), and (C) Lin<sup>-</sup>CD34<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>-</sup>CD45RA <sup>-</sup>CD90<sup>+</sup> CB hematopoietic stem cells (n = 3). Statistical analysis was performed using *t*-tests. \*P < 0.05 and \*\*P < 0.01.

#### 3.3. Expression of CD300f isoforms

The MW predicted from the CD300f primary sequences ranges from 21.4 kDa to 33.7 kDa. UP-D1

was originally shown to immunoprecipitate molecules of 53 and 59 kDa (Alvarez-Errico *et al.*, 2004). We used the gLMIR3 antibody to immunoprecipitate CD300f from the myeloid-derived cell lines and identified proteins with MW ranging from 40 kDa on HL-60 to 55 kDa on U937 with one predominant band in each cell line (Fig. 3A). Immunoprecipitated CD300f proteins from primary AML lysates that expressed high levels of CD300f had MW of 28 kDa, 40 kDa, and 60 kDa.

Both alternative splicing events and different posttranslational modifications are likely to contribute to the variation in isoform expression. To understand the effect the expression of different isoforms has on antibody targeting of CD300f<sup>+</sup> cells, we looked in detail at the different extracellular portion of the isoforms. In the databases, the extracellular sequences for CD300f have two forms. The canonical form of CD300f does not express exon 4, and here, it will be identified as CD300f<sup>C</sup>. CD300f Ig domain, encoded by exon 3, spliced to the transmembrane region is present in protein Isoforms 1, 2, 3, 5, and 7 (Fig. S2). The alternative has a splice insertion of exon 4 after the Ig domain before the transmembrane domain. Exon 4 encodes a Ser-Thr-rich sequence and is found in protein Isoforms 4 and 6 and here will be referred to CD300f<sup>SI4</sup>.

# 3.4. Differential expression in CD300f Exon 4 between Healthy CD34<sup>+</sup> HSPC and AML

The qPCR was used to amplify CD300f<sup>S14</sup> and CD300f<sup>C</sup> transcripts from cDNA prepared from myeloid-derived cell lines, healthy monocytes, healthy CB CD34<sup>+</sup> HSPC, and AML blasts (Fig. S4). We observed that CD300f<sup>C</sup> transcripts were more abundant than CD300f <sup>S14</sup> present in healthy CB CD34<sup>+</sup> HSPC. AML blasts expressed both CD300f <sup>S14</sup> and exon CD300f<sup>C</sup> transcripts (Fig. 3). There was a significant difference in CD300f <sup>S14</sup> expression between the CB CD34<sup>+</sup> and AML cells (which were primarily of subtypes with monocytic differentiation) (P < 0.05).

To confirm our qPCR findings on a larger sample set, we compared publicly available RNA-seq data from healthy bone marrow CD34<sup>+</sup> HSPC with AML RNA-seq data from TCGA project. Exon 4 and exon 3 (expressed on all isoforms) sequences were compared across the bone marrow CD34<sup>+</sup> HSPC and both monocytic AML and nonmonocytic AML (Fig. 4). There were significant differences in exon 4 but not exon 3 expression between bone marrow CD34<sup>+</sup> HSPC and monocytic AML (P = 0.033). There were significant differences between monocytic and nonmonocytic



**Fig. 3.** (A) Immunoprecipitation with a CD300f polyclonal antibody reveals multiple forms of CD300f in AML cell lines and primary AML cell samples. CD300f was immunoprecipitated from biotinylated membrane lysates; HEL, HL-60, U937, THP-1, and a primary AML9 membrane lysate using goat anti-LMIR3 or goat serum. Immunoprecipitated protein was detected with streptavidin–HRP and ECL substrate. (B) CD300f exon 4 splice variants or (C) CD300f<sup>C</sup> was compared between healthy CB-derived CD34<sup>+</sup> HSPC and primary AML samples (flow-sorted or blast count > 90%). Statistical analysis was performed using *t*-tests. \*P < 0.05.



**Fig. 4.** RNA-seq of CD300f exon 4 between BM CD34<sup>+</sup> HSPC, monocytic AML, and nonmonocytic AML. Publicly available healthy BM CD34<sup>+</sup> HSPC (n = 7) and AML (n = 131) data were analyzed for CD300f exon 4 and exon 3 expressions. (A) CD300f exon 4 expression comparison between BM CD34<sup>+</sup> HSPC, monocytic AML, and nonmonocytic AML. (B) CD300f exon 3 expression comparison between BM CD34<sup>+</sup> HSPC, monocytic AML, and nonmonocytic AML. (B) CD300f exon 3 expression comparison between BM CD34<sup>+</sup> HSPC, monocytic AML. Statistical analysis was performed with one-way ANOVA with multiple comparisons between groups. \*P < 0.05 and \*\*\*\*P < 0.0001.

AML phenotypes in both exon 4 (P < 0.001) and exon 3 (P < 0.001) expressions.

# 3.5. CD300f antibodies showing different binding to CD300f isoforms

All CD300f Abs bound to the CD300f<sup>SI4</sup> and CD300f<sup>C</sup> extracellular region when expressed in CHO cells. Comparing the MFI ratios of UP-D1 to each isoform revealed that UP-D1 bound to the CD300f SI4 isoform with a threefold higher ratio compared to the CD300f<sup>C</sup>. On the other hand, there was less than twofold difference in UP-D2, 234903, and DCR-2 binding to CD300f SI4 isoform compared to CD300f<sup>C</sup> isoform (Fig. 5). Western blot analysis (Fig. 5) revealed that gLMIR3, DCR-2, and 234903 Abs bound to a 49kD protein from the CD300f  $^{\rm SI4}$  in nonreducing conditions, but there was little binding in reducing conditions, whereas UP-D2 worked poorly on western blot under either condition. There was minimal binding to the CD300f<sup>C</sup> isoform in either reducing or nonreducing conditions by gLMIR3 (Fig. 5G), even when 10-fold levels of lysate were analyzed. CLM-1 antibody confirmed CD300f<sup>C</sup> expression in all samples (Fig. 5F). The presence of the exon 4-coded Ser-Thr-rich sequence alters the structure of the CD300f increasing the exposure of the epitope for each mAb.

# 3.6. DCR-2 mAb binding reveals the UP-D2 epitope

Cross-blocking experiments demonstrated that no CD300f mAbs completely blocked the binding of another CD300f mAb to CD300f (Figs 6 and S3). Interestingly, in these experiments we observed that instead of blocking, DCR-2 significantly enhanced the binding of UP-D2 to CD300f<sup>C</sup> expressed on CHO cells (Fig. 6). The enhanced binding of UP-D2 by DCR-2 was further augmented on CD300f SI4 expressed on CHO cells. This enhancement of UP-D2 binding was also observed on several AML cell lines. Notably, compared to HL-60 and HEL cells, U937 cells which express more CD300f SI4 by qPCR also showed the most enhanced binding (Fig. S4). Finally, in primary cells, DCR-2 significantly enhanced UP-D2 binding on monocytes but not CD34<sup>+</sup> HSPC from CB. There was no significant difference in UP-D2 binding with primary staining using PBS or an isotype control (data not shown). This demonstrated that the isoform of CD300f expressed by HSPCs can be distinguished from that expressed on mature monocytes (Fig. 7). The effect of DCR-2 on the binding of UP-D2 was tested on AML samples. Enhancement was evident on AMLs with monocytic differentiation (P = 0.0314) but absent on other AMLs compared to CB CD34<sup>+</sup> HSPC (Fig. 7).

## 4. Discussion

The development of new antibody-based therapeutics requires the identification of appropriate cell surface protein targets. Our work demonstrates the possibility to develop antibodies to CD300f as therapeutics against AMLs with monocytic differentiation also have the potential for reduced hematologic toxicity compared to currently studied targets. We identified CD300f as a member of the CD300 gene family (Alvarez-Errico et al., 2004; Clark et al., 2009), and data from Korver et al. suggested CD300f was a potential AML target for both unconjugated antibodies and ADC (Korver et al., 2009). Our early analysis (Modra et al., 2006) and Korver's data obtained with their CD300f-specific mAb (clone D12) confirmed expression on the surface of AML cells. This present work has further established the validity of CD300f as a target on AML. A high percentage of AML patients express cell surface CD300f on their blast cells, and the percentage of CD300f<sup>+</sup> AMLs or CD33<sup>+</sup> AMLs is similar. Our studies distinguished the expression of CD300f extracellular isoforms that included alternatively spliced variants of the extracellular exon 4-encoded sequence.

The great need for new AML therapeutics has brought several potential antibody targets into consideration. In addition to CD33, potential targets identified by proteomic and transcriptomic studies of myeloid cell lines and AML samples include CD123, CD96, CD44, CD47, CD32, CLL-1, IL1RAP, TIM-3, and LILRB4 (Dobrowolska et al., 2013; Gasiorowski et al., 2014; Mardis, 2014; Strassberger et al., 2014). All these molecules are expressed to some degree by normal cells of the myeloid lineage and bone marrow HSPC raising the possibility of therapeutic antibody hematologic toxicity. To date, it has been difficult to determine an AML-specific epitope and careful evaluation of prospective therapeutic mAbs for their therapeutic index of activity against AML versus normal hematopoietic precursors is essential. Potential therapeutic mAb to CD300f will need careful evaluation of their specificity with testing for wider CD300 molecule 'off-target' effects. The success of gemtuzumab ozogamicin suggests there is a 'therapeutic window' whereby ADC targeting myeloid antigens can exert an antileukemic effect without excessive myelosuppression. The excellent efficacy of gemtuzumab ozogamicin in acute promyelocytic leukemia (Breccia and



**Fig. 5.** Influence of CD300f exon 4 on antibody binding. The binding properties of anti-CD300f antibodies (A–E) by flow cytometry and western blot were compared using CHO cells transfected with either the CD300f<sup>S14</sup> present or CD300f<sup>C</sup>. (F) Western blot using CLM-1 demonstrating the presence of CD300f in both CHO transfectants. (G) Western blot using gLMIR3 at different concentrations to confirm the absence of binding to reduced CD300f<sup>C</sup>-transfected CHO cells.



**Fig. 6.** Cross-blocking studies with DCR-2 and UP-D2. Cells were incubated at the saturation point of a primary antibody or an equal concentration of an isotype control and then stained with UP-D2 PE at 80 ng·mL<sup>-1</sup>. The MFI ratio is the comparison between primary antibody and isotype control groups. (A) The change in UP-D2 PE binding to  $CD300f^{C}$  CHO transfectants with different primary antibody staining. (B) Difference in UP-D2 binding to  $CD300f^{C}$ -transfected CHO cells, which were incubated with a saturating amount of DCR-2 or isotype control prior to UP-D2 PE. (C) Difference in UP-D2 binding to AML cell lines, which were incubated with a saturating amount of DCR-2 or isotype control prior to UP-D2 PE. Error bars represent SEM. Panel B was analyzed using a t-test. Panel C was analyzed using a one-way ANOVA with multiple comparisons between groups. \*\*\**P* < 0.001 and \*\*\*\**P* < 0.0001.

Lo-Coco, 2011) which is CD33-dense suggests that the therapeutic window is likely to be widest when AML subtypes are chosen with high receptor levels.

AML target molecules will inevitably have wider myeloid cell expression. CD300f is expressed primarily within the myeloid cell series and is present on the myeloid cell populations of healthy PBMC (Alvarez-Errico *et al.*, 2004). Three CD300f mAbs bound CD34<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>-</sup> BM-derived HSPC in healthy BM or CB and, importantly, to AML. Korver *et al.* did not detect CD300f on CD34<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>-</sup> BM-derived HSPC using their IREM-1 mAbs (Korver *et al.*, 2009). This difference emphasizes the importance of our observations, which have defined the role multiple isoforms of CD300f will play as potential targets and the fact that different CD300f antibodies clearly target at least four different epitopes.

Our work suggests two possible ways to exploit targeting CD300f in future antibody-based therapies against AML with monocytic differentiation. The first method would be to generate a mAb, ADC, or other antibody-based therapeutic derivative that binds preferentially to an exon 4-related epitope. A second way would be to develop chimeric or humanized versions of DCR-2 and UP-D2 for combination therapy in which UP-D2 could be conjugated with a toxic payload as an ADC or developed into another form of therapeutics. These strategies may result in prolonged monocytopenia. The immunological consequences of a prolonged monocytopenia are unclear, those with germline GATA2 mutations associated with monocytopenia have a higher incidence of opportunistic infections, but these mutations cause additional NK- and B-cell cytopenias (Hsu et al., 2011). The significant enhancement of binding to AML with monocytic differentiation would likely lead to a wider therapeutic window than currently seen. A widened therapeutic window would reduce hematologic toxicity by limiting depletion of HSPC. Either method requires further development to test with an expanded cohort of healthy HSPC and AMLs.

Detailed epitope mapping of the rituximab target found that most CD20 Abs bind one of two overlapping epitopes (Klein *et al.*, 2013). Our studies identified five immunogenic CD300f epitopes. Crystallization studies of the CD300f Ig domain showed an Ig V-like domain with a CDR3 region that was structurally variable, and a protrusion from the Ig structure created by



**Fig. 7.** Binding of DCR-2 to CD300f<sup>+</sup> cells enhances the binding of UP-D2 to monocytes, monocytic AML, but not CD34<sup>+</sup> HSPC or nonmonocytic AML. CB or primary frozen AML cells were incubated with PBS, the saturation point of DCR-2 (10  $\mu$ g·mL<sup>-1</sup>), or an equal concentration of an isotype control. Following primary incubation, samples were stained with UP-D2 PE at 80 ng·mL<sup>-1</sup>. Data for monocytes, lymphocytes, and CD34<sup>+</sup> HSPC were obtained from CB. (A) Difference in UP-D2 PE binding across cell types when saturated with DCR-2 or isotype control, compared to PBS. (B) Differences in UP-D2 PE binding across CD34<sup>+</sup> cells between CB, monocytic AML, and nonmonocytic AML. Error bars represent SEM. Statistical analysis was performed with one-way ANOVA with multiple comparisons between groups. \**P* < 0.05.

a second disulfide bond between Cys54 and Cys62 (Marquez *et al.*, 2007). This may explain differences in the ability of polyclonal antibodies to bind more readily to nonreduced compared to reduced forms of CD300f.

The descriptions of CD300f as IREM-1 identified the canonical CD300f and three splice variants, all of which were missing exon 4 (Alvarez-Errico *et al.*, 2004). Our molecular analysis identified CD300f<sup>S14</sup> and CD300f<sup>C</sup> transcript variants that were differentially expressed in both AML and HSPC. The more marked differential in expression of CD300f<sup>S14</sup> on AML compared to HSPC using qPCR as compared to the RNA-seq analysis may be due to both techniques and samples that were used. A final functional examination of the difference in CD300f<sup>S14</sup> would require a mAb that preferentially binds the exon 4 region of CD300f.

While exon 4 does not contribute to the mAb-binding Ig domain, it contributes to the tertiary structure of the molecule on the cell surface. The fourteen residues coded by the inserted sequence include 2 serine and 7 threonine residues, which have potential to undergo significant post-translational modification by either O-linked glycosylation, phosphorylation, or acetylation. Our studies validated the binding of CD300f antibodies to CD300f <sup>S14</sup> and CD300f<sup>C</sup> transfectants but highlighted that each antibody bound differently to the two forms of CD300f.

CD300f was identified as a potential AML target by independent proteomic, transcriptomic, and empirical investigation of its myeloid-restricted expression. Our data describing multiple epitopes on the canonical CD300f isoform advance the process of antibody development to CD300f. Understanding how CD300f variant expression relates to changes in splicing mechanisms common in AML (Adamia *et al.*, 2014) is critical, and future genetic analysis may predict for CD300f expression.

# 5. Conclusions

The novel finding that CD300f variants resulting from splicing events are more abundant in AMLs with monocytic phenotypes compared to HSPC opens opportunities for a wider treatment window compared to currently tested surface molecules in this subset of AML. The potent effect of DCR-2 binding revealing a conformational epitope has novel targeting prospects for AML with monocytic phenotypes that should be further explored.

## **Acknowledgements**

We would like to acknowledge Elizabeth Newman and Christine Fong from the Department of Haematology Concord Repatriation General Hospital for the collection of venous and bone marrow samples and the Sydney Cord Blood Bank for provision of CB. We would like to acknowledge Donna Bonnici for administrative assistance. This work was supported by the Cancer Institute New South Wales Translational Program Grants (11/TPG/3-02 and 2017/TPG002) and the Australian Government National Health Medical Research Council Program Grant (543727). R.E.G received an NHMRC Scholarship APP1055892, and E.A. is a recipient of an NHMRC Scholarship (APP1134202).

# **Conflict of interest**

GJC is a Director of DendroCyte BioTech Pty Ltd. GJC and REG are listed as inventors on patents protecting DCR-2. Other authors have no conflict of interest to disclose.

## **Data accessibility**

The following publicly available data sets were used for this project: GSE63569, GSE69239, and the TCGA LAML.

#### **Author contributions**

EA, REG, FK, PAS, T-HL, PDF, and GJC performed experiments; EA, REG, HJI, PJH, and KB provided samples and intellectual input; EA, REG, PAS, and GJC analyzed results and made figures; PMH and DNJH contributed intellectually to the project design; EA, REG, and GJC contributed to project design, analysis of results, and writing of manuscript.

## References

- Adamia S, Haibe-Kains B, Pilarski PM, Bar-Natan M, Pevzner S, Avet-Loiseau H, Lode L, Verselis S, Fox EA, Burke J et al. (2014) A genome-wide aberrant RNA splicing in patients with acute myeloid leukemia identifies novel potential disease markers and therapeutic targets. Clin Cancer Res 20, 1135–1145.
- Alvarez-Errico D, Aguilar H, Kitzig F, Brckalo T, Sayos J and Lopez-Botet M (2004) IREM-1 is a novel inhibitory receptor expressed by myeloid cells. *Eur J Immunol* 34, 3690–3701.
- Alvarez-Errico D, Sayos J and Lopez-Botet M (2007) The IREM-1 (CD300f) inhibitory receptor associates with the p85alpha subunit of phosphoinositide 3-kinase. *J Immunol* **178**, 808–816.
- Breccia M and Lo-Coco F (2011) Gemtuzumab ozogamicin for the treatment of acute promyelocytic leukemia: mechanisms of action and resistance, safety and efficacy. *Exp Opin Biol Therapy* **11**, 225–234.
- Clark GJ, Ju X, Tate C and Hart DN (2009) The CD300 family of molecules are evolutionarily significant regulators of leukocyte functions. *Trends Immunol* **30**, 209–217.
- Clark GJ, Kupresanin F, Fromm PD, Ju X, Muusers L, Silveira PA, Elgundi Z, Gasiorowski RE, Papadimitrious MS, Bryant C *et al.* (2016) New insights into the phenotype of human dendritic cell populations. *Clin Transl Immunology* 5, e61.
- Cuesta-Mateos C, Alcaraz-Serna A, Somovilla-Crespo B and Muñoz-Calleja C (2018) Monoclonal antibody therapies for hematological malignancies: not just lineage-specific targets. *Front Immunol* **8**, 1936.
- Dobin A, Davis CA, Schlesinger F, Drenkow J, Zaleski C, Jha S, Batut P, Chaisson M and Gingeras TR (2013)
  STAR: ultrafast universal RNA-seq aligner. *Bioinformatics* 29, 15–21.
- Dobrowolska H, Gill KZ, Serban G, Ivan E, Li Q, Qiao P, Suciu-Foca N, Savage D, Alobeid B, Bhagat G *et al.* (2013) Expression of immune inhibitory receptor ILT3 in acute myeloid leukemia with monocytic differentiation. *Cytometry B Clin Cytom* 84, 21–29.
- Gasiorowski RE, Clark GJ, Bradstock K and Hart DN (2014) Antibody therapy for acute myeloid leukaemia. *Br J Haematol* **164**, 481–495.

- Gill S, Tasian SK, Ruella M, Shestova O, Li Y, Porter DL, Carroll M, Danet-Desnoyers G, Scholler J and Grupp SA (2014) Preclinical targeting of human acute myeloid leukemia and myeloablation using chimeric antigen receptor-modified T cells. *Blood* 123, 2343–2354.
- Hsu AP, Sampaio EP, Khan J, Calvo KR, Lemieux JE, Patel SY, Frucht DM, Vinh DC, Auth RD, Freeman AF *et al.* (2011) Mutations in GATA2 are associated with the autosomal dominant and sporadic monocytopenia and mycobacterial infection (MonoMAC) syndrome. *Blood* **118**, 2653–2655.
- Jen EY, Ko C-W, Lee JE, Del Valle PL, Aydanian A, Jewell C, Norsworthy KJ, Przepiorka D, Nie L and Liu J (2018) FDA approval: gemtuzumab ozogamicin for the treatment of adults with newly diagnosed CD33-positive acute myeloid leukemia. *Clin Cancer Res* 24, 3242–3246.
- Ju X, Zenke M, Hart DN and Clark GJ (2008) CD300a/c regulate type I interferon and TNF-alpha secretion by human plasmacytoid dendritic cells stimulated with TLR7 and TLR9 ligands. *Blood* **112**, 1184–1194.
- Juliusson G, Antunovic P, Derolf A, Lehmann S, Mollgard L, Stockelberg D, Tidefelt U, Wahlin A and Hoglund M (2009) Age and acute myeloid leukemia: real world data on decision to treat and outcomes from the Swedish Acute Leukemia Registry. *Blood* 113, 4179– 4187.
- Klein C, Lammens A, Schafer W, Georges G, Schwaiger M, Mossner E, Hopfner KP, Umana P and Niederfellner G (2013) Epitope interactions of monoclonal antibodies targeting CD20 and their relationship to functional properties. *mAbs* 5, 22–33.
- Korver W, Zhao X, Singh S, Pardoux C, Zhao J, Guzman ML, Sen S, Yonkovich S, Liu S, Zhan X *et al.* (2009) Monoclonal antibodies against IREM-1: potential for targeted therapy of AML. *Leukemia* 23, 1587–1597.
- Leong SR, Sukumaran S, Hristopoulos M, Totpal K, Stainton S, Lu E, Wong A, Tam L, Newman R and Vuillemenot BR (2017) An anti-CD3/anti-CLL-1 bispecific antibody for the treatment of acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood* **129**, 609–618.
- Mardis ER (2014) Sequencing the AML genome, transcriptome, and epigenome. *Semin Hematol* **51**, 250–258.
- Marquez JA, Galfre E, Dupeux F, Flot D, Moran O and Dimasi N (2007) The crystal structure of the extracellular domain of the inhibitor receptor expressed on myeloid cells IREM-1. *J Mol Biol* **367**, 310–318.
- Masetti R, Vendemini F, Zama D, Biagi C, Pession A and Locatelli F (2015) Acute myeloid leukemia in infants: biology and treatment. *Front Pediat* **3**, 37.
- Modra CJ, Jamriska L, Rao M, Clark GJ and Hart DNJ (2006) MMRI-23: A potential role in AML antibodymediated therapy. *Blood* **108**, 225b.
- Perna F, Berman SH, Soni RK, Mansilla-Soto J, Eyquem J, Hamieh M, Hendrickson RC, Brennan CW and

Sadelain M (2017) Integrating proteomics and transcriptomics for systematic combinatorial chimeric antigen receptor therapy of AML. *Cancer Cell* **32**(506–519), e505.

- Pfaffl MW (2001) A new mathematical model for relative quantification in real-time RT–PCR. *Nucleic Acids Res* **29**, e45–e45.
- Pizzitola I, Anjos-Afonso F, Rouault-Pierre K, Lassailly F, Tettamanti S, Spinelli O, Biondi A, Biagi E and Bonnet D (2014) Chimeric antigen receptors against CD33/CD123 antigens efficiently target primary acute myeloid leukemia cells in vivo. *Leukemia* 28, 1596.
- Stein EM, Walter RB, Erba HP, Fathi AT, Advani AS, Lancet JE, Ravandi F, Kovacsovics T, DeAngelo DJ and Bixby D (2018) A phase 1 trial of vadastuximab talirine as monotherapy in patients with CD33-positive acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood* 131, 387–396.
- Strassberger V, Gutbrodt KL, Krall N, Roesli C, Takizawa H, Manz MG, Fugmann T and Neri D (2014) A comprehensive surface proteome analysis of myeloid leukemia cell lines for therapeutic antibody development. J Proteomics 99, 138–151.
- Swerdlow SH, Campo E, Harris NL, Jaffe ES, Pileri SA, Stein H, Thiele J and Vardiman JW (2008) WHO Classification of Tumours. Vol. 2. IACR Publications, Lyon.
- Taussig DC, Pearce DJ, Simpson C, Rohatiner AZ, Lister TA, Kelly G, Luongo JL, Gwenn-aël H and Bonnet D (2005) Hematopoietic stem cells express multiple myeloid markers: implications for the origin and targeted therapy of acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood* 106, 4086–4092.
- Vardiman JW, Thiele J, Arber DA, Brunning RD, Borowitz MJ, Porwit A, Harris NL, Le Beau MM, Hellstrom-Lindberg E, Tefferi A *et al.* (2009) The 2008 revision of the World Health Organization (WHO) classification of myeloid neoplasms and acute leukemia: rationale and important changes. *Blood* 114, 937–951.

# **Supporting information**

Additional supporting information may be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of the article.

**Table S1.** Clinical characteristics of AML samples tested.ND Not determined.

**Fig. S1.** Gating strategy to identify AML and HSCs. (A) After initially gating on PI negative viable cells, hematopoietic stem cells were identified as lineage-CD45<sup>dim</sup>CD34<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>-</sup>CD45RA<sup>-</sup>CD90<sup>+</sup>. Multipotent progenitors (MPP) were identified as lineage-CD45<sup>dim</sup>CD34<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>-</sup>CD45RA<sup>-</sup>CD90<sup>-</sup>. Myeloid progenitors are contained in the CD34<sup>+</sup> CD38<sup>+</sup> subset. (B) Blasts were identified as CD45<sup>dim</sup>SSC<sup>low</sup>. The leukemia stem

cell enriched  $CD34^+CD38^-$  fraction was identified from this gate. (C) The relative MFI ratios of total CD34 + cells, myeloid progenitors ( $CD34^+$   $CD38^+$ subset), MPP and HSC were compared between bone marrow and cord blood cells.

**Fig. S2.** Sequences of the CD300f isoforms listed in NCBI indicating the alternating exon structure in blue/ black type.

**Fig. S3.** Specificity of CD300f antibodies. (A) Binding of CD300f antibodies to CD300f transfected CHO cells. Antibody (unshaded histogram) compared to isotype for each antibody (shaded histogram). CD300f antibodies were tested by ELISA for binding to (B) CD300f-Ig fusion protein and (C) CD300b-Ig fusion protein. ELISA was performed n = 2, error bars represent SEM from duplicate wells of representative result. (D) Graphs showing the geometric MFI mean of CD300f antibodies binding to four myeloid derived cell lines. Error bars represent SEM.

**Fig. S4.** Expression of multiple CD300f splice variants in primary AML samples. Graph showing fold difference in expression of CD300f<sup>C</sup> and CD300f<sup>S14</sup> in cDNA prepared from AML samples with a high blast count, blasts sorted from AML populations, healthy CD14 monocytes HL-60, HEL and U937. CD300f specific amplicons were normalized to the HPRT endogenous gene transcripts in U937. Error bars represent SEM.

**Fig. S5.** Cross-blocking studies with CD300f antibodies. CD300f transfected CHO cells were incubated with a saturating amount of each primary antibody, (x axis). Cells were then stained with the test antibodies (A) UP-D1 (B) 234903 (C) CLM-1 (D) LMIR3. The binding of the test antibody in the presence of the primary antibody was calculated as by MFI compared to an isotype control, with 0 binding indicating complete overlap of epitopes, and 1 binding indicating no overlap of epitopes (n = 3). Error bars represent SEM.



Gating strategy to identify AML and HSCs. (A) After initially gating on PI negative viable cells, hematopoietic stem cells were identified as lineage-CD45dimCD34+CD38–CD45RA-CD90+. Multipotent progenitors (MPP) were identified as lineage-CD45dimCD34+CD38–CD45RA-CD90–. Myeloid progenitors are contained in the CD34+ CD38+ subset. (B) Blasts were identified as CD45dimSSClow. The leukemia stem cell enriched CD34+CD38– fraction was identified from this gate. (C) The relative MFI ratios of total CD34 + cells, myeloid progenitors (CD34+ CD38+ subset), MPP and HSC were compared between bone marrow and cord blood cells.

Canonica	al	1	MPLLTLYLLLFWLSGYSIVTQITGPTTVNGLERGSLTVQCVYRSGWETYLKWWCRGAIWRDCKILVKTSGSEQEVKR	77
Isoform	2	1	MWLPQLDLMRVISAKSQGYSIVTQITGPTTVNGLERGSLTVQCVYRSGWETYLKWWCRGAIWRDCKILVKTSGSEQEVKR	80
Isoform	3	1	MPLLTLYLLLFWLSGYSIVTQITGPTTVNGLERGSLTVQCVYRSGWETYLKWWCRGAIWRDCKILVKTSGSEQEVKR	77
Isoform	4	1	MPLLTLYLLLFWLSGYSIVTQITGPTTVNGLERGSLTVQCVYRSGWETYLKWWCRGAIWRDCKILVKTSGSEQEVKR	77
Isoform	5	1	MWLPQLDLMRVISAKSQGYSIVTQITGPTTVNGLERGSLTVQCVYRSGWETYLKWWCRGAIWRDCKILVKTSGSEQEVKR	80
Isoform	6	1	MWLPQLDLMRVISAKSQGYSIVTQITGPTTVNGLERGSLTVQCVYRSGWETYLKWWCRGAIWRDCKILVKTSGSEQEVKR	80
Isoform	7	1	MPLLTLYLLLFWLSGYSIVTQITGPTTVNGLERGSLTVQCVYRSGWETYLKWWCRGAIWRDCKILVKTSGSEQEVKR	77
Isoform	1	78	DRVSIKDNQKNRTFTVTMEDLMKTDADTYWCGIEKTGNDLGVTVQVTIDPAPVTQEETSSSPTLTG	143
Isoform	2	81	DRVSIKDNQKNRTFTVTMEDLMKTDADTYWCGIEKTGNDLGVTVQVTIDPAPVTQEETSSSPTLTG	146
Isoform	3	78	DRVSIKDNQKNRTFTVTMEDLMKTDADTYWCGIEKTGNDLGVTVQVTIDPAPVTQEETSSSPTLTG	143
Isoform	4	78	DRVSIKDNQKNRTFTVTMEDLMKTDADTYWCGIEKTGNDLGVTVQVTIDPAstpapttptsttftPVTQEETSSSPTLTG	157
Isoform	5	81	DRVSIKDNQKNRTFTVTMEDLMKTDADTYWCGIEKTGNDLGVTVQVTIDFAPVTQEETSSSPTLTG	146
Isoform	6	81	DRVSIKDNQKNRTFTVTMEDLMKTDADTYWCGIEKTGNDLGVTVQVTIDPAstpapttptsttftPVTQEETSSSPTLTG	160
Isoform	7	78	DRVSIKDNQKNRTFTVTMEDLMKTDADTYWCGIEKTGNDLGVTVQVTIDPAPVTQEETSSSPTLTG	143
Isoform	1	149	HHLDNRHKLLKLSVLLPLIFTILLLLVAASLLAWRMMKYOOKAAGMSPEOVLO	197
Isoform	2	159	HHLDNSssrdvprA	167
Isoform	3	150	HHLDNRSEGSOAANYRPAAHOAOAPEAOCPPAPHLHHIAAAFGGRLTLGLEDDEVPAESSRDVPRAgtaAPGGRPL	219
Isoform	4	164	HHLDNRHKLLKLSVLLPLIFTILLLLVAASLLAWRMMKYOOKAAGMSPEOVLO	211
Isoform	5	152	HHLDNRHKLLKLSVLLPLIFTILLLLVAASLLAWRMMKYQQKAAGMSPEQVLQ	200
Isoform	6	167	HHLDNRHKLLKLSVLLPLIFTILLLLLVAASLLAWRMMKYQQKqtaAPGGRPL	213
Isoform	7	149	HHLDNRHKLLKLSVLLPLIFTILLLLLVAASLLAWRMMKYQQKgtaAPGGRPL	196
Isoform	1	204	PLEGDLCYADLTLOLAGTSPOKATTKLSSAOVDOVEVEYVTMASLPKEDISYASLTLGAEDOEPTYCNMGHLSSHLPGRG	277
Isoform	2	171	RPLLCRPDPAAGRNLPAKGYHEAFLCPG	195
Isoform	3	221	LCRPDPAAGRNLPAKGYHEAFLCPG	244
Isoform	4	219	PLEGDLCYADLTLQLAGTSPQKATTKLSSAQVDQVEVEYVTMASLPKEDISYASLTLGAEDQEPTYCNMGHLSSHLPGRG	291
Isoform	5	207	PLEGDLCYADLTLQLAGTSPQKATTKLSSAQVDQVEVEYVTMASLPKEDISYASLTLGAEDQEPTYCNMGHLSSHLPGRG	280
Isoform	6	216	LCRPDPAAGRNLPAKGYHEAFLCPG	239
Isoform	7	198	LCRPDPAAGRNLPAKGYHEAFLCPG	221
Isoform	1	284	PEEPTEYSTISRP 290	
Isoform	2			
Isoform	3			
Isoform	4	299	PEEPTEYSTISRP 305	
Isoform	5	287	PEEPTEYSTISRP 293	
Isoform	6			
Isoform	7			

Sequences of the CD300f isoforms listed in NCBI indicating the alternating exon structure in blue/black type.



Specificity of CD300f antibodies. (A) Binding of CD300f antibodies to CD300f transfected CHO cells. Antibody (unshaded histogram) compared to isotype for each antibody (shaded histogram). CD300f antibodies were tested by ELISA for binding to (B) CD300f-Ig fusion protein and (C) CD300b-Ig fusion protein. ELISA was performed n = 2, error bars represent SEM from duplicate wells of representative result. (D) Graphs showing the geometric MFI mean of CD300f antibodies binding to four myeloid derived cell lines. Error bars represent SEM.



Expression of multiple CD300f splice variants in primary AML samples. Graph showing fold difference in expression of CD300fC and CD300fSI4 in cDNA prepared from AML samples with a high blast count, blasts sorted from AML populations, healthy CD14 monocytes HL-60, HEL and U937. CD300f specific amplicons were normalized to the HPRT endogenous gene transcripts in U937. Error bars represent SEM.



Cross-blocking studies with CD300f antibodies. CD300f transfected CHO cells were incubated with a saturating amount of each primary antibody, (x axis). Cells were then stained with the test antibodies (A) UP-D1 (B) 234903 (C) CLM-1 (D) LMIR3. The binding of the test antibody in the presence of the primary antibody was calculated as by MFI compared to an isotype control, with 0 binding indicating complete overlap of epitopes, and 1 binding indicating no overlap of epitopes (n = 3). Error bars represent SEM.

# Chapter 6: Targeting CD300f to enhance hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in acute myeloid leukaemia

Abadir E, Silveira S, Gasiorowski RE, Ramesh M, Romano A, Mekkawy A, Lo T, Kabani K, Sutherland S, Pietersz G, Ho PJ, Bryant C, Larsen S, Clark G. Targeting CD300f to enhance hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in acute myeloid leukaemia. Blood Advances. 2020;4(7):1206–1216.

# Targeting CD300f to enhance hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in acute myeloid leukemia

Edward Abadir,<sup>1-3</sup> Pablo A. Silveira,<sup>1,2</sup> Robin E. Gasiorowski,<sup>1,2,4</sup> Murari Ramesh,<sup>2</sup> Adelina Romano,<sup>1</sup> Ahmed H. Mekkawy,<sup>1</sup> Tsun-Ho Lo,<sup>1</sup> Karieshma Kabani,<sup>3</sup> Sarah Sutherland,<sup>1</sup> Geoffrey A. Pietersz,<sup>5-7</sup> P. Joy Ho,<sup>2,3</sup> Christian E. Bryant,<sup>3</sup> Stephen R. Larsen,<sup>2,3</sup> and Georgina J. Clark<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Dendritic Cell Research, ANZAC Research Institute, Sydney, NSW, Australia; <sup>2</sup>Sydney Medical School, University of Sydney, NSW, Australia; <sup>3</sup>Institute of Haematology, Royal Prince Alfred Hospital, Sydney, NSW, Australia; <sup>4</sup>Department of Haematology, Concord Repatriation General Hospital, Sydney, NSW, Australia; <sup>5</sup>Atherothrombosis and Vascular Biology, Baker Heart & Diabetes Institute, Melbourne, VIC, Australia; <sup>6</sup>Burnet Institute, Melbourne, VIC, Australia; and <sup>7</sup>Department of Immunology, Monash University, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

#### **Key Points**

- CD300f is expressed in the majority of AML patients and across HSPCs; an anti-CD300f ADC depletes AML cells and HSPCs.
- In vitro and in vivo data suggest targeted CD300f therapy enhances efficacy and reduces toxicity of HSCT in AML.

Allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (allo-HSCT) significantly reduces the rate of relapse in acute myeloid leukemia (AML) but comes at the cost of significant treatment-related mortality. Despite the reduction in relapse overall, it remains common, especially in high-risk groups. The outcomes for patients who relapse after transplant remains very poor. A large proportion of the morbidity that prevents most patients from accessing allo-HSCT is due to toxic nonspecific conditioning agents that are required to remove recipient hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells (HSPCs), allowing for successful donor engraftment. CD300f is expressed evenly across HSPC subtypes. CD300f has transcription and protein expression equivalent to CD33 on AML. We have developed an anti-CD300f antibody that efficiently internalizes into target cells. We have generated a highly potent anti-CD300f antibody-drug conjugate (ADC) with a pyrrolobenzodiazepine warhead that selectively depletes AML cell lines and colony forming units in vitro. The ADC synergizes with fludarabine, making it a natural combination to use in a minimal toxicity conditioning regimen. Our ADC prolongs the survival of mice engrafted with human cell lines and depletes primary human AML engrafted with a single injection. In a humanized mouse model, a single injection of the ADC depletes CD34<sup>+</sup> HSPCs and CD34<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>-</sup>CD90<sup>+</sup> hematopoietic stem cells. This work establishes an anti-CD300f ADC as an attractive potential therapeutic that, if validated in transplant models using a larger cohort of primary AML samples, will reduce relapse rate and toxicity for patients with AML undergoing allo-HSCT.

## Introduction

Relapse after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplant (allo-HSCT) for acute myeloid leukemia (AML) occurs in 24% to 36% of patients, and the outcomes for these patients are poor.<sup>1</sup> Disease genetic characteristics can predict for relapse overall and impact post–allo-HSCT relapse rates.<sup>2</sup> The rate of relapse after allo-HSCT is higher in adverse-risk groups, particularly in some subgroups such as monosomal karyotypes.<sup>3,4</sup> Postinduction factors that predict relapse include the presence of residual disease. Minimal residual disease (MRD) positivity prior to allo-HSCT, detected by flow cytometry, quantitative polymerase chain reaction, or next-generation sequencing, correlates with relapse.<sup>5-7</sup> Although allo-HSCT remains the only potential curative option in patients with refractory disease, relapse rates remain high in that setting.<sup>8</sup>

Submitted 27 November 2019; accepted 19 February 2020; published online 26 March 2020. DOI 10.1182/bloodadvances.2019001289. For data sharing, please e-mail the corresponding author.

The full-text version of this article contains a data supplement. © 2020 by The American Society of Hematology

The role of the immune response and graft-versus-leukemia effect is well established.<sup>9</sup> Evidence demonstrates that the intensity of conditioning plays a clear role in reducing relapse risk. Myeloablative (MA) allo-HSCT conditioning regimens reduce relapse more than reduced-intensity conditioning (RIC) and non-MA regimens.<sup>10</sup> The increased relapse rate seen in patients who are MRD positive or undergo non-MA conditioning suggests that reducing the burden of disease by the time of transplant is critical to improving outcomes.

The advent of RIC and non-MA regimens has transformed transplantation, making it accessible to older patients and those with comorbidities. RIC regimens demonstrate significantly less treatmentrelated mortality (TRM) than MA regimens.<sup>11</sup> Despite the reduction seen in RIC, TRM remains significant, especially in those >65 years.<sup>12</sup> The development of antibody-based therapies depleting hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells (HSPCs) as part of allo-HSCT conditioning is expanding.<sup>13</sup> Such therapies may reduce or eliminate traditional methods of depleting HSPC such as alkylating agents and irradiation. Preclinical studies demonstrate that antibody-drug conjugate (ADC)-based conditioning limits damage to bone marrow (BM) architecture and accelerates immune recovery compared with traditional conditioning.<sup>14</sup> The advent of targeted condition has the potential to further reduce TRM.

The CD300f protein (encoded by the *CD300LF* gene) is an inhibitory receptor found on healthy myeloid cells, including antigen-presenting cells (APCs).<sup>15,16</sup> CD300f is present on a high proportion of AML cells as well as HSPCs.<sup>17,18</sup> Its distribution makes CD300f an excellent target in both AML therapy and targeted allo-HSCT conditioning. We have completed proof-of-principle work demonstrating how incorporating an anti-CD300f ADC into conditioning for allo-HSCT in AML may decrease relapse and toxicity by reducing/replacing traditional agents.

# Methods

#### **Preparation of tissue samples**

Blood and BM samples from patients with AML or healthy individuals were collected at Concord Repatriation General Hospital (CRGH) or Royal Prince Alfred Hospital (Sydney, Australia). Patient and sample demographics are provided in supplemental Table 1. Peripheral blood (PB) or BM samples from healthy donors were collected at CRGH. Cord blood (CB) samples were collected by the Sydney CB Bank. Donors provided informed consent under ethical approval obtained from the Sydney Local District Human Research Ethics Committee (HREC/12/CRGH/59, HREC/11/CRGH/61 and 118). Mononuclear cells (MCs) were isolated from samples using density gradient centrifugation through Ficoll-Paque Plus (GE Healthcare) according to the manufacturer's protocols. Samples were passed through a 22G needle to disrupt BM fragments and then filtered prior to MC isolation as above. Human monocytes were purified from MCs by CD14 MicroBeads selection using an AutoMACS Pro (Miltenyi Biotec).

#### **Cell lines**

The AML cell lines HL-60 and THP-1 were obtained by Derek Hart at the Christchurch School of Medicine, University of Otago. The U973, Z-138, and Mino cell lines were from the American Type Culture Collection. All cell lines were maintained in complete RPMI 1640 (complete RPMI) containing 10% fetal calf serum, 2 mM Gluta-MAX, 100 U/mL penicillin, and 100  $\mu g/mL$  streptomycin (ThermoFisher).

#### Gene expression

AML gene expression data were retrieved from the Gene Expression Omnibus microarray dataset GSE14468.<sup>19</sup> HSPC gene expression was retrieved from GSE42519, GSE17054, and GSE19599.<sup>20-22</sup> The series matrix files were parsed in R, and the probe ID and signal values corresponding to *CD300LF* (*1553043\_a\_at*) and *CD33* (*206120\_at*) extracted. The human GTEx data were analyzed in RStudio. Tissue type and transcription data in transcripts per million *CD300LF* and *CD33* were extracted from all experiments in this data set.

#### Antibodies

Antibodies used for phenotyping can be found in the supplemental Methods.

#### Internalization assays

Details of internalization assays can be found in the supplemental Methods.

#### Generation of DCR-2-PBD and isotype-PBD

DCR-2 is a murine immunoglobulin G<sub>1</sub> antibody that binds all extracellular forms of CD300f. DCR-2 and an isotype control antibody were conjugated to pyrrolobenzodiazepine (PBD) dimers by native cysteine chemistry via a cathepsin B–cleavable linker, MA-PEG4-VA-PBD (SET0212, Levena Biopharma). Briefly, monoclonal antibody (mAb) was reduced with 10 mM dithioerythritol to expose free thiols of interchain disulfides. The reduced antibody was reacted with a 10-fold molar excess of PBD linker (MA-PEG4-PBD) (10 mg/mL) for 3 hours before overnight dialysis into phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). The final drug-to-antibody molar ratios were 3.3 for DCR-2-PBD and 4.6 for isotype-PBD.

#### Cytotoxicity assays

Details of cytotoxicity assays can be found in the supplemental Methods.

#### CFU toxicity assay

Human CB or primary AML cells were plated at  $2 \times 10^4$  cells/well in semisolid methylcellulose medium (MethoCult Classic, Stemcell Technologies) in a 24-well plate (Corning) were cultured at 37°C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for 14 days when colony-forming units (CFUs) were scored. DCR-2-PBD or isotype-PBD was added to each well for continuous exposure. Three CB samples were tested with duplicate wells performed in each experiment. Primary AML cells were taken from PB samples with >90% blasts and performed in duplicate.

# Activation marker expression and MoDC toxicity assays

Monocyte-derived dendritic cells (MoDCs) were derived from CD14<sup>+</sup> monocytes as described previously.<sup>23</sup> MoDC phenotyping used accepted activation markers on dendritic cell populations.<sup>24</sup> Details of the assays can be found in supplemental Methods.

#### Mouse xenograft assays

NOD.Cg-*Prkdc*<sup>scid</sup>/l2rg<sup>tm1Wjl</sup>/SzJ (NSG) mice (Australian BioResources) were housed under specific-pathogen-free conditions. In the subcutaneous model,  $2 \times 10^{6}$  U937 cells were injected under

the skin on the right flank. Tumors were measured daily with electronic calipers. When the mean volume of the tumors was  $>100 \text{ mm}^3$ , DCR-2-PBD, isotype-PBD, or PBS was injected intraperitoneally once. Mice were assigned so each cohort had a similar mean starting tumor volume (range, 130.3-137.2 mm<sup>3</sup>). Tumor volume was measured until  $>1000 \text{ mm}^3$ , when mice were euthanized.

For the BM HL-60 model, NSG mice were irradiated with 200 cGy 24 hours prior to IV administration of  $5 \times 10^6$  HL-60 cells. On day 7, mice were injected with DCR-2-PBD, isotype-PBD, or PBS and monitored for disease progression and survival. Mice were euthanized when their clinical score was  $\geq$ 4 or on day 70.

The humanized mouse model used CD34<sup>+</sup> cells (>95% purity) isolated by positive selection (Miltenyi 130-046-702) according to the manufacturer's instructions from 2 pooled CB samples. Each NSG mouse was injected with 100 000 CD34<sup>+</sup> cells 4 hours after receiving a 150-cGy irradiation dose. Engraftment as determined by percentage of human CD45<sup>+</sup> cells in venous blood was assessed at 12 weeks. Mice were assigned to treatment groups to have similar means of human CD45<sup>+</sup> percentage in the PB (10.16% DCR-2-PBD cohort and 10.74% isotype-PBD cohort). Mice were then injected with 300  $\mu$ g/kg of DCR-2-PBD or isotype-PBD. Mice were euthanized on day 7, and human CD45<sup>+</sup> cells from BM (bilateral femurs and tibias) and 300  $\mu$ l blood were enumerated and phenotyped by flow cytometry.

For primary AML xenografts, NSG mice were irradiated with 150 cGy 24 hours before  $8 \times 10^6$  AML cells from CRGH11 (sample 10, supplemental Table 1) were injected IV. Once engraftment was established (>1% human CD45-positive events in PB), mice were given DCR-2-PBD or isotype-PBD. Mice were euthanized 6 days later, and the BM was harvested for enumeration and surface marker analysis by flow cytometry.

#### Flow cytometry

CD300f expression on primary AML and BM samples was performed on an Influx flow cytometer (BD Biosciences). AML cell line experiments were performed on an Accuri flow cytometer (BD Biosciences). Remaining assays were performed on a Fortessa LSR flow cytometer (BD Biosciences). Analysis, including TiSNE, was performed using FlowJo.

#### **Statistical analysis**

Statistical analysis was performed using Prism (GraphPad Software). Error bars correspond to standard error. Differences in means between 2 groups were assessed using Student *t* tests. Multiple-group tests were performed using analysis of variance with posttest comparisons. Differences in survival were assessed using a log-rank (Mantel-Cox) test. The combination index was calculated using Compusyn software.<sup>25</sup>

#### Results

# CD300f is expressed on AML and HSPCs, but not outside of the hematopoietic system

To assess the distribution of CD300f, gene expression data were analyzed. As gentuzumab ozogamicin, which targets CD33, is the only approved AML therapeutic that binds a surface molecule, we compared expression of CD300f to CD33 in AML. We analyzed expression array data from patients with AML (n = 460) to compare

CD33 and CD300LF (Figure 1A). The mean CD300LF expression level was significantly higher than CD33 (8.39 log<sub>2</sub> vs 7.89 log<sub>2</sub>, P < .0001). There was a weak correlation in transcript expression between CD300LF and CD33 (r = 0.16, P = .004). There were no significant differences in CD300LF expression across the European LeukemiaNet risk groups (supplemental Figure 1A).

Protein expression of CD300f and CD33 was compared by flow cytometry (Figure 1B). There was no significant difference in mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) ratios, and there was a moderate to strong correlation in expression (r = 0.63, P = .0001). CD300f protein expression on the CD34<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>-</sup> subset of primary AML showed no significant correlation with CD33 protein expression (supplemental Figure 1B). Single-cell expression was compared on a set of 9 AMLs using TiSNE, with a similar distribution seen for CD300f (supplemental Figure 1C) and CD33 (supplemental Figure 1D). Gene expression array data demonstrated CD300f expression across hematopoietic stem cells and myeloid hematopoietic progenitor cells (Figure 1C), with the lowest expression in megakaryocyte/erythroid progenitors (P < .0001). Protein expression by flow cytometry did not reveal any significant differences in MFI ratio across the groups of HSPCs. A standard gating strategy (supplemental Figure 3) was used to determine HSPC subsets. Protein expression on peripheral blood mononuclear cells showed CD300f expression on monocytes and neutrophils, but not lymphocytes (supplemental Figure 2). RNA sequencing (RNA-seq) data from the human GTx database of multiple organs were analyzed for potential off-target effects of anti-CD300f-based therapy. Both CD33 and CD300LF had significantly increased expression in the blood, spleen, and lungs compared with all other organs (P < .0001) (Figure 1E-F). Immunohistochemistry analysis by The Human Protein Atlas (https://www.proteinatlas.org/) indicates that CD33 and CD300f are expressed on lung macrophages, but not on pneumocytes.

#### Antibodies to CD300f are internalized upon binding

The mouse anti-human CD300f antibody, DCR-2 was assessed for its ability to be internalized by flow cytometry. It rapidly internalizes upon binding to HL-60 cells (Figure 2A). Internalization is significant at 30 minutes and is >50% at 180 minutes. Internalization at 30 minutes was confirmed by fluorescence microscopy on HL-60, CD14<sup>+</sup> monocytes and primary AML cells (Figure 2B). The internalization data demonstrates that DCR-2 is a suitable mAb for ADC development.

#### In vitro cytotoxicity of DCR-2-PBD

DCR-2 and an isotype control mAb were conjugated to a PBD toxin to assess potential cytotoxicity. The cytotoxicity of DCR-2-PBD and the isotype-PBD were tested against CD300f<sup>+</sup> and CD300f<sup>-</sup> cell lines (Figure 3A). DCR-2-PBD killed the CD300f<sup>+</sup> AML cell lines HL-60, U937, and THP-1 with 50% inhibitory concentrations (IC<sub>50</sub>s) in the low picomolar range (5.44, 6.74, and 29.39 pM, respectively). These IC<sub>50</sub>s are similar to those of other PBD-based ADCs.<sup>26,27</sup> DCR-2-PBD has >200 pM IC<sub>50</sub> against the CD300<sup>-</sup> lymphoma cell line Z-138. The isotype-PBD has an IC<sub>50</sub> of >200 pM against HL-60 and U937.

AML surface targets, including CD300f, can be heterogeneously expressed within AML cases, and we considered bystander killing advantageous for an effective ADC. We investigated bystander killing by comparing the viability of the CD300f<sup>-</sup> lymphoma cell line

Figure 1. CD300f expression on AML cells, HSPCs, and organ expression. (A) CD33 is compared with CD300f by gene expression using linear regression analysis. (B) MFI ratios of CD33 and CD300f on patient-derived AML cells (n = 33) are compared with linear regression. (C) CD300f gene expression across HSPC subtypes (\*\*\*\*P < .0001 megakaryocyte/erythroid progenitors vs all other subtypes). (D) MFI ratios of CD300f on HSPC from healthy BM. (E) CD300f gene expression by RNA-seq across multiple organ types from the human GTEx dataset (\*\*\*\*P < .0001 blood, spleen or lung vs all organs). (F) CD33 gene expression by RNA-seq across multiple organ types (\*\*\*\*P < .0001 blood, spleen, or lung vs all organs). Red bars indicate hematopoietic organs. TPM, transcripts per million.



Mino cultured on its own with Mino cultured mixed with HL-60 in the presence of DCR-2-PBD (Figure 3B). There was a significant reduction in viability in the 75% Mino condition with DCR-2-PBD at 25 pM (P = .0002) compared with the Mino-only control. In the

50% Mino condition, there was a significant reduction in viability in both the 25 pM (P < .0001) and 12.5 pM (P = .0004) DCR-2-PBD concentrations. The reduction in Mino cells when combined with HL-60 confirms the ability of DCR-2-PBD to generate bystander killing.

Downloaded from https://ashpublications.org/bloodadvances/article-pdf/4/7/1206/1720309/advancesadv2019001289.pdf by guest on 27 March 2020



Figure 2. Internalization of DCR-2. (A) Internalization kinetics of DCR-2 on HL-60 (% internalized = relative MFI of total – relative MFI of surface staining). (B) Immunofluorescent microscopy of HL-60, CD14<sup>+</sup> monocytes, and primary AML at 0 minutes (no internalization) and 30 minutes showing internalization of CD300f detected by LMIR-3 antibody. Isotype control shown is at 30 minutes. Images were taken at 63× magnification using a 63× HC PL APO CS2 NA 1.40 lens.

Fludarabine is used in many allo-HSCT regimens to facilitate donor cell engraftment by depleting host lymphocytes. Fludarabine combined with PBD demonstrates synergistic cytotoxic properties.<sup>28</sup> An anti-CD300f therapeutic would deplete recipient HSPCs, but not host lymphocytes, as part of a conditioning regimen. Given these complementary roles, we assessed a synergistic relationship between DCR-2-PBD and fludarabine. Cytotoxicity of HL-60 (Figure 3C) and THP-1 (data not shown) was greater in the presence of both DCR-2-PBD and fludarabine than either alone, confirming a synergistic relationship with a combination index of 0.82 and 0.76, respectively. We assessed the exposure time required for DCR-2-PBD to cause cytotoxicity on the HL-60 cell line (Figure 3D). At 12 hours, >98% of HL-60 proliferation was inhibited, while at 24 and 96 hours, inhibition was >99%.

We used a CFU assay to test DCR-2-PBD activity against HSPC and primary AML. Significant reductions in total CFUs were seen at 7.84 (P = .0033), 39.21 (P < .0001), and 196.1 pM (P < .0001) (Figure 3E). All major CFU subtypes were inhibited at the 32.9 and 196.1 pM concentrations by DCR-2-PBD (Figure 3F). Two primary AML samples were tested: CRGH1 with low CD300f expression (MFI ratio of 2.6) and CRGH9 with a high CD300f expression (MFI 109.9) (Figure 3G). Significant toxicity was demonstrated against CRGH1 at 196.1 pM (P = .036). Significant toxicity was seen in CRGH9 at all dose levels (P < .001).

CD300f is expressed on myeloid APCs; therefore, depletion of CD300f-expressing cells may impair recipient antigen presentation.<sup>29</sup> We examined if DCR-2-PBD would reduce myeloid APC cell numbers, prevent activation, or have a functional inhibitory effect (supplemental Figure 4). MoDCs were used to test the ability of DCR-2-PBD to deplete APCs. DCR-2-PBD did not significantly reduce MoDC numbers. PBD has demonstrated cytotoxicity against quiescent and dividing cells but to our knowledge has not been previously trialed on terminally differentiated myeloid cells.<sup>30</sup> The impact of DCR-2-PBD on myeloid APC activation was assessed by incubating APCs with DCR-2-PBD followed by lipopolysaccharide. DCR-2-PBD did not inhibit the expression of activation markers on Lineage<sup>-</sup> HLADR<sup>+</sup> CD11c<sup>+</sup> myeloid dendritic cells. DCR-2-PBD did not prevent T-cell activation in a 1-way mixed lymphocyte reaction.

# DCR-2-PBD prolongs the survival of mouse AML cell line models

DCR-2-PBD in vivo function was tested in subcutaneous and BM cell line models. U937 was injected subcutaneously in NSG mice. Mice were injected with a single dose of PBS, isotype-PBD (150 or 300  $\mu$ g/kg) or DCR-2-PBD (150 or 300  $\mu$ g/kg) (Figure 4A), and mice were monitored for tumor growth. Tumor growth was delayed, and survival was significantly increased in both the 150  $\mu$ g/kg group (P = .0019) and 300  $\mu$ g/kg (P = .0017) of DCR-2-PBD compared with the isotype-PBD (300 µg/kg) group. A second model used irradiated mice that were IV injected with HL-60, which led to heavy BM infiltration, met clinical end points at a median of day 23. A single injection of DCR-2-PBD (300 µg/kg) significantly increased survival (P = .0058) compared with isotype-PBD (Figure 4B). Six of 8 animals treated with DCR-2-PBD survived to the experiment end point. No human cells could be detected in mice surviving until day 70, and the range of human CD45<sup>+</sup> cells in all other mice was 76% to 88% at the time of euthanasia.

# DCR-2-PBD depleted both primary HSPCs and AML cells in mouse xenografts

Further proof of principle for an anti-CD300f ADC to contribute to allo-HSCT conditioning was demonstrated using DCR-2-PBD to selectively deplete HSPCs and myeloid cells in a humanized mouse model. Humanized mice injected with a single dose of DCR-2-PBD (300 µg/kg) had a significant depletion in the mean of both total CD34<sup>+</sup> (0.29  $\times$  10<sup>5</sup> vs 9.42  $\times$  10<sup>5</sup>, P = .001) and total primitive  $CD34^+CD38^-CD90^+$  cells  $(0.05 \times 10^4 \text{ vs} 5.54 \times 10^4, P = .008)$ compared with isotype-PBD-treated groups (Figure 5A). The difference was also significant as a percentage of human CD45<sup>+</sup> cells for both the CD34<sup>+</sup> (3.09% vs 20.62%, P < .0001) and  $CD34^{+}CD38^{-}CD90^{+}$  populations (0.16% vs 2.17%, P = .008). The selectivity of DCR-2-PBD compared with isotype-PBD was demonstrated by depleting the myeloid cells (0.31 cells/µL vs 14.89 cells/ $\mu$ L, P = .0002), but not lymphocytes (208.5 cells/ $\mu$ L vs 263 cells/µL), which are longer lived and do not express CD300f, from PB samples (Figure 5B).

We demonstrated the efficacy of DCR-2-PBD against primary AML by injecting mice with a single dose of 300  $\mu$ g/kg DCR-2-PBD or



**Figure 3. DCR-2-PBD in vitro cytotoxicity.** (A) Inhibitory concentration curves on CD300f<sup>+</sup> AML cell lines (HL-60, U937, and THP-1) and CD300f<sup>-</sup> lymphoma cell line (Z-138) using DCR-2-PBD or isotype-PBD (performed in triplicate). (B) Bystander killing assay using an CD300f<sup>-</sup> lymphoma cell line (Mino) and HL-60 either alone or in combination. In combination conditions, only the percentage of viable of Mino cells is shown (performed in triplicate) (\*\*\*P < .001 Mino 50% at 25 and 12.5 pM, Mino 75% at 25 pM). (C) Combination DCR-2-PBD and fludarabine inhibitory concentration curves using HL-60 (performed in triplicate). (D) Time-dependent killing assay of DCR-2-PBD on HL-60, with final viability measured at 96 hours. (E) Total CFU inhibitor concentration curve with DCR-2-PBD (3 CB samples each performed in duplicate) (\*\*P < .01 CFU inhibition at 7.8 pM, \*\*\*\*P < .001 CFU inhibition at 39.2 and 196.1 pM). (F) Individual CFU subtype formation inhibition by DCR-2-PBD (\*P < .05 CFU inhibition at 7.8 and 39.2 pM, \*\*\*P < .01 CFU inhibition at 196.1 pM). (G) Individual AML CFU inhibition with DCR-2 PBD (performed in duplicate) (\*P < .05 CFU inhibition at 196.2 pM for CRGH1, \*\*P < .01 CFU inhibition at 1.6 pM for CRGH9, \*\*\*P < .001 CFU inhibition at 39.2 pM and 196.2 pM for CRGH9). BFU, burst-forming unit; GEMM, granulocyte, erythroid, macrophage, megakaryocyte; GM, granulocyte macrophage.

## Shood advances 14 April 2020 · Volume 4, NUMBER 7



Figure 4. DCR-2-PBD prolongs survival in AML cell line mouse models. (A) U937 subcutaneous tumor volume of mice treated with a single injection on day 6 with either PBS (n = 8) or isotype-PBD (n = 5 both groups) or DCR-2-PBD (n = 5 both groups). (B) Survival data from mice injected with U937 subcutaneously (P = .0017DCR-2-PBD 300 µg/kg compared with isotype-PBD 300 µg/kg). (C) Mice injected with HL-60 IV then treated day 7 with PBS (n = 6), isotype-PBD (n = 8), or DCR-2-PBD (n = 8) (P = .0058 DCR-2-PBD vs isotype-PBD).

isotype-PBD and enumerating BM engraftment on day 7. DCR-2-PBD significantly depleted the human AML cells residing in the BM compared with isotype control when measured by mean total enumeration ( $0.37 \times 10^6$  vs  $1.45 \times 10^6$  P = .019) (Figure 5C-E). DCR-2-PBD significantly reduced the AML cells as a mean percentage of total cells (Figure 5F) compared with isotype-PBD (12.32% vs 38.92%, P = .03).

## **Discussion**

The ideal way to use the next generation of surface-molecule-targeted therapy remains unclear. Avoiding an allo-HSCT would be ideal, but unless a true AML-specific antigen without expression on HSPCs is

validated, hematological toxicity will remain unacceptably high. CD300f has been explored as an AML target, but a clear method on how to best use an anti-CD300f therapeutic has been lacking.<sup>17,18</sup> Our work has validated CD300f as an ideal target for a novel conditioning agent in AML.

CD300f has an expression level and distribution comparable to CD33 both between and within AML cases. It is also unlikely to have significant expression outside the hematopoietic system. CD300f efficiently internalizes upon antibody binding, making it an excellent candidate for ADC development. DCR-2-PBD demonstrated specific in vitro toxicity of AML cell lines and HSPCs. The PBD component allows for rapid cytotoxicity and bystander killing.

Figure 5. DCR-2-PBD depletes HSPCs in vivo. (A) Total cell count of CD34<sup>+</sup> and CD34<sup>+</sup> CD38<sup>+</sup> CD90<sup>+</sup> cells in humanized NSG mouse BM 7 days after injection of DCR-2-PBD (n = 6) or isotype-PBD (n = 5) (\*\*P < .01 reduction in CD34<sup>+</sup> and CD34<sup>+</sup> CD38<sup>-</sup>CD90<sup>+</sup> cells in the DCR-2-PBD cohort compared with the isotype control cohort). (B) Cell count per microliter of blood from DCR-2-PBD and isotype-PBD treated humanized mice (\*\*P < .01 reduction in myeloid cells in PB of DCR-2-PBD cohort compared with isotype-PBD cohort). (C-D) Representative plots of human  $\text{CD45}^+$  cells in the BM of a control humanized mouse (C) and a DCR-2-PBD treated humanized mouse (D). (E) BM enumeration of primary AML 6 days after injection of mice treated with isotype-PBD and DCR-2-PBD (n = 6 DCR-2-PBD, n = 5 isotype-PBD) (\*P < .05 reduction of primary AML cells in BM, DCR-2-PBD cohort compared with the isotype-PBD cohort). (F-G) Representative plots of mouse CD45 vs human CD45 cells in mice engrafted with primary AML treated with isotype-PBD (F) and DCR-2-PBD (G).



DCR-2-PBD prolonged survival in AML cell line models as well as depleted primary AML cells and HSPCs in vivo.

Alternatives to traditional chemotherapy-based treatments for AML include ADCs and chimeric antigen receptor T cells. As AML is derived from HSPCs, these cells share many surface membrane molecules, making the choice of a target difficult.<sup>31</sup> Although gentuzumab ozogamicin had setbacks prior to its current listing, it provides evidence that an ADC may alter the course of AML in some patients.<sup>32</sup> Vadastuximab talirine is an ADC that targets CD33 coupled to a PBD, which induced complete remission and MRD negativity in older patients with AML, but the maximum tolerated dose was limited by hematologic toxicity with BM aplasia.<sup>33</sup> Nonhematologic toxicity was minimal. The marked hematologic toxicity demonstrated suggests that vadastuximab talirine targeted both AML and HSPCs. Vadastuximab talirine prior to allo-HSCT demonstrated tolerability and good outcomes for the small number of patients involved, suggesting no permanent effect of the PBD toxin limiting engraftment.<sup>34</sup> The development of vadastuximab talirine ceased after an increased number of deaths due to infections were observed in the phase 3 CASCADE study.<sup>35</sup> Incorporating an ADC into a transplant strategy may limit hematologic toxicity

We have shown that PBD, when internalized on an anti-CD300f antibody, causes significant cytotoxicity even with a brief exposure, which is ideal for a conditioning agent. A limitation with ADC-based conditioning is that the half-lives of most antibodies would endanger donor cells. Alternative strategies to shorten the half-life of an antibody by removing the FcRn recognition site or using an antibody fragment (ie, antigen-binding fragment) would address these concerns.<sup>36,37</sup> A DCR-2-based therapeutic modified in this way will make such a conditioning approach possible.

CD300f has the potential to be variably expressed within a single case of AML, as this is common for many target antigens, including CD33.<sup>38</sup> We have sought to mitigate this by employing a toxin with a bystander effect. The bystander effect of ADCs can be seen with brentuximab vedotin, which can induce a clinical response even in tumors with minimal expression.<sup>39</sup> The ability of a toxin to kill bystander cells would enhance responses in heterogeneous tumors but also increase the potential for off-target effects. Given the inherent heterogeneity and plasticity of AML surface expression, choosing a toxin with a bystander effect, like we have demonstrated with DCR-2-PBD, will significantly increase efficacy. An immuno-suppressive agent must combined with CD34<sup>+</sup> depletion to facilitate engraftment. Fludarabine was found to be a natural partner to DCR-2-PBD given its widespread use in conditioning and synergistic properties with PBD.<sup>28</sup>

CD300f has some significant advantages to other molecules being explored in targeted conditioning. ADCs targeting CD45 and CD117 have been investigated for AML conditioning.<sup>40</sup> While CD45 may

contribute to both lymphodepletion and the reduction in healthy CD34<sup>+</sup> cells and residual AML, it is expressed at low levels in AML and is not efficiently internalized.<sup>41</sup> A higher total dose of ADC may overcome inefficient internalization, but this would increase the prospect of free toxin causing nonspecific toxicity. Anti-CD117 ADCs significantly reduce HSPCs in animal models.<sup>42</sup> A major concern targeting CD117 with a potent ADC is its significant expression outside of the hematopoietic system, which raises the possibility of increased toxicity.<sup>43</sup> The even distribution across the major HSPC subtypes would likely make CD300f a more efficient conditioning agent compared with current AML targets being studied, which often have variable HSPC expression.

We have demonstrated that CD300f is expressed on AML cells and HSPCs, and it is unlikely to be expressed significantly on cells of nonhematopoietic origin. CD300f is expressed on monocyte derived cells such as pulmonary macrophages and microglia in non-hematopoietic tissue. 44-46 While this may suggest the potential for "off-target" toxicities, these same cells express CD33, and no severe nonhematologic toxicities were noted with the development of vadastuximab talirine.<sup>33</sup> Despite this, a major limitation of this work is the examination of off-target ADC effects. The mouse anti-human CD300f ADC does not bind mouse CD300f, and therefore, mouse xenogeneic models would not be appropriate to examine nonhematopoietic toxicity. Any depletion of HSPCs may induce neutropenia given the very short half-life of neutrophils, regardless of the expression of the target on neutrophils themselves. We would expect an anti-CD300f therapeutic to induce neutropenia, but other ADCs used in transplant models have avoided neutropenia altogether while maintaining immunity, even when the target is expressed on neutrophils.<sup>14</sup>

We also investigated the impact of an anti-CD300f ADCs on host APCs. We predict the lack of reduction or effectiveness of myeloid APCs is due to inherent resistance to PBD as they are terminally differentiated. Tissue inflammation caused by nonspecific conditioning agents has a role in the development of graft-versus-host disease, and an ADC conditioning backbone may significantly alter the posttransplant immune landscape.<sup>47</sup> A DCR-2-PBD-based therapeutic would still require a lymphodepleting agent, which may mitigate any potential benefits of limiting tissue damage by removing alkylating agents or radiation. There are now multiple groups developing targeted conditioning, and the impact on graft-versus-host disease and graft-versus-leukemia needs to be studied further.

With the current range of AML targets, an allo-HSCT will be required as part of novel AML treatments to allow the use of highly potent therapies targeting myeloid antigens such as ADCs and chimeric antigen receptor T cells. An advantage of adapting these therapies to become part of transplant conditioning is that it may allow for advancements in transplantation outside of AML. The use of novel less toxic, specific conditioning agents will broaden their application from AML into transplantation for MDS, with the possibility of reducing toxicity in a cohort of patients that traditionally suffer significant morbidity and mortality from allo-HSCT. Recent advances in antibody-based therapeutics have presented the possibility of targeted conditioning agents.<sup>13,48</sup> Clinical trials have begun with unconjugated antibodies as conditioning agents (NCT02963064). The potent effect demonstrated by DCR-2-PBD against healthy HSPCs suggests that therapeutic derivatives targeting CD300f may be incorporated into conditioning for nonmalignant disorders of erythropoiesis or immunodeficiency either as part of an allo-HSCT or a gene-modified autologous HSCT.

This work validates CD300f as a specific target that merits further exploration in targeted conditioning therapy. Testing across a greater number of primary AML samples and implementation of transplant models will be required.

# Acknowledgments

The authors acknowledge Elizabeth Newman and Christine Fong (Department of Haematology Concord Repatriation General Hospital) for the collection of venous and BM samples, the Sydney Cord Blood Bank for provision of CB, and Donna Bonnici for administrative assistance.

# Authorship

Contribution: E.A. and G.J.C. designed the study and planned the experiments; E.A., P.A.S., R.E.G., M.R., A.R., A.H.M., T.-H.L., K.K., S.S., and G.A.P. performed experiments; E.A., P.A.S., R.E.G., and G.J.C. analyzed data; E.A. and G.J.C. wrote the manuscript; and P.A.S., R.E.G., S.S., C.E.B., P.J.H., and S.R.L. assisted with revision of the manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest disclosure: G.J.C. is a director of DendroCyte BioTech Pty Ltd. G.J.C. and R.E.G. are listed as inventors on patents protecting DCR-2. The remaining authors declare no competing financial interests.

ORCID profiles: P.A.S., 0000-0001-5074-8824; R.E.G., 0000-0003-1225-8757; A.H.M., 0000-0001-7162-8936; T.-H.L., 0000-0003-0229-6004; S.S., 0000-0001-6272-9540.

Correspondence: Georgina J. Clark, Dendritic Cell Research, ANZAC Research Institute, Gate 3 Hospital Rd, Concord, NSW 2139, Australia; e-mail: georgina.clark@sydney.edu.au.

# References

- 1. Bejanyan N, Weisdorf DJ, Logan BR, et al. Survival of patients with acute myeloid leukemia relapsing after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation: a center for international blood and marrow transplant research study. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant.* 2015;21(3):454-459.
- Ossenkoppele GJ, Janssen JJ, van de Loosdrecht AA. Risk factors for relapse after allogeneic transplantation in acute myeloid leukemia. Haematologica. 2016;101(1):20-25.
- Döhner H, Estey E, Grimwade D, et al. Diagnosis and management of AML in adults: 2017 ELN recommendations from an international expert panel. Blood. 2017;129(4):424-447.
- 4. Breems DA, Van Putten WL, De Greef GE, et al. Monosomal karyotype in acute myeloid leukemia: a better indicator of poor prognosis than a complex karyotype. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(29):4791-4797.
- 5. Walter RB, Gooley TA, Wood BL, et al. Impact of pretransplantation minimal residual disease, as detected by multiparametric flow cytometry, on outcome of myeloablative hematopoietic cell transplantation for acute myeloid leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(9):1190-1197.

- 6. Delsing Malmberg E, Johansson Alm S, Nicklasson M, et al. Minimal residual disease assessed with deep sequencing of NPM1 mutations predicts relapse after allogeneic stem cell transplant in AML. *Leuk Lymphoma*. 2019;60(2):409-417.
- 7. Press RD, Eickelberg G, Froman A, et al. Next-generation sequencing-defined minimal residual disease before stem cell transplantation predicts acute myeloid leukemia relapse. Am J Hematol. 2019;94(8):902-912.
- 8. Hemmati PG, Terwey TH, Na IK, et al. Allogeneic stem cell transplantation for refractory acute myeloid leukemia: a single center analysis of long-term outcome. *Eur J Haematol.* 2015;95(6):498-506.
- 9. Lowdell MW, Koh MB. Immunotherapy of AML: future directions. J Clin Pathol. 2000;53(1):49-54.
- Martino R, de Wreede L, Fiocco M, et al; Acute Leukemia Working Party the subcommittee for Myelodysplastic Syndromes of the Chronic Malignancies Working Party of the European group for Blood Marrow Transplantation Group (EBMT). Comparison of conditioning regimens of various intensities for allogeneic hematopoietic SCT using HLA-identical sibling donors in AML and MDS with <10% BM blasts: a report from EBMT. *Bone Marrow Transplant.* 2013;48(6):761-770.
- 11. Scott BL, Pasquini MC, Logan BR, et al. Myeloablative versus reduced-intensity hematopoietic cell transplantation for acute myeloid leukemia and myelodysplastic syndromes. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(11):1154-1161.
- 12. Kröger N. Allogeneic stem cell transplantation for elderly patients with myelodysplastic syndrome. Blood. 2012;119(24):5632-5639.
- 13. Abadir E, Bryant C, Larsen S, Clark GJ. Targeting the niche: depleting haemopoietic stem cells with targeted therapy. *Bone Marrow Transplant*. 2019; 54(7):961-968.
- Palchaudhuri R, Saez B, Hoggatt J, et al. Non-genotoxic conditioning for hematopoietic stem cell transplantation using a hematopoietic-cell-specific internalizing immunotoxin. Nat Biotechnol. 2016;34(7):738-745.
- 15. Borrego F. The CD300 molecules: an emerging family of regulators of the immune system. Blood. 2013;121(11):1951-1960.
- 16. Clark GJ, Ju X, Tate C, Hart DN. The CD300 family of molecules are evolutionarily significant regulators of leukocyte functions. *Trends Immunol.* 2009; 30(5):209-217.
- 17. Korver W, Zhao X, Singh S, et al. Monoclonal antibodies against IREM-1: potential for targeted therapy of AML. Leukemia. 2009;23(9):1587-1597.
- Abadir E, Gasiorowski RE, Lai K, et al. CD300f epitopes are specific targets for acute myeloid leukemia with monocytic differentiation. *Mol Oncol.* 2019; 13(10):2107-2120.
- Wouters BJ, Löwenberg B, Erpelinck-Verschueren CA, van Putten WL, Valk PJ, Delwel R. Double CEBPA mutations, but not single CEBPA mutations, define a subgroup of acute myeloid leukemia with a distinctive gene expression profile that is uniquely associated with a favorable outcome. *Blood.* 2009; 113(13):3088-3091.
- Rapin N, Bagger FO, Jendholm J, et al. Comparing cancer vs normal gene expression profiles identifies new disease entities and common transcriptional programs in AML patients. *Blood.* 2014;123(6):894-904.
- 21. Majeti R, Becker MW, Tian Q, et al. Dysregulated gene expression networks in human acute myelogenous leukemia stem cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. 2009;106(9):3396-3401.
- 22. Andersson A, Edén P, Olofsson T, Fioretos T. Gene expression signatures in childhood acute leukemias are largely unique and distinct from those of normal tissues and other malignancies. BMC Med Genomics. 2010;3(1):6.
- Hsu JL, Bryant CE, Papadimitrious MS, et al. A blood dendritic cell vaccine for acute myeloid leukemia expands anti-tumor T cell responses at remission. Oncolmmunology. 2018;7(4):e1419114.
- 24. Fromm PD, Silveira PA, Hsu JL, et al. Distinguishing human peripheral blood CD16(+) myeloid cells based on phenotypic characteristics. *J Leukoc Biol.* 2020;107(2):323-339.
- 25. Chou TC. Drug combination studies and their synergy quantification using the Chou-Talalay method. Cancer Res. 2010;70(2):440-446.
- 26. Li F, Sutherland MK, Yu C, et al. Characterization of SGN-CD123A, a potent CD123-directed antibody-drug conjugate for acute myeloid leukemia. *Mol Cancer Ther.* 2018;17(2):554-564.
- 27. Kung Sutherland MS, Walter RB, Jeffrey SC, et al. SGN-CD33A: a novel CD33-targeting antibody-drug conjugate using a pyrrolobenzodiazepine dimer is active in models of drug-resistant AML. *Blood.* 2013;122(8):1455-1463.
- Pepper C, Lowe H, Fegan C, et al. Fludarabine-mediated suppression of the excision repair enzyme ERCC1 contributes to the cytotoxic synergy with the DNA minor groove crosslinking agent SJG-136 (NSC 694501) in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia cells. Br J Cancer. 2007;97(2):253-259.
- Clark GJ, Ju X, Azlan M, Tate C, Ding Y, Hart DN. The CD300 molecules regulate monocyte and dendritic cell functions. *Immunobiology*. 2009; 214(9-10):730-736.
- Marcucci F, Caserta CA, Romeo E, Rumio C. Antibody-drug conjugates (ADC) against cancer stem-like cells (CSC)-is there still room for optimism? Front Oncol. 2019;9:167.
- 31. Gasiorowski RE, Clark GJ, Bradstock K, Hart DN. Antibody therapy for acute myeloid leukaemia. Br J Haematol. 2014;164(4):481-495.
- 32. Appelbaum FR, Bernstein ID. Gemtuzumab ozogamicin for acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2017;130(22):2373-2376.
- Stein EM, Walter RB, Erba HP, et al. A phase 1 trial of vadastuximab talirine as monotherapy in patients with CD33-positive acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2018;131(4):387-396.
- 34. Stein AS, Walter RB, Advani AS, Ho PA, Erba HP. SGN-CD33A (vadastuximab talirine) followed by allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplant (alloHSCT) results in durable complete remissions (CRs) in patients with acute myeloid leukemia (AML). *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant*. 2016;22(3):S211-S212.
- 35. Cheung E, Perissinotti AJ, Bixby DL, et al. The leukemia strikes back: a review of pathogenesis and treatment of secondary AML. Ann Hematol. 2019; 98(3):541-559.

- Saxena A, Wu D. Advances in therapeutic Fc engineering-modulation of IgG-associated effector functions and serum half-life. Front Immunol. 2016;7: 580.
- 37. Baer M, Sawa T, Flynn P, et al. An engineered human antibody fab fragment specific for Pseudomonas aeruginosa PcrV antigen has potent antibacterial activity. *Infect Immun.* 2009;77(3):1083-1090.
- Olombel G, Guerin E, Guy J, et al. The level of blast CD33 expression positively impacts the effect of gemtuzumab ozogamicin in patients with acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood.* 2016;127(17):2157-2160.
- 39. Blum KA. CD30: seeing is not always believing. Blood. 2015;125(9):1358-1359.
- 40. Proctor JL, Hyzy SL, Adams HL, et al. Single doses of antibody drug conjugates (ADCs) targeted to CD117 or CD45 have potent in vivo anti-leukemia activity and survival benefit in patient derived AML models. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant*. 2019;25(3):S100-S101.
- 41. Sieber T, Schoeler D, Ringel F, Pascu M, Schriever F. Selective internalization of monoclonal antibodies by B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukaemia cells. Br J Haematol. 2003;121(3):458-461.
- 42. Czechowicz A, Palchaudhuri R, Scheck A, et al. Selective hematopoietic stem cell ablation using CD117-antibody-drug-conjugates enables safe and effective transplantation with immunity preservation. *Nat Commun.* 2019;10(1):617.
- 43. Miettinen M, Lasota J. KIT (CD117): a review on expression in normal and neoplastic tissues, and mutations and their clinicopathologic correlation. *Appl Immunohistochem Mol Morphol.* 2005;13(3):205-220.
- Peluffo H, Solari-Saquieres P, Negro-Demontel ML, et al. CD300f immunoreceptor contributes to peripheral nerve regeneration by the modulation of macrophage inflammatory phenotype. J Neuroinflammation. 2015;12(1):145.
- Hoyer JD, Grogg KL, Hanson CA, Gamez JD, Dogan A. CD33 detection by immunohistochemistry in paraffin-embedded tissues: a new antibody shows excellent specificity and sensitivity for cells of myelomonocytic lineage. Am J Clin Pathol. 2008;129(2):316-323.
- 46. ElAli A, Rivest S. Microglia ontology and signaling. Front Cell Dev Biol. 2016;4:72.
- 47. Hill GR. Inflammation and bone marrow transplantation. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2009;15(1 suppl):139-141.
- 48. Pang WW, Czechowicz A, Logan AC, et al. Anti-CD117 antibody depletes normal and myelodysplastic syndrome human hematopoietic stem cells in xenografted mice. *Blood.* 2019;133(19):2069-2078.

# **Supplementary Methods**

# Antibodies

AML samples were phenotyped with a monoclonal antibody (mAb) panel containing CD300f -efluor660 (clone UP-D1) (ThermoFisher) CD45-V500 (HI30), CD34-PE-CY7 (581), CD38-V450 (HB7), CD33-PE (WM53) and CD11c-APC-AF700 (B-Ly6) from BD Biosciences and HLA-DR-APC (L243) (Biolegend). Healthy BM samples were phenotyped with a lineage (Lin) cocktail containing V450 conjugated CD235a (GA-R2), CD14 (ΜφΡ9), CD20 (2H7), CD19 (HIB19), CD56 (NCAM16.2) and CD3 (SK) (BD Biosciences). A mAb panel containing CD3-V450 (SP34-2), CD19-V450 (HIB19), CD56-V450 (B159), CD14-V450 (M5E2), CD11c-AF700 (B-ly6), CD80-PECy7 (L307.4) all from BD biosciences, HLA-DR-APC and CD83-FITC (HB15a) (Beckman Coulter) was used to assess CD83 and CD80 expression on myeloid cell populations. Healthy PB was phenotyped using CD45-AF488 (HI30), CD3-AF700 (SP34-2), CD56-PECy7 (NCAM16.2) and CD19-V450 all from BD Biosciences. Cell populations from mouse xenografts were phenotyped with anti-human CD45-AF488, CD33-PE (WM53), and anti-mouse CD45-PerCP Cy5.5 (30-F11) (BD Biosciences). Samples from the humanised NSG mice (Hu-NSG) were phenotyped with CD3-V450 (SP34-2), CD19-V450, CD56-V450, CD45-AF488, CD34-PE-CF594 (581), CD33-PE, CD38-APC (HIT2), CD90-AF700 (5E10) and anti-mouse CD45-PerCP Cy5.5 (BD Biosciences). Binding is displayed as a geometric mean fluorescence intensity (geoMFI) ratio which was calculated by: geoMFI test antibody/geoMFI isotype control.

# **Internalisation Assays**

DCR-2 (IgG1), and as an isotype control, the anti-tetanus toxoid mAb, CMRF-81 (IgG1) which were both produced, purified and directly conjugated to phycoerythrin (PE) in house. Cells were incubated with DCR-2-PE or CMRF-81-PE (10µg/ml) on ice for 20 min, washed to remove unbound mAb then incubated at 37°C/5% CO2 to allow internalisation for the indicated times. After incubation, residual mAb remaining on the cell surface was detected with a secondary goat anti-mouse (GAM) IgG-AF488 antibody. Cells were fixed in 1% paraformaldehyde/PBS for flow cytometry analysis. The surface and total relative Mean Fluorescent Index (MFI) was calculated as the (MFI of binding antibody at time point – MFI of isotype control at time point) at 37°C/ (MFI of binding antibody at time point– MFI of isotype control at time point) at 00C. The percent internalised was assessed by 100- (relative MFI surface staining / relative MFI total staining). In immunofluorescent microscopy experiments cells were stained with DCR-2 then air-dried and fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde or incubated at 37°C for 30 minutes then fixed. Rehydration was performed using 1% BSA/PBS prior to staining with GAM IgG-AF488 antibody and 18µM DAPI (ThermoFisher).

# **MoDC Toxicity Assay**

MoDC were incubated with DCR-2-PBD or isotype-PBD (200pmol) 72 hours prior to enumeration of live cells by flow cytometry.

# **DC Activation Assay**

Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells (PBMC) were incubated in complete RPMI media with or without DCR-2-PBD (200pmol). After 12 hours, washed cells were incubated for a further 12 hours with or without LPS then DCR-2-PBD or isotype-PBD (200pmol) were added for 72 hours prior to enumeration of live cells by flow cytometry. The expression of CD83 and CD80 was assessed on Lineage- HLADR+CD11c+ myeloid DC.

## **Mixed Leucocyte Reaction**

T cells were depleted from PBMC by magnetic selection using an AutoMACS Pro with anti-CD3 mAb (HIT3a, Biolegend) with greater than 90% depletion in all samples. The CD3depleted PBMC were incubated in complete RPMI media with DCR-2-PBD (200pmol), isotype-PBD (200pmol) or PBS for 24 hours. After washing to remove unbound ADC, the CD3-depleted PBMC were used to stimulate allogeneic *Carboxyfluorescein Succinimidyl Ester* (CFSE) labelled naive CD4+ T cells which had been prepared using a RosetteSep Kit (Stem Cell Technologies 17555). On day 5 the proliferation of T cells, identified using anti-CD3 AF700 (SP34-2), was assessed by CFSE reduction using flow cytometry. The results of the DCR-2-PBD and isotype-PBD groups were normalised to the PBS control group. Stimulator populations were prepared from three PBMC donors and experiments were performed in duplicate.

## **Cytotoxicity Assays**

Cytotoxicity was determined by incubating 5000 target cells with DCR-2-PBD, isotype-PBD or PBS in 200µl total volume of complete RPMI for 96 hours at 37°C/5% CO2 after which DAPI- viable cells were enumerated using flow cytometry. Events per condition were compared to the mean of the control group to obtain the % viable. Bystander killing of CD300f-Mino cells was performed as above. After incubation, live bystander cells were identified with CD20-PE (2H7) and DAPI. Kinetic analysis was performed as above. At the indicated time points, washed cells were resuspended in complete RPMI and cultured for 96 hours before analysis. Synergy between ADC and fludarabine was assessed as above by combining DCR-2-PBD and/or fludarabine in samples. All samples were tested in triplicate.
### Supplementary Table 1

Sample ID	Age	Sex	Sample	WHO Diagnosis	FAB Classification	Sample Blasts %	Karyotype	NPM1	FLT3-ITD
1	77	F	РВ	AML with MDS changes	М2	55	Normal	NT	NT
2	76	F	BM	AML NOS	M4	70	Normal	NT	NT
3	74	М	РВ	AML NOS	M2	43	8	NT	NT
4	70	М	BM	Therapy related myeloid neoplasm	M4	82	Normal	Detected	Detected
5	79	М	РВ	Therapy related myeloid	M4	67	46, XY, add(12) (q24.3)	NT	NT
6	89	м	РВ	AML with MDS changes	M2	16	Normal	NT	NT
7	75	М	РВ	RAEB-2	N/A	15	8	NT	NT
8	59	М	РВ	AML NOS	M5	95	Normal	NT	NT
9	51	М	РВ	AML NOS	M0	73	No metaphases	Negative	Negative
10	59	М	РВ	AML with MDS changes	M4	56	Normal	Negative	Detected
11	81	М	РВ	CMML-2	N/A	10	Normal	NT	NT
12	86	F	РВ	AML NOS	M1	NT	unknown	NT	NT
13	95	F	РВ	AML with MDS changes	M5		unknown	NT	NT
14	82	М	РВ	AML with MDS changes	M5	53	19	NT	NT
15	61	F	BM	AML NOS	M6	26%	complex	NT	NT
16	16	М	BM	AML + inversion 16	M4Eo	45	Inversion 16	NT	NT
17	41	F	BM	AML NOS	M5	78	complex	NT	Negative
18	75	М	РВ	AML with MDS changes	M2	60	Normal	NT	NT
19	73	F	РВ	AML NOS	M0	85	Normal	Detected	Negative
20	72	F	РВ	AML with MDS changes	М5	80	Complex;del(12)(p12),del(1 3)(q21), add(17)(p11.2)[1]46,XX[1]	NT	NT
21	59	М	BM	AML NOS	M0	60	Normal	Negative	Negative
22	23	М	ВМ	AML + inversion 16	M4Eo	60	46,XY,inv(16)(p13;q22)	Negative	Negative
23	87	М	РВ	Therapy related myeloid neoplasm	M2	62	47,XY,t(8;16)(p11;p13), +8	NT	NT
24	24	М	РВ	AML NOS	M5	90	t(11;17), +8	Negative	Negative
25	44	F	РВ	AML + inversion 16	M4Eo	50	Inversion 16	Negative	Negative
26	79	М	BM	AML NOS	M2	60	6	Negative	Negative
27	55	М	BM+PB	Blastic pDC Neoplasm	N/A	85	Normal	Negative	Negative
28	61	М	BM	AML NOS	M2	25	No metaphases	NT	NT
29	44	UD	BM	AML NOS	M1	UD	t(9:11)	NT	NT
30	51	UD	ВМ	AML + inversion 16	M4Eo	UD	inv 16	NT	NT
31	86	UD	BM	AML NOS	M4	UD	8	NT	NT
32	19	UD	ВМ	AML NOS	M2	UD	monosomy 7	NT	NT
33	61	UD	BM	AML NOS	M4	UD	Normal	NT	NT

Clinical and pathological characteristics of AML patient samples used in the current study.



(A) AML CD300f gene expression by ELN risk status. Mean with SEM. (B) MFI ratios of CD33 and CD300f on the CD34+ CD38- subset of patient derived AML (n = 22) are compared with linear regression. (C) TiSNE of CD300f expression on AML samples from 9 patients. (D) TiSNE of CD33 expression on AML samples from 9 patients.



MFI ratios of CD300f on the peripheral blood subsets from healthy donors (n = 3). Mean with SEM.



Gating strategy to identify HSPC groups via flow cytometry.



(A) Viability of MoDC treated with either DCR-2-PBD or isotype-PBD after 96 hours compared to PBS control. Representative figures of activation markers CD83 (B) or CD80 (C) on non-activated or activated myeloid DC with or without DCR-2-PBD. (D) T cell division using a one way MLR with DCR-2-PBD or isotype-PBD, readout after 96 hours, both groups compared to PBS control.

# Chapter 7: Targeting the niche: depleting haemopoietic stem cells with targeted therapy.

Abadir E, Bryant C, Larsen, S, Clark G. Targeting the niche: depleting haemopoietic stem cells with targeted therapy. Bone Marrow Transplantation. 2019 Jul;54(7):961-968

#### **REVIEW ARTICLE**





# Targeting the niche: depleting haemopoietic stem cells with targeted therapy

Edward Abadir<sup>1,2</sup> · Christian Bryant<sup>1,3</sup> · Stephen Larsen<sup>2,3</sup> · Georgina J. Clark<sup>1,2</sup>

Received: 14 September 2018 / Revised: 4 December 2018 / Accepted: 30 December 2018 / Published online: 21 January 2019 © Springer Nature Limited 2019

#### Abstract

Haemopoietic stem cell transplantation is an expanding procedure worldwide but is associated with significant morbidity and mortality. Depletion of resident haemopoietic stem and progenitor cells (HSPC) is required for both autologous and allogeneic haemopoietic stem cell transplantation. Current conditioning protocols utilise chemotherapy or radiation to effectively reduce HSPC but are toxic in both the short and long term. The initial trials to use monoclonal antibodies to target HSPC were limited with marginal efficacy but platforms including antibody drug conjugates and chimeric antigen receptor T cells have made targeted conditioning strategies achievable. In this review we summarise the work developing targeted conditioning that may replace or reduce alkylating agents and total body irradiation. The prospect of conditioning with significantly reduced toxicity will improve outcomes and open transplantation to patients unable to tolerate current conditioning protocols.

## Targeting the niche: depleting haemopoietic stem cells with targeted therapy

Haemopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT) is a rapidly expanding procedure with over 20,000 and 40,000 transplants performed annually in the United States and Europe, respectively [1, 2]. The majority of HSCT are performed for haematological malignancies but there is increasing use in non-malignant conditions. Substantial donor engraftment is only possible when the haemopoietic stem cell (HSC) bone marrow niche has been cleared of recipient cells to allow space for donor cells to reside [3, 4]. While allogeneic grafts can use graft-versus-host effects to generate their own bone marrow niches without prior depletion of haemopoietic stem and progenitor cells (HSPC), this is characterised by incomplete engraftment and very slow kinetics [5].

- <sup>2</sup> Sydney Medical School, The University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia
- <sup>3</sup> Institute of Haematology, Royal Prince Alfred Hospital, Sydney, NSW, Australia

To achieve complete engraftment and rapid kinetics, conditioning regimens traditionally incorporate radiation and/or alkylating agents [6–8]. Conditioning regimens have three functions: depletion of HSPC from the niche, suppression of the anti-graft immune response in allogeneic transplantation and, if performed to treat malignancy, to reduce the burden of residual disease. Replacing radiation/alkylating agents with targeted therapy to clear the HSC niche may reduce both short and long-term toxicity, especially in high-risk patients which include those at the extremes of age or with primary immunodeficiencies. The rapidly expanding procedure of genetically modified autologous HSCT would become available to more patients with the development of less toxic conditioning regimens.

Chemotherapy and radiotherapy meet all three functions of conditioning but, as nonspecific agents, are associated with significant toxicity. The initial regimens for allogeneic (allo)-HSCT used myeloablative conditioning (MAC) but the toxicity limited use in the older patients and those with significant comorbidities. Reduced intensity conditioning (RIC) and non-MAC regimens have been developed opening allo-HSCT to those patients for whom MAC is too toxic [9]. RIC leads to both partial and full donor chimerism and is associated with reduced non-relapse mortality (NRM) compared to MAC [10]. Targeted conditioning has the potential to be incorporated into RIC protocols, reducing or replacing alkylating agents to further diminish their toxicity.

Georgina J. Clark georgina.clark@sydney.edu.au

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Dendritic Cell Research, ANZAC Research Institute, Sydney, NSW, Australia



**Fig. 1** Methods studied for targeted conditioning modalities. **a** Naked mAbs to CD45 and CD117 deplete HSPC through complement and cellular mediated mechanisms of cytotoxicity. Antibodies to CD117 block the binding of SCF which inhibits proliferation and differentiation of HSPC. Blockade of CD47 prevents the binding of the inhibitory molecule SIRP $\alpha$  increasing the ADCC potential of other co-administered mAb. **b** ADC against CD45 and CD117 are internalised upon binding to their target and administer their cytotoxic payload. **c** CAR T cells bind to CD117 or CD123 where they are activated leading to HSPC depletion

Despite improvements in HSCT and the adoption of RIC, the 100 day mortality remains high in allo-HSCT [11]. Short term toxicity associated with conditioning regimens include myelosuppression, mucositis, organ toxicity and sinusoidal obstruction syndrome [12]. Many patients are ineligible to undergo HSCT due to the toxicity, overcoming the short term toxicity would increase access of allo-HSCT for patients who otherwise have poor long term outcomes. Long-term toxicities resulting from HSCT conditioning include secondary malignancies, cardio-pulmonary toxicity, endocrinopathies and musculoskeletal disorders [13]. Long term survivors have high rates of infertility and increased rates of spontaneous abortion during pregnancy [14, 15]. Conditioning agents are associated with therapy related leukaemia, myelodysplasia and solid organ malignancies [16, 17]. The mortality in allo-HSCT patients who have survived for more than 5 years post-transplant remains 5-9 times higher than the general population, with a 30% reduction in life expectancy in the absence of relapse [18].

The advent of gene therapy for inherited disorders, including haemoglobinopathies and primary immunodeficiencies, has resulted in a new indication for autologous stem cell transplantation. Prior to the development of gene therapy, the only curative option for those with inherited disorders of haematopoiesis was allo-HSCT. Trials using genetically modified autologous products in HSCT have been conducted in patients with thalassaemia, sickle cell disease and primary immunodeficiency disorders [19–23]. Transplantation of genetically modified autologus HSPCs requires myeloablative doses of conditioning to enable significant engraftment, a conditioning agent that provides potent but targeted ablation of HSPCs would be ideal in this scenario [24].

The ideal target molecule would be expressed on HSPC and not outside of the haemopoietic system. Attempts to develop mAbs to deplete HSPC have been limited by the lack of sustained depletion using the cytotoxic and biological properties of naked antibodies, but new approaches with CD47 blockade, antibody-drug conjugates (ADC) and chimeric antibody receptor (CAR) T cells have opened the possibility of achieving targeted conditioning regimens (Fig. 1). To date, only four targets have been studied as outlined in Table 1.

#### **Naked antibodies**

#### CD45

CD45 (leucocyte common antigen) is expressed on all leucocytes and not outside of the haemopoietic system [25, 26]. CD45 is expressed as multiple isoforms, all of which are found on CD34<sup>+</sup> cells but the earliest progenitors are CD45RA<sup>-</sup> [27]. Despite the isoforms, mAbs directed at pan CD45 epitopes target all leucocytes. The effect of an anti-CD45 mAb on reduction of engraftment was demonstrated using an anti-CD45 (RT7<sup>a</sup> allotype) mAb in a rat heart transplant model where passenger donor leucocytes were reduced to <0.1% in peripheral blood compared to 4-5% for those not treated with the mAb [28]. The anti-CD45 RT7<sup>a</sup> antibody prevented engraftment of RT7<sup>a</sup> allotype HSPC in a competitive engraftment experiment, as well as causing lethal bone marrow failure in RT7<sup>a</sup> rats. The mAb depleted HSPC, mature myeloid and T cells while allowing for stable engraftment by donor cells from CD45 RT7<sup>b</sup> rats [29]. B cell progenitors were depleted but mature B cells were resistant despite being coated with the antibody. The anti-CD45 RT7<sup>a</sup> mAb facilitated high haploidentical donor chimerism when used at myeloablative doses [30]. The rat anti-mouse CD45 mAb 30-F11 transiently depleted mature myeloid and lymphoid cells but not HSPC in immunocompetent mice [31]. 30-F11 conditioning alone did not allow for donor engraftment in syngeneic or allogeneic models but did increase donor chimerism when combined with radiation.

Unconjugated rat anti-human CD45 mAb depleted human lymphoid and myeloid populations prior to HSCT. The rat anti-human CD45 mAbs YTH25.4 and YTH54.12 were administered in equal combination two to ten days prior to traditional chemo-radiotherapy conditioning for

Table 1	1 Targeted conditioning studies to date		
Target	Construct	Findings	References
CD45	Anti-rat mAb (RT7 <sup>a</sup> allotype)	Depletes mature lymphocytes and HSPC in rats, conditioning allows for haploidentical HSCT	[29, 30]
	Anti-mouse mAb (30-F11)	Depletes mature lymphocytes and myeloid cells but not HSPC in mice, increases donor chimerism when used with radiation [31]	[31]
	Anti-human mAbs YTH25.4 and YTH54.12	Depletes mature lymphocytes and myeloid cells but not HSPC, reduction in peripheral AML blasts in 2/3 cases. [32 Incorporated into minimal intensity conditioning regimen with 11/16 patients achieving full or high level chimerism	[32–34]
	Anti-mouse ADC (clone 104-Saporin)	Depletes mature lymphoid cells and HSPC, conditioning allows for high level sustained multilineage engraftment of [49 congenic mice	[49]
CD117	Anti-mouse mAb (clone ACK-2)	Causes a transient neutropenia, anaemia and thrombocytopenia with a reduction of progenitor subsets in immunocompetent [4, mice. Can deplete HSPC when combined with radiation. Only leads to significant donor engraftment in immunocompromised mice and not immunocompetent mice	[4, 40, 41]
	Anti-human mAb (clone SR-1)	Conditioning allows for long term engraftment in 1 of 5 macaques with non-myeloablative irradiation or busulfan in an [42 autologous gene modified model. Depletes normal and MDS human HSPC in an mouse xenograft model	[42, 43]
	Anti-human mAb (clone AMG 191)	Depletes normal and MDS human HSPC in an mouse xenograft model, clinical trial (NCT02963064) for patients with [43 primary immunodeficiencies to receive AMG191 conditioning prior to allo-HSCT is currently recruiting	[43]
	Anti-mouse ADC (CD117-saporin)	Combined with T cell depleting agents allowed for significant and durable engraftment in an immunocompetent mouse allo- [50 HSCT model	[50]
	Anti-human CD117- ADC (conjugate unspecified)	Depletes human HSPC in vitro and in mouse xenografis [51	[51]
	Anti-mouse CD117 CAR T cells	Depletes mouse HSPC in vitro and in vivo, allow durable limited chimerism in congenic and CGD models [57	[57]
CD47	Anti-mouse CD47 FAB	Depletes immunocompetent mouse HSPC when combined with anti-CD117 mAb and allows for durable chimerism in a [47 congenic HSCT and allo-HSCT (with added T cell depletion)	[47]
CD123	Anti-human CD123 CAR T cells	Causes ablation of healthy human haematopoiesis in a mouse xenograft, after depleation of the CAR T cells a second sex [58 mismatch healthy human HSPC and AML	[58, 59]
Jash	homonoiatio stam and momenitor calle HG	CT haamooniatio etam oall teatenlant <i>Allo</i> HSCT allocaaaio haamooniatio etam oall teatenlant AMI aveta mualoid la	I laubaemia

transplant, AML acute myeloid leukaemia, cell stem naemopoletic allogeneic *HSPC* haemopoietic stem and progenitor cells, *HSCT* haemopoietic stem cell transplant, *allo-HSCT MDS* myelodysplastic syndrome, *CGD* chronic granulomatous disease

allo-HSCT in 14 patients with myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS) or acute leukaemia [32, 33]. Doses of 400 µg/kg (maximum tolerated dose) over four days depleted mature lymphoid and myeloid cells [32]. Even at this maximum dose myeloid progenitor cells were spared. The half-life of the mAb was 12 h and 12 of 14 patients engrafted. Two of the three patients with measurable leukaemic blasts at the time of mAb administration had reductions in blast percentage. In a subsequent trial in children less than one year of age receiving allo-HCT for primary immunodeficiency, the combination of YTH25.4 and YTH54.12 was incorporated into a reduced intensity conditioning regimen including alemtuzumab, fludarabine and low dose cyclophosphamide [34]. Fifteen of 16 patients engrafted and 11 achieved full or high percentage donor chimerism. Three patients achieved T lineage engraftment only and one patient required a second transplant. 81% of the patients survived with immune restoration observed at a median of 40 months.

#### CD117

CD117 (c-Kit) is highly expressed on HSPC and with its ligand, stem cell factor (SCF), is essential for haemopoiesis [35–37]. A concern about targeting CD117 is its expression outside of the haemopoietic system; CD117 is expressed on melanocytes and epidermal cells, as well as in the CNS and GI tract [38, 39]. The rat anti-mouse CD117 antibody, ACK-2, transiently reduced HSC in the RAG2<sup>-/-</sup>  $\gamma c^{-/-}$ immunodeficient mouse, and when used as the only conditioning modality, facilitated stable engraftment [4]. ACK-2 also inhibited HSPC proliferation when exposed to SCF in vitro confirming a non Fc dependant mechanism. ACK-2 could only induce significant long term reduction of HSPC in immunocompetent mice when combined with low dose radiation [40]. This combination facilitated the transplant of a lentivirus vector transduced autologous HSC in mice with X-linked chronic granulomatous disease (CGD) as a model for mAb conditioning with gene therapy. ACK-2 conditioning allowed for long term donor engraftment in immunocompetent mice when administered in utero with HSCT performed on day one after birth [41].

The mouse anti-human CD117 mAB, SR-1, produced long term engraftment in one of five subjects when combined with non-myeloablative irradiation or busulfan in an autologous gene modified macaque model [42]. Autologous CD34 cells were transfected with a lentiviral vector to allow for long term tracking and reinfused after administration of reduced dose total body irradiation (TBI) and SR-1 (3 subjects) or reduced dose busulfan and SR-1 (2 subjects). The only subject that demonstrated long term engraftment (<1% at 300 days) was in the TBI cohort . SR-1 reduced both human and macaque colony forming units in the absence of effector cells.

SR-1 and a humanised CD117 mAb, AMG 191, deplete HSPC derived from patients with MDS in an NOD/SCID-y (NSG) model [43]. The anti-CD117 mAbs cleared MDS derived cells from low and intermediate risk MDS for greater than 8 weeks, whilst high risk and very high risk MDS cells would rebound to near baseline levels within 8 weeks. The rebound of MDS derived cells was prevented with a second transplant of healthy HSPC performed one week after the mAb administration. A clinical trial is currently recruiting (NCT02963064) patients with severe combined immunodeficency to receive AMG 191 conditioning prior to allo-HSCT. The trial design does not incorporate other conditioning agents. To avoid the loss of donor HSPC, pharmacokinetic levels of the AMG191 will be monitored and patients will receive the graft only after antibody has cleared from the circulation. The long half-life of mAbs in circulation may limit their utility unless modifications that increase their clearance (such as removing the FcRn region) are made to ensure timely and safe delivery of the donor cells.

#### **CD47**

CD47 is an immunoglobulin like protein that interacts with its ligand SIRPa to inhibit phagocytosis of CD47 expressing cells in what is known as a "don't eat me" signal [44, 45]. Blocking CD47 with mAb has been shown to potentiate the antibody dependent cell mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) effect of different mAb directed at other surface antigens [46]. Combining the anti-CD117 antibody ACK-2 with an anti-CD47 Fab increased ADCC in vitro using immunocompetent mouse HSC [47]. This combination facilitated engraftment in an immunocompetent CD45 congenic mouse model. ACK-2 was then combined with an anti-CD47 Fab and recipient T cell depletion in an allo-HSCT minor MHC mismatch model. Durable but variable engraftment of myeloid, T, B, NK and HSPC populations was achieved. Naked antibodies have demonstrated the potential to target HSPC but lack the potency to play a key role in conditioning for most types of HSCT. Blocking CD47 overcomes the limited efficacy of naked antibodies. The limitations of naked antibodies can be further overcome using the ability of mAb targeting in more potent therapeutics.

#### Antibody drug conjugates

ADC are a rapidly emerging class of therapeutic in which a mAb is bound to a drug or toxin. The appeal of this design rests with the targeted potent toxins leading to a wide therapeutic window. The key elements of ADC are the choice of target for the mAb, the design and function of the

antibody, the linker and toxic payload chosen. Most current payloads are small molecules with sub-nanomolar inhibitory concentration 50 (IC<sub>50</sub>) values, which led to improved efficacy compared to early generation ADC that often used conventional chemotherapy payloads [48].

CD45 ADC in HSCT conditioning was demonstrated with a rat anti-mouse mAb conjugated to a ribosomal inhibitory saporin (SAP) pavload [49]. Anti CD45.2. CD49d, CD84, CD90, CD133, CD135 and CD184 mAbs were evaluated using a SAP payload. CD45.2-SAP caused the greatest depletion of HSPC in immunocompetent C57BL/6 mice (CD45.2 allotype). The cytotoxicity of the ADC was dependant on the anti-CD45 mAb clone. Clone 104-SAP depleted 98% of HSPC at the highest dose level but colony forming progenitors were less effected. A 3mg/kg dose of CD45.2-SAP produced chimerism levels of 75-90% using a CD45.1 donor. At 8 months, normal numbers of donor myeloid, B and T cells were recorded suggesting unbiased stem cell engraftment. CD45.2-SAP preserved normal bone marrow architecture compared to TBI, which reduced vascular integrity and bone marrow cellularity. Mice conditioned with CD45-SAP had a quicker recovery of their peripheral myeloid cells and had a survival advantage when exposed to C. albicans compared to mice conditioned with TBI. Conditioning with CD45.2-SAP resulted in significant chimerism when recipient mice with a knock-in human sickle cell gene were transplanted with wild type donors, leading to normalisation in haemoglobin, reduction of splenomegaly and an absence of sickle cells on blood films.

An anti-CD117-saporin immunotoxin combined with T cell depleting agents allowed for significant and durable engraftment in an immunocompetent mouse allo-HSCT model [50]. Multi-lineage chimerism developed with B cell chimerism being most pronounced. The transplanted mice tolerated same donor skin transplants without rejection. A human anti-human CD117 mAb ADC has been developed that kills >95% of human HSPC in vitro [51]. In vivo studies using humanised NSG mice demonstrated that the CD117-ADC depleted >98% of HSPC. B and T cells were spared in the in vivo testing. The mAb has been engineered to have a half-life of less than 12 h to allow for donor cell infusion without real time pharmacokinetic monitoring. The increased potency of ADC allows for highly efficient stem cell depletion, but also increases the risk of off target effects.

#### **CAR T cells**

Chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cells are genetically modified T cells that use the variable regions of mAb to direct the T cells to the chosen antigen. The extracellular CAR region activates a signal independently of the T cell receptor [52]. Success in the treatment of B cell acute lymphoblastic leukaemia, non-Hodgkin lymphoma and chronic lymphocytic leukaemia with CAR T cells demonstrate their powerful cytotoxic ability [53–56]. Murine CAR T cells directed against CD117 deplete mouse HSPC in vitro and in vivo and facilitate long term, but limited engraftment when used as conditioning in a CGD mouse model [57]. The murine derived CAR T cells initially had limited expansion and migration into the bone marrow in vivo but this was overcome by co-transducing mouse CXCR4 DNA (with the anti-CD117 CAR) and pre-treating with cyclophosphamide. CAR T cells were derived from Thy  $1.1^+$  mice while recipients were Thy  $1.2^+$ , this divergence allowed the CAR T cells to be depleted with an anti-Thy1.1 antibody prior to donor cell infusion. In a mouse model using CD45.1 recipients CD45.2 donors, donor chimerism ranged from 20-30% at 36 weeks. In a CGD mouse model, the activation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in neutrophils was assessed, the neutrophils of CGD mice do not produce ROS, but a partial ROS response was obtained at 12 weeks after engraftment with wild type donor cells using CAR T cell conditioning.

CAR T cells directed against the CD123 (IL-3 Receptor  $\alpha$  subunit) to target acute myeloid leukaemia (AML) have been trialled in xenograft models, but their utility is limited by significant myelotoxicity [58]. A potential way to circumvent myelotoxicity is to use CD123 directed CAR T cells as part of allogeneic conditioning. In a humanised mouse model, subsequently engrafted with an AML cell line, anti-CD123 CAR T cells eliminated both the AML cell line and human graft [59]. The CAR T cells were depleted with alemtuzumab or were co-transfected at the time of production with the CD20 gene and could be eliminated with rituximab. Elimination was evaluated with flow cytometry and further confirmed with AML rechallenge. Mice engrafted with an AML cell line cleared the disease with anti-CD123 CAR T cell administration and exhibited a large T cell expansion as well preventing engraftment on AML rechallenge. Mice who had CAR T cell depleting therapy after initial AML clearance did not undergo T cell expansion and died with AML progression after the second presentation. Administration of CD20 expressing CAR T cells in NSG mice depleted healthy human xenografts, subsequently rituximab eradicated the CAR T cells and allowed for a second sex mismatch healthy human graft, which was confirmed using FISH on myeloid cells. Total CAR T cell depletion is required for graft safety. Targeting surface molecules as a method to deplete CAR T cells carries the risk of increased immunosuppression with T cell depletion using native targets or potential failure of CAR T cells to express a transfected target.

#### Conclusions

Early attempts to target HSPC for conditioning with mAb were met by limited efficacy using naked antibodies. New methods with antibody combinations, ADC and CAR T cells have now put targeted conditioning within reach but several questions remain. With highly potent cytotoxic strategies available, the concern for off target effects of new conditioning agents increases. Stringent evaluation of therapeutics with targets expressed outside of the haemopoietic system will be required prior to human trials. Another major safety concern is ensuring that the depleting agent is no longer active at the time of donor infusion. Many of the animal models used, circumvent this concern by targeting recipient specific isoforms. Real time drug monitoring may prevent primary graft failure but if the agent has an extended half-life this would prolong neutropenia. A robust and predictable elimination of ADC or CAR T cells prior to donor cell infusion is required.

The choice of target and modality is critical, with different antibody clones towards a single target having a range of cytotoxicity even when matched with identical toxins [49]. Implementation of targeted conditioning therapy will most likely be initially in the genetically modified autologous transplant setting or those with primary immunodeficiency, as only a single conditioning agent would be required. Targeted conditioning in allo-HSCT would be more complex as T cell depletion and possibly NK depletion is required to avoid graft loss [60, 61]. If the targeted conditioning regimen did not reduce these populations, conventional chemotherapies (e.g., purine analogues such as fludarabine) or other targeted therapies would need to be incorporated. Traditional conditioning regimens lead to tissue inflammation and the activation of host antigen presenting cells which influence graft-versus-host and graft-versus-tumour effects [62, 63]. How targeted conditioning may alter these factors has not been explored and requires further study. Targeted conditioning agents may have a role in reducing tumour burden (including minimal residual disease) at the time of transplant by binding to surface molecules shared in both HSPC and malignant cells, a number of CD45 radioisotopes have been trailed in conditioning regimens in high risk AML to reduce relapse risk [64].

Targeting the populations of the stem cell niche may be able to reduce the toxic effects of conditioning thereby expanding the therapeutic window of HSCT. Significant challenges remain but renewed interest with the accessibility of new modalities has increased the potential that targeted conditioning may become a reality.

#### Compliance with ethical standards

**Conflict of interest** The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

**Publisher's note:** Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

#### References

- EBMT. EBMT Annual Report. 2017. https://www.ebmt.org/ebmt/ documents/ebmt-annual-report-2017.
- CIMBTR. CIMBTR Transplant Data. 2018. https://bloodcell.tra nsplant.hrsa.gov/RESEARCH/Transplant\_Data/US\_Tx\_Data/.
- Micklem H, Clarke C, Evans E, Ford C. Fate of chromosomemarked mouse bone marrow cells tranfused into normal syngeneic recipients. Transplantation. 1968;6:299–302.
- Czechowicz A, Kraft D, Weissman IL, Bhattacharya D. Efficient transplantation via antibody-based clearance of hematopoietic stem cell niches. Science. 2007;318:1296–9.
- Storb R, Yu C, Barnett T, Wagner JL, Deeg HJ, Nash RA, et al. Stable mixed hematopoietic chimerism in dog leukocyte antigen– identical littermate dogs given lymph node irradiation before and pharmacologic immunosuppression after marrow transplantation. Blood. 1999;94:1131–6.
- Bhattacharya D, Rossi DJ, Bryder D, Weissman IL. Purified hematopoietic stem cell engraftment of rare niches corrects severe lymphoid deficiencies without host conditioning. J Exp Med. 2006;203:73–85.
- Tjonnfjord G, Steen R, Veiby O, Friedrich W, Egeland T. Evidence for engraftment of donor-type multipotent CD34+ cells in a patient with selective T-lymphocyte reconstitution after bone marrow transplantation for B-SCID. Blood. 1994;84:3584–9.
- Müller SM, Kohn T, Schulz AS, Debatin K-M, Friedrich W. Similar pattern of thymic-dependent T-cell reconstitution in infants with severe combined immunodeficiency after human leukocyte antigen (HLA)–identical and HLA-nonidentical stem cell transplantation. Blood. 2000;96:4344–9.
- Atilla E, Atilla PA, Demirer T. A review of myeloablative vs reduced intensity/non-myeloablative regimens in allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantations. Balk Med J. 2017;34:1.
- Slavin S, Nagler A, Naparstek E, Kapelushnik Y, Aker M, Cividalli G, et al. Nonmyeloablative stem cell transplantation and cell therapy as an alternative to conventional bone marrow transplantation with lethal cytoreduction for the treatment of malignant and nonmalignant hematologic diseases. Blood. 1998;91:756–63.
- 11. Shouval R, Labopin M, Bondi O, Mishan-Shamay H, Ciceri F, Esteve J, et al. Prediction of allogeneic hematopoietic stem-cell transplantation mortality 100 days after transplantation using a machine learning algorithm: a European Group for Blood and Marrow Transplantation Acute Leukemia Working Party Retrospective Data Mining Study. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33:3144–52.
- Gyurkocza B, Sandmaier BM. Conditioning regimens for hematopoietic cell transplantation: one size does not fit all. Blood. 2014;124:344–53.
- Bhatia S. Long-term health impacts of hematopoietic stem cell transplantation inform recommendations for follow-up. Expert Rev Hematol. 2011;4:437–54.
- 14. Brennan B, Shalet SM. Endocrine late effects after bone marrow transplant. Br J Haematol. 2002;118:58–66.
- 15. Sanders JE, Hawley J, Levy W, Gooley T, Buckner CD, Deeg HJ, et al. Pregnancies following high-dose cyclophosphamide with or

without high-dose busulfan or total-body irradiation and bone marrow transplantation. Blood. 1996;87:3045-52.

- Krishnan A, Bhatia S, Slovak ML, Arber DA, Niland JC, Nademanee A, et al. Predictors of therapy-related leukemia and myelodysplasia following autologous transplantation for lymphoma: an assessment of risk factors. Blood. 2000;95:1588–93.
- Rizzo JD, Curtis RE, Socié G, Sobocinski KA, Gilbert E, Landgren O, et al. Solid cancers after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation. Blood. 2009;113:1175–83.
- Martin PJ, Counts GW Jr, Appelbaum FR, Lee SJ, Sanders JE, et al. Life expectancy in patients surviving more than 5 years after hematopoietic cell transplantation. J Clin Oncol. 2010; 28:1011–6.
- Boztug K, Schmidt M, Schwarzer A, Banerjee PP, Díez IA, Dewey RA, et al. Stem-cell gene therapy for the Wiskott–Aldrich syndrome. New Engl J Med. 2010;363:1918–27.
- Shaw KL, Garabedian E, Mishra S, Barman P, Davila A, Carbonaro D, et al. Clinical efficacy of gene-modified stem cells in adenosine deaminase–deficient immunodeficiency. J Clin Invest. 2017;127:1689–99.
- Kang EM, Malech HL. Gene therapy for chronic granulomatous disease. Methods in enzymology. Vol. 507. Elsevier; USA. 2012. p. 125–54.
- Cavazzana-Calvo M, Payen E, Negre O, Wang G, Hehir K, Fusil F, et al. Transfusion independence and HMGA2 activation after gene therapy of human β-thalassaemia. Nature. 2010;467:318–22.
- Thompson AA, Walters MC, Kwiatkowski J, Rasko JE, Ribeil J-A, Hongeng S, et al. Gene therapy in patients with transfusiondependent β-thalassemia. New Engl J Med. 2018;378:1479–93.
- 24. Uchida N, Weitzel RP, Platner C, Ballantine J, Bonifacino AC, Price SD, et al. Myeloablative conditioning is required for efficient engraftment of gene-modified cells and prevention of antibody production against transgene products in a rhesus stem cell gene therapy model. Mol Ther. 2015;23:S118–S9.
- Shah VO, Civin CI, Loken MR. Flow cytometric analysis of human bone marrow. IV. Differential quantitative expression of T-200 common leukocyte antigen during normal hemopoiesis. J Immunol. 1988;140:1861–7.
- Thomas ML, Lefrançois L. Differential expression of the leucocytecommon antigen family. Immunol Today. 1988;9:320–6.
- Craig W, Poppema S, Little MT, Dragowska W, Lansdorp PM. CD45 isoform expression on human haemopoietic cells at different stages of development. Br J Haematol. 1994;88:24–30.
- Ko S, Deiwick A, Jäger MD, Dinkel A, Rohde F, Fischer R, et al. The functional relevance of passenger leukocytes and microchimerism for heart allograft acceptance in the rat. Nat Med. 1999;5:1292–97.
- Dahlke MH, Lauth OS, Jäger MD, Roeseler T, Timrott K, Jackobs S, et al. In vivo depletion of hematopoietic stem cells in the rat by an anti-CD45 (RT7) antibody. Blood. 2002;99:3566–72.
- 30. Jäger MD, Vondran FW, Ramackers W, Röseler T, Schlitt HJ, Bektas H, et al. A depleting anti-CD45 monoclonal antibody as isolated conditioning for bone marrow transplantation in the rat. PLoS One. 2016;11:e0154682.
- Wulf GG, Luo K-L, Goodell MA, Brenner MK. Anti-CD45– mediated cytoreduction to facilitate allogeneic stem cell transplantation. Blood. 2003;101:2434–9.
- 32. Krance RA, Kuehnle I, Rill DR, Mei Z, Pinetta C, Evans W, et al. Hematopoietic and immunomodulatory effects of lytic CD45 monoclonal antibodies in patients with hematologic malignancy. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2003;9:273–81.
- Brenner MK, Wulf GG, Rill DR, LUO KL, Goodell MA, Mei Z, et al. Complement-Fixing CD45 Monoclonal Antibodies to Facilitate Stem Cell Transplantation in Mouse and Man. Ann NY Acad Sci. 2003;996:80–8.

- 34. Straathof KC, Rao K, Eyrich M, Hale G, Bird P, Berrie E, et al. Haemopoietic stem-cell transplantation with antibody-based minimal-intensity conditioning: a phase 1/2 study. Lancet. 2009; 374:912–20.
- McKinney-Freeman SL, Naveiras O, Yates F, Loewer S, Philitas M, Curran M, et al. Surface antigen phenotypes of hematopoietic stem cells from embryos and murine embryonic stem cells. Blood. 2009;114:268–78.
- Shin JY, Hu W, Naramura M, Park CY. High c-Kit expression identifies hematopoietic stem cells with impaired self-renewal and megakaryocytic bias. J Exp Med. 2014;211:217–31.
- Russell ES. Hereditary anemias of the mouse: a review for geneticists. Advances in genetics. Vol. 20: Elsevier; USA. 1979. p. 357–459.
- Lammie A, Drobnjak M, Gerald W, Saad A, Cote R, Cordon-Cardo C. Expression of c-kit and kit ligand proteins in normal human tissues. J Histochem Cytochem. 1994;42:1417–25.
- Miettinen M, Lasota J. KIT (CD117): a review on expression in normal and neoplastic tissues, and mutations and their clinicopathologic correlation. Appl Immunohistochem Mol Morphol. 2005;13:205–20.
- Xue X, Pech NK, Shelley WC, Srour EF, Yoder MC, Dinauer MC. Antibody targeting KIT as pretransplantation conditioning in immunocompetent mice. Blood. 2010;116:5419–22.
- Derderian SC, Togarrati PP, King C, Moradi PW, Reynaud D, Czechowicz A, et al. In utero depletion of fetal hematopoietic stem cells improves engraftment after neonatal transplantation in mice. Blood. 2014;124:973–80.
- Chandrasekaran D, Nakamoto B, Watts KL, Kiem H-P, Papayannopoulou T. Modeling promising nonmyeloablative conditioning regimens in nonhuman primates. Hum Gene Ther. 2014;25:1013–22.
- 43. Pang WW, Czechowicz A, Poyser J, Park CY, Weissman IL, Shizuru JA. Anti-Human CD117 antibodies mediate clearance of myelodysplastic syndrome hematopoietic stem cells and facilitate establishment of normal hematopoiesis in transplantation. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2018;24:S230–S1. (Abstract 313)
- Chao MP, Majeti R, Weissman IL. Programmed cell removal: a new obstacle in the road to developing cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12:58–67.
- 45. Jaiswal S, Jamieson CH, Pang WW, Park CY, Chao MP, Majeti R, et al. CD47 is upregulated on circulating hematopoietic stem cells and leukemia cells to avoid phagocytosis. Cell . 2009;138:271–85.
- 46. Willingham SB, Volkmer J-P, Gentles AJ, Sahoo D, Dalerba P, Mitra SS, et al. The CD47-signal regulatory protein alpha (SIRPa) interaction is a therapeutic target for human solid tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2012;109:6662–7.
- Chhabra A, Ring AM, Weiskopf K, Schnorr PJ, Gordon S, Le AC, et al. Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in immunocompetent hosts without radiation or chemotherapy. Sci Transl Med. 2016;8:351ra105–351ra105.
- Beck A, Goetsch L, Dumontet C, Corvaïa N. Strategies and challenges for the next generation of antibody–drug conjugates. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2017;16:315–37.
- 49. Palchaudhuri R, Saez B, Hoggatt J, Schajnovitz A, Sykes DB, Tate TA, et al. Non-genotoxic conditioning for hematopoietic stem cell transplantation using a hematopoietic-cell-specific internalizing immunotoxin. Nat Biotechnol. 2016;34:738–45.
- Li Z, Czechowicz A, Scheck A, Rossi D, Murphy P. Robust Hematopoietic Mixed Chimerism and Donor-Specific Skin Allograft Tolerance after Non-Genotoxic Anti-CD117 Immunotoxin Conditioning and Donor Bone Marrow Allotransplantation. Am J Transplant. 2018;18:399. (Abstract 398)

- Hartigan AJ, Pearse BR, McDonough SM, Proctor JL, Adams HL, McShea MA, et al. A Non-Genotoxic Antibody Drug Conjugate Targeting C-Kit for Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplant Conditioning. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2018;24:S47–S8. (Abstract 23)
- 52. Rivière I, Sadelain M. Chimeric antigen receptors: a cell and gene therapy perspective. Mol Ther. 2017;25:1117–24.
- 53. Brentjens RJ, Rivière I, Park JH, Davila ML, Wang X, Stefanski J, et al. Safety and persistence of adoptively transferred autologous CD19-targeted T cells in patients with relapsed or chemotherapy refractory B-cell leukemias. Blood. 2011;118:4817–28.
- Porter DL, Levine BL, Kalos M, Bagg A, June CH. Chimeric antigen receptor–modified T cells in chronic lymphoid leukemia. New Engl J Med. 2011;365:725–33.
- 55. Grupp SA, Kalos M, Barrett D, Aplenc R, Porter DL, Rheingold SR, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor–modified T cells for acute lymphoid leukemia. New Engl J Med. 2013;368:1509–18.
- 56. Kochenderfer JN, Dudley ME, Kassim SH, Somerville RP, Carpenter RO, Stetler-Stevenson M, et al. Chemotherapy-refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma and indolent B-cell malignancies can be effectively treated with autologous T cells expressing an anti-CD19 chimeric antigen receptor. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33:540–9.
- Arai Y, Choi U, Corsino CI, Koontz SM, Tajima M, Sweeney CL, et al. Myeloid conditioning with c-kit-targeted CAR-T cells enables donor stem cell engraftment. Mol Ther. 2018;26:1181–97.

- Gill S, Tasian SK, Ruella M, Shestova O, Li Y, Porter DL, et al. Preclinical targeting of human acute myeloid leukemia and myeloablation using chimeric antigen receptor–modified T cells. Blood. 2014;123:2343–54.
- Tasian SK, Kenderian SS, Shen F, Ruella M, Shestova O, Kozlowski M, et al. Optimized depletion of chimeric antigen receptor T cells in murine xenograft models of human acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2017;129:2395–407.
- Gill S, Olson JA, Negrin RS. Natural killer cells in allogeneic transplantation: effect on engraftment, graft-versus-tumor, and graft-versus-host responses. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2009; 15:765–76.
- Mattsson J, Ringdén O, Storb R. Graft failure after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2008;14:165–70.
- 62. Hill GR. Inflammation and bone marrow transplantation. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2009;15:139–41.
- Stenger EO, Turnquist HR, Mapara MY, Thomson AW. Dendritic cells and regulation of graft-versus-host disease and graft-versusleukemia activity. Blood. 2012;119:5088–103.
- Gyurkocza B, Lazarus H, Giralt S. Allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation in patients with AML not achieving remission: potentially curative therapy. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2017;52: 1083–90.

## **Chapter 8: Conclusions and future directions**

The aim of this thesis was to assess novel antigen targets in AML. This work made several substantial contributions to this field. I reviewed the literature and provided original insights into the major factor limiting immunotherapy for AML, which is the inability to differentiate between leukaemic cells and HSPC using surface molecules. Another addition to the literature made by this work is the first comprehensive review of targeted conditioning agents. We examined the potential of CD302 as a target in AML and provided the first publication demonstrating its expression on this disease as well as HSPC. The understanding of CD300f in AML has benefited from this work, both in exploring the potential to target individual isoforms specific for AML with monocytic differentiation as well as targeting all isoforms of CD300f to facilitate allo-HSCT. This work has achieved the aims of the thesis which was to assess novel targets for AML immunotherapies.

CD302 will be a challenging choice for cytotoxic immunotherapy in AML. The expression on the liver, even if intracellular, will always pose theoretical risks not shared by other targets. The role of CD302 in migration and our demonstration of reduced engraftment when AML is pre-coated with an anti-CD302 antibody suggests that it may play a role in the bone marrow niche micro-environment.<sup>1</sup> Any further work on CD302 in AML would best be placed to determine if disruption of the molecule can alter the bone marrow niche, in which AML evades traditional therapies.<sup>2</sup>

CD300f is a more promising target in AML. Using its unique epitopes and isoforms it may be possible to generate a true leukaemia specific immunotherapy. We demonstrated increased expression of exon four and enhanced binding of UP-D2, in the presence of DCR-2, on AML with monocytic differentiation. AML with monocytic differentiation is made up of acute myelomonocytic leukaemia (M4) and monoblastic/monocytic (M5) AML. The latter is relatively homogeneous, and the former is always heterogeneous by surface marker expression. It is possible that a greater response may be achieved with a M5 classification over M4 given the more consistent surface marker expression. Potential therapeutics using this approach may be antibody based therapy that target the exon four region or a therapeutic based on the UP-D2 mAb/ADC that is activated by the co-administration of DCR-2 (Figure 8.1).

## Figure 8.1



**Figure 8.1 Strategies targeting CD300f on AML with monocytic differentiation sparing HSPC.** Developing a mAb based therapy against exon 4 of CD300f (A). Inducing enhanced binding of a ADC with the UP-D2 binding site by a DCR-2 based mAb (B).

The most developed idea presented in this work is the use of an ADC against CD300f as part of a targeted conditioning regimen. This approach acknowledges the limitations of current AML targets and seeks to enhance a proven therapy, allo-HSCT. Incorporating allo-HSCT does restrict the number of potential patients that may benefit as it is inherently risky and resource intensive. The risks of HSCT may be reduced by limiting exposure to radiation and alkylating agents. We do demonstrate that CD300f has several positive features to develop into an ADC for targeted conditioning in AML. CD300f appears to have little expression on non-hematopoietic cells, is expressed across most AML, is expressed evenly across all major HSPC, and DCR-2 was efficiently internalised. This work demonstrated that CD300f had a similar expression profile as CD33 overall. The only significant difference in CD33 and CD300f as a target may be the expression on HSPC. CD300f has even expression across all HSC and myeloid HSPC. CD33 has enough expression on HSPC to limit potent immunotherapies (outside of allo-HSCT) but has variable expression across HSC and myeloid progenitors which may make it less efficient as a conditioning agent.<sup>3-5</sup> The next step is to remove the murine components of DCR2 and reduce its half-life by converting it into an antibody fragment (Fab) or producing a mAb without the FcRn region. A targeted anti-CD300f agent may be able to reduce relapses rates and replace alkylating agents/ radiation limiting non relapse mortality (Figure 8.2). This could confer the relapse reduction rate of MAC conditioning with a risk profile more similar to NMA/RIC regimens, which would be a substantial benefit, especially in older patients.



Figure 8.2 Potential future roles for a DCR-2 based ADC

**conditioning.** The ADC could either added to existing conditioning regimens to reduce relapse rates (A) or replacing radiation/alkylating agents to reduce toxicity (B).

The anti-CD300f antibody, DCR-2, was further validated by this work. Anti-CD300f antibodies may have roles outside the realm of AML. CD300f reduces neutrophil chemotaxis and function upon binding to ceramide and it may be possible that blocking this interaction with an antibody could prove useful in sepsis or neutropenic states.<sup>6, 7</sup> The CD300f expression profile validated by this work will open up the possibility of further exploring this molecule in roles outside of AML.

An anti-CD300f ADC based conditioning will have benefits outside of AML. There is great appeal of less toxic conditioning agents for MDS and exploring a DCR-2 based conditioning agent in patients with this disease should be performed. A DCR-2 based conditioning agent would also likely have use in the emerging field gene modified autologous HSCT, where the toxicities of traditional conditioning agents are a major barrier to development. A key challenge in developing CD300f based conditioning further is the expression on HSPC differs between mice and humans. While human HSPC express CD300f, mouse HSPC do not.<sup>7, 8</sup> Therefore further validation of an anti-CD300f ADC as a transplant conditioning agent would require the ongoing use of xenografts.

Other groups are exploring targeted conditioning with other agents, but these may not directly complete.<sup>9, 10</sup> It is possible that different targeted conditioning agents, such as mAb or ADCs with against CD300f and CD117, could be combined and be possibly synergistic. Subsequent preclinical studies should be performed using a short half-life DCR-2 mab based therapeutic in conditioning regimens in xenografts of AML, MDS and inherited disorders of haematopoiesis. The knowledge derived from this thesis will continue to advance the field of allo-HSCT as part of the ongoing goal to establish less toxic more efficacious therapy for patients with AML.

#### References

- 1. Lo TH, Silveira PA, Fromm PD, Verma ND, Vu PA, Kupresanin F *et al.* Characterization of the Expression and Function of the C-Type Lectin Receptor CD302 in Mice and Humans Reveals a Role in Dendritic Cell Migration. *J Immunol* 2016; 197(3): 885-898. e-pub ahead of print 2016/06/19; doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1600259
- 2. Tabe Y, Konopleva M. Role of Microenvironment in Resistance to Therapy in AML. *Curr Hematol Malig Rep* 2015; 10(2): 96-103. e-pub ahead of print 2015/04/30; doi:10.1007/s11899-015-0253-6
- Kim MY, Yu KR, Kenderian SS, Ruella M, Chen S, Shin TH *et al.* Genetic Inactivation of CD33 in Hematopoietic Stem Cells to Enable CAR T Cell Immunotherapy for Acute Myeloid Leukemia. *Cell* 2018; 173(6): 1439-1453 e1419. e-pub ahead of print 2018/06/02; doi:10.1016/j.cell.2018.05.013
- 4. Taussig DC, Pearce DJ, Simpson C, Rohatiner AZ, Lister TA, Kelly G *et al.* Hematopoietic stem cells express multiple myeloid markers: implications for the origin and targeted therapy of acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood* 2005; 106(13): 4086-4092. e-pub ahead of print 2005/09/01; doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-03-1072
- Zheng B, Yu S-F, Del Rosario G, Leong SR, Lee GY, Vij R *et al.* An Anti–CLL-1 Antibody–Drug Conjugate for the Treatment of Acute Myeloid Leukemia. *Clinical Cancer Research* 2019; 25(4): 1358-1368.
- Izawa K, Maehara A, Isobe M, Yasuda Y, Urai M, Hoshino Y *et al.* Disrupting ceramide-CD300f interaction prevents septic peritonitis by stimulating neutrophil recruitment. *Sci Rep* 2017; 7(1): 4298. e-pub ahead of print 2017/06/29; doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-04647-z
- Ueno K, Urai M, Izawa K, Otani Y, Yanagihara N, Kataoka M *et al.* Mouse LIMR3/CD300f is a negative regulator of the antimicrobial activity of neutrophils. *Scientific Reports* 2018; 8(1): 1-13. doi: ARTN 1740610.1038/s41598-018-35699-4
- Abadir E, Silveira PA, Gasiorowski RE, Ramesh M, Romano A, Mekkawy AH *et al.* Targeting CD300f to enhance hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood Adv* 2020; 4(7): 1206-1216. e-pub ahead of print 2020/03/28; doi:0.1182/bloodadvances.2019001289
- George BM, Kao KS, Kwon HS, Velasco BJ, Poyser J, Chen A *et al.* Antibody Conditioning Enables MHC-Mismatched Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplants and Organ Graft Tolerance. *Cell Stem Cell* 2019; 25(2): 185-192 e183. e-pub ahead of print 2019/06/18; doi:0.1016/j.stem.2019.05.018

10. Pang WW, Czechowicz A, Logan AC, Bhardwaj R, Poyser J, Park CY *et al.* Anti-CD117 antibody depletes normal and myelodysplastic syndrome human hematopoietic stem cells in xenografted mice. *Blood* 2019; 133(19): 2069-2078. e-pub ahead of print 2019/02/13; doi:10.1182/blood-2018-06-858159

# Appendix A: CD83: activation marker for antigen presenting cells and its therapeutic potential

Li Z, Ju X, Silveira PA, Abadir E, Hsu WH, Hart DN, Clark G. CD83: activation marker for antigen presenting cells and its therapeutic potential. Frontiers in Immunology. 2019;10:1312.





## **CD83: Activation Marker for Antigen Presenting Cells and Its Therapeutic Potential**

Ziduo Li<sup>1,2</sup>, Xinsheng Ju<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Pablo A. Silveira<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Edward Abadir<sup>1,2</sup>, Wei-Hsun Hsu<sup>1,2</sup>, Derek N. J. Hart<sup>1,2†</sup> and Georgina J. Clark<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Dendritic Cell Research, ANZAC Research Institute, Sydney, NSW, Australia, <sup>2</sup> Sydney Medical School, The University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia

CD83 is a member of the immunoglobulin (Ig) superfamily and is expressed in membrane bound or soluble forms. Membrane CD83 (mCD83) can be detected on a variety of activated immune cells, although it is most highly and stably expressed by mature dendritic cells (DC). mCD83 regulates maturation, activation and homeostasis. Soluble CD83 (sCD83), which is elevated in the serum of patients with autoimmune disease and some hematological malignancies is reported to have an immune suppressive function. While CD83 is emerging as a promising immune modulator with therapeutic potential, some important aspects such as its ligand/s, intracellular signaling pathways and modulators of its expression are unclear. In this review we discuss the recent biological findings and the potential clinical value of CD83 based therapeutics in various conditions including autoimmune disease, graft-vs.-host disease, transplantation and hematological malignancies.

Keywords: CD83, antigen presenting cells, immune suppression, therapeutic antibody, transplantation

#### INTRODUCTION

The immune system's primary function is to protect the host from foreign pathogens, but its dysregulation can lead to serious illness or even death. For instance, failure of immunological tolerance has the potential to cause autoimmune diseases (1). In the transplantation setting, uncontrolled allogeneic immune responses leads to donor organ rejection or graft-vs.-host disease (GVHD) in which grafted T-cells respond to host tissue antigens presented by activated donor or host antigen-presenting cells (APC) (2). Current approaches to prevent or treat these diseases conventionally include non-specific immune suppression agents such as steroids or cyclosporin. However, these agents compromise the patient's immune function against pathogens and malignancy (3). There is a need for selective immune suppressive agents targeting specific inflammatory cells that prevent undesirable immune responses but preserve beneficial responses against infection and cancer.

Expression of membrane-bound (m)CD83 on the surface of activated dendritic cells (DC) and other APC make it an attractive therapeutic target, for achieving selective immune suppression. Anti-CD83 specific antibodies with the ability to deplete CD83<sup>+</sup> cells have shown efficacy in the treatment of pre-clinical models of GVHD without significantly affecting viral or tumor specific memory T-cell responses (**Table 1**). Alternatively, recombinant soluble extracellular CD83 constructs (rsCD83) mimicking the natural soluble (s)CD83 variant have demonstrated potent immunosuppressive properties in animal models of autoimmune disease and transplantation

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Irina Caminschi, Monash University, Australia

#### Reviewed by:

Ken Shortman, Walter and Eliza Hall Institute of Medical Research, Australia Richard A. Kroczek, Robert Koch Institute, Germany

#### \*Correspondence:

Xinsheng Ju xinsheng.ju@sydney.edu.au Pablo A. Silveira pablo.silveira@sydney.edu.au

<sup>†</sup>Deceased

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Antigen Presenting Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> **Received:** 14 March 2019 **Accepted:** 23 May 2019 **Published:** 07 June 2019

#### Citation:

Li Z, Ju X, Silveira PA, Abadir E, Hsu W-H, Hart DNJ and Clark GJ (2019) CD83: Activation Marker for Antigen Presenting Cells and Its Therapeutic Potential. Front. Immunol. 10:1312. doi: 10.3389/firmmu.2019.01312 (Table 1). In this article, we review the most recent literature updating our understanding of CD83 biology and discuss the value of applications using anti-CD83 antibodies or sCD83 in mediating immune suppression or targeting CD83<sup>+</sup> malignancies.

#### PHYSIOLOGICAL CHARACTERISTICS OF CD83

#### **CD83 Structure and Expression**

CD83 is a member of the immunoglobulin (Ig) superfamily. The human gene maps to Chromosome 6p23 and consists of 5 exons: exon 1 encoding the leader sequence, exons 2–3 the extracellular domain, exon 4 the transmembrane domain and exon 5 the intracellular domain (26). Similar gene organization is found in other mammals (27). The human CD83 protein comprises of 205 amino acids with extensive glycosylation resulting in a molecular weight of 45 kD. The mouse protein shows 63% similarity but is smaller (196 amino acids) due to the absence of an eleven amino acid sequence within the extracellular region (28, 29).

In mammals, fish and birds, mCD83 is recognized as an activation marker on the surface of immune cells (30). In humans and mice, the highest and most stable expression is found on activated DC from various tissues, including plasmacytoid and myeloid subsets (31-33). Nevertheless, mCD83 is found on the surface of other activated hematopoietic cells, including Bcells (34-36), macrophages, monocytes (37), neutrophils (38) and NK cells (39). In germinal centers, CD83 is expressed on B-cell centrocytes within the light zone undergoing selection and Ig class switching (40). mCD83 is only found on minor proportions of non-regulatory human T-cells that have engaged with APC, with surface expression primarily due to trogocytosis (35). mCD83 was not detected on the surface of human natural regulatory CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells (Treg) (35) but could be detected on induced or expanded Treg (41, 42). In mice, natural CD4<sup>+</sup> Treg show high levels of CD83 promoter activity, and upon activation rapidly express mCD83 on their surface (35, 43, 44). mCD83 is also present on non-hematopoietic cortical thymic epithelial cells (TEC) in mice (45, 46), which is yet to be examined in humans.

Intracellular preformed CD83 protein is detected in a wide range of immune cells, including immature DC, monocytes, macrophages, natural-killer (NK) cells and lymphocytes (35). CD83 is rapidly transported to the surface from golgi and recycling endosome pools in DC, macrophages, monocytes and B-cells upon TLR or TNF engagement (37, 47). CD40/CD40L and BCR-ligation induces mCD83 in B-cells (48). Detailed analysis of the human CD83 gene promoter found SP-1 and NF- $\kappa$ B sites were critical for induction of the gene (49), with interferon regulatory factor-1, -2, -5 and NF- $\kappa$ B-p50, -p65, and -cRel involved in regulating CD83 expression in DC (50). The post-translation modulation of CD83 comprises of a golgi transport related protein, GRASP55, which binds to the CD83 C-terminal TELV-motif and plays a role in CD83 glycosylation (51).

sCD83 can be detected at low levels in healthy human sera but is elevated in the sera of patients with hematopoietic malignancies or autoimmune diseases (12-14, 52-55). Similarly, low to undetectable levels are found in the sera of healthy mice, which is elevated during pregnancy (56) or induction of autoimmunity (57). Culturing experiments determined that most sCD83 is produced by activated B-cells and DC (52, 56), as well as Treg in mice (43). The sequence of natural sCD83 in both species remains unconfirmed and as a result, it is not clear whether the product derives from cleavage of the extracellular portion of mCD83, CD83 splice variants (26), or both. The abundant amount of sCD83 produced by the Hodgkin derived cell line KM-H2, which only express the full-length CD83 transcript, supports cleavage (35); whereas detection of sCD83 in supernatants of cell lines transfected with certain CD83 splice variants supports the alternative mechanism (26).

#### **CD83 Ligands**

CD83 forms homodimers in prokaryotic expression systems (29) confirmed in protein crystal structure analysis (58). Strong structural similarities between CD83 and B7 family members were revealed, suggesting that, like B7 family members, CD83 could exert its immunological activity by either homotypic or heterotypic interactions with a ligand (58). rsCD83 constructs bind to the surface of DC (59), B-cells (60), and monocytes (61), cells reported to express CD83 themselves. Similar constructs bound a CD83 transfected but not the wild-type Chinese hamster ovary cell line and failed to bind DC with a CD83 knockdown (62). This indicated the potential for homotypic binding of mCD83 in trans to mCD83 on other cells, but to date, investigators have failed to demonstrate a clear biophysical interaction. These studies do not preclude the possibility that CD83 binds to other ligands as predicted by structural analysis. Indeed, human rsCD83 has been shown to bind myeloid differentiation factor-2 (MD-2), a co-receptor associated with the TLR4 signaling complex, on monocytes (63).

#### mCD83 Function

The important role of mCD83 in T-cell development became evident in CD83 knockout mice, which exhibit a severe reduction of CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells (45). This phenotype was intrinsic to the non-hematopoietic compartment and could be reversed by intra-thymic injection of wild-type TEC. The underlying mechanism by which mCD83 controls T-cell selection by TEC was attributed to its transmembrane region (64), which binds, and functionally inhibits, the membrane-associated RING-CH8 (MARCH-8) ubiquitin ligase (46, 65). Since MARCH-8 is responsible for the internalization and degradation of surface MHC class II (MHC-II) through ubiquitination, CD83 expression by cortical TEC stabilizes MHC-II on their surface permitting positive CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell selection. mCD83 similarly

Abbreviations: ADCC, antibody-dependent cell cytotoxicity; APC, antigen presenting cell/s; DC, dendritic cell/s; DLBCL, diffuse large B-cell lymphomas; EAE, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis; EAU, experimental autoimmune uveitis; GCA, giant cell arteritis; GVHD, graft-vs. -host disease; HL, Hodgkin lymphoma; HRS, Hodgkin Reed-Sternberg; HSV-1, Herpes-Simplex virus-1; IDO, indolamine 2,3-dioxygenase; Ig, immunoglobulin; mAb, monoclonal antibody; mCD83, membrane CD83; MHC-II, MHC class II; MS, multiple sclerosis; NK, natural-killer; rsCD83, recombinant soluble CD83; sCD83, soluble CD83; TEC, thymic epithelial cell/s; TLR, toll-like receptor; Treg, regulatory CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell.

#### TABLE 1 | Therapeutic applications of CD83.

Therapeutic	Indication	Potential mechanism				
Anti-CD83 antibody	Diagnostic mature DC marker	CD83 upregulation when DC are activated (4–8)				
	Therapeutic target for GVHD	Depletion of mature CD83 <sup>+</sup> DC (9, 10)				
	Therapeutic target for GCA	Depletion of mature CD83 <sup>+</sup> DC in GCA arteries (11)				
Anti-CD83 antibody/antibody drug conjugates	Biomarker and therapeutic HL target	Depletion of CD83 <sup>+</sup> malignant cells; neutralizing peripheral sCD83 (12)				
Serum sCD83	Biomarker in HL, chronic lymphocytic leukemia, and mantle cell lymphoma	Serum sCD83 shed from CD83 <sup>+</sup> malignant cells (12–15)				
rsCD83	Immunosuppressive agent in solid organ transplant rejection					
	Skin transplant	Inhibition of recipient T-cell proliferation and IL-2, IFN- $\gamma$ production (16)				
	Kidney transplant	Tolerogenic DC generation; induction of IDO (17)				
		Reduced number of infiltrating T-cells and monocytes and lower levels of inflammatory cytokines in graft (18)				
	Corneal transplant	Regulatory T-cell induction mediated by IDO and TGF- $\beta$ (19)				
	Cardiac transplant	Attenuating DC maturation and function, such as down modulating MHC-II expression and reducing the DC allogeneic stimulatory capacity (20)				
	Immunosuppressive agent in autoimmune diseases					
	MS (EAE)	Reduced T-cell proliferation and production of IFN- $\gamma$ (21)				
	Inflammatory Bowel Disease	Induced tolerogenic IDO+ DC (22)				
	Autoimmune Uveitis (EAU)	NK cells reduced and the expression of CD11b and CD83 in NK cells decreased (23)				
		Induced tolerogenic IDO <sup>+</sup> DC by decreased expression of co-stimulatory molecules and hampered DC calcium response (17)				
	Systemic Lupus Erythematosus	Reduction of splenic and peripheral IgG-secreting cells and peripheral T-cells (24)				
	Rheumatoid arthritis	Reduced arthritis by increasing Treg numbers in an IDO and TGF- $\beta$ dependent manner (25)				

promotes upregulation of surface MHC-II and CD86 on activated APC including DC and B-cells through transmembrane regulation of the haematopoietically-restricted ubiquitin ligase MARCH-1 (64).

Despite being present on the surface of activated APC and causing upregulation of MHC-II and CD86 required for T-cell activation, the outcomes of signaling through surface mCD83 appears to lead to suppressed or regulatory functions in various immune cell populations. For DC, engagement of mCD83 with antibody or homotypic binding with CD83 expressing cell lines in vitro or transgenic CD83 expression by non-hematopoietic cells in vivo reduced their capacity to mature and secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines, a feature dependent on the MAPK signaling pathway (62). On the other hand, mice with a conditional knockout of CD83 in DC exhibited increased susceptibility to severe colitis, further indicative of a role for CD83 in DC regulation.

CD83 expression by mouse B or T-cells was shown to increase their longevity in vivo (66). However, transgenic overexpression of CD83 in mouse B-cells resulted in inhibitory function, as demonstrated by a decreased capacity to proliferate, class-switch and secrete Ig upon immunization (despite increased surface MHC-II and CD86 levels) as well as augmented secretion of

the immunoregulatory cytokine IL-10 by marginal zone Bcells (67). Treating mice with anti-CD83 antibodies significantly augmented their IgG1 responses to T-cell independent antigens, which was underpinned by increased marginal zone B-cell isotype switching (68). Ablating CD83 expression conditionally in B-cells did not result in major changes to their response to antigen, though some changes were noted in germinal center composition and IgE class-switching (69). So far, little is known about CD83 function in human B-cells. However, targeting them in vivo with an anti-CD83 monoclonal antibody (mAb) in a human PBMC xenograft model inhibited Bcell responses to specific antigens without causing pan B-cell depletion (70).

In mice, CD83 expression is associated with regulatory function in T-cells. Using reporter mice, CD83 expression was associated with T-cells which mediate Treg-like functions in vitro and in vivo (43). Transduction of CD83 into mouse CD4<sup>+</sup> CD25<sup>-</sup> naïve T-cells imparted them with suppressive capabilities comparable to naturally occurring Treg including prevention of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) in a mouse model (71). While expression of mCD83 on Treg could act in trans to downregulate the function of DC expressing mCD83, the molecule was shown to have essential intrinsic function in Treg differentiation and retention of their regulatory phenotype (42). In humans, continuous expression of CD83 on activated human  $CD4^+$  T-cells is indicative of their differentiation into induced Treg (41).

#### sCD83 Function

To evaluate the potential function of sCD83, several studies have used rsCD83 constructs consisting of the human or mouse CD83 extracellular domain fused to an Ig Fc chain or a polyhistidine tag (4, 21, 26, 59, 62, 72–76). These all showed similar immune suppressive properties compared to control constructs, inhibiting human monocyte differentiation into DC (72, 76), changing the DC cytoskeleton (75), preventing DC maturation (59, 62), and reducing DC-mediated T-cell proliferation (4).

The ligand of sCD83 and how it exerts its immune inhibitory function is under investigation. Homotypic interaction of rsCD83 with mCD83 on DC blocks the production of inflammatory cytokines monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 and IL-12p40 through MAPK signaling (62). Another study showed that rsCD83 binding to DC suppressed f-actin mediated calcium signaling, preventing co-localization of ORAI1 and mitochondria at the DC-T-cell synapse (57). Binding of rsCD83 to the TLR4/MD-2 complex on monocytes induced antiinflammatory mediators, such as indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO), IL-10, and PGE2 in a COX-2-dependent manner, leading to inhibition of T-cell proliferation and IL-2 secretion (63, 72). The increased generation of IDO and TGF- $\beta$  by rsCD83 leads to the induction of Treg and allograft tolerance, which was confirmed in mouse kidney or corneal transplant models (17, 19).

#### TRANSLATION OF CD83 INTO THE CLINIC CD83 as a DC Activation Marker and Viral Infection Target

mCD83 is an informative DC maturation marker (77, 78) and has been used in clinical trials of solid organ transplant rejection (clinicaltrials.gov, NCT01678937), DC vaccination for the treatment of melanoma (clinicaltrials.gov, NCT01425749) and acute myeloid leukemia (5) or as an inflammatory indicator for novel psoriasis therapy (clinicaltrials.gov, NCT01736696). CD83<sup>+</sup> DC are reported to have prognostic value as an inverse correlate of gastric cancer outcomes (6).

Viruses have evolved a number of strategies to subvert host immunity including the targeting of CD83 on APC. Immature DC infected with Herpes-Simplex virus-1 (HSV-1) failed to express mCD83 during maturation (79) and the virus contributed to rapid downregulation of mCD83 on mature DC (7). Interestingly, HSV-1 secretes soluble factors, such as L particles, that interfere with CD83 expression on HSV-1negative (uninfected) bystander DC (80). Similar observations of virus induced DC downregulation of mCD83 were found with varicella-zoster (81) and cytomegalovirus infection (4, 82). The latter downregulates mCD83 on mature DC via major immediate early viral effector protein IE2 and induces sCD83 secretion (82). In contrast, Epstein-Barr virus produces latent membrane protein-1, which induces rapid upregulation of mCD83 and a strong immune response against infected B-cells, establishing viral latency (8).

#### sCD83 in Autoimmune Disorders and Solid Organ Transplant Rejection

rsCD83 proteins that exploit the suppressive function of CD83 are demonstrated to be effective in the treatment of various mouse models of autoimmune and inflammatory diseases (Figure 1). Intra-peritoneal injection of rsCD83 was effective in preventing EAE, a model of multiple sclerosis (MS), with a reduction in T-cell cytokines including IFN-y, IL-2, IL-4, and IL-10 (21). In an inflammatory bowel disease model, rsCD83 prevented the symptoms of colitis by decreasing inflammatory cell infiltration and destruction of colonic architecture through inducing long-term expression of IDO by DC (22). IDO+ DC actively diverted T-cell responses toward tolerance (83). Similarly, in an experimental autoimmune uveitis (EAU) model, topical application of rsCD83 showed a protective effect resulting from the induction of tolerogenic IDO<sup>+</sup> DC, suppressing CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell activation in eyes and spleen. rsCD83 application also reduced mCD83 expression by CD83+CD3-NK1.1+ cells that normally infiltrate inflamed eyes. When rsCD83 treated-NK cells were transferred into EAU mice, retinal tissue damage was also relieved (23). In a systemic lupus erythematosus model, rsCD83 significantly delayed onset of pathogenic anti-dsDNA autoantibodies and reduced the concentration of anti-histone IgG autoantibodies compared to the control group (24).

In addition to autoimmunity, sCD83 has potential therapeutic value for preventing solid organ transplant rejection. Treatment with rsCD83 delayed acute cellular rejection of MHCmismatched skin allografts in mice, significantly reducing the recipient's T-cells capacity to respond (16). In other mouse models, rsCD83 prevented renal allograft rejection and corneal transplantation rejection by inducing IDO and TGF- $\beta$  (17–19). In a cardiac transplant model, the prolonged allogeneic heart graft and donor specific graft tolerance induced by rsCD83 correlated with a reduction in DC activation markers and allogeneic stimulatory capacity (20). Interestingly, while rsCD83 is immunosuppressive in animal models, elevated levels of natural sCD83 were noticed in various human autoimmune and inflammatory diseases, e.g., in synovial fluid (55) and sera of rheumatoid arthritis patients (54) and MS patient sera (53). The significance of elevated sCD83 in these diseases is not yet understood and may be due to self-regulation of immune system.

# Antibody Targeting of CD83<sup>+</sup> Cells for Treatment of GVHD

Antibody targeting of CD83 offers the possibility of specifically depleting activated APC capable of stimulating allogeneic T-cells while retaining non-activated APC that impart tolerance and memory T-cells crucial for protective immunity against infection and tumors (**Figure 1**). This therapeutic strategy was initially trialed in pre-clinical models using a polyclonal rabbit antihuman CD83 antibody (9) and later repeated with the high-affinity human anti-human CD83 IgG1 mAb, 3C12C (10). Both antibodies were adept at mediating antibody-dependent cell



FIGURE 1 | The immunosuppressive effect of anti-CD83 antibodies and rsCD83 in allogeneic transplantation and inflammation. (A) Activated (Act) DC stimulate T-cells to initiate a damaging alloimmune/inflammatory response caused by allogeneic transplantation or autoimmunity. (B) Conventional treatment with non-specific (Continued) FIGURE 1 | immune suppressive agents (e.g., cyclosporin) controls inflammation, GVHD and graft rejection at the expense of protective infectious and tumor memory T-cell responses. (C) Anti-CD83 mAb deplete activated DC but not tolerogenic DC (ToI-DC) at the initiation of the immune response, preventing T-cell activation leading to graft rejection/inflammation but promoting T-cell tolerance. It also preserves memory (mem) T-cells capable of protective anti-viral and graft-vs.-tumor (GVT) activities. (D) rsCD83 induces IL-10, IDO, PGE-2, and TGF-β from monocytes and DC through homotypic and heterotypic ligand binding, promoting Treg generation, inhibiting DC activation and reducing CD83 surface expression on DC, leading to reduced T-cell activation, graft acceptance and tolerance. The effect of rsCD83 on memory T-cell responses has not been investigated.

cytotoxicity (ADCC) against CD83<sup>+</sup> expressing cells, particularly activated DC, and by doing so prevented allogeneic T-cell proliferation in mixed leukocyte reactions without affecting memory T-cell reactivity to cytomegalovirus and influenza antigens. A single 125 µg dose of either antibody prevented acute GVHD in a preclinical xenogeneic model where human PBMC were transplanted into SCID mice. This without significantly compromising the donor's overall T-cell and Treg numbers nor memory T-cell responses against viral or tumor antigens. Treatment of non-human primates with up to 10 mg/kg 3C12C was found to have no adverse clinical effects or significantly affect total blood cell counts (12). However, specific reductions were noted in the CD83<sup>+</sup> populations including CD1c<sup>+</sup> DC and B-cells. Anti-CD83 antibodies can be effective in other inflammatory settings, as demonstrated in a xenogeneic mouse model of giant cell arteritis (GCA). Treatment of SCID mice with a mouse anti-human CD83 mAb depleted activated DC in GCA-affected human artery grafts, preventing graft infiltration and activation of co-transferred human T-cells (11).

# CD83 as a Therapeutic Target and Biomarker in Cancer

The first malignancy to be reported exhibiting surface CD83 expression was Hodgkin lymphoma (HL) (84). Since then, other tumors have been shown to express CD83, including diffuse large B-cell lymphomas (DLBCL), small cell lung cancer and other lung adenocarcinomas and gastric mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue lymphomas (85–88). In addition, CD83 polymorphisms and mutations have been reported in some cancers. For example, somatic mutations of CD83 with unknown significance have been reported in DLBCL (89, 90) and polymorphisms of CD83 were correlated with prognosis of cervical cancer (91).

HL is a B-cell neoplasm defined by the presence of Hodgkin Reed-Sternberg (HRS) cells. Approximately 30% of patients with advanced disease either relapse or become refractory to chemotherapy and their survival is substantially reduced (92). Recently, we determined that CD83 is expressed on HRS cells (12). In the HL setting, antibody-drug conjugates have advantages over naked antibodies in being able to bypass the suppressive tumor microenvironment that can prevent ADCC (15). We showed CD83 was internalized after antibody engagement and developed 3C12C-monomethyl auristatin E toxin conjugates that were effective in killing CD83<sup>+</sup> HRS cells (12). This provides impetus for the further investigation of anti-CD83 therapeutics for HL.

HL cells were found to secrete sCD83 that suppressed T-cell proliferation, suggestive of a potential mechanism of immune evasion (12). Blocking sCD83 with anti-CD83 antibodies could mitigate sCD83's effect. Interestingly, serum sCD83 protein is increased in patients with HL as well as other hematological malignancies, including chronic lymphocytic leukemia and mantle cell lymphoma, which correlated with decreased survival and clinical therapeutic response (12–14). These studies raise the possibility that sCD83 could be developed as biomarker for HL and other hematological malignancies and be targeted to enhance immune therapies.

#### **CONCLUDING REMARKS**

While recognized as a biomarker for activated APC, greater knowledge of the expression and function of CD83 has given rise to therapeutic strategies that target this molecule or its ligands to suppress inflammatory immune responses. rsCD83 constructs accomplish this by exploiting the regulatory signals induced by CD83 whereas anti-CD83 antibodies act by depleting activated antigen presenting cells that promote inflammatory T-cell responses (Figure 1). Both products have shown great promise for treating inflammatory disease in preclinical models, but some key questions regarding their mechanism of action remain. Determining the significance of differences between mouse and human CD83 (particularly for T-cells) would be important for translating research from animal models into humans. For sCD83, the contribution of homotypic and heterotypic ligand binding and the specific signals induced by these interactions require further elucidation. Also pertinent would be examining whether differences exist between natural sCD83 and the recombinant extracellular sCD83 used in the treatment of disease models. Regarding anti-CD83 antibodies, continued work is required to determine whether depletion of activated DC is the main mode of immune suppression given that targeting CD83 with antibodies has also been shown to suppress DC maturation (62). In addition, it is unclear whether targeting other CD83<sup>+</sup> cells (e.g., T or B-cells) promotes the efficacy of anti-CD83 treatment. It is of great interest to determine if anti-CD83 antibodies could be therapeutic in other inflammatory settings involving activated DC such as solid organ transplant rejection or autoimmunity. The application of anti-CD83 antibodies or derivatives (e.g., antibody-drug conjugates) are likely to extend to the management of cancer, especially hematological malignancies. The translation of therapeutics targeting CD83 hold great promise as more selective strategies for achieving immunosuppression without significantly compromising protective immunity and have the potential to supersede the broad immunosuppressive drugs currently used to treat inflammatory diseases in the clinic.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

Paper writing by ZL, W-HH, and PS. Editing by XJ, EA, and GC. Figure drawing by PS and W-HH. DH provided the concept and supervised our CD83 work.

#### FUNDING

This work was supported by National Health and Medical Research Council development grant APP1113563 (to

#### REFERENCES

- Theofilopoulos AN, Kono DH, Baccala R. The multiple pathways to autoimmunity. *Nat Immunol.* (2017) 18:716–24. doi: 10.1038/ni.3731
- Holtan SG, Pasquini M, Weisdorf DJ. Acute graft-versus-host disease: a bench-to-bedside update. *Blood.* (2014) 124:363– 73. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-01-514786
- Jick SS, Lieberman ES, Rahman MU, Choi HK. Glucocorticoid use, other associated factors, and the risk of tuberculosis. *Arthritis Rheum.* (2006) 55:19– 26. doi: 10.1002/art.21705
- Senechal B, Boruchov AM, Reagan JL, Hart DN, Young JW. Infection of mature monocyte-derived dendritic cells with human cytomegalovirus inhibits stimulation of T-cell proliferation via the release of soluble CD83. *Blood.* (2004) 103:4207–15. doi: 10.1182/blood-2003-12-4350
- Hsu JL, Bryant CE, Papadimitrious MS, Kong B, Gasiorowski RE, Orellana D, et al. A blood dendritic cell vaccine for acute myeloid leukemia expands anti-tumor T-cell responses at remission. *Oncoimmunology.* (2018) 7:e1419114. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2017.1419114
- Kashimura S, Saze Z, Terashima M, Soeta N, Ohtani S, Osuka F, et al. CD83<sup>+</sup> dendritic cells and Foxp3<sup>+</sup> regulatory T-cells in primary lesions and regional lymph nodes are inversely correlated with prognosis of gastric cancer. *Gastric Cancer*. (2012) 15:144–53. doi: 10.1007/s10120-011-0090-9
- Kruse M, Rosorius O, Kratzer F, Stelz G, Kuhnt C, Schuler G, et al. Mature dendritic cells infected with herpes simplex virus type 1 exhibit inhibited T-cell stimulatory capacity. J Virol. (2000) 74:7127–36. doi: 10.1128/JVI.74.15.7127-7136.2000
- Dudziak D, Kieser A, Dirmeier U, Nimmerjahn F, Berchtold S, Steinkasserer A, et al. Latent membrane protein 1 of Epstein-Barr virus induces CD83 by the NF-kappaB signaling pathway. J Virol. (2003) 77:8290– 8. doi: 10.1128/JVI.77.15.8290-8298.2003
- Wilson J, Cullup H, Lourie R, Sheng Y, Palkova A, Radford KJ, et al. Antibody to the dendritic cell surface activation antigen CD83 prevents acute graftversus-host disease. J Exp Med. (2009) 206:387–98. doi: 10.1084/jem.20070723
- Seldon TA, Pryor R, Palkova A, Jones ML, Verma ND, Findova M, et al. Immunosuppressive human anti-CD83 monoclonal antibody depletion of activated dendritic cells in transplantation. *Leukemia*. (2016) 30:692– 700. doi: 10.1038/leu.2015.231
- Ma-Krupa W, Jeon MS, Spoerl S, Tedder TF, Goronzy JJ, Weyand CM. Activation of arterial wall dendritic cells and breakdown of self-tolerance in giant cell arteritis. J Exp Med. (2004) 199:173–83. doi: 10.1084/jem.20030850
- Li Z, Ju X, Lee K, Clarke C, Hsu JL, Abadir E, et al. CD83 is a new potential biomarker and therapeutic target for Hodgkin lymphoma. *Haematologica*. (2018) 103:655–65. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2017.178384
- Hock BD, Haring LF, Steinkasserer A, Taylor KG, Patton WN, McKenzie JL. The soluble form of CD83 is present at elevated levels in a number of hematological malignancies. *Leuk Res.* (2004) 28:237–41. doi: 10.1016/S0145-2126(03)00255-8
- Hock BD, Fernyhough LJ, Gough SM, Steinkasserer A, Cox AG, McKenzie JL. Release and clinical significance of soluble CD83 in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leuk Res.* (2009) 33:1089–95. doi: 10.1016/j.leukres.2009.01.001
- Kuppers R. CD83 in Hodgkin lymphoma. *Haematologica*. (2018) 103:561– 2. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-323-35762-3.00074-3

DH and GC) and Cancer Institute New South Wales translational program grant 2017/TPG002 (to DH and GC). ZL receives the University of Sydney, Australian Postgraduate Award (APA).

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Donna Bonnici for administrative assistance.

- Xu JF, Huang BJ, Yin H, Xiong P, Feng W, Xu Y, et al. A limited course of soluble CD83 delays acute cellular rejection of MHC-mismatched mouse skin allografts. *Transpl Int.* (2007) 20:266–76. doi: 10.1111/j.1432-2277.2006.00426.x
- Lan Z, Ge W, Arp J, Jiang J, Liu W, Gordon D, et al. Induction of kidney allograft tolerance by soluble CD83 associated with prevalence of tolerogenic dendritic cells and indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase. *Transplantation*. (2010) 90:1286–93. doi: 10.1097/TP.0b013e3182007bbf
- Lan Z, Lian D, Liu W, Arp J, Charlton B, Ge W, et al. Prevention of chronic renal allograft rejection by soluble CD83. *Transplantation*. (2010) 90:1278–85. doi: 10.1097/TP.0b013e318200005c
- Bock F, Rossner S, Onderka J, Lechmann M, Pallotta MT, Fallarino F, et al. Topical application of soluble CD83 induces IDO-mediated immune modulation, increases Foxp3<sup>+</sup> T-cells, and prolongs allogeneic corneal graft survival. J Immunol. (2013) 191:1965–75. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1201531
- Ge W, Arp J, Lian D, Liu W, Baroja ML, Jiang J, et al. Immunosuppression involving soluble CD83 induces tolerogenic dendritic cells that prevent cardiac allograft rejection. *Transplantation*. (2010) 90:1145–56. doi: 10.1097/TP.0b013e3181f95718
- Zinser E, Lechmann M, Golka A, Lutz MB, Steinkasserer A. Prevention and treatment of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by soluble CD83. J Exp Med. (2004) 200:345–51. doi: 10.1084/jem.20030973
- Eckhardt J, Kreiser S, Dobbeler M, Nicolette C, DeBenedette MA, Tcherepanova IY, et al. Soluble CD83 ameliorates experimental colitis in mice. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2014) 7:1006–18. doi: 10.1038/mi.2013.119
- Lin W, Man X, Li P, Song N, Yue Y, Li B, et al. NK cells are negatively regulated by sCD83 in experimental autoimmune uveitis. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:12895. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-13412-1
- Starke C, Steinkasserer A, Voll RE, Zinser E. Soluble human CD83 ameliorates lupus in NZB/W F1 mice. *Immunobiology*. (2013) 218:1411– 5. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2013.06.002
- Royzman D, Andreev D, Stich L, Rauh M, Bauerle T, Ellmann S, et al. Soluble CD83 triggers resolution of arthritis and sustained inflammation control in IDO dependent manner. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:633. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00633
- Dudziak D, Nimmerjahn F, Bornkamm GW, Laux G. Alternative splicing generates putative soluble CD83 proteins that inhibit T-cell proliferation. J Immunol. (2005) 174:6672–6. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.174.11.6672
- Ohta Y, Landis E, Boulay T, Phillips RB, Collet B, Secombes CJ, et al. Homologs of CD83 from elasmobranch and teleost fish. *J Immunol.* (2004) 173:4553–60. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.173.7.4553
- Twist CJ, Beier DR, Disteche CM, Edelhoff S, Tedder TF. The mouse Cd83 gene: structure, domain organization, and chromosome localization. *Immunogenetics.* (1998) 48:383–93. doi: 10.1007/s002510050449
- Lechmann M, Kotzor N, Zinser E, Prechtel AT, Sticht H, Steinkasserer A. CD83 is a dimer: comparative analysis of monomeric and dimeric isoforms. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2005) 329:132–9. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2005.01.114
- Breloer M, Fleischer B. CD83 regulates lymphocyte maturation, activation and homeostasis. *Trends Immunol.* (2008) 29:186–94. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2008.01.009
- 31. Zhou LJ, Schwarting R, Smith HM, Tedder TF. A novel cell-surface molecule expressed by human interdigitating reticulum cells, Langerhans cells, and

activated lymphocytes is a new member of the Ig superfamily. J Immunol. (1992) 149:735-42.

- 32. Gomez J, Borras FE, Singh R, Rajananthanan P, English N, Knight SC, et al. Differential up-regulation of HLA-DM, invariant chain, and CD83 on myeloid and plasmacytoid dendritic cells from peripheral blood. *Tissue Antigens*. (2004) 63:149–57. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-0039.2004.00159.x
- Prazma CM, Tedder TF. Dendritic cell CD83: a therapeutic target or innocent bystander? *Immunol Lett.* (2008) 115:1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2007.10.001
- Kozlow EJ, Wilson GL, Fox CH, Kehrl JH. Subtractive cDNA cloning of a novel member of the Ig gene superfamily expressed at high levels in activated B lymphocytes. *Blood.* (1993) 81:454–61.
- 35. Ju X, Silveira PA, Hsu WH, Elgundi Z, Alingcastre R, Verma ND, et al. The analysis of CD83 expression on human immune cells identifies a unique CD83<sup>+</sup>-activated T cell population. *J Immunol.* (2016) 197:4613– 25. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1600339
- Tanaka Y, Mizuguchi M, Takahashi Y, Fujii H, Tanaka R, Fukushima T, et al. Human T-cell leukemia virus type-I Tax induces the expression of CD83 on T-cells. *Retrovirology*. (2015) 12:56. doi: 10.1186/s12977-015-0185-1
- Cao W, Lee SH, Lu J. CD83 is preformed inside monocytes, macrophages and dendritic cells, but it is only stably expressed on activated dendritic cells. *Biochem J.* (2005) 385 (Pt 1):85–93. doi: 10.1042/BJ20040741
- Yamashiro S, Wang JM, Yang D, Gong WH, Kamohara H, Yoshimura T. Expression of CCR6 and CD83 by cytokine-activated human neutrophils. *Blood.* (2000) 96:3958–63.
- Mailliard RB, Alber SM, Shen H, Watkins SC, Kirkwood JM, Herberman RB, et al. IL-18-induced CD83<sup>+</sup>CCR7<sup>+</sup> NK helper cells. J Exp Med. (2005) 202:941–53. doi: 10.1084/jem.20050128
- Victora GD, Dominguez-Sola D, Holmes AB, Deroubaix S, Dalla-Favera R, Nussenzweig MC. Identification of human germinal center light and dark zone cells and their relationship to human B-cell lymphomas. *Blood.* (2012) 120:2240–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-03-415380
- Chen L, Guan S, Zhou Q, Sheng S, Zhong F, Wang Q. Continuous expression of CD83 on activated human CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells is correlated with their differentiation into induced regulatory T-cells. *Mol Med Rep.* (2015) 12:3309–14. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2015.3796
- Doebbeler M, Koenig C, Krzyzak L, Seitz C, Wild A, Ulas T, et al. CD83 expression is essential for Treg cell differentiation and stability. *JCI Insight*. (2018) 3:99712. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.99712
- Kreiser S, Eckhardt J, Kuhnt C, Stein M, Krzyzak L, Seitz C, et al. Murine CD83-positive T-cells mediate suppressor functions *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *Immunobiology*. (2015) 220:270–9. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2014.08.005
- Lechmann M, Shuman N, Wakeham A, Mak TW. The CD83 reporter mouse elucidates the activity of the CD83 promoter in B, T, and dendritic cell populations *in vivo*. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. (2008) 105:11887– 92. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0806335105
- Fujimoto Y, Tu L, Miller AS, Bock C, Fujimoto M, Doyle C, et al. CD83 expression influences CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell development in the thymus. *Cell.* (2002) 108:755–67. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(02)00673-6
- von Rohrscheidt J, Petrozziello E, Nedjic J, Federle C, Krzyzak L, Ploegh HL, et al. Thymic CD4 T-cell selection requires attenuation of March8-mediated MHCII turnover in cortical epithelial cells through CD83. J Exp Med. (2016) 213:1685–94. doi: 10.1084/jem.20160316
- Klein E, Koch S, Borm B, Neumann J, Herzog V, Koch N, et al. CD83 localization in a recycling compartment of immature human monocyte-derived dendritic cells. *Int Immunol.* (2005) 17:477–87. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxh228
- Kretschmer B, Kuhl S, Fleischer B, Breloer M. Activated T-cells induce rapid CD83 expression on B-cells by engagement of CD40. *Immunol Lett.* (2011) 136:221–7. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2011.01.013
- Berchtold S, Muhl-Zurbes P, Maczek E, Golka A, Schuler G, Steinkasserer A. Cloning and characterization of the promoter region of the human CD83 gene. *Immunobiology*. (2002) 205:231–46. doi: 10.1078/0171-2985-00128
- 50. Stein MF, Lang S, Winkler TH, Deinzer A, Erber S, Nettelbeck DM, et al. Multiple interferon regulatory factor and NF-kappaB sites cooperate in mediating cell-type- and maturation-specific activation of the human CD83 promoter in dendritic cells. *Mol Cell Biol.* (2013) 33:1331– 44. doi: 10.1128/MCB.01051-12

- Stein MF, Blume K, Heilingloh CS, Kummer M, Biesinger B, Sticht H, et al. CD83 and GRASP55 interact in human dendritic cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2015) 459:42–8. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2015.02.057
- Hock BD, Kato M, McKenzie JL, Hart DN. A soluble form of CD83 is released from activated dendritic cells and B lymphocytes, and is detectable in normal human sera. *Int Immunol.* (2001) 13:959–67. doi: 10.1093/intimm/13.7.959
- Karampoor S, Zahednasab H, Etemadifar M, Keyvani H. The levels of soluble forms of CD21 and CD83 in multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2018) 320:11–4. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2018.04.005
- Kristensen AM, Stengaard-Pedersen K, Hetland ML, Horslev-Petersen K, Junker P, Ostergaard M, et al. Expression of soluble CD83 in plasma from early-stage rheumatoid arthritis patients is not modified by anti-TNF-alpha therapy. *Cytokine*. (2017) 96:1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2017.02.017
- 55. Hock BD, O'Donnell JL, Taylor K, Steinkasserer A, McKenzie JL, Rothwell AG, et al. Levels of the soluble forms of CD80, CD86, and CD83 are elevated in the synovial fluid of rheumatoid arthritis patients. *Tissue Antigens*. (2006) 67:57–60. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-0039.2005.00524.x
- Packhauser KRH, Roman-Sosa G, Ehrhardt J, Kruger D, Zygmunt M, Muzzio DO. A Kinetic Study of CD83 Reveals an Upregulation and Higher Production of sCD83 in Lymphocytes from Pregnant Mice. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:486. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00486
- Lin W, Buscher K, Wang B, Fan Z, Song N, Li P, et al. Soluble CD83 alleviates experimental autoimmune uveitis by inhibiting filamentous actin-dependent calcium release in dendritic cells. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1567. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01567
- Heilingloh CS, Klingl S, Egerer-Sieber C, Schmid B, Weiler S, Muhl-Zurbes P, et al. Crystal structure of the extracellular domain of the human dendritic cell surface marker CD83. J Mol Biol. (2017) 429:1227– 43. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2017.03.009
- Lechmann M, Krooshoop DJ, Dudziak D, Kremmer E, Kuhnt C, Figdor CG, et al. The extracellular domain of CD83 inhibits dendritic cell-mediated Tcell stimulation and binds to a ligand on dendritic cells. *J Exp Med.* (2001) 194:1813–21. doi: 10.1084/jem.194.12.1813
- Cramer SO, Trumpfheller C, Mehlhoop U, More S, Fleischer B, von Bonin A. Activation-induced expression of murine CD83 on T-cells and identification of a specific CD83 ligand on murine B-cells. *Int Immunol.* (2000) 12:1347– 51. doi: 10.1093/intimm/12.9.1347
- Scholler N, Hayden-Ledbetter M, Hellstrom KE, Hellstrom I, Ledbetter JA. CD83 is an I-type lectin adhesion receptor that binds monocytes and a subset of activated CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells. *J Immunol.* (2001) 166:3865– 72. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.166.6.3865
- Bates JM, Flanagan K, Mo L, Ota N, Ding J, Ho S, et al. Dendritic cell CD83 homotypic interactions regulate inflammation and promote mucosal homeostasis. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2015) 8:414–28. doi: 10.1038/mi.2014.79
- Horvatinovich JM, Grogan EW, Norris M, Steinkasserer A, Lemos H, Mellor AL, et al. Soluble CD83 inhibits T cell activation by binding to the TLR4/MD-2 complex on CD14<sup>+</sup> monocytes. J Immunol. (2017) 198:2286– 301. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1600802
- 64. Tze LE, Horikawa K, Domaschenz H, Howard DR, Roots CM, Rigby RJ, et al. CD83 increases MHC II and CD86 on dendritic cells by opposing IL-10-driven MARCH1-mediated ubiquitination and degradation. J Exp Med. (2011) 208:149–65. doi: 10.1084/jem.20092203
- Liu H, Jain R, Guan J, Vuong V, Ishido S, La Gruta NL, et al. Ubiquitin ligase MARCH 8 cooperates with CD83 to control surface MHC II expression in thymic epithelium and CD4 T-cell selection. J Exp Med. (2016) 213:1695– 703. doi: 10.1084/jem.20160312
- Prazma CM, Yazawa N, Fujimoto Y, Fujimoto M, Tedder TF. CD83 expression is a sensitive marker of activation required for B-cell and CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell longevity *in vivo. J Immunol.* (2007) 179:4550–62. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.179.7.4550
- Kretschmer B, Luthje K, Guse AH, Ehrlich S, Koch-Nolte F, Haag F, et al. CD83 modulates B-cell function *in vitro*: increased IL-10 and reduced Ig secretion by CD83Tg B-cells. *PLoS ONE*. (2007) 2:e755. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.000 0755
- Kretschmer B, Luthje K, Schneider S, Fleischer B, Breloer M. Engagement of CD83 on B-cells modulates B-cell function *in vivo*. J Immunol. (2009) 182:2827–34. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0803153

- Krzyzak L, Seitz C, Urbat A, Hutzler S, Ostalecki C, Glasner J, et al. CD83 modulates B cell activation and germinal center responses. *J Immunol.* (2016) 196:3581–94. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1502163
- Wong KY, Baron R, Seldon TA, Jones ML, Rice AM, Munster DJ. CD83 antibody inhibits human B cell responses to antigen as well as dendritic cell-mediated CD4 T cell responses. *J Immunol.* (2018) 200:3383– 96. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1700064
- Reinwald S, Wiethe C, Westendorf AM, Breloer M, Probst-Kepper M, Fleischer B, et al. CD83 expression in CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells modulates inflammation and autoimmunity. *J Immunol.* (2008) 180:5890–7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.180.9.5890
- Chen L, Zhu Y, Zhang G, Gao C, Zhong W, Zhang X. CD83stimulated monocytes suppress T-cell immune responses through production of prostaglandin E2. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2011) 108:18778–83. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1018994108
- 73. Guo Y, Li R, Song X, Zhong Y, Wang C, Jia H, et al. The expression and characterization of functionally active soluble CD83 by Pichia pastoris using high-density fermentation. *PLoS ONE*. (2014) 9:e89264. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0089264
- Staab C, Muhl-Zurbes P, Steinkasserer A, Kummer M. Eukaryotic expression of functionally active recombinant soluble CD83 from HEK 293T-cells. *Immunobiology*. (2010) 215:849–54. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2010.05.029
- Kotzor N, Lechmann M, Zinser E, Steinkasserer A. The soluble form of CD83 dramatically changes the cytoskeleton of dendritic cells. *Immunobiology*. (2004) 209:129–40. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2004.04.003
- Lin H, Liang S, Zhong Z, Wen J, Li W, Wang L, et al. Soluble CD83 inhibits human monocyte differentiation into dendritic cells *in vitro*. *Cell Immunol*. (2014) 292:25–31. doi: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2014.08.003
- Prechtel AT, Steinkasserer A. CD83: an update on functions and prospects of the maturation marker of dendritic cells. *Arch Dermatol Res.* (2007) 299:59–69. doi: 10.1007/s00403-007-0743-z
- Aerts-Toegaert C, Heirman C, Tuyaerts S, Corthals J, Aerts JL, Bonehill A, et al. CD83 expression on dendritic cells and T-cells: correlation with effective immune responses. *Eur J Immunol.* (2007) 37:686–95. doi: 10.1002/eji.200636535
- 79. Salio M, Cella M, Suter M, Lanzavecchia A. Inhibition of dendritic cell maturation by herpes simplex virus. *Eur J Immunol.* (1999) 29:3245–53.
- Heilingloh CS, Kummer M, Muhl-Zurbes P, Drassner C, Daniel C, Klewer M, et al. L particles transmit viral proteins from herpes simplex virus 1infected mature dendritic cells to uninfected bystander cells, inducing CD83 downmodulation. J Virol. (2015) 89:11046–55. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01517-15
- Morrow G, Slobedman B, Cunningham AL, Abendroth A. Varicella-zoster virus productively infects mature dendritic cells and alters their immune function. J Virol. (2003) 77:4950–9. doi: 10.1128/JVI.77.8.4950-4959.2003
- Heilingloh CS, Grosche L, Kummer M, Muhl-Zurbes P, Kamm L, Scherer M, et al. The major immediate-early protein IE2 of human cytomegalovirus is sufficient to induce proteasomal degradation of CD83 on mature dendritic cells. *Front Microbiol.* (2017) 8:119. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.00119
- Munn DH, Sharma MD, Lee JR, Jhaver KG, Johnson TS, Keskin DB, et al. Potential regulatory function of human dendritic cells expressing indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase. *Science*. (2002) 297:1867–70. doi: 10.1126/science.1073514

- Sorg UR, Morse TM, Patton WN, Hock BD, Angus HB, Robinson BA, et al. Hodgkin's cells express CD83, a dendritic cell lineage associated antigen. *Pathology.* (1997) 29:294–9. doi: 10.1080/0031302970016 9125
- Baleeiro RB, Bergami-Santos PC, Tomiyoshi MY, Gross JL, Haddad F, Pinto CA, et al. Expression of a dendritic cell maturation marker CD83 on tumor cells from lung cancer patients and several human tumor cell lines: is there a biological meaning behind it? *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2008) 57:265– 70. doi: 10.1007/s00262-007-0344-x
- Juric D, Lacayo NJ, Ramsey MC, Racevskis J, Wiernik PH, Rowe JM, et al. Differential gene expression patterns and interaction networks in BCR-ABLpositive and -negative adult acute lymphoblastic leukemias. *J Clin Oncol.* (2007) 25:1341–9. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2006.09.3534
- Huynh MQ, Wacker HH, Wundisch T, Sohlbach K, Kim TD, Krause M, et al. Expression profiling reveals specific gene expression signatures in gastric MALT lymphomas. *Leuk Lymphoma*. (2008) 49:974–83. doi: 10.1080/10428190802007734
- Khodabakhshi AH, Morin RD, Fejes AP, Mungall AJ, Mungall KL, Bolger-Munro M, et al. Recurrent targets of aberrant somatic hypermutation in lymphoma. *Oncotarget.* (2012) 3:1308–19. doi: 10.18632/oncotarg et.653
- Mareschal S, Pham-Ledard A, Viailly PJ, Dubois S, Bertrand P, Maingonnat C, et al. Identification of somatic mutations in primary cutaneous diffuse large B-cell lymphoma, leg type by massive parallel sequencing. J Invest Dermatol. (2017) 137:1984–94. doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2017.0 4.010
- Cao Y, Zhu T, Zhang P, Xiao M, Yi S, Yang Y, et al. Mutations or copy number losses of CD58 and TP53 genes in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma are independent unfavorable prognostic factors. *Oncotarget.* (2016) 7:83294– 307. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.13065
- Yu KJ, Rader JS, Borecki I, Zhang Z, Hildesheim A. CD83 polymorphisms and cervical cancer risk. *Gynecol Oncol.* (2009) 114:319–22. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2009.04.033
- Kuruvilla J, Keating A, Crump M. How I treat relapsed and refractory Hodgkin lymphoma. *Blood.* (2011) 117:4208– 17. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-09-288373

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** GC is a Director of DendroCyte which has intellectual property associated with CD83.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Li, Ju, Silveira, Abadir, Hsu, Hart and Clark. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Appendix B: CD83 is a new potential biomarker and therapeutic target for Hodgkin lymphoma

Li Z, Ju X, Lee K, Clarke C, Hsu JL, Abadir E, Bryant CE, Pears S, Sunderland N, Heffernan S, Hennessy A. Lo T, Pietersz G, Kupresanin F, Fromm P, Silveira P, Tsonis C, Cooper W, Cunningham I, Brown C, Clark G and Hart DN. CD83 is a new potential biomarker and therapeutic target for Hodgkin lymphoma. Haematologica. 2018 Apr 1;103(4):655-65.

# **CD83** is a new potential biomarker and therapeutic target for Hodgkin lymphoma

Ziduo Li,<sup>1,2</sup> Xinsheng Ju,<sup>1,2</sup> Kenneth Lee,<sup>2,3</sup> Candice Clarke,<sup>3</sup> Jennifer L. Hsu,<sup>1,2</sup> Edward Abadir,<sup>1,2</sup> Christian E. Bryant,<sup>1,4</sup> Suzanne Pears,<sup>5</sup> Neroli Sunderland,<sup>5</sup> Scott Heffernan,<sup>5</sup> Annemarie Hennessy,<sup>5</sup> Tsun-Ho Lo,<sup>1,2</sup> Geoffrey A. Pietersz,<sup>6,7</sup> Fiona Kupresanin,<sup>1</sup> Phillip D. Fromm,<sup>1,2</sup> Pablo A. Silveira,<sup>1,2</sup> Con Tsonis,<sup>1</sup> Wendy A. Cooper,<sup>2,8,9</sup> Ilona Cunningham,<sup>10</sup> Christina Brown,<sup>2,4</sup> Georgina J. Clark<sup>1,2</sup> and Derek N.J. Hart,<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Dendritic Cell Research, ANZAC Research Institute, Sydney; <sup>2</sup>Sydney Medical School, University of Sydney; <sup>3</sup>Department of Anatomical Pathology, Concord Repatriation General Hospital, Sydney; <sup>4</sup>Institute of Haematology, Royal Prince Alfred Hospital, Sydney; <sup>5</sup>Animal Facility, Royal Prince Alfred Hospital, Sydney; <sup>6</sup>Burnet Institute, Melbourne; <sup>7</sup>Baker Heart and Diabetes Institute, Melbourne; <sup>8</sup>Tissue Pathology and Diagnostic Oncology, Royal Prince Alfred Hospital, Sydney; <sup>9</sup>School of Medicine, University of Western Sydney and <sup>10</sup>Department of Haematology, Concord Repatriation General Hospital, Sydney, Australia

#### ABSTRACT

hemotherapy and hematopoietic stem cell transplantation are effective treatments for most Hodgkin lymphoma patients, however there remains a need for better tumor-specific target therapy in Hodgkin lymphoma patients with refractory or relapsed disease. Herein, we demonstrate that membrane CD83 is a diagnostic and therapeutic target, highly expressed in Hodgkin lymphoma cell lines and Hodgkin and Reed-Sternberg cells in 29/35 (82.9%) Hodgkin lymphoma patient lymph node biopsies. CD83 from Hodgkin lymphoma tumor cells was able to trogocytose to surrounding T cells and, interestingly, the trogocytosing CD83<sup>+</sup>T cells expressed significantly more programmed death-1 compared to CD83<sup>-</sup>T cells. Hodgkin lymphoma tumor cells secreted soluble CD83 that inhibited T-cell proliferation, and anti-CD83 antibody partially reversed the inhibitory effect. High levels of soluble CD83 were detected in Hodgkin lymphoma patient sera, which returned to normal in patients who had good clinical responses to chemotherapy confirmed by positron emission tomography scans. We generated a human anti-human CD83 antibody, 3C12C, and its toxin monomethyl auristatin E conjugate, that killed CD83 positive Hodgkin lymphoma cells but not CD83 negative cells. The 3C12C antibody was tested in dose escalation studies in non-human primates. No toxicity was observed, but there was evidence of CD83 positive target cell depletion. These data establish CD83 as a potential biomarker and therapeutic target in Hodgkin lymphoma.

#### Introduction

Hodgkin lymphoma (HL) is a B-cell neoplasm that is defined by the presence of Hodgkin Reed-Sternberg cells (HRS). During recent decades, the long-term survival of HL patients has increased, and most patients can be cured through multi-agent chemotherapy, radiotherapy and/or hematopoietic stem cell transplantation.<sup>1</sup> Despite this, 25-30% of patients experience either disease relapse or are refractory to chemotherapy and their survival is substantially reduced, especially for elderly patients who do not tolerate intensive therapy.<sup>2,3</sup> New targeted therapies for HL are warranted, especially for refractory/relapsed patients and elderly patients where limiting treatment toxicity is essential. Recent studies have focused on the development of therapeutic agents that target HL-specific antigens or regulate the natural immune response in patients. Antibodies targeting HL surface antigens such as CD25 (daclizumab),<sup>4</sup> CD20 (rituximab, tositumomab)<sup>5,6</sup> or CD30 (brentuximab)<sup>7-10</sup> have shown promising results. The programmed death-1(PD-1)/PD-ligand 1 (PD-L1) checkpoint inhibitors (nivolumab, pembrolizumab), that reverse the suppres-





ARTICLE

Haematologica 2018 Volume 103(4):655-665

#### **Correspondence:**

xinsheng.ju@sydney.edu.au

Received: August 22, 2017. Accepted: January 10, 2018. Pre-published: January 19, 2018.

doi:10.3324/haematol.2017.178384

Check the online version for the most updated information on this article, online supplements, and information on authorship & disclosures: www.haematologica.org/content/103/4/655

#### ©2018 Ferrata Storti Foundation

Material published in Haematologica is covered by copyright. All rights are reserved to the Ferrata Storti Foundation. Use of published material is allowed under the following terms and conditions:

https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/legalcode. Copies of published material are allowed for personal or internal use. Sharing published material for non-commercial purposes is subject to the following conditions:

https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/legalcode, sect. 3. Reproducing and sharing published material for commercial purposes is not allowed without permission in writing from the publisher.



sive communication between the tumor and immune system in tumor microenvironments have also been effective in HL patients.<sup>11-13</sup>

To date, the main utility of identifying membranebound CD83 has been to define activated dendritic cells (DC), but CD83 is also expressed on the surface of some activated B cells, T cells, macrophages and neutrophils.<sup>14-</sup> <sup>18</sup> In addition to a membrane-bound form, there is a membrane cleaved soluble (s) form of CD83. We reported that lymphoma tumor cells (HL and non-Hodgkin lymphoma [NHL]) expressed CD83 and released sCD83 into serum.<sup>19,20</sup> Recombinant sCD83 protein has immune inhibitory function in mice and humans.<sup>21,22</sup> Recently, CD83 was identified as one of the four classifiers to distinguish HL with anaplastic lymphoma kinase (ALK)anaplastic large cell lymphoma.<sup>23</sup> Despite its potential as a relatively specific target, CD83 has not been investigated as a therapeutic target on either HL or NHL. We generated a human anti-human CD83 antibody, 3C12C, which prevents graft-versus-host disease (GvHD) but preserves anti-tumor T-cell function in mice after transplantation with human peripheral blood mononuclear cell (PBMC).<sup>24,25</sup> The availability of this potential therapeutic anti-CD83 antibody prompted us to investigate CD83 biology in HL. We show herein that an antibody that detects CD83 in paraffin sections stains Hodgkin and Reed-Sternberg (HRS) cells in most HL lymph node biopsy samples, that HL tumor cells secrete sCD83, and the serum sCD83 level in HL patients correlates with the clinical response. The 3C12C antibody, and its toxin conjugate, killed HL lines and 3C12C depleted CD83 target cells in non-human primate studies without any evidence of toxicity.

#### **Methods**

#### HL tissue section and serum samples

Lymph node biopsies and serum of HL patients were collected after approval by the Sydney Local Health District (SLHD) Human Research Ethics Committee, consistent with the Declaration of Helsinki. Archival paraffin embedded lymph node biopsies were obtained from 35 HL patients at initial diagnosis (Table 1), while serum samples were collected from six HL patients at diagnosis and during chemotherapy.

#### Immunohistochemistry

Immunohistochemical staining was performed on 3µm sections of formalin fixed paraffin embedded lymph node biopsies of HL patients or non-human primates. The primary antibodies used were mouse anti-human CD20 (L26, Dako), CD83 monoclonal antibodies (mAb; F5, Santa Cruz Biotechnology), CD30 (Ber-H2, Dako), and staining was performed on a Leica Bond III Autostainer (Leica Biosystems) using a Bond Polymer Refine Detection kit for visualization with 3, 3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB). Images were taken with an Olympus BX51 microscopy with an Olympus PP71 camera using Olympus labSens software.

#### sCD83 analysis

For the analysis of sCD83 levels, KM-H2, L428 and HDLM2 cells were cultured at concentrations of 106 cells/ml in complete roswell park memorial institute (RPMI) medium containing 10% fetal calf serum, 2mM glutaMAX<sup>TM</sup>, 100U/ml penicillin, 100µg/ml streptomycin (Thermo Fisher Scientific) at 37°C, in 5% CO2. Cell culture supernatant were collected 24 hours after fresh medium

#### Table 1. Characteristics of 35 Hodgkin lymphoma patients.

Age at enrolment (mean, range)	35 (17-71)
Sex Male; n (%) Female; n (%)	18 (51.4%) 17 (48.6%)
Histologic subtype	
cHL-Nodular sclerosis (NS)	21 (60.0%)
cHL-Mixed cellularity (MC)	7 (20.0%)
cHL-Lymphocyte rich (LR)	1 (2.9%)
cHL-unspecified (CHL-U)	2 (5.7%)
Nodular lymphocyte predominant (NLP)	4 (11.4%)
Stage at onset	
I	3 (8.6%)
II	19 (54.3%)
III	5 (14.3%)
IV	8 (22.9%)

cHL: classic Hodgkin lymphoma.

change. Human sCD83 was analyzed by a sCD83 ELISA kit (Sino Biological Inc.).

#### Antibody Dependent Cell Cytotoxicity (ADCC) Assays

Target HL cells labeled with  $25\mu M$  Calcein-AM (Life Technologies) were co-cultured at a ratio of 1:25 with human PBMC of a healthy donor used as effector cells. Supernatants were collected after three hours to measure released calcein using an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) Reader (Perkin Elmer). The percentage of specific cytolysis was calculated as described.<sup>25</sup>

### **3C12C** conjugation with monomethyl auristatin E (3C12C-MMAE) and cytotoxicity on CD83<sup>+</sup> cell lines

3C12C is a human immunoglobulin G1 (IgG1) anti-human CD83 mAb selected from a phage display library<sup>26</sup> and further engineered to improve affinity.<sup>25,27</sup> To produce 3C12C-MMAE, a lysosomal cathepsin B-cleavable, self-emolative dipeptide (ValCit) maleimide linker was prepared from MMAE for conjugation to partially reduced 3C12C using a similar method to brentuximab vedotin.<sup>28</sup> The cytotoxic activity was assessed by 7-amino-actinomycin D (7AAD, Thermo Fisher Scientific) staining using flow cytometry.

#### **3C12C** trials in non-human primates

The SLHD Animal Research Ethics Committee approved the study of five non-human primates (*Papio Hamadryas baboon*), which received intravenous human-IgG (Intragam, CSL) (10 mg/kg) or 3C12C mAb (1, 5, 10, 10 mg/kg) at days 0, 7, 14 and 21. PBMC were analyzed for immune cell populations including Dendritic cells (DC), T cells and B cells on a Fortessa X20 flow cytometer (BD Biosciences). Liver and kidney function were assessed by measuring alkaline phosphatase (ALP), aspartate transaminase (AST) and creatinine in serum samples using the Cobas 8000 (Roche). Lymph nodes were taken from 3C12C (10mg/kg) or human IgG (10mg/kg) treated animals at day 28 for immunohistological staining.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Mean values with standard error of mean (SEM) bars are shown in graphs. Statistical analyses were performed using Prism 6.0 (GraphPad Software). A Mann-Whitney or one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) test with Greenhouse-Geisser correction for multiple comparisons were used. Differences with P<0.05 were considered significant.

#### Results

CD83 is expressed on HL cell lines and HRS cells in lymph node biopsies of HL patients

Expression of CD83 was analyzed using the mouse antihuman antibodies HB15a, HB15e and potential therapeutic human anti-human CD83 antibody 3C12C.<sup>25</sup> KM-H2 cells expressed the most expressive CD38 cell surface, stained as it was with all three anti-CD83 antibodies, whilst the L428 and HDLM2 lines expressed less CD83. All three lines expressed CD30 (Figure 1A). This data was confirmed by confocal CD83 staining on KM-H2 cells (Figure 1B), detection of *CD83* messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) transcripts by reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) and intracellular CD83 expression in the three HL lines (*Online Supplementary Figure S1*).

Next, CD83 expression was analyzed on the paraffinembedded lymph node biopsies of 35 HL patients (Table 1). The HRS cells were identified as CD30<sup>+</sup> (Figure 2A). Of note, 8/35 (22.9%) biopsies expressed high levels of CD83 on the HRS cells (>90% positive), 21/35 (60%) expressed middle levels (10-90% positive), and 6/35 (17.1%) expressed low levels of CD83 (<10% positive) (Figure 2B,C). Of the 29 biopsies with high or middle expression, 21 (72.4%) had strong or moderate intensity, while 8/29 (27.6%) showed weak intensity of CD83 on HRS cells (Online Supplementary Table S1). The subtype analysis showed that 16/21 (79.2%) of HRS cells in nodular sclerosis (NS) HL were CD83 high or middle, and 85.7% were CD83 high or middle in mixed cellularity (MC) HL. Most (20/22, 90.9%) of stage I-II HL were CD83 high or middle, and 9/13 (69.2%) HL in stage III-IV were CD83 high or



Figure 1. CD83 is expressed on Hodgkin lymphoma cell lines. (A) Expression of CD83 was analyzed by flow cytometry on KM-H2, L428 and HDLM2 cell lines, which were stained with HB15a-fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC), HB15e-FITC or 3C12C-FITC anti-CD83 mAbs, respectively. Gray histograms represent isotype control, while open histograms represent anti-CD83 antibodies. CD30 staining was used as a positive control. These data are representative of three independent experiments with comparable results. (B) CD83 expression (red) on KM-H2 cells with HB15a, HB15e or 3C12C mAb were imaged by confocal microscopy. Nuclei were stained with 4,6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI; blue). Human IgG1 was used as control for 3C12C mAb. Scale bar: 5µm.

657
#### Z. Li et al.

middle. Interestingly, strong CD83 expression on HRS cells was found in two out of three relapsed HL (*Online Supplementary Table S1*). Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) infection is associated with an increasing risk of developing EBV-positive HL. A number of viral products, including EBV nuclear antigens (EBNA), EBV latent membrane proteins (LMP1 and LMP2) and EBV encoding small ribonucleic acids (RNA; *EBER*) have been implicated. LMP1 induced CD83 in EBV-infected human B cells by activation of NF-kB.<sup>29</sup> CD83/LMP1 has been reported to be correlated in MC HL, but not for NS HL.<sup>29</sup> By *in situ* staining of *EBER* of 35 HL samples, we found that seven HL were *EBER* posi-

tive, including 2/7(28.6%) MC and 3/22 (13.6%) NS HL (Figure 2D). On six out of seven *EBER* positive HL samples, CD83 staining of HRS were strong or moderate (*Online Supplementary Table S1*).

#### CD83 is trogocytosed from HL cells to T cells

We found previously that CD83 was able to transfer from the membrane of DC to T cells *via* trogocytosis.<sup>15</sup> Similar trogocytosis was observed to occur between HL cell lines and T cells. When these two cell types were cocultured for four hours, CD83 surface expression was detected on 5-15% of T cells (Figure 3A,B), whereas no



Figure 2. CD83 is expressed on Hodgkin and Reed-Sternberg (HRS) cells in Hodgkin lymphoma patients. (A) CD83 and CD30 expression (brown) on paraffin-embedded lymph node biopsy samples of HL was imaged by microscopy with ×200 magnification. One representative sample of 35 biopsies shown. (B) Pie chart analysis of CD83 expression level in HRS cells of HL patients (n=35). High: CD83 positive in >90% HRS cells; middle: 10-90% CD83'in HRS cells; low: 10% CD83' in HRS cells. One representative sample of each group is shown in (C), upper panel: original magnification ×40, lower panel shown with high amplification (×200). Arrows indicate HRS cells expressing CD83. (D) Epstein-Barr virus encoding small ribonucleic acids (RNA; *EBER*) in 35 HL biopsies were detected by *in situ* hybridization; one of the seven *EBER* positive samples is shown.

CD83 was detected on T cells in the absence of KM-H2 cells. Furthermore, separating the T and KM-H2 cells during culture by a 0.4µm transwell filter prevented trogocytosis (*Online Supplementary Figure S2*). To confirm the trogocytosis involved membrane transfer, KM-H2 cells were labeled with fluorescent dye (CellVue Claret) and co-cultured with CD3<sup>+</sup>T cells. Cell membrane transfer from KM-H2 cells to T cells was confirmed by flow cytometry and confocal microscopy (Figure 3C,D, and *Online Supplementary Figure S2*). No differences were observed in the CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell ratio during the co-culture of

KM-H2 and T cells within four hours (*data not shown*). However, the CD83<sup>+</sup> T cells expressed significantly higher levels of PD-1 than CD83<sup>-</sup> T cells (*P*=0.048) and T cells cultured without KM-H2 (*P*=0.005) (Figure 3E). The increase in PD-1 was significantly higher on the trogocytosed CD83<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells than non-trogocytosed CD83<sup>-</sup> T cells (*P*=0.049). In contrast, no difference in PD-1 expression was seen between the CD83<sup>+</sup> and CD83<sup>-</sup> C D 8 + T cells, (*P*=0.185) although both KM-H2 co-cultured CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells had higher PD-1 expression than



Figure 3. Trogocytosis of CD83 molecule from Hodgkin and Reed-Sternberg cells to T cells. (A) T cells from healthy donor PBMCs were co-cultured with KM-H2 cells for four hours at a ratio of 1:5. CD83 and CD30 expression on CD3<sup>+</sup>T cells was analyzed by flow cytometry, data were from one of seven experiments and summarized data (mean± SEM and Pvalue) are shown in (B). (C) KM-H2 cells were labeled with CellVue Claret (red) and co-cultured with purified T cells (green) at a ratio of 5:1 for four hours. CellVue Claret and CD83 expression on T cells was analyzed by flow cytometry. (D) Confocal microscopy image of Claret labeled KMH2 cells co-cultured with T cells that stained with biotinylated mouse anti-human CD3 mAb and Stepdavidin-AF488. Nuclei were stained with DAPI. Scale bar: 5µm. Upper insert: trogocytosed T cells, lower insert: non-trogocytosed T cells. Data representative of three experiments. (E) PD-1 expression on CD83\* trogocytosed T cells co-cultured with KM-H2 cells for four hours was determined by flow cytometry (n=4). P-value of one-way ANOVA analysis shown. (F) PD-1 expression on trogocytosed CD4\*T or CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells after co-culture with KM-H2 cells for four hours was analyzed (n=4). P-value of one-way ANOVA analysis shown. A representative experiment shown in (G). FSC: forward scatter; SSC: side scatter; PD-1: programmed death-1; FMO: fluorescence minus one.

T cells cultured alone (Figure 3F,G). The CD83<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells had the same proportion of regulatory T cells (Treg) as non-trogocytosed CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (*Online Supplementary Figure S2*).

## Supernatant from HL cell lines inhibits T-cell proliferation

Surface CD83 can be cleaved into sCD83.<sup>15,20</sup> We detected it in the supernatants of activated DC and B lympho-

cytes,<sup>20</sup> as well as the serum of NHL and chronic lymphocytic leukemia patients.<sup>30</sup> High levels of sCD83 were found in the supernatant of KM-H2 (460.6±11.8 pg/ml) and L428 (200.8±53.2 pg/ml), but low in HDLM2 (21.67±1.45 pg/ml) (Figure 4A). HL patients had significantly higher serum sCD83 (360.5±54.82 pg/ml, n=10) at diagnosis than healthy donors (52.6±9.5 pg/ml. Figure 4A).

We then tested the effect of KM-H2 cell supernatant on T-cell function. KM-H2 supernatant containing sCD83





inhibited CD2/CD3/CD28 bead stimulated T-cell proliferation (Figure 4B) in a dose-dependent manner (Figure 4C). Only proliferation of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells seemed inhibited by KM-H2 supernatant (P=0.09), and not CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell proliferation (P=0.732). Administration of the anti-CD83 antibody, 3C12C, partially abolished the inhibitory effect of KM-H2 supernatant (Figure 4D). 3C12C alone had no effect on T-cell proliferation (Figure 4E).

#### HL patient serum sCD83 declined to normal levels correlated with a complete or partial response by PET-CT scan

We monitored changes in circulating sCD83 in six HL patients during sequential chemotherapy. All assessments of response were made by positron emission tomography – computed tomography (PET-CT) scan using the Lugano classification system. All patients received 3-6 cycles of chemotherapy; five achieved a complete response (CR) and one patient a partial response (PR) by PET-CT scan (Figure 5, Online Supplementary Table S2). Serum sCD83

decreased, returning to normal levels when the patients had a CR to chemotherapy, as documented by PET-CT scan in patients #1 and #2. In patients #3 and #6, the serum sCD83 level was still elevated when the PET-CT scan showed CR but normalized after one further cycle of chemotherapy. Patient #4 showed a PR prior to cycle 5 by PET-CT-scan, however the serum sCD83 level only started to decrease during cycle #5 reaching a normal range in cycle 6, coinciding with CR. PET-CT scans in patient #5 showed progressive disease (PD) after cycle 2, but a PR after another two cycles of chemotherapy, when the corresponding sCD83 reduced to normal level.

#### 3C12C and 3C12C-MMAE kills HL cell lines

The ADCC activity of the anti-CD83 mAb, 3C12C, was tested on the three HL lines: KM-H2, L428 and HDLM2. Whilst 3C12C killed KM-H2 and L428 efficiently, HDLM2 was relatively resistant to it (Figure 6A). To elucidate this, the stability of 3C12C binding on the HL cell surface were tested. HL lines were cultured in saturating concentration



Figure 5. Time course of soluble CD83 (sCD83) in Hodgkin lymphoma during patients chemotherapy. The sCD83 level in the sera of six HL patients during different cycles of chemotherapy was examined by ELISA. Arrows indicate when PET-CT scans were performed and the results of complete response (CR), partial response (PR) or progressive disease (PD) are

of 3C12C (10 µg/ml) on ice followed by washing off unbound antibody. Cells were then cultured without 3C12C for up to two hours. The remaining 3C12C bound on the cell surface were detected by a secondary antihuman antibody. Though L428 and HDLM2 have a lower level of surface CD83 expression compared to KM-H2, our analysis showed that the 3C12C level on the surface of HDLM2 reduced much faster than on L428, while the 3C12C bound to L428 were far more stable (Figure 6B). This suggested 3C12C was rapidly internalized in KM-H2 and HDLM2, while 3C12C was internalized slower in L428. To investigate further potential therapeutic applications, we generated a 3C12C toxin-conjugate (3C12C-MMAE). In vitro, 3C12C-MMAE killed CD83+ KM-H2 cells most efficiently, followed by HDLM2 and L428, while CD83- HL-60 cells were the least sensitive to 3C12C-MMAE (Figure 6C and Online Supplementary Figure S3). In addition, the intracellular CD83 level in HDLM2 was much higher than L428, lending to more sensitivity of the HDLM2 to the killing of 3C12C-MMAE (Online Supplementary Figure S1).

### Administration of 3C12C is safe in non-human primates

To "de-risk" the antibodies before advancing 3C12C into a clinical trial, we performed pre-clinical dose-escalation studies of 3C12C in non-human primates. Five baboons were injected intravenously with 3C12C (1, 5, 10 mg/kg on d0, 7, 14, and 21). No adverse clinical events were recorded during follow up for 84 days. We assessed blood counts and biochemistry weekly, and monitored different immune cell populations by flow cytometry or immune histology. Administration of 3C12C did not affect blood cell counts (white blood cells [WBC], red blood cells [RBC], and platelets), liver (ALP and AST) or kidney (creatinine) function (Online Supplementary Figure S4). The total T-cell number, and ratio of  $CD4^+/CD8^+T$ cells all remained normal up to day 84 (data not shown). However, there was evidence of 3C12C efficacy in that CD1c<sup>+</sup>DC counts were reduced. We found that baboon blood B cells expressed CD83 as human B cells (data not shown), and reductions in blood B cells were noted by flow cytometry (Figure 7A). In addition, B-cell areas in lymph nodes were reduced in the 3C12C-treated animals (10mg/kg) compared to the control animals (human IgG 10mg/kg) (Figure 7B).

#### **Discussion**

HL is driven by the malignant HRS cell, which are of B lineage origin.<sup>31,32</sup> A significant number of patients experience relapsed/refractory disease following first-line chemotherapy.<sup>33</sup> Less toxic treatments for relapsed/refractory HL would be highly desirable, as exemplified by the introduction of the anti-CD30 antibody drug conjugate (brentuximab).<sup>10,34</sup> In the study herein, we were able to identify sCD83 as a new potential biomarker for HL, and CD83 as a target for a therapeutic mAb and derivatives.

CD83 was first described on activated B cells and we originally detected CD83 on HL using frozen sections.<sup>19</sup> Our ability to stain paraffin embedded lymph node biopsy samples of HL patients encouraged this study and allows for the assessment of CD83 expression in routine clinical practice. CD83 was highly expressed on HRS cells with a different staining pattern to CD30. Thus, CD83 is potentially another diagnostic marker of HL. More importantly, this work suggests that the majority of HL patients might be suitable for a therapeutic mAb targeting CD83. An anti-CD83 mAb may also work synergistically with chemotherapy, which is similar to the treatment of stage III or IV HL with anti-CD30 antibody drug conjugate



Figure 6. 3C12C and 3C12C conjugation with monomethyl auristatin E (3C12C-MMAE) kill Hodgkin lymphoma (HL) cell lines in vitro. (A) Target cells KM-H2, L428 or HDLM2, labeled with Calcein-AM were co-cultured with effector cells (human PBMC) at effector: target ratio of 25:1 with increasing 3C12C concentration from 0  $\mu g/ml$  to 1  $\mu g/ml$  at 37°C for three hours. Supernatant was collected for fluorescence reading (excitation 485nm, emission 538nm) of released Calcein. Antibody (Ab)-dependent cell cytotoxicity was calculated (n=3). (B) HL cells were cultured in 3C12C saturation concentration (10  $\mu$ g/ml) on ice followed by intensive washing and culture without 3C12C from 0-2 hours. The remaining levels of 3C12C bound on the cell surface were detected by a secondary anti-human antibody with flow cytometry. The remaining surface level of 3C12C on KM-H2, L428 and HDLM2 was normalized to the level of time 0. (n=3). (C) CD83\* KM-H2, L428, HDLM2 or CD83 HL-60 cells were cultured with different concentrations of 3C12C-MMAE for three days before determining viable cells by 7-amino-actinomycin D (7AAD) staining with flow cytometry. The half maximal inhibitory concentration (IC50) is shown. Data was from one of four representative experiments.

(brentuximab).<sup>10</sup> As CD83 is inducible, it is possible that either drug induced or inflammatory activation would induce greater CD83 expression on HRS cells. We also identified serum sCD83 as a potential disease marker. Its immunosuppressive effect was reversed by anti-CD83 mAb at levels readily obtained *in vivo*. We predict that 3C12C would target HL cells directly through ADCC, but it has the additional therapeutic effect of reversing the inherent immunosuppressive effect of CD83. Such a synergistic response has the potential to have a significant clinical effect with limited toxicity.

Recent studies revealed the impact of tumor microenvironment on tumor progression and therapy. HL is a leading example. The low frequency malignant HRS cells secrete several factors and generate a surrounding infiltrate of immune cells that contribute to the pathogenesis of the disease.<sup>35-37</sup> CD83 appears to be involved in this process. We previously demonstrated that the transfer of membrane proteins on myeloma cells to T cells disrupted the immune response and was associated with poor prog-

nosis.<sup>38</sup> We found that HL tumor cells express CD83 and can transfer surface CD83 molecules by trogocytosis. CD83 transfer from KM-H2 to T cells *in vitro* was consistent with the finding that some lymphocytes in the lymph node biopsy samples, especially in CD83 high expression patients, expressed CD83. The proportion of Treg in the trogocytosed CD83<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells was not increased, but CD83<sup>+</sup> T cells, especially CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, expressed a higher level of PD-1 than CD83<sup>-</sup> T cells. PD-1 and PD-1L interaction contributes to the immunosuppressive microenvironment of HL.<sup>39</sup> Such PD-1<sup>high</sup> CD83<sup>+</sup> T cells might become unresponsive in the tumor microenvironment.<sup>40</sup> A CD83 target therapy might be combined with brentuximab and PD-1 blockage to enhance the clinical response.

The serum of some hematopoietic malignancies have increased levels of sCD83.<sup>20,30</sup> The supernatant of HL cells inhibited T-cell proliferation, but this inhibitory effect was not related to Treg induction (*data not shown*). The anti-CD83 mAb, 3C12C, partially abolished the inhibition by KM-H2 supernatant. Thus, sCD83 from the supernatant



Figure 7. 3C12C reduced B cells in non-human primates. Five nonhuman primates were injected with 3C12C (1, 5, 10, 10 mg/kg, n=4) or human Immunoglobulin G (IgG; 10mg/kg, n=1) at days 0, 7, 14 and 21. Blood and serum samples were collected for cell counts (red cells, white cells and platelets), liver function (ALP and AST levels) and kidney function (creatinine level) analysis. (A) CD19<sup>+</sup> B cells were enumerated from PBMC of five animals by flow cytometry. Dashed lines indicate the base cell number at day 0. \*indicates one time point when WBC was extremely high on that animal. (B) A lymph node biopsy was taken at day 28 from 3C12C (10mg/kg) and control-treated animals. B cells stained with anti-human CD20 mAb on paraffinembedded lymph node biopsy samples are shown. One of the two similar results for the two animals receiving 10 mg/kg 3C12C showing reduced B-cell areas compared to the human IgG control animal.

plays a key inhibitory role on T cells. We also found that HL cell line supernatant inhibited normal B-cell proliferation (*data not shown*). Other cytokines or soluble factors from the KM-H2 supernatant may also contribute to the inhibitory effect, e.g., sCD30. An 85kDa soluble form of the CD30 molecule (sCD30) has been shown to be released by CD30<sup>+</sup> cells *in vitro* and *in vivo*. sCD30 was elevated in the serum of HL<sup>41,42</sup> and other CD30-expressing tumors, as well as inflammatory conditions with strong Tor B-cell activation. The CD30-Fc fusion protein inhibits T-cell proliferation,<sup>43</sup> whilst sCD30 is also involved in the pathogenesis of renal, islet transplant rejection.<sup>44,45</sup> The effect of brentuximab on sCD30 has not been investigated. The thymus and activation related chemokine (TARC; CCL17) is expressed by HRS cells.<sup>46</sup>

TARC is confirmed as a biomarker of HL, since elevated serum TARC reflected the disease activity and correlated with clinical response.<sup>47,48</sup> Herein, as well as confirming elevation of serum sCD83 in active HL, we monitored sCD83 on six HL patients who underwent sequential cycles of chemotherapy. A complete response shown by PET-CT scan correlated with the decreased sCD83 levels. Thus sCD83 may be another biomarker candidate for monitoring the potential clinical response. A much larger cohort of HL patients will be monitored prospectively in order to explore this further. Additional investigations regarding the effect of sCD83 on HL biology may well assist therapeutic development in HL. Natural sCD83 has proved difficult to obtain for functional studies, suggesting the sCD83 structure and/or function is sensitive to in vitro manipulation.49

We have developed a human anti-human CD83 mAb, 3C12C, to investigate in clinical trials. It kills HL cells through ADCC, but in order to enhance its activity, we developed a 3C12C toxin conjugate (3C12C-MMAE).

The unconjugated parent anti-CD30 antibody SGN-30 had no effect on HL in a study of 38 patients.<sup>50</sup> Brentuximab vedotin SGN35, which is a drug conjugate of SGN-30 with MMAE, has, however, proven to be a highly promising drug with CD30<sup>+</sup> lymphoma.<sup>10</sup> We found 3C12C-MMAE kills CD83+ HL cell lines KM-H2 and HDLM2 very efficiently. Although HDLM2 cells express less surface CD83 and are resistant to ADCC killing, the high killing efficiency of HDLM2 with 3C12C-MMAE is likely related to the rapid antibody internalization and high intracellular CD83 turnover. 3C12C binding on L428 is relatively stable, rendering it sensitive to killing by ADCC, but less likely to be killed with 3C12C-MMAE, which is mediated via antibody internalization. Further improvements in the 3C12C-MMAE conjugate preparation are planned.

Finally, we tested the safety of 3C12C in non-human primates. We saw no clinical toxicity, abnormalities of blood count, liver or renal function or a decrease in the target CD1c<sup>+</sup>DC population (*data not shown*). By monitoring B cells, we saw depletion in the blood and lymph nodes. The depletion of activated CD83<sup>+</sup> B cells led to a significant reduction in the B-cell area of lymph nodes. This early evidence of CD83 target cell depletion in non-human primates is most encouraging, suggesting an ADCC effect that should translate readily to the clinic.

Taken together, these data demonstrate that CD83 is a new potential diagnostic HL marker and serum sCD83 levels are likely to reflect HL disease load. CD83 is a target for therapeutic mAb development as well as CD83 target derivatives. The potential therapeutic human anti-CD83 antibody, 3C12C, kills HL cells efficiently *in vitro*. It is safe in non-human primates, and depletes CD83+ target cells. Further development of 3C12C in human studies merits serious consideration.

#### References

- Ansell SM. Hodgkin lymphoma: 2016 update on diagnosis, risk-stratification, and management. Am J Hematol. 2016;91(4):434-442.
- Castagna L, Carlo-Stella C, Mazza R, Santoro A. Current role of autologous and allogeneic stem cell transplantation for relapsed and refractory hodgkin lymphoma. Mediterr J Hematol Infect Dis. 2015;7(1):e2015015.
- Reddy NM, Perales MA. Stem cell transplantation in Hodgkin lymphoma. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am. 2014;28(6):1097-1112.
- Janik JE, Morris JC, O'Mahony D, et al. 90Ydaclizumab, an anti-CD25 monoclonal antibody, provided responses in 50% of patients with relapsed Hodgkin's lymphoma. Proc natl Acad Sci USA. 2015; 112(42):13045-13050.
- Rehwald U, Schulz H, Reiser M, et al. Treatment of relapsed CD20+ Hodgkin lymphoma with the monoclonal antibody rituximab is effective and well tolerated: results of a phase 2 trial of the German Hodgkin Lymphoma Study Group. Blood. 2003;101(2):420-424.
- 6. Jacene H, Crandall J, Kasamon YL, et al.

Initial experience with tositumomab and I-131-labeled tositumomab for treatment of relapsed/refractory Hodgkin lymphoma. Mol Imaging Biol. 2017;19(3):429-436.

- Younes A, Bartlett NL, Leonard JP, et al. Brentuximab vedotin (SGN-35) for relapsed CD30-positive lymphomas. N Engl J Med. 2010;363(19):1812-1821.
- Deng C, Pan B, O'Connor OA. Brentuximab vedotin. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19(1):22-27.
- Gravanis I, Tzogani K, van Hennik P, et al. The European Medicines Agency review of brentuximab vedotin (Adcetris) for the treatment of adult patients with relapsed or fefractory CD30+ Hodgkin lymphoma or systemic anaplastic large cell lymphoma: summary of the scientific assessment of the Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use. Oncologist 2016;21(1):102-109.
- Connors JM, Jurczak W, Straus DJ, et al. ' Brentuximab vedotin with chemotherapy for stage III or IV Hodgkin's lymphoma.. N Engl J Med. 2017 Dec 12. [Epub ahead of print]
- Villasboas JC, Ansell SM. Nivolumab for the treatment of classical Hodgkin lymphoma after failure of autologous stem cell transplant and brentuximab. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther. 2016;16(1):5-12.
- 12. Ansell SM, Lesokhin AM, Borrello I, et al. PD-1 blockade with nivolumab in relapsed

or refractory Hodgkin's lymphoma. N Engl J Med. 2015;372(4):311-319.

- Kasamon YL, de Claro RA, Wang Y, Shen YL, Farrell AT, Pazdur R. FDA approval summary: nivolumab for the treatment of relapsed or progressive classical Hodgkin lymphoma. Oncologist. 2017; 22(5):585-591.
- Zhou LJ, Tedder TF. Human blood dendritic cells selectively express CD83, a member of the immunoglobulin superfamily. J Immunol. 1995;154(8):3821-3835.
- Ju X, Silveira PA, Hsu WH, et al. The analysis of CD83 expression on human immune cells identifies a unique CD83+-activated T cell population. J Immunol. 2016; 197(12):4613-4625.
- Kretschmer B, Luthje K, Guse AH, et al. CD83 modulates B cell function in vitro: increased IL-10 and reduced Ig secretion by CD83Tg B cells. PloS One. 2007;2(8):e755.
- Cao W, Lee SH, Lu J. CD83 is preformed inside monocytes, macrophages and dendritic cells, but it is only stably expressed on activated dendritic cells. Biochem J. 2005;385(Pt 1):85-93.
- Yamashiro S, Wang JM, Yang D, Gong WH, Kamohara H, Yoshimura T. Expression of CCR6 and CD83 by cytokine-activated human neutrophils. Blood. 2000; 96(12):3958-3963.

- Sorg UR, Morse TM, Patton WN, et al. Hodgkin's cells express CD83, a dendritic cell lineage associated antigen. Pathology. 1997;29(3):294-299.
- Hock BD, Kato M, McKenzie JL, Hart DN. A soluble form of CD83 is released from activated dendritic cells and B lymphocytes, and is detectable in normal human sera. Int Immunol. 2001;13(7):959-967.
- Dudziak D, Nimmerjahn F, Bornkamm GW, Laux G. Alternative splicing generates putative soluble CD83 proteins that inhibit T cell proliferation. J Immunol. 2005; 174(11):6672-6676.
- Horvatinovich JM, Grogan EW, Norris M, et al. Soluble CD83 inhibits T cell activation by binding to the TLR4/MD-2 complex on CD14+ monocytes. J Immunol. 2017;198(6):2286-2301.
- Doring C, Hansmann ML, Agostinelli C, et al. A novel immunohistochemical classifier to distinguish Hodgkin lymphoma from ALK anaplastic large cell lymphoma. Mod Pathol. 2014;27(10):1345-1354.
- Wilson J, Cullup H, Lourie R, et al. Antibody to the dendritic cell surface activation antigen CD83 prevents acute graft-versus-host disease. J Exp Med. 2009;206(2):387-398.
- Seldon TA, Pryor R, Palkova A, et al. Immunosuppressive human anti-CD83 monoclonal antibody depletion of activated dendritic cells in transplantation. Leukemia. 2016;30(3):692-700.
- 26. Sheets MD, Amersdorfer P, Finnem R, et al. Efficient construction of a large nonimmune phage antibody library: the production of high-affinity human single-chain antibodies to protein antigens. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998;95(11):6157-6162.
- Jones ML, Seldon T, Smede M, et al. A method for rapid, ligation-independent reformatting of recombinant monoclonal antibodies. J Immunol Methods. 2010; 354(1-2):85-90.
- Francisco JA, Cerveny CG, Meyer DL, et al. cAC10-vcMMAE, an anti-CD30monomethyl auristatin E conjugate with potent and selective antitumor activity. Blood. 2003;102(4):1458-1465.
- 29. Dudziak D, Kieser A, Dirmeier U, et al. Latent membrane protein 1 of Epstein-Barr

virus induces CD83 by the NF-kappaB signaling pathway. J Virol. 2003;77(15):8290-8298.

- Hock BD, Haring LF, Steinkasserer A, Taylor KG, Patton WN, McKenzie JL. The soluble form of CD83 is present at elevated levels in a number of hematological malignancies. Leuk Res. 2004;28(3):237-241.
- Kuppers R. The biology of Hodgkin's lymphoma. NaR Rev Cancer. 2009;9(1):15-27.
- Scott DW, Gascoyne RD. The tumour microenvironment in B cell lymphomas. Nat Rev Cancer. 2014;14(8):517-534.
- Adams HJ, Nievelstein RA, Kwee TC. Systematic review and meta-analysis on the prognostic value of complete remission status at FDG-PET in Hodgkin lymphoma after completion of first-line therapy. Ann Hematol. 2016;95(1):1-9.
- Forero-Torres A, Holkova B, Goldschmidt J, et al. Phase 2 study of frontline brentuximab vedotin monotherapy in Hodgkin lymphoma patients aged 60 years and older. Blood. 2015;126(26):2798-2804.
- Aldinucci D, Gloghini A, Pinto A, De Filippi R, Carbone A. The classical Hodgkin's lymphoma microenvironment and its role in promoting tumour growth and immune escape. J Pathol. 2010;221(3):248-263.
- Ma Y, Visser L, Roelofsen H, et al. Proteomics analysis of Hodgkin lymphoma: identification of new players involved in the cross-talk between HRS cells and infiltrating lymphocytes. Blood. 2008;111(4):2339-2346.
- 37. Vardhana S, Younes A. The immune microenvironment in Hodgkin lymphoma: T cells, B cells, and immune checkpoints. Haematologica. 2016;101(7):794-802.
- Brown R, Kabani K, Favaloro J, et al. CD86+ or HLA-G+ can be transferred via trogocytosis from myeloma cells to T cells and are associated with poor prognosis. Blood. 2012;120(10):2055-2063.
- Yamamoto R, Nishikori M, Kitawaki T, et al. PD-1-PD-1 ligand interaction contributes to immunosuppressive microenvironment of Hodgkin lymphoma. Blood. 2008;111(6):3220-3224.
- Jiang Y, Li Y, Zhu B. T-cell exhaustion in the tumor microenvironment. Cell Death Dis. 2015;6:e1792.

- Gause A, Pohl C, Tschiersch A, et al. Clinical significance of soluble CD30 antigen in the sera of patients with untreated Hodgkin's disease. Blood. 1991;77(9):1983-1988.
- 12. Nadali G, Vinante F, Ambrosetti A, et al. Serum levels of soluble CD30 are elevated in the majority of untreated patients with Hodgkin's disease and correlate with clinical features and prognosis. J Clin Oncol. 1994;12(4):793-797.
- Su CC, Chiu HH, Chang CC, Chen JC, Hsu SM. CD30 is involved in inhibition of T-cell proliferation by Hodgkin's Reed-Sternberg cells. Cancer Res. 2004;64(6):2148-2152.
- Billing H, Sander A, Susal C, et al. Soluble CD30 and ELISA-detected human leukocyte antigen antibodies for the prediction of acute rejection in pediatric renal transplant recipients. Transpl Int. 2013; 26(3):331-338.
- Saini D, Ramachandran S, Nataraju A, et al. Activated effector and memory T cells contribute to circulating sCD30: potential marker for islet allograft rejection. Am J Transplant. 2008;8(9):1798-1808.
- 46. van den Berg A, Visser L, Poppema S. High expression of the CC chemokine TARC in Reed-Sternberg cells. A possible explanation for the characteristic T-cell infiltratein Hodgkin's lymphoma. Am J Pathol. 1999; 154(6):1685-1691.
- Weihrauch MR, Manzke O, Beyer M, et al. Elevated serum levels of CC thymus and activation-related chemokine (TARC) in primary Hodgkin's disease: potential for a prognostic factor. Cancer Res. 2005; 65(13):5516-5519.
- Plattel WJ, van den Berg A, Visser L, et al. Plasma thymus and activation-regulated chemokine as an early response marker in classical Hodgkin's lymphoma. Haematologica. 2012;97(3):410-415.
- Hock BD, Fernyhough LJ, Gough SM, Steinkasserer A, Cox AG, McKenzie JL. Release and clinical significance of soluble CD83 in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Leuk Res. 2009;33(8):1089-1095.
- Forero-Torres A, Leonard JP, Younes A, et al. A Phase II study of SGN-30 (anti-CD30 mAb) in Hodgkin lymphoma or systemic anaplastic large cell lymphoma. Br J Haematol. 2009;146(2):171-179.

#### **Supplementary Methods**

#### Hodgkin lymphoma (HL) cell lines

Three HL cell lines KM-H2, L428 and HDLM2 (gift from Prof Volker Diehl, University of Cologne, Germany) were used. Control cell line HL-60 was from the Christchurch Haematology Research Group.

#### Flow Cytometry

The following antibodies were used: CD3-Alexa Fluor (AF)700 or CD3-Phycoerythrin (PE), CD4-PE-CF594, CD15-Violet (V)450, CD19-V450, CD20-V421, CD30-PE, CD40-PE-Cy7, CD279 (PD-1)- Brilliant Violet (BV)786, CD274 (PD-L1)-PE-Cy7 (all from BD Biosciences), CD25-BV421 and CD107-PE-Cy7 (Biolegend). Mouse anti-human CD83 monoclonal antibodies (mAbs), HB15a-Fluorescein Isothiocyanate (FITC) was obtained from Beckman and Coulter, and HB15e-FITC from BD Biosciences. 3C12C is a human IgG1 anti-human CD83 mAb made in house. Isotype control antibodies included mouse IgG1 Kappa- FITC, mouse IgG2b-FITC (BD Biosciences) and human IgG1 Kappa (Sigma Aldrich). For intracellular CD83 expression, cells were fixed and permeabilized with Foxp3 intracelluar staining kit (Ebioscience). Data were collected on a Fortessa X20 flow cytometer (BD Biosciences) and analyzed with FlowJoV9&10 software (TreeStar).

#### Immunofluorescence staining

KM-H2, L428 or HDLM2 cells (10<sup>5</sup> cells) were cytospun onto lysine coated microscope slides. Cells were fixed and permeabilized with acetone at -20°C overnight. This was followed by rehydration in PBS/1% BSA and blocking with 10% goat serum (Sigma Aldrich). Cells were stained with primary antibodies: HB15a (Beckman and Coulter), HB15e (STEMCELL Technologies) or 3C12C anti-CD83 antibodies, followed with goat anti-mouse IgG-AF647 (for HB15a, HB15e) or goat anti-human IgG-AF488 (for 3C12C) (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Nuclei were stained with 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole dihydrochloride (DAPI, Thermo Fisher Scientific). Cells were visualized using a laser scanning confocal microscope (Leica SP8) and composite images produced using Image J (National Institutes of Health).

#### In situ hybridization

Epstein-Barr virus encoding small RNA (EBER) in situ hybridization was performed using Bond EBER probe, Bond RNA negative control probe and Bond RNA positive control probe with Bond Anti-fluorescein antibody (Leica Biosystems). Staining was performed on 3µm sections of formalin fixed paraffin embedded tissue. Antigen retrieval, hybridisation and immunohistochemical staining was performed on an automated Leica Bond III (Leica Microsystems). Enzyme 1 (Leica Biosystems) was used for antigen retrieval for 15 minutes. A Bond Polymer Refine Detection system with 3,3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB) was used for chromogenic detection.

#### Trogocytosis analysis

Venous blood was collected from healthy donors (HD) under approval of SLHD HREC. Human PBMC were isolated by centrifugation on Ficoll-Paque-PLUS (GE Healthcare). T cells were isolated from PBMC using EasySep Human T cell Isolation Kit (STEMCELL Technologies) according to the supplier's instructions. KM-H2 cells were cultured with purified CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells from human PBMC for 4 hours at a ratio of 5:1. CD83 expression on T cells was analyzed by flow cytometry using HB15a mAb. For fluorescent imaging, KM-H2 cells were labelled with CellVue Claret Far Red Fluorescent Cell Linker Kits (Sigma-Aldrich) and co-cultured with CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells for 4 hours at ratio of 5:1. CD83 were then stained with biotinylated mouse anti-human CD3 mAb (BD Bioscience) and Strepdavidin-AF488 (Thermo Fisher Scientific). In some experiments, 0.4µm transwell insert (Corning) were used to separate T cells from KM-H2 cells

during culture. CD83 expression on T cells was analyzed by flow cytometry after 4 hours of culture.

#### T cell proliferation analysis

Purified T cells of human PBMC were labelled with 5nM Carboxyfluorescein Nhydroxysuccinimidyl ester (CFSE ; Sigma-Aldrich) and stimulated with anti-CD2/CD3/CD28 T cell activation/expansion kit (Miltenyi) in the presence of supernatant from KM-H2 cells for 5 days. Cells were analysed by flow cytometry on a Fortessa (BD Bioscience). The proliferation Index (PI), that is defined as total number of divisions divided by the number of cells that went into division, and Division Index (DI), that is the average number of cell divisions that a cell in the original population has undergone, were analysed with FlowJo V9 (TreeStar).

#### PCR analysis

RNA was extracted with TRIzol (Life Technologies) and cDNA was transcribed from 100 ng RNA using SuperScript® III First-Strand Synthesis kit and random hexamers primer (Thermo Fisher Scientific) following the manufacturer's protocol. cDNA from the specified immune populations were amplified by PCR using human *CD83* exon 2 forward primer 5'-

AGGTTCCCTACACGGTCTCC-3' and exon 5 reverse primer 5'-

AAGATACTCTGTAGCCGTGCAAAC-3'. Primers to the *GAPDH* housekeeping gene 5'-ATGGGGAAGGTGAAGGTCGGA-3' (forward) and 5'-AGGGGCCATCCACAGTCTTCTG -3' (reverse) were used as an endogenous contol. Amplified fragments were separated on 2% agarose (Thermo Fisher Scientific) gel.

Stability of 3C12C antibody binding on the surface of HL lines.

KM-H2, L428 and HDLM2 cells were incubated with a saturated concentration of 3C12C (10µg/ml) for 30 minutes on ice. Cells were intensively washed, then cultured at  $37^{\circ}C$  5% CO<sub>2</sub>

from 0 minutes to 2 hours. Cells were stained with goat anti- human IgG (H+L)-AF488 (Invitrogen) and analyzed for the remaining surface 3C12C antibody level by flow cytometry. The geometric mean fluorescence (MFI) was analyzed using FlowJoV9&10 software (TreeStar). The remaining level of 3C12C on the cell surface was calculated as percentage of MFI at time 0.

Patient	Diagnosis	Stage	CD83 staining	%	CD30	EBV	Treatment
	8	~81	(Strong/Moderate/Weak)	CD83+	staining	(EBER)	response
				HRS	U		1
				cells			
1	NS	II	W	80	+	-	CR
2	NS	II	S	90	+	-	CR
3	MC	II	W 10 + -		-	CR	
4	MC	IV	W	70	+	-	CR
5	MC	II	S 80 + +		+	CR	
6	NS	II	М	70	+	-	CR
7	NS	II	М	70	+	-	NA
8	MC	II	S	20	+	-	CR
9	NS	II	S	<10	+	-	CR
10	NLP	II	S	70	+	-	CR
11	NLP	Ι	W	30	+	-	CR
12	CHL-U	III	S	90	+	+	CR
13	NS	II	S	80	+	-	CR
14	NC	TV.	W	10			Relapsed
14	INS	1 V	~~	10	+	-	-CR
15	MC	IV	W	<10	+	-	CR
16	MC	II	М	60	+	-	CR
17	NS	Ι	S	90	+	-	CR
18	NS	II	S	10	+	+	CR
19	LR	II	S	90	+	-	CR
20	NLP	Ι	S	>90	+	-	CR
21	NS	III	S	90	+	-	CR
22	NS	II	S	20	+	-	CR
23	NS	IV	W	<10	+	-	CR
24	NS	IV	W	80	+	+	CR
25	NS	II	W	10	+	-	CR
26	NS	II	М	<10	+	-	CR
27	MC	IV	S	20	+	+	Died
28	NS	III	М	<10	+	+	CR
29	NS	II	S	40	+	-	Died
30	NS	III	W	10	+	-	CR
31	NLP	IV	S	80	+	-	Relapsed
32	NS	II	S	>90	+	-	CR
							Relapsed,
33	NS	IIa	S	>90	+	-	CR after
							auto-HCT
34	cHL-U	IVb	М	40	+	+	CR
35	NS	IIIb	W	<10	+	-	CR

#### Table S1: CD83 staining details in 35 HL patients:

Patient	Age	Diagnosis	Stage	Treatment	PET-CT
1	69	MC	IV	CHIVPP (cy1, 2, 3)	Post-cy2 (CR)
2	42	NS	III	ABVD (cy1, 2, 3, 4)	Post-cy2 (CR)
3	34	NS	II	ABVD (cy1, 2, 3, 4)	Post-cy2 (CR)
4	45	NS	ш	ABVD (cy1, 2),	cy5 (PR),
4	43	IND	111	BEACOPP (cy3, 4, 5, 6)	Post-cy2 (CR)
5	22	NS	п	ABVD (cy1, 2),	Post-cy2 (PD),
5	52	IND .	11	BEACOPP (cy3, 4)	Post-cy4 (PR)
6	36	NS	III	ABVD (cy1, 2, 3, 4, 5)	Post-cy2 (CR)

 Table S2: Characteristics of 6 HL patients for analysis serum sCD83 level

CR: complete response; PR: partial response; PD: progressive disease.



## Fig. S1. CD83 transcript and intracellular expression in Hodgkin lymphoma cell lines.

(A) Total RNA was extracted from KM-H2, L428 and HDLM2 cells. cDNA was transcribed from 100 ng RNA. Expression of CD83mRNA and the house keeping gene GAPDH in KM-H2, L428 and HDLM2 were analysed by PCR. Amplified fragments were separated on 2% agarose gel. (B) KM-H2, L428 and HDLM2 cells were fixed and permeabilized, cells were stained with CD83 antibody (HB15e) and analysed for the intracellular CD83 expression by flow cytometry (n=3).



#### Fig. S2. Characterization the trogocytosis of Hodgkin and Reed-Sternberg (HRS) cells to T cells.

(A) T cells and KM-H2 cells were co-cultured with or without transwell, for 4 hours, CD83 expression on T cells was analyzed by flow cytometry, one of three reprsentative experiments shown. (B) KM-H2 cells were labelled with CellVue Claret and co-cultured with T cells at ratio of 5:1 for 4 hours. Claret expression were analysed on gated KM-H2, T cells or whole population. KM-H2 or T cells only used as control (n=3). (C) The proportion of CD25<sup>high</sup> CD127<sup>low</sup> (Treg) in trogocytosed CD83<sup>+</sup> T cells were analysed, one of three representative experiments was shown.



#### Fig. S3. CD83 expression on HL60 line.

CD83 expression on HL60 was analysed with mouse anti-human CD83 mAb HB15a, HB15e or human anti-human CD83 mAb 3C12C by flow cytometry. Grey filled histograms were isotype controls for CD83 antibodies.



#### Fig. S4. 3C12C is safe in non-human primates.

Five non-human primates (Baboon) were injected with 3C12C (1, 5, 10, 10 mg/kg, n=4) or human IgG (10mg/kg, n=1) at day 0, 7, 14 and 21. Blood and serum samples were collected for blood cell counts (red cells, white cells and platelets), liver (ALP, AST level) and kidney function (Creatinine level) analysis. Data from the two animals receiving 10mg/kg of 3C12C or human IgG are shown.

# Appendix C: Targeting CD83 in Mantle cell lymphoma with anti-human CD83 antibody

Li Z, Abadir E, Lee K, Clarke C, Bryant C, Cooper W, Pietersz G, Silveira PS, Hart DN, Ju X, Clark G. Targeting CD83 in Mantle cell lymphoma with anti-human CD83 antibody. Under Review (Clinical and Translational Immunology)

## Clinical & Translational Immunology

#### Targeting CD83 in Mantle cell lymphoma with anti-human CD83 antibody

Journal:	Clinical & Translational Immunology
Manuscript ID	Draft
Wiley - Manuscript type:	Original Article
Date Submitted by the Author:	n/a
Complete List of Authors:	Li, Ziduo; ANZAC Research Institute, Dendritic Cell Research Abadir, Edward; ANZAC Research Institute, Dendritic Cell Research Lee, Kenneth; Concord Repatriation General Hospital, Anatomical Pathology Clarke, Candice; Concord Repatriation General Hospital, Anatomical Pathology Bryant, Christian; Royal Prince Alfred Hospital Cooper, Wendy; Royal Prince Alfred Hospital Pietersz, Geoffrey; Burnet Institute Silveira, Pablo; ANZAC Research Institute, Dendritic Cell Research Hart, Derek; ANZAC Research Institute, Dendritic Cell Research Ju, Xinsheng; ANZAC Research Institute, Dendritic Cell Research Clark, Georgina; ANZAC Research Institute, Dendritic Cell Research
Keywords:	CD83, Mantle cell lymphoma, Antibody-drug-conjugate, Immunotherapy < Immunology, NF-кВ
Abstract:	<ul> <li>Objectives</li> <li>Effective antibody-drug-conjugates (ADC) provide potent targeted cancer therapies. CD83 is expressed on activated immune cells including B cells and is a therapeutic target for Hodgkin lymphoma. Our objective was to determine CD83 expression on non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL) and its therapeutic potential to treat mantle cell lymphoma (MCL) which is currently an incurable NHL.</li> <li>Methods</li> <li>We analysed CD83 expression on MCL cell lines and the lymph node/bone marrow biopsies of MCL patients. We tested the killing effect of CD83 ADC in vitro and in an in vivo xenograft MCL mouse model.</li> <li>Results</li> <li>CD83 is expressed on MCL and CD83 ADC kills MCL in vitro and in vivo. The combination of CD83 ADC with Doxorubicin and Cyclophosphamide which are included in the current treatment regimen for MCL has synergistic killing effect of MCL.</li> <li>Discussion</li> <li>CD83 upregulation in MCL is corelated with the NF-kB activation. Doxorubicin and Cyclophosphamide enhance the NF-kB activity and increased CD83 expression on MCL cell lines</li> <li>Conclusion</li> <li>This study provides evidence that a novel immunotherapeutic agent</li> </ul>

1	
2 3	
4	CD83 ADC that, in combination with chemotherapy, has the potential to enhance the efficacy of current treatments for MCL.
5 6	
7	
o 9	
10	SCHULARUNE
11 12	Manuscripts
13	
14 15	
16	
17 19	
18 19	
20	
21 22	
23	
24 25	
26	
27	
28 29	
30	
31 32	
33	
34 35	
36	
37	
38 39	
40	
41 42	
43	
44 45	
43 46	
47	
48 49	
50	
51 52	
53	
54	
22	

- 55
- 56 57
- 58
- 59

#### Targeting CD83 in Mantle cell lymphoma with anti-human CD83 antibody

#### Running Title: Antibody target for mantle cell lymphoma

Ziduo Li<sup>1, 2</sup>, Edward Abadir<sup>1, 2, 4</sup>, Kenneth Lee<sup>2, 3</sup>, Candice Clarke<sup>3</sup>, Christian E. Bryant<sup>4</sup>, Wendy Cooper<sup>4</sup>, Geoffrey Pietersz<sup>5, 6</sup>, Pablo A. Silveira<sup>1, 2</sup>, Derek N.J. Hart<sup>1, 2, †</sup>, Xinsheng Ju<sup>1, 2</sup>, Georgina J. Clark<sup>1, 2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Dendritic Cell Research, ANZAC Research Institute, Sydney NSW Australia

<sup>2</sup> Sydney Medical School, The University of Sydney, Sydney NSW Australia

<sup>3</sup> Anatomical Pathology, Concord Repatriation General Hospital, Sydney NSW Australia

<sup>4</sup> Institute of Haematology, Royal Prince Alfred Hospital, Sydney NSW Australia

<sup>5</sup> Inflammation, Cancer and Infection, Burnet Institute, Melbourne VIC Australia

<sup>6</sup> Baker Heart and Diabetes Institute, Melbourne VIC Australia

<sup>†</sup>Deceased

#### Corresponding Author: A/Professor Georgina Clark

Dendritic Cell Research, ANZAC Research Institute, Gate 3 Hospital Road, Concord NSW 2139 Tel: +61 2 9767 9822 Fax: +61 2 9767 9101

E-mail: georgina.clark@sydney.edu.au; xinsheng.ju@sydney.edu.au

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by an Australian National Health and Medical Research Council Development Grant (APP1113513) and Cancer Institute New South Wales Translational Program Grant (2017/TPG002). Z.L. receives a University of Sydney, Australian Postgraduate Award (APA). We thank Donna Bonnici for administrative help. We would like to thank the Royal Prince Alfred pharmacy for their help with the use of cytotoxic reagents.

**Conflict of Interest:** G.J.C. is a Director of DendroCyte BioTech Pty Ltd and Kira BioTech Pty Ltd. There are no other conflict of interests to disclose.

1	
2 3	Word Count: 2814
4	Final Count. 2014
5 б	Figures: 6
7	Table: 1
8 9	
10	
11 12	
12	
14	
15	
17	
18 19	
20	
21 22	
23	
24 25	
26	
27 28	
28 29	
30	
32	
33	
34 35	
36	
37 38	
39	
40 41	
42	
43 44	
45	
46 47	
48	
49 50	
51	
52 53	
55 54	
55	
56 57	
58	
59	2

#### ABBREVIATIONS

ADC	Antibody Drug Conjugate
СР	Cyclophosphamide
DC	Dendritic Cell
DOX	Doxorubicin
HL	Hodgkin Lymphoma
MCL	Mantle Cell Lymphoma
MMAE	Monomethyl auristatin E
NHL	Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma

#### ABSTRACT

#### Objectives

Effective antibody-drug-conjugates (ADC) provide potent targeted cancer therapies. CD83 is expressed on activated immune cells including B cells and is a therapeutic target for Hodgkin lymphoma. Our objective was to determine CD83 expression on non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL) and its therapeutic potential to treat mantle cell lymphoma (MCL) which is currently an incurable NHL.

#### Methods

We analysed CD83 expression on MCL cell lines and the lymph node/bone marrow biopsies of MCL patients. We tested the killing effect of CD83 ADC *in vitro* and in an *in vivo* xenograft MCL mouse model.

#### Results

CD83 is expressed on MCL and CD83 ADC kills MCL *in vitro* and *in vivo*. The combination of CD83 ADC with Doxorubicin and Cyclophosphamide which are included in the current treatment regimen for MCL has synergistic killing effect of MCL.

#### Discussion

CD83 upregulation in MCL is corelated with the NF- $\kappa$ B activation. Doxorubicin and Cyclophosphamide enhance the NF- $\kappa$ B activity and increased CD83 expression on MCL cell lines

#### Conclusion

This study provides evidence that a novel immunotherapeutic agent CD83 ADC that, in combination with chemotherapy, has the potential to enhance the efficacy of current treatments for MCL.

Keywords: CD83; Mantle cell lymphoma; Antibody-drug-conjugate; NF-κB; Immunotherapy

#### INTRODUCTION

Mantle cell lymphoma (MCL) has an incidence of 0.5 per 100,000 in western countries and accounts for 2.5-6% of all non-Hodgkin lymphomas (NHL) (1, 2) Most MCL cases have an aggressive clinical course and develop resistance to treatment resulting in relapse after a variable period of remission. The median overall survival is 4-5 years (3).

The MCL cells originate from mature B-cells within the mantle zone of lymphatic follicles. The pathogenic hallmark and potential initiating oncogenic mutation is the up-regulation of Cyclin D1 (CCND1) which is predominantly due to the translocation of t (11;14) (q13; q32). In addition, other signalling molecules such as ataxia telangiectasia mutated, members of the nuclear factor  $\kappa$ B (NF- $\kappa$ B) pathway or NOTCH family display constitutive activation in MCL (4-6).

Antibody drug conjugates (ADC), which combine monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) with small molecules or toxins have the advantage of highly specific killing and reduced toxicity compared with conventional chemotherapy (7). The recent approvals of ADC for the treatment of haematological malignancies, such as brentuximab vedotin and inotuzumab ozogamicin (8, 9), demonstrates high efficacy and low toxicity in the clinical practice (10, 11). New ADC in MCL including antibodies targeting novel antigens such as receptor tyrosine kinase-like Orphan Receptor 1 (ROR1) and novel payloads for already known targets, such as CD19 targeted therapy are under assessment in clinical trials (clinicaltrials.gov: NCT02669017, NCT02669017, NCT03424603).

CD83 is a transmembrane immunoglobulin superfamily member with a regulatory function on lymphocyte maturation, activation and homeostasis (12-14) in the immune system. CD83 is expressed by mature dendritic cells and activated lymphocytes but not by other peripheral blood cells (11, 15). Some tumor cells have high expression of CD83 on the cell surface, such as Hodgkin lymphomas (HL), diffuse large B cell lymphoma, adult acute lymphoblastic leukemias, gastric extra-nodal marginal zone lymphomas and lung cancer cells (15-20). We identified CD83 as a potential therapeutic target in HL, in which an anti-CD83 antibody drug conjugate effectively killed CD83<sup>+</sup> HL cells (21). A soluble version of CD83 protein (sCD83) with immune suppressive function has been reported. Serum sCD83 concentration is increased in some haematology

 malignancies but returns to normal in patients who responded to chemotherapy (22, 23). Whether CD83 can be a therapeutic target for MCL has not been investigated. In this study, we analyzed the CD83 expression on MCL and tested the ability of CD83 ADC to kill MCL *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

#### RESULTS

## CD83 is expressed on some MCL cell lines and in lymph node/bone marrow biopsies of MCL patients

CD83 expression was analyzed on MCL cell lines. Mino cells and Rec-1 cells expressed the CD83 on their cell surface, whilst the Z138 and Jvm2 lines did not. The HL cell line KM-H2 expressed the highest amount of cell surface CD83 (Figure 1A). Cell surface CD83 was expressed on 30.3% of the CD19<sup>+</sup>/CD5<sup>+</sup> population of PBMC from one primary MCL (MCL01) patient (Figure 1B). As expected, CD83 mRNA transcripts was more abundant in CD83<sup>+</sup> MCL lines (Mino and Rec-1) than CD83<sup>-</sup> MCL cells (Z138 and Jvm2). Similarly, primary MCL cells had increased CD83 mRNA transcription (Figure 1C).

CD83 expression was analyzed on the FFPE lymph node biopsies from 18 MCL patients. Patient clinical characteristics are detailed in Table 1. The average age of patients was 65.7 years and most samples were from men (16/18, 88.9%). 83.3% (15/18) of the patients were assessed to be stage IV based on Ann Arbor Stage criteria (24). The Average Mantle Cell Lymphoma International Prognostic Index (MIPI) scores of high risk, intermediate or low risk were 55.6%, 22.2% and 22.2%, respectively. Among the 18 patients, 3/18 (16.67 %) biopsies expressed high levels of CD83 (>50% positive) on the MCL cells, 8/18 (44.44%) expressed moderate levels (10-50% positive), and 6/18 (33.33%) expressed low levels of CD83 (<10% positive) and 1/18 (5.55%) had no CD83 detection (Figure 1D). There is no correlation of CD83 expression level (cut-off 10% as low/high) with MIPI score or clinical stage.

#### Anti-CD83 antibody drug conjugate kills CD83<sup>+</sup> MCL cells in vitro

The CD83-MMAE drug activity was tested on four MCL lines (Mino, Rec-1, Z138 and Jvm2). CD83<sup>+</sup> HL cell line KM-H2 was included as control. Cells were exposed to 3C12C-MMAE for 72 hours, then the metabolic-based luciferase assay CellTitre-Glo was used to quantify viable cells. 3C12C-MMAE killed MCL CD83<sup>+</sup> cells and Mino cells efficiently. Although Mino cells expresses

less cell surface CD83 than KM-H2 cells, the IC50 level of both cell lines is similar (0.017 and 0.021µg/ml for KM-H2 and Mino respectively. Figure 1A). Both the CD83<sup>+</sup> Mino and Rec-1 cells were susceptible to naked 3C12C via NK mediated ADCC in dose dependent manner (Suppl Figure 1). Rec-1 had a higher IC50 level (>10µg/ml) when exposed to 3C12C-MMAE than Mino cells. Rec-1 MMAE resistance was confirmed when MCL lines were cultured with MMAE alone (Suppl. Figure 2). Since MMAE conjugated antibody has been reported to induce G2/M phase arrest (25), we tested the effect of 3C12C-MMAE on the cell cycle of CD83<sup>+</sup> Mino cells. About 45% Mino cells were arrested in G2/M phase after 18- hour exposure to 3C12C-MMAE and this was accompanied with a concomitant decrease in G0/G1 phase cells. The control ADC Herceptin-MMAE did not change the cell cycle of Mino cells (Figure 2B).

#### Anti-CD83 antibody drug conjugate effectively kills MCL in a xenograft model

To evaluate the efficacy of our ADC *in vivo*, we established a xenograft mouse model in which NSG mice were subcutaneously injected with Mino cells (Figure 3A). On day 18 post injection of Mino cells when tumors were palpable, 3C12C-MMAE or control vehicle was injected (i.p.). Mice were sacrificed and engrafted tumor cells were harvested for flow cytometry analysis. Engrafted tumors were CD5<sup>+</sup>CD19<sup>+</sup> and expressed CD83 at similar level to the *in vitro* cultured Mino cells (Suppl. Figure 3). 3C12C-MMAE inhibited the tumor growth and increased the survival in tumor engrafted mice compared with control antibody-MMAE conjugate (Figure 3B&3C).

#### CD83 upregulation correlates with NF-kB activation in MCL

The *CD83* promoter contains NF- $\kappa$ B binding sites. Activation of NK- $\kappa$ B in normal B-cells and some B-cell malignancies induces CD83 expression (26, 27). It has been reported that the canonical NF- $\kappa$ B pathway is activated in some MCL cell lines and primary samples (5, 28). To reveal the potential relationship between CD83 expression and NF- $\kappa$ B activation status in MCL, we extracted cytosol and nuclear protein from MCL cell lines and analyzed NF- $\kappa$ B activation by western blot. Although activation of NF- $\kappa$ B in both CD83<sup>+</sup> and CD83<sup>-</sup>MCL lines was detected, CD83<sup>+</sup> MCL cells, Mino and Rec-1, showed elevated p50 and RelA in the nuclear fraction, indicating strong canonical NF- $\kappa$ B pathway activation. In CD83<sup>-</sup> cell lines, p52 and RelB levels were high in the cytosol and nuclear fractions indicating non-canonical NF- $\kappa$ B pathway activation (Figure 4A). The primary MCL PBMC cell lysate (MCL01) had a similar canonical NF- $\kappa$ B

203 of 224

 pathway activation pattern to Mino cells (Figure 4B). We then exposed CD83<sup>+</sup> cells to the canonical NF- $\kappa$ B pathway inhibitor, BAY11-7082. CD83 mRNA transcripts were reduced in both Mino and Rec-1 cells exposed to 1.25 $\mu$ M BAY11-7082 for 18 hours (Figure 4C). CD83 cell surface protein was also reduced by canonical NF- $\kappa$ B inhibitors (Figure 4D).

#### CD83 ADC has synergic killing effect with anthracyclines and alkylating agents

NF-κB activation can be induced in some malignancies by cytotoxic medications such as Doxorubicin (DOX) (29). Mino and Z138 cells were cultured with drugs included in standard chemotherapy regimens and novel treatment agents (Suppl. Table). Both canonical (p105/p50, RelA) and non-canonical NF-κB (P100/p52 and RelB) was increased in CD83<sup>+</sup> Mino cells, especially in the nuclear fractions, after treatment with DOX or CP. CD83<sup>-</sup> Z138 cells were more sensitive to death from exposure to DOX and CP and upregulated NF-κB molecules after short culture with DOX or CP (Figure 5 and Suppl. Figure 4). Furthermore, DOX and CP upregulated CD83 on CD83<sup>+</sup> Mino and CD83<sup>-</sup> Z138 cells (Figure 6A-B) whilst other chemotherapy drugs had no effect on CD83 expression (Suppl. Table). This renders the possibility of a synergistic interaction between CD83-MMAE with some chemotherapies. MCL cells were cultured with 3C12C-MMAE, DOX, CP alone or in combination. A combination index (CI) showed there was synergistic killing effect of 3C12C-MMAE and DOX on Mino and Z138 cells (Figure 6C).

#### DISCUSSION

CD83 expression has been reported in some lymphomas and leukemias. We showed here that CD83 is upregulated in 50% of primary MCL samples and some MCL cell lines. Interestingly, the immunohistochemical staining of primary MCL cells showed a pattern of heterogeneous expression, which reflects the heterogeneity of sub-clonal populations within the MCL tumor tissue, which has been reported by others (30). We observed CD83 upregulation by DOX and CP in MCL which possibly results from NF- $\kappa$ B activation induced by the DNA damage-independent stress from chemotherapy (31-33).

We tested anti-CD83 Ab as a single ADC agent in the treatment of CD83<sup>+</sup> MCL in vitro and in a xenogeneic mouse model. Interestingly, though CD83 expression in Mino cells is not as high as that on the classical Hodgkin lymphoma cells, KM-H2, they have a similar sensitivity to the anti-CD83 ADC. This could be the hyper-sensitivity of Mino cells to toxin MMAE and/or fast internalization of anti-CD83 Ab by MCL cells. Similar phenomena has been observed in ADC targeting cells with low antigen expression (7). Kovtun et al found that conjugates of ADC drug killed not only the target antigen-positive cells but also the neighboring antigen-negative cells which depends on the nature of the reducible disulfide bond linker and the release of the payload into adjacent antigen negative cells (34). An important factor that effects naked therapeutic antibody efficacy is the expression level of targeted antigen. ADCs have shown to be more effective than naked antibodies over a wider range of antigen expression levels (7). For example, while CD33-positive acute myelogenous leukemia tumors express relatively low levels of target antigen (5,000–10,000 receptors per cell), an ADC that targets the CD33 antigen still shows meaningful clinical response rates.(35). Although CD83<sup>+</sup> Rec-1 cells could be killed by CD83 antibody via ADCC, similar to KM-H2 and Mino cells (Figure 1S), they are not sensitive to 3C12C-MMAE which is likely due to their resistance of MMAE (36).

Current treatment of younger patients with MCL often includes DOX and CP. Given these drugs were capable of inducing CD83 expression in MCL, and our data showing the synergistic effect of anti-CD83 ADC with a conventional chemotherapy (DOX and CP), these patients may benefit from combination regimens of chemotherapy and anti-CD83 ADC.

Page 11 of 27

MCL is a group of matured B cell lymphomas comprising two possible molecular pathogenesis. The pre-malignant B cells within the classic and most common subgroup of MCL originate from mantle zone and do not enter germinal centers. This subgroup does not have hypermutated Ig but are SOX11<sup>+</sup>. The pre-malignant cells of the minor subgroup enter into the germinal center. These cells have hypermutated Ig and are SOX11<sup>-</sup> (37). From limited sample size, we could not determine the correlation between CD83 and SOX11 expression on MCL. The CD83 gene promoter contains NF- $\kappa$ B binding sites (26, 38). Several types of lymphomas, such as HL, diffuse larger B cell lymphoma and chronic lymphocytic lymphoma, which have been reported as CD83<sup>+</sup>, also showed NF- $\kappa$ B activation as a hallmark in their pathogenesis (39-42). MCL depends on NF- $\kappa$ B signalling for continued growth and proliferation and showed distinct NF- $\kappa$ B activation (5, 6). Our results showed that CD83 expression correlated with canonical NF- $\kappa$ B activation in MCL.

Future direction of targeting CD83 on MCL patients requires identification of CD83<sup>+</sup> MCL patients, application of the most recent ADC techniques to generate CD83 ADC and the combination of ADC with current chemotherapy. In addition, targeting multiple pathways including NF- $\kappa$ B pathway potentially overcomes the resistance of targeting a single pathway to treat MCL. In conclusion, our research demonstrated CD83 expression in MCL cell lines and primary tumor cells and showed the anti-CD83 ADC is a possible therapy for CD83<sup>+</sup> MCL treatment.

#### **METHODS**

#### Patient sample collection

MCL patient samples were collected with informed consent approved by the Sydney Local Health District Human Research Ethics Committee (X15-0464&LNR15/RPAH/615), consistent with the declaration of Helsinki. Archival formalin fixed paraffin embedded (FFPE) lymph node biopsies were obtained from 18 MCL patients at initial diagnosis (Table 1). Fresh peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) were purified by Ficoll-Hypaque (GE Healthcare) density gradient from one MCL patient's sample (MCL01) collected at initial diagnosis.

#### Human anti-CD83 antibody and antibody drug conjugation

Human anti-CD83 antibody 3C12C and 3C12C-Monomethyl auristatin E (MMAE) conjugate were produced in house as described (21, 43).

#### **Cell culture**

MCL cell lines (Mino, Rec-1, Jvm2, Z138, purchased from ATCC), HL cell line KM-H2 (gift from Prof Volker Diehl, University of Cologne, Germany) and the Erythro-Leukemia cell line HEL (Purchased from ATCC) were cultured in complete RPMI-1640 medium containing 10% human fetal calf serum, 2mM glutaMAX<sup>TM</sup>, 100U/ml penicillin, 100µg/ml streptomycin, 1mM sodium pyruvate,10mM HEPES, 10µM  $\beta$  Mercaptoethanol (Thermo Fisher Scientific) at 37°C, in 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. BAY11-7082 (Sigma-Aldrich), Doxorubicin (DOX, DBL Pharmaceuticals), cyclophosphamide (CP, Slade Health) were added to cell cultures as described.

#### Immunohistochemical staining

Immunohistochemical staining was performed on 3µm sections of FFPE biopsy tissue of lymph node or bone marrow from MCL patients as described previously (21, 43). The primary CD83 antibody used was the F5 clone (Santa Cruz Biotechnology). Staining was performed on a Leica Bond III Autostainer (Leica Biosystems) using a Bond Polymer Refine Detection kit for visualization with 3,3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB).

#### **Flow cytometry**

The following antibodies were used: anti-human CD5-APC (BD Biosciences, clone L17F12), antihuman CD19-PE (BD Biosciences, clone HIB19), anti-human CD45-AF488 (BioLegend, clone HI30), anti-mouse CD45-PerCP Cy5.5 (BD Biosciences, clone 30-F11), anti-human CD83-FITC (Beckman and Coulter, clone HB15a) or 3C12C-FITC (made in house) (44). Data was collected using a Fortessa X-20 or Accuri C6 (BD Biosciences) flow cytometer and the data analyzed with FlowJo software (TreeStar).

#### Cell viability assays and cell cycle measurement

Cells (5000 per well) were cultured for 72 hours in 200µl complete RPMI-1640 medium containing various concentrations of 3C12C-MMAE, DOX, CP alone or combined. The cell viability was analyzed with the CellTiter-Glo Luminescent Cell viability kit according to the

manufacturer's instruction (Promega) and half maximal inhibitory concentration (IC50) was calculated. For cell cycle measurement, cells were cultured in complete RPMI-1640 medium containing 3C12C, 3C12C-MMAE, or irrelevant Ig-MMAE (Herceptin-MMAE conjugated with the same chemistry as 3C12C-MMAE in house) for the indicated times and then cells were fixed in 70% cold ethanol for 2 hours. Cells were stained with propidium iodide (PI) in the presence of 0.2mg/ml DNase-free RNase A (Sigma-Aldrich) and analyzed by flow cytometry.

#### Western blot

MCL cell lines and cells from one primary MCL sample treated with or without DOX (0.2µg/ml), CP (0.2mg/ml) for different time points were lysed and the nuclear and cytoplasmic fractions were isolated using NE-PER kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific) according to the manufacturer's instruction. The protein concentration of each fraction was measured using a BCA protein assay reagent kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific). 5-10 µg of protein were separated by SDS-PAGE through a 4-12% Bis-Tris Plus gel (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes using an Iblot blotting system (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Following blocking with 5% bovine serum albumin (BSA) in Tris-buffered saline (TBS) for 2 hours at room temperature and washing with 0.1% Tween 20 TBS (TTBS), the membranes were incubated overnight at 4 °C with primary antibody in TTBS containing 5% BSA. The primary antibodies included: rabbit anti-p105/p50 (ab32360:Abcam), mouse anti-p100/p52 (05-361:EMD Millipore), rabbit anti-p65 (8242S: Cell Signalling Technology), rabbit anti-RelB (ab18027: Abcam), rabbit anti-alpha-Tubulin (T6074, Sigma-Aldrich), mouse anti-human beta-actin (Bio-rad) and rabbit anti-human Histone (#9715: Cell Signalling Technology). Secondary anti-mouse or anti-rabbit antibody-horseradish peroxidase conjugate (1:3000 dilution) was incubated with membranes for 1 hour at room temperature and washed with TTBS. The blots were detected with the enhanced chemiluminescent (ECL) (Bio-Rad) reagents on Bio-Rad ChemiDoc MP imaging system (Gladesville, NSW Australia) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The relative protein expression level was analysed with Image Lab 4.1 Software (Bio-Rad).

#### MCL xenograft mouse tumor model

Five to six week female NOD.Cg-*Prkdc<sup>scid</sup> Il2rg<sup>tm1Wjl</sup>*/SzJ (NSG) mice were purchased from Australian Bioresources and housed under specific pathogen-free conditions. Experimental

procedures were approved by the Sydney Local Health District (SLHD) animal welfare committee. Each mouse received  $5 \times 10^6$  Mino cells injected subcutaneously on right flank area. On day 18 post cell injection, mice were treated with a single dose of 3C12C-MMAE (2.5mg/kg), Herceptin-MMAE (2.5mg/kg) or saline only (i.p.). Mice were monitored for tumor growth and the tumor volume was measured by digital caliper (tumor volume=1/2(length × width<sup>2</sup>)). The engrafted tumors were harvested, passed through a 100µm nylon cell strainer (BD Falcon) to prepare a single cell suspension, washed with PBS and analyzed by flow cytometry.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Statistical analyses were performed using Prism 6.0 (GraphPad Software). Standard error of the mean is shown unless otherwise stated. Unpaired two-tailed student t-test or log-rank (mantel-cox) test were used as described. Differences with p<0.05 were considered significant. \*: p<0.05; \*\*: p<0.01; \*\*\*: p<0.001. The combination index (CI) was analysed with CompuSyn (ComboSyn, Inc) (45).

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

Z.L. and X.J. designed, performed experiments, analyzed data and wrote the manuscript. D.N.J.H. and G.J.C. designed experiments, analyzed data and edited the manuscript. E.A., C.B. and W.C. recruited patients. K.L. and C.C. performed the immunohistochemistry staining and interpretation. G.P. designed 3C12C-MMAE and Herceptin-MMAE. P.A.S. guided mouse experiments and edited the manuscript.

#### **REFERENCES:**

- 1. Cheah CY, Seymour JF, Wang ML. Mantle Cell Lymphoma. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(11):1256-69.
- 2. Ladha A, Zhao J, Epner EM, Pu JJ. Mantle cell lymphoma and its management: where are we now? Exp Hematol Oncol. 2019;8:2.
- 3. Chandran R, Gardiner SK, Simon M, Spurgeon SE. Survival trends in mantle cell lymphoma in the United States over 16 years 1992-2007. Leuk Lymphoma. 2012;53(8):1488-93.
- 4. Campo E, Rule S. Mantle cell lymphoma: evolving management strategies. Blood. 2015;125(1):48-55.
- 5. Rahal R, Frick M, Romero R, Korn JM, Kridel R, Chan FC, et al. Pharmacological and genomic profiling identifies NF-kappaB-targeted treatment strategies for mantle cell lymphoma. Nat Med. 2014;20(1):87-92.
- 6. Balaji S, Ahmed M, Lorence E, Yan F, Nomie K, Wang M. NF-kappaB signaling and its relevance to the treatment of mantle cell lymphoma. J Hematol Oncol. 2018;11(1):83.
- 7. Sievers EL, Senter PD. Antibody-drug conjugates in cancer therapy. Annu Rev Med. 2013;64:15-29.
- 8. Jabbour E, O'Brien S, Huang X, Thomas D, Rytting M, Sasaki K, et al. Prognostic factors for outcome in patients with refractory and relapsed acute lymphocytic leukemia treated with inotuzumab ozogamicin, a CD22 monoclonal antibody. Am J Hematol. 2015;90(3):193-6.
- 9. Younes A, Bartlett NL, Leonard JP, Kennedy DA, Lynch CM, Sievers EL, et al. Brentuximab vedotin (SGN-35) for relapsed CD30-positive lymphomas. N Engl J Med. 2010;363(19):1812-21.
- 10. Kantarjian HM, DeAngelo DJ, Stelljes M, Martinelli G, Liedtke M, Stock W, et al. Inotuzumab Ozogamicin versus Standard Therapy for Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(8):740-53.
- 11. Amadori S, Suciu S, Selleslag D, Aversa F, Gaidano G, Musso M, et al. Gemtuzumab Ozogamicin Versus Best Supportive Care in Older Patients With Newly Diagnosed Acute Myeloid Leukemia Unsuitable for Intensive Chemotherapy: Results of the Randomized Phase III EORTC-GIMEMA AML-19 Trial. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(9):972-9.
- 12. Krzyzak L, Seitz C, Urbat A, Hutzler S, Ostalecki C, Glasner J, et al. CD83 Modulates B Cell Activation and Germinal Center Responses. J Immunol. 2016;196(9):3581-94.
- 13. De Gassart A, Camosseto V, Thibodeau J, Ceppi M, Catalan N, Pierre P, et al. MHC class II stabilization at the surface of human dendritic cells is the result of maturation-dependent MARCH I down-regulation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105(9):3491-6.
- 14. Li Z, Ju X, Silveira PA, Abadir E, Hsu WH, Hart DNJ, et al. CD83: Activation Marker for Antigen Presenting Cells and Its Therapeutic Potential. Front Immunol. 2019;10:1312.
- 15. Sorg UR, Morse TM, Patton WN, Hock BD, Angus HB, Robinson BA, et al. Hodgkin's cells express CD83, a dendritic cell lineage associated antigen. Pathology. 1997;29(3):294-9.
- 16. Baleeiro RB, Barbuto JA. Local secretion/shedding of tumor-derived CD83 molecules as a novel tumor escape mechanism. Mol Immunol. 2008;45(12):3502-4.
- 17. Wang W, Lau R, Yu D, Zhu W, Korman A, Weber J. PD1 blockade reverses the suppression of melanoma antigen-specific CTL by CD4+ CD25(Hi) regulatory T cells. Int Immunol. 2009;21(9):1065-77.
- 18. Juric D, Lacayo NJ, Ramsey MC, Racevskis J, Wiernik PH, Rowe JM, et al. Differential gene expression patterns and interaction networks in BCR-ABL-positive and -negative adult acute lymphoblastic leukemias. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25(11):1341-9.

- 19. Huynh MQ, Wacker HH, Wundisch T, Sohlbach K, Kim TD, Krause M, et al. Expression profiling reveals specific gene expression signatures in gastric MALT lymphomas. Leuk Lymphoma. 2008;49(5):974-83.
- 20. Khodabakhshi AH, Morin RD, Fejes AP, Mungall AJ, Mungall KL, Bolger-Munro M, et al. Recurrent targets of aberrant somatic hypermutation in lymphoma. Oncotarget. 2012;3(11):1308-19.
- 21. Li Z, Ju X, Lee K, Clarke C, Hsu JL, Abadir E, et al. CD83 is a new potential biomarker and therapeutic target for Hodgkin lymphoma. Haematologica. 2018;655:655-65.
- 22. Hock BD, Fernyhough LJ, Gough SM, Steinkasserer A, Cox AG, McKenzie JL. Release and clinical significance of soluble CD83 in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Leuk Res. 2009;33(8):1089-95.
- 23. Hock BD, Haring LF, Steinkasserer A, Taylor KG, Patton WN, McKenzie JL. The soluble form of CD83 is present at elevated levels in a number of hematological malignancies. Leuk Res. 2004;28(3):237-41.
- 24. Matasar MJ, Zelenetz AD. Overview of lymphoma diagnosis and management. Radiol Clin North Am. 2008;46(2):175-98, vii.
- 25. Buckel L, Savariar EN, Crisp JL, Jones KA, Hicks AM, Scanderbeg DJ, et al. Tumor radiosensitization by monomethyl auristatin E: mechanism of action and targeted delivery. Cancer Res. 2015;75(7):1376-87.
- 26. Dudziak D, Kieser A, Dirmeier U, Nimmerjahn F, Berchtold S, Steinkasserer A, et al. Latent membrane protein 1 of Epstein-Barr virus induces CD83 by the NF-kappaB signaling pathway. J Virol. 2003;77(15):8290-8.
- 27. Lenz G, Davis RE, Ngo VN, Lam L, George TC, Wright GW, et al. Oncogenic CARD11 mutations in human diffuse large B cell lymphoma. Science. 2008;319(5870):1676-9.
- 28. Saba NS, Liu D, Herman SE, Underbayev C, Tian X, Behrend D, et al. Pathogenic role of Bcell receptor signaling and canonical NF-kappaB activation in mantle cell lymphoma. Blood. 2016;128(1):82-92.
- 29. Baumann P, Mandl-Weber S, Oduncu F, Schmidmaier R. Alkylating agents induce activation of NFkappaB in multiple myeloma cells. Leuk Res. 2008;32(7):1144-7.
- 30. Bea S, Valdes-Mas R, Navarro A, Salaverria I, Martin-Garcia D, Jares P, et al. Landscape of somatic mutations and clonal evolution in mantle cell lymphoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013;110(45):18250-5.
- 31. Bednarski BK, Baldwin AS, Jr., Kim HJ. Addressing reported pro-apoptotic functions of NFkappaB: targeted inhibition of canonical NF-kappaB enhances the apoptotic effects of doxorubicin. PLoS One. 2009;4(9):e6992.
- 32. Campbell KJ, Rocha S, Perkins ND. Active repression of antiapoptotic gene expression by RelA(p65) NF-kappa B. Mol Cell. 2004;13(6):853-65.
- 33. Bian X, McAllister-Lucas LM, Shao F, Schumacher KR, Feng Z, Porter AG, et al. NF-kappa B activation mediates doxorubicin-induced cell death in N-type neuroblastoma cells. J Biol Chem. 2001;276(52):48921-9.
- 34. Kovtun YV, Audette CA, Ye Y, Xie H, Ruberti MF, Phinney SJ, et al. Antibody-drug conjugates designed to eradicate tumors with homogeneous and heterogeneous expression of the target antigen. Cancer Res. 2006;66(6):3214-21.
- 35. Sievers EL. Antibody-targeted chemotherapy of acute myeloid leukemia using gemtuzumab ozogamicin (Mylotarg). Blood Cells Mol Dis. 2003;31(1):7-10.
| 1          |  |
|------------|--|
| 2          |  |
| 3          |  |
| 4          |  |
| 5          |  |
| 6          |  |
| 7          |  |
| 8          |  |
| 9          |  |
| 10         |  |
| 11         |  |
| 12         |  |
| 13         |  |
| 14         |  |
| 15         |  |
| 16         |  |
| 17         |  |
| 17         |  |
| 10         |  |
| 19         |  |
| 20<br>21   |  |
| 21         |  |
| 22         |  |
| 23         |  |
| 24         |  |
| 25         |  |
| 26         |  |
| 27         |  |
| 28         |  |
| 29         |  |
| 30         |  |
| 31         |  |
| 32         |  |
| 33         |  |
| 34         |  |
| 35         |  |
| 36         |  |
| 37         |  |
| 38         |  |
| 20         |  |
| <u>م</u>   |  |
| <u></u> Δ1 |  |
| יד<br>⊿ר   |  |
| +∠<br>∕\?  |  |
| 45<br>11   |  |
| 44<br>15   |  |
| 45         |  |
| 40         |  |
| 4/         |  |
| 48         |  |
| 49         |  |
| 50         |  |
| 51         |  |
| 52         |  |
| 53         |  |
| 54         |  |
| 55         |  |
| 56         |  |
| 57         |  |
| 58         |  |

- 36. Loganzo F, Sung M, Gerber HP. Mechanisms of Resistance to Antibody-Drug Conjugates. Mol Cancer Ther. 2016;15(12):2825-34.
- 37. Navarro A, Clot G, Royo C, Jares P, Hadzidimitriou A, Agathangelidis A, et al. Molecular subsets of mantle cell lymphoma defined by the IGHV mutational status and SOX11 expression have distinct biologic and clinical features. Cancer Res. 2012;72(20):5307-16.
- 38. Berchtold S, Muhl-Zurbes P, Maczek E, Golka A, Schuler G, Steinkasserer A. Cloning and characterization of the promoter region of the human CD83 gene. Immunobiology. 2002;205(3):231-46.
- 39. Jost PJ, Ruland J. Aberrant NF-kappaB signaling in lymphoma: mechanisms, consequences, and therapeutic implications. Blood. 2007;109(7):2700-7.
- 40. Bargou RC, Leng C, Krappmann D, Emmerich F, Mapara MY, Bommert K, et al. High-level nuclear NF-kappa B and Oct-2 is a common feature of cultured Hodgkin/Reed-Sternberg cells. Blood. 1996;87(10):4340-7.
- 41. Davis RE, Brown KD, Siebenlist U, Staudt LM. Constitutive nuclear factor kappaB activity is required for survival of activated B cell-like diffuse large B cell lymphoma cells. J Exp Med. 2001;194(12):1861-74.
- 42. Herishanu Y, Perez-Galan P, Liu D, Biancotto A, Pittaluga S, Vire B, et al. The lymph node microenvironment promotes B-cell receptor signaling, NF-kappaB activation, and tumor proliferation in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood. 2011;117(2):563-74.
- 43. Ju X, Silveira PA, Hsu WH, Elgundi Z, Alingcastre R, Verma ND, et al. The Analysis of CD83 Expression on Human Immune Cells Identifies a Unique CD83+-Activated T Cell Population. J Immunol. 2016;197(12):4613-25.
- 44. Seldon TA, Pryor R, Palkova A, Jones ML, Verma ND, Findova M, et al. Immunosuppressive human anti-CD83 monoclonal antibody depletion of activated dendritic cells in transplantation. Leukemia. 2016;30(3):692-700.
- 45. Chou TC. Drug combination studies and their synergy quantification using the Chou-Talalay method. Cancer Res. 2010;70(2):440-6.



1
2
3
4
5
6
7
, 8
0
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59

Age at enrolment (mean, range)	65.7±8.7 years
Sex:	
Male; n (%)	16 (88.9%)
Female; n (%)	2 (11.1%)
Histologic subtype:	
Typical	16 (88.9%)
Blastoid	2 (11.1%)
Ann Arbor Stage	
I/III	2 (11.1%)
VI	15 (83.3%)
Unidentified	1 (5.6%)
MIPI	
High risk	10 (55.6%)
Intermediate risk	4 (22.2%)
Unidentified	4 (22.2%)
Medium survival after diagnosis, (years)	6 years

## **FIGURE LEGENDS**

#### Figure 1. Mantle cell lymphoma (MCL) cells express of CD83

(A) CD83 expression on four MCL cell lines (Mino, Rec-1, Z138 and Jvm2) was analyzed by flow cytometry with human anti-CD83 antibody 3C12C-FITC (n=4). (B) One primary blastoid nonnodal MCL patient (MCL01) blood sample was stained with CD19-V450, CD5-APC and 3C12C-FITC and analyzed by flow cytometry for the CD83 expression on CD19<sup>+</sup>/CD5<sup>+</sup> cells. (C) Quantitative real time PCR analysis of CD83 transcripts in MCL cell lines and MCL primary samples. Data were normalized by the amount of HPRT cDNA and calculated as fold change compared with CD83 level in Minami-1 and PBMC from healthy donors, respectively. (D) FFPE biopsies from 18 primary MCL patients were stained with anti-CD83 antibody. Percentage of CD83 positive cells is shown.

# Figure 2. 3C12C conjugation with monomethyl auristatin E (3C12C-MMAE) kill Mantle Cell Lymphoma (MCL) lines in vitro

(A) CD83<sup>+</sup> KM-H2, Mino, Rec-1 or CD83<sup>-</sup> Z138, Jvm2 cells were cultured with different concentrations of 3C12C-MMAE for 72 hours before determining viable cells by CellTiter-Glo Luminescent Cell Viability assay. Data from one representative experiment (left) and the mean $\pm$  SEM of half maximal inhibitory concentration (IC50) from three experiments (right) were shown. (B) Mino cells were cultured in 3C12C-MMAE (antibody concentration of 0.2µg/ml) for 18 hours, then cells were fixed for cell cycle analysis by flow cytometry. Data from one representative experiment (upper panel) and the mean  $\pm$  SEM of three experiment data (bottom panel) is shown.

## Figure 3. CD83 ADC kills MCL in xenograft mice

(A) Schematic design of the MCL xenograft NSG mouse model. (B) Quantification of tumor volume from MCL engrafted mice treated with 3C12C-MMAE, isotype control-MMAE or saline is shown (n =6 mice per group). One of three representative experiments is shown. (C) Kaplan-Meier survival curves of mice implanted with Mino cells (n =6 mice per group). Data was analyzed with log-rank test. \*\*\*: p<0.001. One of three representative experiments is shown.

#### Figure 4. Activation of NF-kB increases CD83 expression in MCL

(A) Western blot analysis of canonical pathway NF-κB proteins (p105/p50 and RelA) and noncanonical pathway NF-kB proteins (p100/p52 and RelB) levels in the cytosolic and nuclear extracts of CD83+ MCL cells (Mino and Rec-1) and CD83- MCL cells (Z138 and Jvm2). (B). Western blot analysis of canonical NF-kB proteins (p105/p50 and RelA) and non-canonical NFκB proteins (p100/p52 and RelB) levels in the cytosolic and nuclear extracts of CD83+ MCL cells (Mino) and primary MCL cells (MCL01). (C) CD83<sup>+</sup> cells were treated with either a DMSO control or canonical NF-kB inhibitor BAY-11-7082 at different concentrations (0.25µM or 1.25µM) for 4 or 24 hrs. Real-time PCR (gPCR) analyses of CD83 cDNA from Mino (left) and Rec-1 (right) cells is shown. \*: p < 0.05. (D) CD83<sup>+</sup> cells were treated with either a DMSO control or BAY-11-7082 (0.25µM) for 24 hrs. Cell surface CD83 expression on Mino (left) and Rec-1 (right) was analysed by flow cytometry and mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) normalized to the untreated samples were shown (n=3). \*: P<0.05; \*\*: p<0.01. Data from one representative experiment is shown in (E). Filled histogram: isotype control. Open histogram with solid line: CD83 staining on cells treated with DMSO. Open histogram with dash lines: cells treated with BAY-11-7082 (0.25µM).

## Figure 5. Doxorubicin and Cyclophosphamide activated NF-κB in MCL lines

Mino or Z138 cells were cultured in the presence of DOX (0.2ug/ml) or CP (0.5mg/ml) for 30 minutes, 2 hours, 6 hours and 24 hours. Cytoplasmic and nuclear proteins were isolated. Immunoblot analysis of cell lysate was performed with anti-NF-κB antibodies.

## Figure 6. 3C12C ADC synergized with Doxorubicin/Cyclophosphamide

Mino or Z138 cells were cultured in the presence of DOX,  $(0.02\mu g/ml)$  or CP (0.2mg/ml) for 48 hours, cell surface CD83 expression were analyzed by flow cytometry. Mean fluorescent intensity  $\pm$  SEM of three experiments were shown, (A) and one representative data (B) was shown. (C) Mino or Z138 cells were cultured with serial diluted 3C12C-MMAE (0.176, 0.088, 0.044, 0.022, 0.011, 0.0055, 0.00275 µg/ml), DOX (0.064, 0.032, 0.016, 0.008, 0.004, 0.002, 0.001 µg/ml), CP (1.6, 0.8, 0.4, 0.2, 0.1, 0.05, 0.025 µg/ml) or the combination of 3C12C-MMAE/DOX (0.176/0.064, 0.088/0.032, 0.044/0.016, 0.022/0.008, 0.011/0.004, 0.0055/0.002, 0.00275/0.001 µg/ml), the combination of 3C12C-MMAE/CP (0.176/1.6, 0.088/0.8, 0.044/0.4, 0.022,/0.2 0.011/0.1, 0.0055/0.05, 0.00275/0.025 µg/ml for 72 hrs. CellTitre-Glo Luminescent cell viability assay was used to determine the killing effect. Data was from one of three independent experiments. Combination index (CI) was analyzed with CompuSyn.

>50%

10-49%







Figure 2. 3C12C conjugation with monomethyl auristatin E (3C12C-MMAE) kill Mantle Cell Lymphoma (MCL) lines in vitro

(A) CD83+ KM-H2, Mino, Rec-1 or CD83- Z138, Jvm2 cells were cultured with different concentrations of 3C12C-MMAE for 72 hours before determining viable cells by CellTiter-Glo Luminescent Cell Viability assay. Data from one representative experiment (left) and the mean $\pm$  SEM of half maximal inhibitory concentration (IC50) from three experiments (right) were shown. (B) Mino cells were cultured in 3C12C-MMAE (antibody concentration of 0.2µg/ml) for 18 hours, then cells were fixed for cell cycle analysis by flow cytometry. Data from one representative experiment (upper panel) and the mean  $\pm$  SEM of three experiment data (bottom panel) is shown.



#### Figure 3

Figure 3. CD83 ADC kills MCL in xenograft mice

(A) Schematic design of the MCL xenograft NSG mouse model. (B) Quantification of tumor volume from MCL engrafted mice treated with 3C12C-MMAE, isotype control-MMAE or saline is shown (n =6 mice per group). One of three representative experiments is shown. (C) Kaplan-Meier survival curves of mice implanted with Mino cells (n =6 mice per group). Data was analyzed with log-rank test. \*\*\*: p<0.001. One of three representative experiments is shown.</li>

Nucleus

В

Cytosol

Nucleus

MCI 01







А

Cytosol



#### Figure 4

Figure 4. Activation of NF-kB increases CD83 expression in MCL (A) Western blot analysis of canonical pathway NF-kB proteins (p105/p50 and RelA) and non-canonical pathway NF-kB proteins (p100/p52 and RelB) levels in the cytosolic and nuclear extracts of CD83+ MCL cells (Mino and Rec-1) and CD83- MCL cells (Z138 and Jvm2). (B). Western blot analysis of canonical NF-kB proteins (p105/p50 and RelA) and non-canonical NF-kB proteins (p100/p52 and RelB) levels in the cytosolic and nuclear extracts of CD83+ MCL cells (Mino) and primary MCL cells (MCL01). (C) CD83+ cells were treated with either a DMSO control or canonical NF-kB inhibitor BAY-11-7082 at different concentrations (0.25µM or 1.25µM) for 4 or 24 hrs. Real-time PCR (qPCR) analyses of CD83 cDNA from Mino (left) and Rec-1 (right) cells is shown. \*: p<0.05. (D) CD83+ cells were treated with either a DMSO control or BAY-11-7082 (0.25µM) for 24 hrs. Cell surface CD83 expression on Mino (left) and Rec-1 (right) was analysed by flow cytometry and mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) normalized to the untreated samples were shown (n=3). \*: P<0.05; \*\*: p<0.01. Data from one representative experiment is shown in (E). Filled histogram: isotype control. Open histogram with solid line: CD83 staining on cells treated with DMSO. Open histogram with dash lines: cells treated with BAY-11-7082 (0.25µM).



#### Figure 5

Figure 5. Doxorubicin and Cyclophosphamide activated NF-kB MCL lines Mino or Z138 cells were cultured in the presence of DOX (0.2ug/ml) or CP (0.5mg/ml) for 30 minutes, 2 hours, 6 hours and 24 hours. Cytoplasmic and nuclear proteins were isolated. Immunoblot analysis of cell lysate was performed with anti-NF-kB antibodies.

Mino

Z138



#### Figure 6

Figure 6. 3C12C ADC synergized with Doxorubicin/Cyclophosphamide
Mino or Z138 cells were cultured in the presence of DOX, (0.02µg/ml) or CP (0.2mg/ml) for 48 hours, cell surface CD83 expression were analyzed by flow cytometry. Mean fluorescent intensity ± SEM of three experiments were shown, (A) and one representative data (B) was shown. (C) Mino or Z138 cells were cultured with serial diluted 3C12C-MMAE (0.176, 0.088, 0.044, 0.022, 0.011, 0.0055, 0.00275 µg/ml), DOX (0.064, 0.032, 0.016, 0.008, 0.004, 0.002, 0.001 µg/ml), CP (1.6, 0.8, 0.4, 0.2, 0.1, 0.05, 0.025 µg/ml) or the combination of 3C12C-MMAE/DOX (0.176/0.064, 0.088/0.032, 0.044/0.016, 0.022/0.008, 0.011/0.004, 0.0055/0.002, 0.00275/0.001 µg/ml), the combination of 3C12C-MMAE/CP (0.176/1.6, 0.088/0.8, 0.044/0.4, 0.022,/0.2 0.011/0.1, 0.0055/0.05, 0.00275/0.025 µg/ml for 72 hrs. CellTitre-Glo Luminescent cell viability assay was used to determine the killing effect. Data was from one of three independent experiments. Combination index (CI) was analyzed with CompuSyn.

## Table 1: Characteristics of mantle cell lymphoma patients

Age at enrolment (mean, range)	65.7±8.7 years
Sex:	
Male; n (%)	16 (88.9%)
Female; n (%)	2 (11.1%)
TT: / 1 : 1/	
Histologic subtype:	
Typical	16 (88.9%)
Blastoid	2 (11.1%)
Ann Arbor Stage	
I/III	2 (11.1%)
VI	15 (83.3%)
Unidentified	1 (5.6%)
MIPI	
High risk	10 (55.6%)
Intermedium risk	4 (22.2%)
Unidentified	4 (22.2%)
Medium survival after diagnosis	6 years

r diagnosis 6 years